
CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF 

YPSILANTI BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 

 

 

 

 
 

April 4, 2023REVISED 04-04-2023

Work Session – 5:00 pm 
Regular Meeting – 7:00 p.m. 

Ypsilanti Township Civic Center 
7200 S. Huron River Drive 

Ypsilanti, MI 48197

Supervisor 
BRENDA L. STUMBO 

Clerk 
HEATHER JARRELL ROE 

Treasurer 
STAN ELDRIDGE 

Trustees 
RYAN HUNTER 

JOHN P. NEWMAN II 
GLORIA PETERSON 

DEBBIE SWANSON 



                  Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
7200 S. HURON RIVER DRIVEYPSILANTI, MI 48197 

 
SUPERVISOR BRENDA STUMBO  CLERK HEATHER JARRELL ROE  TREASURER STAN 

ELDRIDGE TRUSTEES: RYAN HUNTER  JOHN P. NEWMAN II  GLORIA PETERSON   
DEBBIE SWANSON  
 

                                

                
 
 
 

WORK SESSION AGENDA 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
TUESDAY, APRIL 4, 2023 

      

 
5:00pm 

 
1. WRRMA COLLABORATIVE CONTRACTING DISCUSSION………………...ROBERT DAVIS 

  
2. DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY-ENERGY EFFICIENT  

        BLOCK GRANT…………………………………………....………………SUPERVISOR STUMBO 
 
3. BUILDING USE POLICY……………...TREASURER ELDRIDGE AND TRUSTEE SWANSON   

 
4. AGENDA REVIEW ………………………………………………………..SUPERVISOR STUMBO 
 
5. OTHER DISCUSSION………………………………………………………...  BOARD MEMBERS 

 



 

 

Township Supervisor 
Brenda L. Stumbo 
Township Clerk 
Heather Jarrell Roe 
Township Treasurer 
Stan Eldridge 

Trustees 
Ryan Hunter 

John Newman II 
Gloria Peterson 

Debbie Swanson 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 

To:      Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board of Trustees 

 

From:  Brenda Stumbo, Township Supervisor 

 

Date:   March 28, 2023 

 

RE:     Request for Work Session Discussion: Department of Energy – Energy Efficiency 

Block Grant 

 

Ypsilanti Township is eligible to receive guaranteed funding of $113,000 from the Department 

of Energy - Energy Efficiency Block Grant. There is no Township match required. A voucher 

can be used if purchasing equipment or technical assistance, and the use of a voucher removes 

barriers for federal grant funds.  

 

The proposed project is to replace outdated, non-efficient HVAC roof-top units at Community 

Center with more energy efficient units. The preliminary estimate is $260,000 to replace all 27 

units. The grant will cover $101,700 of the cost for replacement, with $11,300 or 10 percent 

designated for administration. Operations Manager Michael Saranen is working to prepare three 

competitive bids, which are required to submit for voucher approval.  

 

A pre-award application sheet is to be submitted by April 28, 2023, which identifies the project 

and secures funds. This application is non-binding and can be revised after submission. 

 

The Board will need to approve Ernat Consulting to submit the pre-award application by April 

28th. Attached is a proposal from Ernat Consulting. This will be brought back to the board for 

formal action on April 18, 2023. 

 

Also to be discussed is if the Township will want to fund replacement of the units that will not be 

covered by the grant. 

 

Thank you for your consideration.  

 



 

 

March 29, 2023 

 

Supervisor Brenda Stumbo 

Ypsilanti Charter Township 

7200 Huron River Dr. 

Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

 

Dear Supervisor Stumbo,  

At the request of the Township Executive Team, Ernat Consulting has reviewed the Energy Efficiency 
Community Block Grant (EECBG) program.  For 2023-24 fiscal year, The Department of Energy has 
identified a formula funding program for entitlement communities.  Ypsilanti Township will receive 
approximately $113,000 in guaranteed funding for either an energy efficiency audit, equipment 
replacement or a grant.  Also new for this year is a voucher program.  If the community selects to do an 
energy audit or replace equipment the community may request a voucher in lieu of a grant.  The voucher 
is a streamline process that removes the restrictions on typical federal funds such as a Section 106 
approval and Davis Bacon restrictions.    

Ernat Consulting has attended two webinars on the funding and voucher program and has the final 
webinar scheduled for April 13th.  Recipients are required to acknowledge the funding and submit 
preliminary commitments by April 28th.   

We have met with Township staff and are recommending the replacement of out-dated and problematic 
HVAC units for the Community Center.  Township staff will provide further information.  We have checked 
with DOE staff and this would be an acceptable equipment replacement provided the new units are 
classified as more energy efficient than the current units.  This project will also qualify for the voucher 
program which will create less burden for completing the project.  

Ernat Consulting is well positioned to prepare/voucher grant application on behalf of Ypsilanti Charter 
Township.  The team for this project will include Bill and Beth Ernat.  We bring a combined 50 years of 
experience in writing and preparing municipal grants.   

Ten percent of the total award is designated for administration of the grant, $11,300.  The total award for 
replacement will be $101,700.   

Proposal 

Project Preparation. This section is expected to take 1-2 weeks and approximately 10-15 hours of work 
time and will include: 



 Review of bids 
 Review of grant rules and procedure 
 Creation of project narrative 
 Creation of preliminary project budget and submission materials 

Submission. This section is expected to last 2-3 weeks and approximately 25 hours of work time and will 
be on-going from start of project through formal submission.   

 Creation of timeline  
 Prepare an approved final budget 
 Draft and presentation of proposal 
 Coordination and agreements with fundings sources, project sponsors, and other agencies 
 Submission of applications 

 

Project Deliverables 

The following will be provided to the Township for review and approval before final submission 
electronically of the grant. 

 Complete grant narrative and program guide for execution of grant award. 
 Complete grant budget 
 Project timeline 
 Complete required project reporting.  

Additional Scope 

Other grants and funding matches or opportunities may become available during the preparation of the 
grant submission.  Ernat Consulting is willing to make additional applications at its hourly rate of 
$100/hour or by addendum to this contract.  

Fee 

The fee for this project would be up to $6,500.00.  A lump sum of $4,500 for the application and 
materials required to submit the grant would be due within 15 days of receipt of project deliverables.  A 
lump sum of $2,000 will be due within 15 days upon completion of voucher requirements  

If you are in agreement with the above proposal, please sign and date below.  

 

__________________________________   __________________________ 

Signature of acceptance      Date 

 

 

 



Please feel free to reach out with any questions at 734-945-9270.  We look forward to working with you. 

 

 

Warm Regards, 

 

 

Bill and Beth Ernat  

Ernat Consulting 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

To:  Heather Jarrell Roe 

From:  Stan Eldridge, Township Treasurer 

  Debbie Swanson, Trustee 

 

Re:  Draft Policy – Building Use 

Date:  March 31, 2023 

 

 

Could you please place on the Tuesday, April 4th, 2023 Work Session agenda an item related to a 

Building Use Policy.  A draft policy will be discussed at that time. 

 

Thank You 

 

 

 



 

REVIEW AGENDA 
 

A. SUPERVISOR STUMBO WILL REVIEW BOARD 
MEETING AGENDA 



 

OTHER DISCUSSION 
 

A. BOARD MEMBERS HAVE THE OPPORTUNITY TO 
DISCUSS ANY OTHER PERTINENT ISSUES 



                  Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
7200 S. HURON RIVER DRIVEYPSILANTI, MI 48197 

 
SUPERVISOR BRENDA STUMBO  CLERK HEATHER JARRELL ROE  TREASURER STAN 

ELDRIDGE TRUSTEES: RYAN HUNTER  JOHN P. NEWMAN II  GLORIA PETERSON   
DEBBIE SWANSON  
 

                                

               REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
                              TUESDAY, APRIL 4, 2023 

                        7:00 P.M. 
                                  REVISED 04-04-203 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND INVOCATION  

 
3. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

  

 THREE MINUTES PER PERSON 

 ALL COMMENTS MUST BE ADDRESSED TO THE CHAIR  

 PUBLIC COMMENTS ARE ALSO WELCOME AS THE BOARD ADDRESSES EACH 
AGENDA ITEM 

 
4. CONSENT AGENDA 

 
A. MINUTES OF THE MARCH 21, 2023 WORK SESSION AND REGULAR MEETING  

 
B. STATEMENTS AND CHECKS 

 
1. STATEMENTS AND CHECKS FOR APRIL 5, 2023 IN THE AMOUNT OF 

$880,658.37 
 

5. ATTORNEY REPORT 
 
A. GENERAL LEGAL UPDATE 

 
 

NEW BUSINESS 
 

1. RESOLUTION 2023-03, AUTHORIZING THE DIVISION OF PLATTED LOTS IN 
WATSONIA PARK SUBDIVISION 
 

2. REQUEST TO APPROVE THE CREATION, POSTING AND FILLING OF MAINTENANCE 
SUPERINTENDENT POSITION WITHIN THE TEAMSTER UNION 

 
3. REQUEST APPROVAL TO STOP FUNDING THE NATIONWIDE OBRA ACCOUNT AND 

TO REINSTATE THE EMPLOYER/EMPLOYEE SOCIAL SECURITY TAXES FOR 
TEMPORARY, SEASONAL AND COMMISSION EMPLOYEES 

 
4. RESOLUTION, 2023-04, ESTABLISHMENT OF WATER/SEWER SUBSIDY INCOME 

LEVELS 
 

5. REQUEST TO PAY ALL APPOINTED BOARD MEMBERS AND COMMISSIONERS A 
$75.00 STIPEND IN THE AMOUNT OF $5,000.00 BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #101-101-
704.000 CONTINGENT ON APPROVAL OF THE BUDGET AMENDMENT 

 
 

 



Ypsilanti Township Board Agenda Page 2  April 4, 2023 
  

   
    
   
 
 
 
 
  

6. REQUEST TO APPROVE THE PROPOSAL FROM MIDWESTERN CONSULTING TO 
PROVIDE A DRONE SURVEY IN THE AMOUNT OF $64,000.00 BUDGETED IN LINE 
ITEM #213-753-801-500 CONTINGENT UPON APPROVAL OF THE BUDGET 
AMENDMENT 

 
7. REQUEST TO APPROVE DESIGN ENGINEERING BY MIDWESTERN CONSULTING 

AND STANTEC FOR NORTH BAY PARK ACCESSIBILITY AND IMPROVEMENT STUDY 
IN THE AMOUNT OF $9,962.50 BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #213-753-801-500 
CONTINGENT UPON APPROVAL OF THE BUDGET AMENDMENT 

 
8. BUDGET AMENDMENT #4 

 
 
 
AUTHORIZATIONS AND BIDS 
 
1. REQUEST TO APPROVE THE PROPOSAL FROM RANDALL MASCHARKA FOR 

TOWNSHIP PHOTOGRAPHY SERVICES 
 

2. REQUEST TO ACCEPT THE PROPOSAL FROM OOMA ENTERPRISE FOR AIRDIAL 
SERVICE 

 
3. REQUEST TO SEEK BIDS FOR CONSTRUCTION SERVICES FOR INSPECTION OF 

SPILLWAY GATES AND CONCRETE REPAIRS AT THE HYDRO STATION  
 

 
 
OTHER BUSINESS 
 
 
BOARD MEMBER UPDATES 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 

 



 

CONSENT AGENDA 

 

 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE MARCH 21, 2023 WORK SESSION 

 
Supervisor Stumbo called the meeting to order at approximately 5:00pm in the Ypsilanti 
Township Civic Center Board Room, 7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti Township.  
 
Members Present: Supervisor Brenda Stumbo, Clerk Heather Jarrell Roe 

 and Treasurer Stan Eldridge 
Trustees: Ryan Hunter, John Newman II, Gloria Peterson 
 and Debbie Swanson  

                            
Members Absent:  None 
                    
Legal Counsel:   Wm. Douglas Winters 
 
 
AGENDA 
 

 
1. 14B COURT SECURITY WALK THROUGH.……….………………JFR ARCHITECTS 
 
2. WATER AND SEWER REBATE PROGRAM……..………….SUPERVISOR STUMBO 

 
3. APPOINTED BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS STIPEND…...SUPERVISOR STUMBO          

 
4. AGENDA REVIEW ………...……………………………..……..SUPERVISOR STUMBO 

 
5. OTHER DISCUSSION…….………………………………………...  BOARD MEMBERS 
 
 

1. 14B COURT SECURITY WALK THROUGH………………………JFR ARCHITECTS 
 

James Renaud, JFR Architects, stated the idea for today’s meeting would be to do a walk 
through of the 14B Court to review areas where security is recommended and the type of 
security. He also spoke about the repairs needed to the IT office.  
 

Mark Nelson, Magistrate 14B Court, stated that 14B and the court in Chelsea were the only 
courts in Washtenaw County that did not have security. He added that the Chelsea court 
may be moving to another location in order to add security. 
 
Treasurer Eldridge stated that he and Mark Nelson had met with State Representative 
Jimmie Wilson, who now sits on the House Judiciary, to attempt to find funding for the 
security updates at the court.  
 
The tour began at 5:09pm and returned at approximately 5:49pm. 
 
Discussion and questions continued on the proposed updates. 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE MARCH 21, 2023 WORK SESSION 
PAGE 2 
 
 

Three public comments were given.  

 

2. WATER AND SEWER REBATE PROGRAM………………….SUPERVISOR STUMBO 

 

Supervisor Stumbo stated she is proposing to raise the water and sewer rebate from 
$20.00 to $40.00. She stated the rebate had not been raised since 2017 and that residents 
had asked for the rebate to be increased due to rising costs. 
 
The board had no objection to this being placed on the next meeting’s agenda. 
 

3. APPOINTED BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS STIPEND….SUPERVISOR STUMBO 

 

Supervisor Stumbo stated that she did not realize that member’s of certain boards or 
commissions did not receive a stipend for attending meetings and that the boards she is 
referring to is the AAATA, Huron River Watershed, Washtenaw Regional Recycling 
Authority and the Washtenaw Area Transportation Authority. She added that she would 
recommend paying these appointees $75.00 per meeting as with all other boards and 
commissions that are already compensated. 
 
The board had no objection to this being placed on the next meeting’s agenda. 
 

Supervisor Stumbo spoke about a grant the township had received to hand out naloxone 
spray. She stated the Treasurer’s Office is handing out the naloxone. 
 
Supervisor Stumbo stated that 98 year old Sargent William Barksdale received his World 
War II medals the previous week in the boardroom of the Civic Center.  
 

Supervisor Stumbo stated that she had attended the recent meeting for the New West 
Willow Neighborhood Association with Trustees Swanson, Newman and Peterson. She 
stated there was a lot of yelling and the meeting was very concerning. Discussion 
continued between board members on the events at the meeting and the status of the 
Community Resource Center owned by the township and used by the NWWNA. 
 
Trustee Newman stated that he was still trying to schedule a meeting with Sheriff Clayton 
for the Police Services Committee. 
 

 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE MARCH 21, 2023 WORK SESSION 
PAGE 3 
 
AGENDA REVIEW 

 

CONSENT AGENDA 

There was no discussion on the consent agenda.  
 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
1. REQUEST TO AWARD THE BID FOR DEMOLITION OF GAULT VILLAGE TO 

HOMRICH, INC. 
 

Supervisor Stumbo stated this item would be discussed during the 7pm Regular Meeting.  
 

2. REQUEST TO ACCEPT THE RESIGNATION OF KEITH JASON FROM THE 
YPSILANTI COMMUNITY UTILITY AUTHORITY EFFECTIVE APRIL 27, 2023 

 
Supervisor Stumbo stated that Mr. Jason had served on the YCUA board for the previous 
ten years.  
 
3. REQUEST TO APPROVE THE LEASE WITH MICHIGAN TOURNAMENT FLEET 

FOR THE RENTAL OF GOLF CARTS FOR THE JEL SUMMER JAZZ CONCERT 
SERIES IN THE AMOUNT OF $3,760.00 BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #230-754-
963-0603 

 
Supervisor Stumbo stated this will be funded by a grant that the township receives every 
year from the Visitors and Convention Bureau. 
 
4. REQUEST TO APPROVE CHANGE ORDER #4 WITH STANTEC FOR THE 

LOONFEATHER POINT PARK RENOVATION PROJECT IN THE AMOUNT OF 
$11,858.00 BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #213-901-975-587 

 
John Hines, Recreation Director, stated this change order would go until March 31, 2023 
and should complete the project. 
 
5. BUDGET AMENDMENT #3 
 
Supervisor Stumbo reviewed the budget amendment. Javonna Neel, Accounting Director 
requested to make a change to the budget amendment. She added that the line item for 
repairs at the community center for insurance reimbursement should be changed to line 
item #213-000-676-012. 
 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE MARCH 21, 2023 WORK SESSION 
PAGE 4 
 
AUTHORIZATIONS AND BIDS 
 
1. REQUEST TO SEEK SEALED BIDS FOR A FORD F-150 FOR THE BUILDING 

DEPARTMENT 
 
There was no discussion on this item. 
 
2. REQUEST TO AWARD THE LOW BID FOR PLAYGROUND MULCH TO 

SUPERIOR GROUNDCOVER BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #101-770-818-011 
 
There was no discussion on this item. 

 

3. REQUEST TO AWARD THE LOW BID FOR ANNUAL SIDEWALK REPAIR TO 
CLI CONCRETE LEVELING, INC. BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #213-446-982-006 

 
There was no discussion on this item. 

 

4. REQUEST TO AWARD THE LOW BID FOR ANNUAL SIDEWALK REPLACEMTN 
TO SOLIDINO CONSTRUCTION CO. BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #213-446-982-
006 

 
There was no discussion on this item. 
 
OTHER BUSINESS 
 
There was no other business. 
 
BOARD MEMBER UPDATES 
 
There were no board member updates. 
 
The Work Session meeting was adjourned at approximately 6:57pm.  
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
Heather Jarrell Roe, Clerk, Charter Township of Ypsilanti                   



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE MARCH 21, 2023 REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

 
Supervisor Brenda Stumbo called the meeting to order at approximately 7:04pm in 
the Ypsilanti Township Civic Center Board Room, 7200 S. Huron River Drive, 
Ypsilanti Township. The Pledge of Allegiance was recited followed by a moment of 
silent prayer. 
 
Members Present:     Supervisor Brenda Stumbo, Clerk Heather Jarrell Roe and 

Treasurer Stan Eldridge 
          Trustees: Ryan Hunter, John Newman II, Gloria Peterson  

and Debbie Swanson  
 

Members Absent:       None 
                    
Legal Counsel:   Wm. Douglas Winters  
 
 

4.  PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 
Five public comments were given. 
 
5. CONSENT AGENDA 
 

A. MINUTES OF THE MARCH 7, 2023 WORK SESSION AND REGULAR MEETING 
 

B. STATEMENTS AND CHECKS 
 

1. STATEMENTS AND CHECKS FOR MARCH 7, 2023 IN THE AMOUNT OF 
$1,387,320.18 

2. CLARITY HEALTHCARE DEDUCTIBLE ACH FOR FEBRUARY 2023 IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $68,299.59 

3. CLARITY HEALTHCARE ADMIN FEE FOR FEBRUARY 2023 IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $1,465.32 
 

A motion was made by Clerk Jarrell Roe and seconded by Treasurer Eldridge to 
approve the consent agenda. 

 
The motion passed unanimously. 
 
ATTORNEY REPORT 
 

A. GENERAL LEGAL UPDATE 
 
Attorney Winters deferred his time for discussion on the proposal for demolition of 
Gault Village. 
 

NEW BUSINESS 
 
1. REQUEST TO AWARD THE BID FOR DEMOLITION OF GAULT VILLAGE TO 

HOMRICH, INC. 
 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE MARCH 21, 2023 REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
PAGE 2 
 
A motion was made by Clerk Jarrell Roe and seconded by Treasurer Eldridge to 
award the bid for demolition of Gault Village to Homrich, Inc. 
 
Jason Iacoangeli, Planning Director, explained the bidding process for the 
demolition and the steps taken to get bids for the project.  
 
Jason Lafayette, SME, stated that each company that was selected to bid was 
prequalified. He added that SME has worked on multiple projects like this with 
great success.  
 
Discussion and questions continued about the project. 
 
The motion passed unanimously 
 
2. REQUEST TO ACCEPT THE RESIGNATION OF KEITH JASON FROM THE 

YPSILANTI COMMUNITY UTILITIES AUTHORITY BOARD EFFECTIVE APRIL 27, 
2023 
 

A motion was made by Clerk Jarrell Roe and seconded by Treasurer Eldridge to 
accept the resignation of Keith Jason from the Ypsilanti Community Utilities 
Authority Board effective April 27, 2023. 
 
Supervisor Stumbo stated that Mr. Jason has been on the YCUA board for ten 
years. She added that he is resigning to spend more time with his family.  
 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
3. REQUEST TO APPROVE THE LEASE WITH MICHIGAN TOURNAMENT FLEET 

FOR THE RENTAL OF GOLF CARTS FOR THE JEL SUMMER JAZZ CONCERT 
SERIES IN THE AMOUNT OF $3,760.00 BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #230-754-
963-603 

 
A motion was made by Trustee Peterson and seconded by Clerk Jarrell Roe to 
approve the lease with Michigan Tournament Fleet for the rental of golf carts for 
the JEL Summer Jazz Concert Series in the amount of $3,760.00 budgeted in line 
item #230-754-963-603 contingent upon attorney review of the lease. 
 
There was no discussion. 
 
The motion passed unanimously. 
 
4. REQUEST TO APPROVE CHANGE ORDER #4 WITH STANTEC FOR THE 

LOONFEATHER POINT PARK RENOVATION PROJECT IN THE AMOUNT OF 
$11,858.00 BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #213-901-975-587 

 
A motion was made by Treasurer Eldridge and seconded by Trustee Peterson to 
approve change order #4 with Stantec for the Loonfeather Point Park Renovation 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE MARCH 21, 2023 REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
PAGE 3 
 
Project in the amount of $11,858.00 budgeted in line item #213-901-975-587 (see 
attached). 
 
Supervisor Stumbo stated this should be the last project to finish the park 
renovation and that the park will be open soon.  
 
The motion passed unanimously. 
 
5. BUDGET AMENDMENT #4  
 
Clerk Jarrell Roe read the budget amendment into the record. 
 
A motion was made by Clerk Jarrell Roe and seconded by Treasurer Eldridge to 
approve budget amendment #4 (see attached). 
 
Supervisor Stumbo stated this amendment also includes funding to contract with a 
third party for chipper services. 
 
The motion passed unanimously.  
 
AUTHORIZATIONS AND BIDS 
 
1. REQUEST TO SEEK SEALED BIDS FOR A FORD F-150 FOR THE BUILDING 

DEPARTMENT 
 

A motion was made by Clerk Jarrell Roe and seconded by Treasurer Eldridge to 
approve the request to seek sealed bids for a Ford F-150 for the Building 
Department. 
 
Supervisor Stumbo stated this will come back to the board. 
 
John Hines, Recreation Director, stated this request came from the building 
department and would be for the senior building inspector.  
 
The motion passed unanimously.  
 
2. REQUEST TO AWARD THE LOW BID FOR PLAYGROUND MULCH TO SUPERIOR 

GROUNDCOVER BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #101-770-818-011 
 
A motion was made by Clerk Jarrell Roe and seconded by Treasurer Eldridge to 
award the low bid for playground mulch to Superior Groundcover budgeted in line 
item #101-770-818-011. 
 
John Hines, Recreation Director, stated this was actually the second lowest bid, but 
the township had worked with this company the past few years and they do a great 
job. 
 
The motion passed unanimously.  



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE MARCH 21, 2023 REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
PAGE 4 
 
 
3. REQUEST TO AWARD THE LOW BID FOR ANNUAL SIDEWALK REPAIR TO CLI 

CONCRETE LEVELING, INC. BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #213-446-982-006 
 

A motion was made by Clerk Jarrell Roe and seconded by Treasurer Eldridge to 
award the low bid for annual sidewalk repair to CLI Concrete Leveling, Inc. 
budgeted in line item #213-446-982-006. 
 
John Hines, Recreation Director, stated this was the only bid for the project. He 
added this is for when residents contact the township about uneven leveling in the 
sidewalk due to tree roots or some other type of wear and tear.  
 
The motion passed unanimously. 
 
4. REQUEST TO AWARD THE LOW BID FOR ANNUAL SIDEWALK REPLACEMENT 

TO SALIDINO CONSTRUCTION CO. BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #213-446-982-
006 

 
A motion was made by Treasurer Eldridge and seconded by Clerk Jarrell Roe to 
award the low bid for annual sidewalk repair to Salidino Construction, Co. 
budgeted in line item #213-446-982-006. 
 
John Hines, Recreation Director, stated this is for when the sidewalk cannot be 
repaired. He added that this was the only bid for the project. 
 
Clerk Jarrell Roe stated that when the bids are viewed on MITN, they are able to 
see which and how many companies have viewed the bid but chose not to bid and 
there were quite a few contractors who viewed both sidewalk bids.  
 
The motion passed unanimously.  
 
OTHER BUSINESS 
 
There was no other business.  
 
BOARD MEMBER UPDATES 
 
There were no board member updates. 
 
A motion to adjourn was made by Clerk Jarrell Roe and seconded by Treasurer 
Eldridge.  
 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at approximately 8:18pm. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE MARCH 21, 2023 REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
PAGE 5 
 
 
Brenda L. Stumbo, Supervisor                  Heather Jarrell Roe, Clerk 
Charter Township of Ypsilanti                  Charter Township of Ypsilanti 





CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI

 2023 BUDGET AMENDMENT #3 REVISED 3/20/23

March 21, 2023

AMOUNTS ROUNDED UP TO THE NEAREST DOLLAR 

213 - BIKE, SIDEWALK, REC, ROADS  FUND (BSRII) Total Increase $402,275.00

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 213-000-699.999 $102,275.00

Net Revenues $102,275.00

Expenditures: Loonfeather Park 21-901-975.587 $102,275.00

Net Expenditures $102,275.00

Revenues: Insurance Reimbursement 213-000-676.012 $100,000.00

Prior Year Fund Balance 213-000-699.999 $200,000.00

Net Revenues $300,000.00

Expenditures: Capital Outlay - Community Ctr 213-901-976.008 $300,000.00

Net Expenditures $300,000.00

217 - FIRE SPECIAL MILLAGE CAPITAL FUND $70,000.00

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 217-000-699.999 $70,000.00

Net Revenues $70,000.00

Expenditures: Capital Outlay Fire Station 217-901-976.005 $70,000.00

Net Expenditures $70,000.00

Request to carryforward the Loonfeather Park project. The project was scheduled to be finished in 2022 but 

complications have caused a run over into 2023.  This will be funded by an Appropriation of Prior Year Fund 

Balance.

Request to increase the budget for emergency repairs caused by flooding to the Community Center and Golf 

Shop. This is an ESTIMATED budget.  The damage repair may be more extensive and any additional work will be 

brought back to the Board per the Township's Procurement Policy.   This will be funded by an appropriation of 

prior year fund balance and reimbursement from the insurance company MML.

Request to carryforward and budget for the capital improvement for concrete floor treatment and painting  

projects approved by the Board on August 16, 2022.  These projects were not started in 2022.  This will be funded 

by an appropriation of prior year fund balance.

1 of 2



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI

 2023 BUDGET AMENDMENT #3 REVISED 3/20/23

March 21, 2023

226 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES FUND Total Increase $50,000.00

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 226-000-699.999 $50,000.00

Net Revenues $50,000.00

Expenditures: Contractual Services 226-528-818.000 $50,000.00

Net Expenditures $50,000.00

Request to increase the budget for contractual chipping service due to sever storms. Services needed for 

residential curbside tree chipping. This will be funded by an appropriation of prior year fund balance. 

2 of 2



Motion to Amend the 2023 Budget (#3) REVISED 3-20-23 

 
 

Move to increase the Bike, Sidewalk, Rec, Roads (BSRII) Fund budget by $402,275 

to $3,334,497 and approve the department line item changes as outlined. 

 

Move to increase the Fire Special Millage Capital Fund budget by $70,000 to 

$2,199,540 and approve the department line item changes as outlined. 

 

Move to increase the Environmental Service Fund budget by $50,000 to $3,744,633 

and approve the department line item changes as outlined.  

 

 

 











 

ATTORNEY REPORT 
 

GENERAL LEGAL UPDATE 
 

 



 

NEW BUSINESS 

 

 



Page 1 of 1 

 

 

 

Resolution No. 2023-03 

 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
RESOLUTION REGARDING THE DIVISION OF A PLATTED LOT 

 

 Resolution authorizing the division of platted lots in Watsonia Park Subdivision 

 

 WHEREAS, the owner of lots 173-186, lots 408-441 including vacated Edgewood Ave, Beverly 

Ave and vacated alley of Watsonia Park Subdivision has made a request to change lot boundaries as 

previously approved and recorded; and 

 

 WHEREAS,  Township ordinance no. 2000-243, Article IX, Section 11.01 states that “Upon the 

filing of a petition, by the owner or owners of all interest therein, with the Township Board, the platted 

lots, outlot, or parcels of land in existing recorded plats may be partitioned or divided upon resolution of 

the Township Board into not more than four (4) parts, each of which shall, in regard to width, depth and 

area, conform to the terms and provisions of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti Zoning Ordinance, as 

amended; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Township Planning Director has reviewed the division and confirmed that the 

resulting parcels meet the minimum requirements for lot size and road frontage as set forth by Section 

2000 of the Township Zoning Ordinance. 

 

 THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the revised property descriptions are approved as 

follows:  

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTIONS: 
 
PARCEL A: 
 
All of Lots 408-415, part of lots 434-437, all of lots 438-441, the S ½ of vacated Edgewood Ave (60 
ft. wide) adj to lots 408 and 441, part of E ½ of vacated Beverly Ave (60 ft. wide) adj to lots 437-441 
all inclusive , Watsonia Park Sub, part of sec 13, T3S, R7E recorded in L 6 of plats, P 33, Wash Cty 
Records, Also described as, Beg at SE corner of lot 415; TH S 88-34-22 W AL S-line of lots 415 and 
434 192.50 ft.; TH N 33-17-58 W AL the E-LY line of a temp work space easement, rec L 5473, P 802, 
Wash Cty Records, 232.18 Ft; TH N 00-00-00 E AL the C-Line of Vacated Beverly Ave, 135.82 Ft; TH 
N 16-27-26 E Al the E-Ly Line of right of way for Highway purposes Recorded in L 889, P 534, Wash 
Cty Records, 17.81 Ft; TH N 88-34-22 E AL C-Line of Vacated Edgewood Ave, 314.96 Ft; TH S 00-00-
00 E AL W-Line of Watson St (60 ft. Wide) 350.01 Ft. to POB. CON 2.28 AC 
PARCEL B: 
 
All of Lots 173-186, Lots 416-433, part of lots 434-437, All of Vacated 20 ft. wide alley and part of E 
½ of Vacated Beverly Ave (60 ft. wide), All Inclusive, Watsonia Park Sub being part of NW ¼ of sec 
13, T3S, R7E as recorded in L6 of plats, P33, Wash Cty records, more particularly described as: Beg 
at SE corner of lot 186; TH S 88-34-22 W AL N-Line of State ST (86 ft. wide), 320.01 ft.; TH N 00-00-
00 E AL C-line of vacated Beverly Ave, 684.24 Ft; TH S 33-17-58 E AL E-LY line of a temporary work 
space easement recorded L 5473, P802, Wash Cty records, 232.18 Ft; TH N 88-34-22 E AL N-Line of 
lots 416 and 433, 192.50 Ft; TH S 00-00-00 E AL W-line of Watson St (60 Ft wide), 487.01 Ft to the 
POB. Con 3.87 AC 



 

 

Township Supervisor 

Brenda L. Stumbo 

Township Clerk 

Heather Jarrell Roe 

Township Treasurer 

Stan Eldridge 

ASSESSMENT  DEPARTMENT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Date:   March 29, 2023 

 

 

To:  Ypsilanti Township Board 

 

 

From:  Brian McCleery 

  Deputy Assessor 

 

Cc:  Jason Iacoangeli 

Planning Director 

 

Re: Request to approve Resolution 2023-03 to Change Platted Lot Boundary Line in 

Watsonia Park Subdivision lots 173-186 and lots 408-441, dividing the parcel into 

two creating new parcels.   

 

Parcel: 1250 Watson, Parcel ID K-11-13-255-002, Lots 173-186, lots 408-441 

including vacated Edgewood Ave, Beverly Ave and vacated alley of Watsonia 

Park Subdivision.   

 

New Parcels: 

 

PARCEL A: 

 

All of Lots 408-415, part of lots 434-437, all of lots 438-441, the S ½ of vacated Edgewood 
Ave (60 ft. wide) adj to lots 408 and 441, part of E ½ of vacated Beverly Ave (60 ft. wide) adj 
to lots 437-441 all inclusive , Watsonia Park Sub, part of sec 13, T3S, R7E recorded in L 6 of 
plats, P 33, Wash Cty Records, Also described as, Beg at SE corner of lot 415; TH S 88-34-22 
W AL S-line of lots 415 and 434 192.50 ft.; TH N 33-17-58 W AL the E-LY line of a temp work 
space easement, rec L 5473, P 802, Wash Cty Records, 232.18 Ft; TH N 00-00-00 E AL the C-
Line of Vacated Beverly Ave, 135.82 Ft; TH N 16-27-26 E Al the E-Ly Line of right of way for 
Highway purposes Recorded in L 889, P 534, Wash Cty Records, 17.81 Ft; TH N 88-34-22 E 
AL C-Line of Vacated Edgewood Ave, 314.96 Ft; TH S 00-00-00 E AL W-Line of Watson St (60 
ft. Wide) 350.01 Ft. to POB. CON 2.28 AC 
 

PARCEL B: 

 

All of Lots 173-186, Lots 416-433, part of lots 434-437, All of Vacated 20 ft. wide alley and 
part of E ½ of Vacated Beverly Ave (60 ft. wide), All Inclusive, Watsonia Park Sub being part 
of NW ¼ of sec 13, T3S, R7E as recorded in L6 of plats, P33, Wash Cty records, more 
particularly described as: Beg at SE corner of lot 186; TH S 88-34-22 W AL N-Line of State ST 



 

 

Township Supervisor 

Brenda L. Stumbo 

Township Clerk 

Heather Jarrell Roe 

Township Treasurer 

Stan Eldridge 

ASSESSMENT  DEPARTMENT 

 

 

 

 

(86 ft. wide), 320.01 ft.; TH N 00-00-00 E AL C-line of vacated Beverly Ave, 684.24 Ft; TH S 
33-17-58 E AL E-LY line of a temporary work space easement recorded L 5473, P802, Wash 
Cty records, 232.18 Ft; TH N 88-34-22 E AL N-Line of lots 416 and 433, 192.50 Ft; TH S 00-
00-00 E AL W-line of Watson St (60 Ft wide), 487.01 Ft to the POB. Con 3.87 AC 
 

 

The Assessment Department is requesting approval for the parcel division as the division would 

constitute a change in the original lot line in a recorded plat.  

 

Ypsilanti Township’s local ordinance requires Township Board approval if there are any 

revisions to the original lot line in a recorded plat. This is required as the Board has already 

approved the original plat and the requested division is a revision to the previously approved 

boundaries 

 

Planning Coordinator Fletcher Reyher has verified that the division will not create any non-

conforming conditions. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

Township Supervisor 

Brenda L. Stumbo 

Township Clerk 

Heather Jarrell Roe 

Township Treasurer 

Stan Eldridge 

Trustees 

John Newman II 

Gloria Peterson 

Debbie Swanson 

Ryan Hunter 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
 
TO:  Fletcher Reyher 

Staff Planner 
   
FROM: Collin Wagaman 
  MAAO/Clerk 
 
DATE:  March 17, 2023 
 
RE:  Land Division Application  
 
                  K-11-13-255-002 – 1250 Watson St 
   
An application for the division of the above parcel has been submitted to our office. 
 
Please verify if this application complies with Zoning and Division Ordinances of the 
Township.  
 
Attached are the Property Division Application, survey, and the aerial photo for the 
parcels.       
 
If you have any questions, or need more information, please do not hesitate contacting 
me. 
 
 
Attachments: 
Application 
Survey 
Aerial Photo 

 

 

 

 

 

 

















 

 

Township Supervisor 
Brenda L. Stumbo 
Township Clerk 
Heather Jarrell Roe 
Township Treasurer 
Stan Eldridge 

Trustees 
John Newman II 
Gloria Peterson 

Debbie Swanson 
Jimmie Wilson Jr 

MEMORANDUM 
 
To: Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board of Trustees 
 
From: Karen Wallin 
 Human Resource Manager 
 
Date: March 29, 2023 
 
Subject: Request to approve the creation, posting, and filling of a “Maintenance 

Superintendent” as a new Teamster position with a wage range of $65,000 - 
$68,000 (DOQ)    

 
 
As the Board of Trustees are aware, following the resignation of Mike Hoffmeister back in 
January, we have been reviewing duties within the Residential Services Department and would 
like to bring back our first recommendation for consideration. 
 
A number of years ago, the Township employed both a “Parks & Grounds Superintendent” and 
a “Building Operations Superintendent” as part of the Teamsters union.  Between the two 
positions they managed and supervised all of our maintenance employees including:  
custodians, crew leaders, laborers, mechanic/equipment operator and maintenance 
technicians.  At the time each of these positions became vacant, a decision was made not to fill 
them and the day-to-day supervision fell to the Residential Services Director.  As we have been 
reviewing the Residential Services Department, it has become apparent that the day-to-day 
supervisory/management duties of the maintenance employees need to be removed from the 
Director position, and that we need to reinstate a Superintendent position that truly oversees 
all maintenance operations of the Township.  
 
The attached draft job description for a “Maintenance Superintendent” is being brought forth 
for consideration, with approval to post and fill the new Teamster position at the wage range of 
$65,000 - $68,000 (DOQ).  This position would be covered by budget accounts 101-265 (RSD – 
Building Operations) and 101-770 (RSD – Parks & Grounds) at 50% each. 
 
Your consideration in the matter is appreciated.  Should you have any additional questions, 
please contact me at 544-3741 or kwallin@ypsitownship.org.    
 
 
 



 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
 

MAINTENANCE SUPERINTENDENT 

Teamsters Position 

  
Summary 

   

Responsible for managing and overseeing maintenance and upkeep operations for Township parks, 

buildings, properties/grounds, and landscaped areas.   

 

Supervision Received 

 

Under the general supervision of the Director of Municipal Services, this employee conducts ongoing 

activities with considerable independence according to established practices and policy and is held 

accountable for results.  The work is checked through periodic inspections, feedback of residents and 

visitors, and review of reports. 

 

Supervision Exercised 

 

Supervises all maintenance employees including:  crew leaders, laborers, mechanic/equipment operator, 

maintenance technicians, custodians, seasonal park maintenance workers, and others as assigned. 

 

Responsibilities and Duties 
An employee in this position may do any or all of the following essential duties. (These examples do not include all of the 

duties the employee maybe expected to perform.) 

 

1. Assign and oversee day-to-day workflow of employees engaged in maintenance and repair of 

Township parks, grounds/properties, and buildings.  

 

2. Inspect parks, grounds, shelters, and buildings to determine maintenance needs and to detect and 

resolve problems. 

 

3. Provide technical guidance and training to employees as needed to improve work performance and 

acquaint employees with policy and safety procedures. 

 

4. Drafts and implements routine maintenance schedules and standards; ensures all equipment and 

machinery are maintained in accordance to these standards.  

 

5. Oversee and monitor equipment and supply needs, placing orders when necessary, staying within the 

approved budgetary limits. 

 

6. Document and prepare progress reports and maintenance logs to assist with cost analysis and budget 

development.  

 

7. Investigate and respond to residential inquiries and concerns regarding maintenance issues of 

Township parks, grounds, and buildings, etc. 



 

MAINTENANCE SUPERINTENDENT – Page 2 

 

Responsibilities and Duties (cont’d) 

 

8. Demonstrate continuous effort to assure entrances to Township parks and facilities are maintained 

(including playground inspections, landscaping, condition of sidewalks and parking lots), while 

meeting the townships expected standard of safety and cleanliness. 

 

9. Demonstrate continuous effort to improve maintenance operations, and work cooperatively and 

jointly with other staff to provide quality seamless customer service. 

 

10. Collaborates regularly with the Director of Municipal Services to identify renovation or construction 

needs. 

 

11. Maintain training records assuring necessary memberships and licenses, etc. are received and 

maintained.  

 

12. Perform other related duties as assigned. 

 

 

Essential Functions, Qualifications and KSA’s for Employment 
The requirements listed below are representative of the knowledge, skills, abilities and minimum qualifications necessary to 

perform the essential functions of the position.  These requirements may be accommodated for otherwise qualified individuals 

requiring and requesting such accommodations.  
 

 

 Considerable knowledge of procedures, practices, materials, and operation of equipment utilized 

in the maintenance and repair of buildings, facilities, and grounds/parks.  

 Maintenance knowledge to develop and maintained attractive township parks/grounds, buildings 

and facilities. 

 Draft and implement routine maintenance schedules and standards; ensures compliance with these 

standards. 

 Knowledge of MIOSHA safety practices to minimize injury and property damage at Township 

facilities. 

 Leadership skill to establish and maintain effective working relationships with public officials, 

employees, and the general public. 

 Ability to compile and analyze data and to professional present facts and recommendations 

effectively in written and oral form. 

 Ability to compute project material, manpower and equipment needs. 

 Ability to comprehend complex issues, to identify alternative solutions, and prepare appropriate 

recommendations. 

 Ability to plan, coordinate and supervise the activities of several employees engaged in a variety 

of maintenance duties. 

 Ability to prioritize tasks and delegate when appropriate. 

 Bachelor Degree in Business Administration or related field preferred.  Relevant years of 

management level building or grounds maintenance experience demonstrating skills needed may 

be substituted for degree. Must have a minimum of five years supervisory experience. 

 Must possess a valid Michigan driver license and have a good driving record. 



 

Physical Demands and Work Environment  
The physical demands and work environment characteristics described here are representative of those an employee encounters 

while performing the essential functions of the job. These requirements may be accommodated for otherwise qualified individuals 

requiring and requesting such accommodations.  
 

While performing the duties of this job, the employee may spend periods sitting at a desk and 

working on a computer.  Employee will stand, walk, crawl, carry, climb, and maneuver where 

physical mobility is required. The employee is exposed to all weather conditions including 

temperature extremes.  Exposure to muddy, icy and uneven terrain, noxious weeds, odors and noise. 

 

Drafted 3-2023 

Wage: $65,000 - $68,000 DOQ (NOTE:  Crew Leaders = $54,412; Maint. Tech’s = $56,929) 



 

 

Township Supervisor 
Brenda L. Stumbo 
Township Clerk 
Heather Jarrell Roe 
Township Treasurer 
Stan Eldridge 

Trustees 
John Newman II 
Gloria Peterson 

Debbie Swanson 
Jimmie Wilson Jr 

MEMORANDUM 
 
To: Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board of Trustees 
 
From: Karen Wallin 
 Human Resource Manager 
 
Date: March 24, 2023 
 
Subject: Request to stop funding the Nationwide OBRA account and to reinstate the 

employer/employee social security taxes for temporary, seasonal, and commission 
employees. 

 
Back in the late 1980’s the Board of Trustees elected to stop the social security tax deduction 
from temporary, seasonal, and commission employees and to enroll these individuals into a 
Nationwide OBRA fixed account.  At the time this decision was made, it was thought that this 
would save the Township money.  Over the years, what little savings this brought to the 
Township has diminished and the additional processes required by the Human Resource 
Department and Accounting Department has increased.   
 
In an effort to help streamline payroll process and alleviate fiduciary responsibilities of the 
Township, we are requesting that the Township stop funding these OBRA accounts and that all 
employees/commission members receiving compensation from the township have regular 
social security taxes deducted from their pay. 
 
Your consideration in the matter is appreciated.  Should you have any additional questions, 
please contact me at 544-3741 or kwallin@ypsitownship.org.    
 
 
 

 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-04 
 

ESTABLISHMENT OF WATER/SEWER SUBSIDY INCOME LEVELS 
 

WHEREAS, Ypsilanti Township has established a water and sewer bill subsidy program 

for Township citizens of limited income; and 

 

WHEREAS, Ypsilanti Township adopts the following guidelines for the Supervisor’s 

Office to implement. The guidelines shall include but not be limited to the specific 

income and asset levels of the claimant and all persons residing in the household, filed in 

the immediately preceding year; 

 

1) All household income cannot exceed 30% of the median income for Ann 

Arbor (Washtenaw County) as published annually by the Michigan State 

Housing Development Authority for Section 8 housing vouchers. The most 

recently available guidelines shall be used by the Supervisor’s Office. 

 

2) A copy of the applicant’s completed and signed Federal Income Tax Return 

(if required to file), and/or Michigan Homestead Property Tax Credit Claim 

(1040 CR) and/or Social Security Statement for the prior year must be 

submitted for the application to be considered. Additionally, a copy of the 

prior year Federal Income Tax Return for any other occupant of the 

homestead is required. 

 

3) Applicants are requested to black out all references to social security numbers 

prior to submitting necessary paperwork. 

 

4) Water/Sewer subsidies must be applied for each year. If a subsidy is granted, 

it is for one year only. 

 

5) Applicants must reside in the Charter Township of Ypsilanti and be the 

property owner. Verification of this shall be completed when application is 

submitted. 

 

6) The subsidy shall show on the applicants Ypsilanti Community Utilities 

Authority bill as a $40.00 credit. 

 

 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that Supervisor’s Office shall follow the 

above stated policy in granting and denying subsidies, unless the Supervisor determines 

there are substantial and compelling reasons why there should be a deviation from the 

policy and these are communicated in writing to the claimant.  

 



Township Supervisor 
Brenda L. Stumbo 
Township Clerk 
Heather Jarrell Roe 
Township Treasurer 
Stan Eldridge 

Trustees 
Ryan Hunter 

John Newman II 
Gloria Peterson 

Debbie Swanson 

MEMORANDUM 

To:      Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board of Trustees 

From:  Brenda Stumbo, Township Supervisor 

Date:   March 29, 2023 

RE:    Resolution No. 2023-04, Revision to water/sewer subsidy program 

As discussed at the March 21, 2023 Board of Trustees meeting, Ypsilanti Township and the 

Ypsilanti Community Utilities Authority have been offering Ypsilanti Township residents a 

program to help subsidize water bill costs for 25+ years.  

The Supervisor’s Office is requesting an increase to the amount of subsidy from $20.00 to 

$40.00 for a bimonthly bill that we provide to homeowners that qualify under the federal poverty 

guidelines. The last increase was in 2017, where it was increased from $15.00 to $20.00. As we 

know, many homeowners are struggling, with the cost of utilities, goods and services steeply 

increasing. 

The water and sewer rebate program is currently budgeted in line 101-272-836.100 at $10,400. 

Contingent on the budget amendment, this amount would be increased double to $20,800.  

A resolution to establish these rate increases for the water and sewer subsidy program is 

attached, as well as the income thresholds. 

Thank you for your consideration.  





 

 

Township Supervisor 
Brenda L. Stumbo 
Township Clerk 
Heather Jarrell Roe 
Township Treasurer 
Stan Eldridge 

Trustees 
Ryan Hunter 

John Newman II 
Gloria Peterson 

Debbie Swanson 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 

To:      Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board of Trustees 

 

From:  Brenda Stumbo, Township Supervisor 

 

Date:   March 29, 2023 

 

RE:     Request to pay all appointed board members and commissioners a $75 stipend from 

line 101-101-704.000 in the amount of $5,000, contingent on budget amendment 

 

Per the work session discussion on March 21, 2023, the Supervisor’s Office is requesting for all 

appointed board members and commissioners to receive a $75 stipend. Currently, only some 

appointees are paid. Those that are not paid are as follows: 

 

 Ann Arbor Area Transportation Authority  

 Bee Committee 

 Huron River Watershed Council 

 Washtenaw Area Transportation Study Committee 

 Washtenaw Regional Recycling Management Authority 

 

These appointees travel to these meetings, and put their time and effort into serving our 

community, and we would like the board to consider allowing them to receive a stipend for their 

service.  

 

For these stipends, a new line item would be created in the General Fund Township Board 

department 101-101-704.000 “Appointed Officials.” Contingent on the budget amendment, 

$5,000 will be budgeted in this line. 

 

Thank you for your consideration.   

 



 

 

Township Supervisor 
Brenda L. Stumbo 
Township Clerk 
Heather Jarrell Roe 
Township Treasurer 
Stan Eldridge 

Trustees 
Ryan Hunter 

John Newman II 
Gloria Peterson 

Debbie Swanson 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 

To:      Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board of Trustees 

 

From:  Brenda Stumbo, Township Supervisor 

 

Date:   March 29, 2023 

 

RE:     Request to approve proposal from Midwestern Consulting to provide a drone 

survey for the Lake Loop in the amount of $64,000 from line 213-753-801.500, 

contingent on budget amendment 

 

The Supervisor’s office is requesting authorization for Midwestern Consulting to survey the 

Lake Loop to determine project scope and cost for the non-motorized path that would connect 

the eight lake parks.  

 

A proposal is attached for detailed survey and project scoping from Midwestern. The proposal 

includes all work start to completion needed for the project. At this time we are only seeking to 

have the survey completed, which is in the amount of $64,000. 

 

Ernat Consulting was authorized to work on this grant proposal in August 2022. Attached is their 

memorandum further explaining this project and the TAP grant process. 

 

Thank you for your consideration.  



�
�

��������	��
����
���������������������������

���������������
�

�����
���� !��"�#������$%��&����#��%���� ���#�'�����((�)�!!%����"���(�#�*�("�"%"������#�+���( ��"�"����#�����,����$�����(�
�

�

-./0120234-/5655/789:;<=>:�?@9�A:<�B;CDEF/0FC9C8<;/565GH65H6I�798:;<=>:�?C@=8J:9�-<KE�L:8>F:M>�NC=HOC>CF:PEQ�?F<:;�RQCMS�

�
�
$� "�!�������������
TUVWXUYZ[Z\U]̂_̀ âZbcZdedfZ
Z
)���"���+�g�(�� ��,�h (����"��
�����$�i%����j����
����
h (����"����*�������
�""�k�l�"������l����m���"�
�����k�n���o���p�����
m!���k�m���"���"�q�!������!�

����"�����q&�������!�
� �
j�k� h (����"��+�g�(�� ���� �(���r��p��"���	���s�����"��(�t���u��
�("���"�
�
���g�("����)��(%�"�������)���(� ���(���"�� ��(��"�"���,����g�������v��"���� �(���,���(%��&������(�� �������"��"%����
 �����������������������������(�����(�,���"��� �� �(������p!�"���	��� �"�� ��v��"�����"������h (����"��+�g�(�� ��
'�(�"���g�)�%�"&����������������g�("����)��(%�"�����(�����������(%  ������,����v��"�m�"�"��!��"�$�����(����"���
'�(�"���g�)�%�"&�!��u�"�������"������&�����g�("����)��(%�"������(��������( ��(�����,�����(�������!��&�
����� !��"(����"����������������"&��,�"��� �� �(������p!�"���	��� �"�����
�
wxyzx{x|}~}��x��z��x�}{�
�
���g�("����)��(%�"���������"(�"��!��,� ��,�((��������������(������(�� �������"��"(�� ������(�����(%��&��(�������
g���"���,��� �����������,��(�����"&�����&(�(����"��������"���������� "%��� ���������(���!�"�����(��������������������
���%!��"�"����g�"����"���,������,����p!�"���	���"���( ��"�"���� ��������������(�������%�������&��,��%"("�������
 ��v��"��� ���������������,�%�������%!���%(�����"���(�����������%���"���$"�"���,������������+���,����g������("�
����"�,��(� ��v��"(�"��"�����(�!��������"& ���(�� ����� ����((�"��"�����u��
�("���"�r��p��"���	���s�����"��(� ��v��"��
�

��'�(�"���g����%��r��p��"���	�����"��t�)�"&��,�����������

��j�����������(����+�����*! ���!��"(�t�l�����g�"���+�g�(�� �

��'�("����u�t�)�"&��,�����������

��

��$���g��u�j�������"�"����t�)�"&��,�����������

��l��"���
����l����g��u�t�)�"&��,�����������

��������&�l���������u�r��p��"���	�����"�g�&�t�)�"&��,�$������

�����������%�""��j����+������,����p���������$�����g������&�j����+�����t�)�"&��,�m��"�

��l���g������u���("��� ����t�)�"&��,����������

��$�,��j�%"�(�"��$������+���( ��"�"�������v��"(�t�)�"��(��,�+��%!(����
�"���"�����)���(���

��'��������u������("�������("��� ����t�)�"&��,�'��������u��

������% �)���������&�t�)�"&��,�����������

��$u�"�����u�t�)�"&��,�����������

��)�("���l�u����"��m��(g��"��������� ��"�l���t�)�"&��,�����������

��i%����'�"��������"�g�&(�+���������t��&�����+�g�(�� �

���
�+���("��"������v��"��  ��"%��"��(�*���"��&�����$������i���"����j�%"���((�((!��"�$%��&�t�$"�"���,������������
���������r��"�������g��������(%��������  ��������(%���

�������%(�����("�����l�����(�����l����g��u(�t�)�"��(��,�$�������)���(�������
��"���
�



�
�
���������	�
���������������������������������������������������������������
����� ���!"#�!"!!�$%&'(%)*+*,%-./0.1*23*4546�
��7��!��
�

89:;<=;=>?8:@A@@:BCDEFGHIE�JKD�LMHNOMIMPEQRS�JPGEF�8GTR�UECIPEVI�:;PMDMCGF�

WXYZ[\[]Ŷ[_̀a�
�
bc���d�����������7������c����e������e������#��������������������7f�7�g���c����������c��f������g�����c��
���������������������������#���������������7�����c����h�����������������������c�����������������������
���g����
��������������������c���� ������e����������������f�e��������d����g�����i��h�
�
���������j���d��������������c�������������c �������i����������������c��� ���f���������������������������
c��kc�������������e������i����c��������������������������������g��g����c����c�������#��������g����f��e�c�����
�����c������ec����7���������7��7c��������h��l�������������������������������������� ���7��7�������������
���i���e����������������������h�
�
����������m���c���7����� ������������������g��������������������������e�����c����������������c���7�����
���������e�����f���g�������h��bc��� ���f����c���e��������������c����������������������������7���������
��7����e��������c�g�f����� ���c�������g����
���������������������������c7������f�����e��d����7��������������
�����7c����c��������c����������7��������c�����7���������������������i��������e������dc���f��������d����7�
���������h�
�
bc��c��kc���c��������������f���������������g��c�����g��f����i��h��n�����������m���c���7����i�����������c����
�c�g�f���#���g������������������#�������������������#������c���e��������7�����������7�������g�����
�d�����������������7������d�����������ee���������#������g��������d����������������e����c�c������c�������
����������c7�ec������7�������������c������c����� ������c����h���
�
����������m���c���7������������������g����7������ee���g����������g��g�����c�����e����c��������j������h��l��
����������������g����7�kc���f����e������������g��������������� ������7����7�����������������������c��������h��l��
����f�c�����������������e��c�����7������e�����e����������������h��n����kc���f�����������#���������� ��������
�e������g���������e������������������f��������e���c��� f����
����������������������c���c����7�����c��fh�
� � �
op_qr]̂�sXttYpu�Ỳv�waaXtx̂[_̀a�
�

y������������������������7����c�����g������������z����m���c���7������f�!{#�!"!!�������e������c�������7�
���nc7c��|#�!"!!h�

y�}�����c��c����������7�e�������� �g���������������e������e�������������������c�������c������e�������7�
��������������~�
������n���f�����
}���c������c����������#������c�������������������#������e��������e�������������������������c7��
����������������������f���h�

�������m������������������������7���
}���c���� �c����f��������7��������c�g�f�����������#��������������7���e�������������������
�������������e���������������������h�

��������z�7�������7�
}���c����������������7�����������e��������e������7���������e���������������7������kc����h�

y��������i�����������g��g������c���7������������ ������������������d�������7����������j������������7������

y��������i�������� ��ec��������c7���c��������c���������c���7� c�������������*
����b���n�������
����c���c�������""����������
����n������n�������""���
���z�mb���n��������7�������
��
�����������h�ng���� ����c�����



�
�
���������	�
���������������������������������������������������������������
����� ���!"#�!"!!�$%&'(%)*+*,%-./0.1*23*4546�
��7��8��
�

9:;<=><>?@9;ABAA;CDEFGHIJF�KLE�MNIOPNJNQFRST�KQHFG�9HUS�VFDJQFWJ�;<QNENDHG�

X�YZ�[\���]\Z��������̂�_�̀�
X�]�����Z��������_�������a���*
X�Z��b����*
X�c���*

d�e����������������7�����f�����������g�̀�����#����7��̀��b��������������� ������_���������������������b� ����
��b�����������_7�����_����b��������h�

d��� ������������i������j�� ��������7���� ̀���������������g�̀�������������������������������������b����
�f��_����b�����������i��������h*

d�����Z��������7�����j�� ��������� ̀�������������������������������������b�����f��_����b�����������i��������h*

d� �̂���_������b�������i��������������b���!"!kh�

d������������������������7������
�����������������!"k"�������������������������������������!\k\!"!"h�

d� �̂���_���������������� �����������b��������f�����̀�lm#ln"�b����b�7�������_������������h�

d������������b����lm#ln"�b���7������������ ���_�j�̀��\����7��������������������������������������f�� �h�

d�����̂����_���������7������ �������� ������������������������b�omhp�����������_���������h�

d�[�������_���������̂��������g���7��qf������������ ����r_����������������������b�������������f�������������
���j�s��������7�����������b���������b������������ �� ̀�̂�����h�

d�qf����7����������������������������������������������� ������̀���h������������̂���_���7�����b������������
�_����j�������
����������������t����������������������������������������������������������������
����������h�

d���������7�����j����������j�����_�������������i����������� ��������h���

d���c��̂����_����������b�������������7�j���������_��������j��������������i������h�������b��������b�����̀�
_��r_������������������� �����j����������������h�����������������������������������_����������b��������
�_�������������������������� ��7�������h���

d�����������̂���_���7��������j��̀�����������j��������������������_7�b_�������������7�j���_���������
����������_������������������b�����bb������������ ����r_������������j�������7����h��e���_��#�����
���������������������������� ����_� ����b�_�b���������������7��#�����j��#���7��b����������j����������
_������b����� ��������������_����������������������� ������_����b���������������������b����������h�

�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�



�
�
���������	�
���������������������������������������������������������������
����� ���!"#�!"!!�$%&'(%)*+*,%-./0.1*23*4546�
��7��8��
�

9:;<=><>?@9;ABAA;CDEFGHIJF�KLE�MNIOPNJNQFRST�KQHFG�9HUS�VFDJQFWJ�;<QNENDHG�

XYZ[\�Z]�X\̂_̀Y\X�
����������a���b���7���������������c�������c�������7��������c����d����e�
�
fghi�jjkk�	�Xlmn�opgqrhlhs����
�
����������a���b���7������������������������t�����c�������u�������v��������������������b������c�������7����������e�

w�x������7� ���7��b�����c�����������������u��������c��������������a���b���7���b����#��b��������t#�
��b�t��7������#����������7������v����������������b��� b���� ����������������������7�����#�a�b�t�xy�#������
�b�d�t�#��z�{������������������v�

w�����d�������������b�������c�7������7�����7�����#���c�������������b����c��b���#��|����7���������
c��b��������b���7����������� ���7��#�������������������������d��������������������������b�����#�
���������#������������t�c�����������v�

w����������b�������b������ b�������������c�����7������#������7������#���������d������������� �������c���v��

w�{������ ���t#������������������������c��|����7�����#�����������������������������c��������� ������t��������
����b������������������������v�

w�������������c�����������t����7��������c�������u�����������b�����7����� �d��c�����7�v�

w�������������c��������t��������c���� ���t��������c�c�����7��������������������v���
�

�����z���������������� � � }~~#"""v""�
�
fghi��jkk���X���nr�
�
��������������������������b�d�t������������������7���c������������������������������������������
���������b������������7#�����������#����������������7��7�v�������������c����d��������������b������c�������7��
�
�������������������������a���b���7���������d��������b���b�d�t�c������������������������x���{���������������
����������������v��������������� ���b�d�t�������� ������7����7������#���|��������#��v��b������d������d�#������v�
�b��������v��{��������b�������������"""����������7��������b�d�t��c�����|����7�������������������������������
��t�����#����b7���������� ���������b��������|����7�������7���v������������ ��������7���c�����b�d�t���
��b�������� ����b7��t���#�""��������c��v���������b�d�t�����������������������������������������b�d�t�������
z|�� �v�
�
������b�������7����������������������������c����c�������7e�
� �cb������7��������b�d�t#�����b���7��������d������������c�����b���7#�
� � �b����t��b�d�t��7����������7����t������������#��
� �b������� ��������c������ ���d����������b���t�����#�����b����b���t��������d�t#�����������d���v�
� �����d��b������������ ������7��������������b�������
�
������� ¡���¢��£¡����¤���7��������������7t�������������b�������7�������b������������c������������������b������
�����������#�����������b���� �������7��������������������������������������������|����7�����v����������������� ��
b������������������b����c���d����b���������7��b������#�������7������������#���v#����������v�
�
� � � � � �

�����z���������������� � }�8#"""v""�
�
�
�
�



�
�
���������	�
���������������������������������������������������������������
����� ���!"#�!"!!�$%&'(%)*+*,%-./0.1*23*4546�
��7��8��
�

9:;<=><>?@9;ABAA;CDEFGHIJF�KLE�MNIOPNJNQFRST�KQHFG�9HUS�VFDJQFWJ�;<QNENDHG�

XYZ[�\]̂ �̂_�̀abcdYefa�gcZfhi�
�
jklmnopqkrsmtquvr��w������7���� �x����y��������7��������x�z�y����������������� �z�������� ������z�����������
�������������x����������������������������7����y#��������������z���������������7������� �����������
x������7������7���{��������z������7������������{������ y������������y������������������������������
����������|��}������������ ���~�����������{�����������������{�������������������������������x�������������
�{��������������7���|�
�
�����������������7����������x������������7����z���������{����{�������7������� x���y���� ������������

��������������x�������������

����������7��������������{���������y��������7���x������ ���7���

�������������������������������������x���������{�������7���������7�

����{����x�x��������~����7���������������{����7�

����x����{��x�������7��������x�������������������y�

�������x��y���������������{������������������y�������������
��������x�������� ��x�������{��������7����������z����x������7������#�{���� �����7�����x��y����x����
���x���������{����������{x����7����������|���"��}����x�����������7����{������������������{����z����� ����������
 �����z����|�

����������������� � � ��!#"""|""�
�
XYZ[��]̂ �̂	���iZe��aef�i�gcZfhi��bYZc�	�gceYf�c���ihficc�fih���gceYf�c���Yi�ZaY�c�gcZfhi�
����������}���x���7������������������������������x���������#������������������������y������������|�
}����x����������������7���7x����y��7���y�7x�����������{������������#��"�{����{�7����7�������y����������{����
{�������7����������

��}�z��������

����7��������}����x����������

��}����x����������

��}����x��������������}�������{��������

���y������}�������������

���y������}�������������

���y������}�������������

���y������}�������������

����������������

����������������

���z�����������

���z�����������

���z�������������������

���z�������������������

���~����7�}��������#�����z����������}��������!��������

��}����x����������������!��������

��}����x������������{������!��������

����������������7����������������

�������}������7����{{�����7������������8�������

���z���������������������������������������������

������������������x����������z����{������ ������� y����������
�

� � � � � ���������������������� � � �!"!#"""|""�



�
�
���������	�
���������������������������������������������������������������
����� ���!"#�!"!!�$%&'(%)*+*,%-./0.1*23*4546�
��7��8��
�

9:;<=><>?@9;ABAA;CDEFGHIJF�KLE�MNIOPNJNQFRST�KQHFG�9HUS�VFDJQFWJ�;<QNENDHG�

XYZ[�\]̂ �̂	�_̀aZbcdebf̀a�ghZfia�jkYZh�	�l̀ mfnfeYbf̀aZ�Yam�odpqfbbYrZ�
����s7�������s�����t��s �����������u�����t�����������������s7������s����������u�����������#�����������
v���s���7����������������7���u������������������������s ����7w��x�����t�������������������u���������������
��������������������������u�����������������t�����������������������7�������������������7��������������
������������������7����������7��w����������������������tt��������y���������������s����������u������������
����������w������������v���s���7�������������������������������7����������u����������������������z���
��������w���������������������������s�����t���u���{����t������� �y��������s� �����t������������y� �����
�������������u�����������u�����t�������������������������������w�����������������s���������s�����t�
����t����������������s ����w�
�

|���������������� � }!8#"""w""�
�
XYZ[�\\̂ �̂	�lhhbfaiZ�
����������v���s���7�����������t��������7����{�������������7�������t�������7������7������������t��������
�������7��������t����u����~�

��v����{����7�����������7������

���s�������������7��������tt��������s���������
�

��v���s��y���t�������������7������
������������������������������������7�����s�����
�

�����|���������������� � � }��#"""w""�
�
XYZ[�\�̂ �̂	�jhcqfbbfai��ZZfZbYaeh�
����������v���s���7�����������t��������7������������������������������������������s��s���t����t�������7�
������~�

��|��|�x�������������������������������s������7������

�������|�������v������

�����|��

����|��x�����

����|��������y�

�������

��xv�v�

��xvx�v�
�

�����|���������������� � � }���#�""w""�
�

odpb̀bYr��ZbfqYbhm��YZh��hhZ�� � �������̂ �̂̂̂ �
jc̀�heb����haZh����̂��̀n��Yp̀c�_̀ZbZ�� ���������̂�̂̂ �
X̀bYr��ZbfqYbhm��hhZ�Yam����haZhZ��� ���� ���̂�̂̂ �

�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�



�
�
���������	�
���������������������������������������������������������������
����� ���!"#�!"!!�$%&'(%)*+*,%-./0.1*23*4546�
��7��8��
�

9:;<=><>?@9;ABAA;CDEFGHIJF�KLE�MNIOPNJNQFRST�KQHFG�9HUS�VFDJQFWJ�;<QNENDHG�

XYZ[\X]XZY�̂_\Z[\X̀a�̀YYX\X_[̀ a�bZcdXeZb�
�
fghijklmmjnjoppqrqstgujvsrwtrqgujxyz{w|j}wugrwpjfghih~jjjjf��j�hrq�grw~jj�
���������������������������� �������������������������������������������������������������������7��������
������������������������� ������7������������������������������ ����������������������������������7��������������
������������������������������������������ ���������7�������������������� �����������������������������������
�

����������������� � � � ���"������������
�
fghijk�mmj}g�qpj�ugh�qt�j�wg�stjxq�tguj�whq�t~jjjjf��j�hrq�grw~jj�
������������������7�������������7��������������������������������������7�����������7����������������������������
�������7����������������������7���������� ������������������� ��������������������
�

����������������� � � � ��"#"""�""�
�

fghijk mmj¡szr�j�g|jvgzij�¢qhrqt�jfzgquj}wn�whq�t~jjjjf��j�hrq�grw~jj�
������������������7�������������������������7������������������������������������7��7����������������
�������������£#"""��������������7����������������������¤�

¥�������7����������#�������������������������!�������

¥�����������������������!�������

¥��������������������������!�������

¥�¦�������§�����7����������������������!�������
�

����������������� � � � �̈"#"""�""�
�

fghijkkmmj©syzu|jxwz{q�wh~jjjjf��j�hrq�grw~jj�
������������������7���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� ����� ��
��������������������7ª�
�

����������������� � � � �������
�
�
����������� �������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�
������������������7������������������������ �������������������������������������������� ��������
������������������§������������������������������������������������������������������������
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�



�
�
���������	�
���������������������������������������������������������������
����� ���!"#�!"!!�$%&'(%)*+*,%-./0.1*23*4546�
��7��8��
�

9:;<=><>?@9;ABAA;CDEFGHIJF�KLE�MNIOPNJNQFRST�KQHFG�9HUS�VFDJQFWJ�;<QNENDHG�

XYZ[\�][\̂ _̀[]�abc�[d̀ef]_Xb]�
����������g���h���7���������i�����������������i�����j����������k�������������lh���j���������j��������������
g�������lh���m���h������i����������� �������j�������������������������� ��������h����������n����j������������
����������������j�o���j����� ���7�����h������������jh�������7���������i����m��������o��������j�����������
���i�������������h��� ����lh�����j����������k������������������������h���������� ����������������p�
�

q�r������������7#��������7#���������j�������

q������������i��h��������������i���������7���

q�������������������i��h��������������i���������7���

q�s�������������������i��h�������������7�����h7��t�7���g����u��j�g�h����������� ��������h���m��v���������
����������j������� �����i�����j���������������������m�

q���h�h����t�7�������7#�����h���7�s���7������7��

q�v�������������������������7���

q�������������������������

q��h���������7����������h�i�w�

q�g����h�����x ���i�����

q���7��7������7��

q�u�����������ti��h����y�����s����7�y��i���������7��n�������������

q������������j�����������������������7�������� ����j��j�g�����

q�v�i������7�j���s����

q�������������

q����jj����h�����

q�v���w�����j��jj�����������w������������������������m�

q���i������!���������������j�������m�

q�s������h����#���i�����j� �����������������������i����m�

q�g�����������z�o����j����t�g�����{m�

q�t������������h�������z�o����j����t�g�����{m�

q�������w�������j�������7����������������m�

q�n���� ���������j������h�������w�h��h���������� ���7�����i��� w����������#�������������#�i��������#�
���j�����w������������m�

q�v�w��������������j�����w������� ����������������j����i�����

q�r����|h���w������7�

q�}��������� w�������j�����������������������������w��������t����������lh�������m�
�
�������������������j�����w��o��h�������j�������7p�

q�n�����7������������� w����������������lh���������j����g������j��������i������i�� ����� ������

q�sh�����7�����7�����������7��

q���h�h������7�������7�����h���7��������7����������� ���7��#� ����������

q�}���7���������7�m�

q�t�������������7�m�

q�sh�����7�����7�����������7�m�

q�u�i�����������i����j��������j����7�j���m�
������������n����j�����w���������������������� ��i�����j��������������������h7��������!"!~m�����������j���
��w���������7����k���������������������������������j�������j��������w������������������������jj��m����������������
����h ���������������������j����j�����7��������i��������j����������w����i���������������������������������
�jj���������������������������j��������������7����i����m��������������������h k���������j��������j����
��������������~"���w�m�



�
�
���������	�
���������������������������������������������������������������
����� ���!"#�!"!!�$%&'(%)*+*,%-./0.1*23*4546�
��7��8��
�

9:;<=><>?@9;ABAA;CDEFGHIJF�KLE�MNIOPNJNQFRST�KQHFG�9HUS�VFDJQFWJ�;<QNENDHG�

����������X���Y���7��������������� �7������������������Z���Y������������[�\�Y����7����]Y������������
�������̂�
�Y������ �� �����������\��Y���7������Y�����[�������Z��#� �������������Y����[[����_��������Y���7����
������̂��̀���������\� �����7������ �������������� \������Y��\� ����������[��������7���[������������̂����\����
����� ������� \����X�����������a"���\���[���b�����7̂������\����������7���\������������\���������������Z��̂�
����������X���Y���7��������������������Y��\������������������������[����b����̂��������������7���[�
����������X������������������������[����������������������������[�����7��������������� ������������� \�\�Y��
��7��Y�����������������̂��
�
����������X���Y���7��������������������Y��\����������������������#�������������[���������������7�����
\�Y��������b�����Y�����[Y�����Z��̂��c[��Y�������������������� ��������������#����������7�����������������������
��Y�������def����\����\�Y���Y����������[���Y����������������������������Z��̂����c[�\�Y���b����\�gY������#�
�������������Y����dhaif�88j�"!""̂��������\�Ŷ���
�
���������k[[�����l\m�
nopqrstruv�wxvsyztov{|�zzw�
�

� � � ��������������� �
}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}� � � � }}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}�
~� ���X̂���7���#��̀� �����������������������������������������������������l���#���]�
]�������������������Z�������7������������� �����������������������������������������������������������Z�������7����
�
�̀��m���������X���������

��������~��������Y���
�
�
��������������������������s��������������������t���������������������

X������������������������Y������������7������]7������#�������
����Y���������������X���������[������[������������b����������������
[�������7���7����������Y������������ ����̂�
� �
wzorvt��wwr�t�vwr�����{y�u�vtrrm�����
�c���������������\�7Y����������� ��7�������[����X����̂�
�
� � � � � � � � �
d��7���������[�X����f�
�
� � � � � � � � �
d��7��Y��f�
�
� � � � � � � � �
d������������������f�
�
�



�
�
���������	�
���������������������������������������������������������������
����� ���!"#�!"!!�$%&'(%)*+*,%-./0.1*23*4546�
��7��8"��
�

9:;<=><>?@9;ABAA;CDEFGHIJF�KLE�MNIOPNJNQFRST�KQHFG�9HUS�VFDJQFWJ�;<QNENDHG�



�
�
���������	�
���������������������������������������������������������������
����� ���!"#�!"!!�$%&'(%)*+*,%-./0.1*23*4546�
��7��88��
�

9:;<=><>?@9;ABAA;CDEFGHIJF�KLE�MNIOPNJNQFRST�KQHFG�9HUS�VFDJQFWJ�;<QNENDHG�
�





 

 

Township Supervisor 
Brenda L. Stumbo 
Township Clerk 
Heather Jarrell Roe 
Township Treasurer 
Stan Eldridge 

Trustees 
Ryan Hunter 

John Newman II 
Gloria Peterson 

Debbie Swanson 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 

To:      Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board of Trustees 

 

From:  Brenda Stumbo, Township Supervisor 

 

Date:   March 29, 2023 

 

RE:     Request to approve design engineering by Midwestern Consulting and Stantec for 

North Bay Park Accessibility and Improvement Study in the amount of $9,962.50 

from line 213-753-801.500, contingent on budget amendment 

 

Per Ernat Consulting, our grant consultants, we are requesting to authorize Midwestern 

Consulting to subcontract Stantec Architecture to evaluate the current conditions of the bathroom 

and boardwalk at North Bay Park. Also included is the concept design of upgrades, and probable 

cost opinions. This preliminary engineering is a necessary step for requesting grant funds from 

the Michigan Natural Resources Trust Fund (MNRTF). This grant will be critical to getting 

consideration for the TAP grant that will loop the eight Ford Lake Parks, with the improved 

North Bay Park being the trail head. 

 

Ernat Consulting was retained by the Board for grant proposals. Attached is their memorandum 

further explaining the importance of this concept design and probable cost in order to apply for 

MNRTF. 

 

Thank you for your consideration. 



����������	
����������������������������
��

����������	���������	�������������	���

�����
	�����	��������������������

������ ��!��������

"���"�#	�$����%��&�

'�%())�(&*&&

+,-./01 230.1
4556.771 869:.;0<=>?@.61

869:.;0<A37B1

A-0,.1
C?3-,1

869:.;0<=3?.1

+9>/0D1 +-0DEAFGH1

AIJK LIMN O.;0-9/PQ

R30H< R9/SH TUJVQPJW

2.7;6-G0-9/<9X<O.6Y-;.7<3/5<Z..1

Z..<4663/S.?./01

+9/5-0-9/71

869:.;0<[3/3S.61

\]̂_̀ab_c]adeaf̀g]hiajaklmgh]mmaNhigin

Kĝh_ilo] p_i]

qarIrITPITrW soghi]tab_c]

869:.;0<4>0u96-v30-9/<Z96?

k]iwaNoh_i

rUTx]yTrJ
srIrrT
zkp

MrIIaKVa{lodha|gq]oapogq]
}~mg̀_hig�a��a�UPWM

�f\\faKi_ht_otaz]ocma_htafdhtgigdhma_ma_ii_�w]t

fw_oi]oazd�hmwg~adea}~mg̀_hig

�gt�]mi]ohafdhml̀igĥa�g̀̀amly�dhio_�iaKi_hi]�a�o�wgi]�ilo]�a�h�Vaidael̀eg̀̀aiw]am�d~]adeam]oqg�]madlìgh]taghaiw]goa
_ii_�w]ta~od~dm_̀at_i]tax]yol_onarJ�arIrJVaa

x]]a�a�U�UPrV�Ia��h�̀lt]maP��aKlya�dhml̀i_hia�_o�T�~a_htafdhml̀i_hiafddotgh_igdh�

�gt�]mi]ohafdhml̀igĥa�g̀̀a~odqgt]a_afdh�]~iaK�]i�was̀_haghtg�_igĥa�w_ia}~mg̀_higazd�hmwg~agma]hqgmgdhgĥaedoa
iw]abdoiwak_nas_o�as_iw�_naKnmi]cV

x]]a�a�P�P�I

zdi_̀ax]]a�a�W�WQrV�I

�MJ��W��TWrMI Noh_iVy]iw� ĉ_g̀V�dc8u9/.1
+9/03;01

�_mwi]h_� }~mg̀_higaz�~V869:.;0<R9;30-9/1

�hqdg�]tacdhiẁna�jay_̀_h�]atl]aJIat_nmaeodcaghqdg�]at_i]

=960u<�3D<836B<4;;.77-@-,-0D<3/5<�?G69Y.?./0<O0>5D

�rVrrMW

Kĝh_ilo] soghi]t

|dy]oiafVa�_̂h]o

+,-./0<4;;.G03/;.<E<4>0u96-v30-9/1

������������������������������������� �¡������¢��������¢���£����¤��¥����¥��¡����������£����¡�¥��¡�������¦���¤��������¥��¡



����������	
����	��

�����������



�����������	
�������������
����������������������� �!"�����#$�%�&'��

(

( )�!�����*+��,��-!���.�/*����!.��+�.+*��0���*��1�*�+����2*+�/+�.2.�34!���*+�!���!.��+�.+*�

(

)�5!-�!�������&���
)���6�7 8�

������
9�:��;9<����=�>����9?�@
AB�C�����D9�C�E�
�>�9��F�	�E?�9?�G�����D9�C�E�
�>���A�HIC
E���
�J9B�C	
I� �
��KL�M��N��8!�1���O//�O!5�!��#$�%�K&��

PQRS(TUVW(

XYZY[Y\]Ŷ_̀ a[bc_def_ge[h_i]]Yjjklkmkbf_e\n_opq[arYpY\b_sbtnf_

uQ(RSQ(vwQRxQy(zU(vSU{|yQ(U}S(vSUvUxRw(~US(RS��|zQ�z}SRw(R�y(Q��|�QQS|��(�U�x}wz|��(xQS{|�Qx(R�y(

RxxU�|RzQy(~QQx(~US(z�Q(RVU{Q��R�Qy(vSU�Q�z�(

(

��o�̀ �_

uQ(vSUvUxQ(zU(�U�zSR�z(y|SQ�zw�(�|z�(�|y�QxzQS�(�U�x}wz|��(Rx(U}S(�w|Q�z�(

(

��X�_��_i�X����̀ �_

��|x(vSUvUxRw(|x(VRxQy(U�(z�Q(�w|Q�z(SQzR|�|��(�zR�zQ�(v}Sx}R�z(zU(z�Q(�zR�zQ�(�zR�yRSy(�SU~Qxx|U�Rw(

�QS{|�Qx(��SQQ�Q�zW(R(�Uv�(U~(��|��(|x(|��w}yQy(�|z�(z�|x(vSUvUxRw�(

(

s��g�_

�}S(vSUvUxRw(|x(~US(z�Q(vSU{|x|U�(U~(xQS{|�Qx(Rx(U}zw|�Qy(VQwU��(

(

�zR�zQ�(}�yQSxzR�yx(z�Rz(z�Q�(RSQ(VQ|��(SQ�}QxzQy(zU(vSU{|yQ(R(SQvUSz(|�y|�Rz|��(z�Q(�}SSQ�z(�U�y|z|U�(U~(
z�Q(Q�|xz|��(SQxzSUU�(~R�|w|z�(R�y(VURSy�Rw�(wU�RzQy(Rz(�USz�(�R�(�RS�(wU�RzQy(Rz(����(�U}z�( }SU�(
�zSQQz(|�(¡vx|wR�z|(�U��x�|v�((�wU��(�|z�(z�Q(SQvUSz(U~(z�Q(Q�|xz|��(�U�y|z|U�xW(R�(Uv|�|U�(U~(vSUVRVwQ(
�Uxz(�|ww(VQ(vSU{|yQy(zU(SQvwR�Q(z�Q(SQxzSUU�(~R�|w|z�(R�y(VURSy�Rw�(|���|�y(�|z�(R��Qxx|VwQ(~R�|w|z|Qx�((
¢U�Rz|U�x(|�y|�RzQy(|�(z�Q(|�R�Q(VQwU��(

(



����������	
����	�

�������������������������������������� �!������"�������������������#$��������%���!�$�

&����'���(��

)*+*,*-.*/012,340567086,90:..*;;<=<><3706-?0@AB,2C*A*-30D3E?70

� �

�

FG1G):H0IJ1K@L@J1DM:DDNO8L@J1D0

%!��������������������!��������������P$����Q��

R� S��������������T!��T�����U����������������$����������������V�����W��

R� S����U�X����������TP$�������X��!���������������������V��������TP$������!���T$������YW�

R� %!����P������U�������P���������������P���������ZT�����!���W�

R� %!��$�[�T�����P������P�Y����������U�����������U���!��T����������!����T���������������U����������

�!���������YW��&�����������������U�����������������!�����P��TT�������!���$�T��������U���W�

R� %!����������T���������!��������������U������!�U��$���\������\��������X\����P\����������������U�T�\�

��������$!��W��]���!�����������������!�U���!�������U�T��\��!�����������������$�U����T���$��������

$�U������X���V���������U�T������!����������W�

R� %!��̂����������$�U����������T�����X�����P���������P�Y��������T�������������P��X�P���������

��V���������_�����T���$����P��������U�T��W�

R� S�̀ �����������T���������������!���Z���������������\�����$$��T����\�����P�����U����������������U����

������T����T���P���������S��T�������U��W�

R� S������������$��\�T������������T������������P�������$�U�������_�����T���������������$����!��$�[�T��

�T!�����W�

�

%!�������������U�T��������$�T���T���X��ZT��������P�����T$������YQ��

R� a���������T�P�T������������X���P����T������������TXT�������X���W�

R� S�X�T!��������V��������X��!��T�������!�����V������������������̀T������������������T����U������

��$��U����������T����W��

R� "�����������������T!���T���������U�T�������U��$������������T�����T�����T�P����W��

R� &��P����$$��T��������T���������������$��P����$$��T������

R� S�X����������������$$����P����X��!����!����Z�������T��������$!����$!�W�

R� �����������������������U����������

R� _��U�T�������$�T���T���X����T�����������T���������$������_�����Tb���T$��

0

KGH@cG):5HGD0

�̂��$�$����������������!���������������������U�������Q��

�

R���$������!�$�������$�������T���

�

IJ1DNHL:1LD0

�̂��$�$������T�������!��$�U�����������T���T!���T����������������������T������������U�T������

���T��������U�������ZT�����������!����$�T����X�T���������W���

�

DIdGKNHG0

�̂��$�$����������������!�����������T!�����Q�

�

R� e��T����&�T����

R� _����f�����



����������	
����	�

�������������������������������������� �!������"�������������������#$��������%���!�$�

&����'���(��

)*+*,*-.*/012,340567086,90:..*;;<=<><3706-?0@AB,2C*A*-30D3E?70

� �

�

F� G�������$���H�'����I��

F� ���������J����H�K����I�

F� L�������$���H�K����I�

�

MN))O1MP0

Q��������R�����������������ST����������������$�������UU�$���U�����������U!�V'W�VXV'Y�

0

ZOO08)[8[D:\0

]�������$�$���������������̂�

�

_�̀ $���̀ �������abWcXXYXX�$�������̀�����������d$�����Y�����̀����������d$��������������̀��������

aKeXYXXY�

�

T����f����� � � aVW(XX�

��$������!�̀�������� � a'W'XX�

]�������J����� � ���a(XX�

L�������$��� � � ���agXX�

�

L����R�����������������h��$$��U�������d��Y�

�

%!��$�$����Ù $���������������������������������������!��$�i�U�W��!���U$����$����������

���J�U��W�����J�������W�$�i�U�����̀ W�U���������W�$�i�U���U!�����W���̀��������̀ ���W�����$�h̀ ����

���̀�����U����������!���$�$���Y��T!����U!������UU�������h����!����$����������������!���d�U�����

���!��$�������������J�U��W���Ù �̀����������i���̀�������!��$�$����Ù $����������������̀���Y�

�

j��U�������U��U�̀ ����U���������������]fjGkKcW�$�����������!����J���̀ ��������U��J�������l�����$$�h�

U!���������$����̀�h�����U����!����������h�����h���W������������$�������$�i�U���U��J�����Y��T!�����!���

UU�������������J����h������!�����������$$������h�����U������������!�h������̀ ���̀�I���!��

��U�����h���i���̀����Y�

�

]���!���h�������������J�������������������������������i�U����U!�������m�����h�K�����U!�U��������

h���Y�

0

)O@n5N)D:5\O0Oo8O1DOD0

�

���$�$�������J�U���!�������������̀���������"d$���������U��Y�

F� &������������$!�U$h����U����

F� &��I�����h������p���������J��q�

0

������������������������UU���������!��������������!�������������U!�h�����h��!��j����������J�����

T��J�U�Y�

�



����������	
����	�

�������������������������������������� �!������"�������������������#$��������%���!�$�

&����'���'��

()*)+),-)./01+23/456/75+8/9--)::;<;=;26/5,>/?@A+1B)@),2/C2D>6/

� �

�

4?EE?0F/90G/HI(JC/KL/79MJI0H/

N��������������O�P�������Q��!�R��������������������������!���ST���R�U�

�

VK0VEWC?K0/

X�����P����������!���������P�����$�$���R�P������������!���$�$���U�Y������������������P�����������R�����

������P��������!����$������U�

�

&���������������!������P!���N�Q���Z����Q���U��Y��R��������������Q�������!����$�$���[�����$������

Z����Q�������������������������������U��

�

����������!����O������������P��RU�����������\�����!��\�R�����R�����]���������!�������$�$��������

��������$��������������Q�Q������R������Q����!���$�̂�P�U�

�

X��P����R[�

_̀ab̀cdefgdhìcd̀jgckelbdme
e
e
e
nibopaqerssop�ZYZ[�t�Z� [�u""v�w�����Z��P����x
&�̂�P����������
��

v���P�y�z'{�SS|}'~{|�
�����y�z'{�S�|}�~�z�
u�����RU����X�����PUPQ�
�

������������ ����������������������������





CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI

 2023 BUDGET AMENDMENT #4

April 4, 2023 REVISED

AMOUNTS ROUNDED UP TO THE NEAREST DOLLAR 

101 - GENERAL OPERATIONS FUND Total Increase $672,399.00

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 101-000-699.999 $5,000.00

Net Revenues $5,000.00

Expenditures: Appointed Officials 101-101-704.000 $5,000.00

Net Expenditures $5,000.00

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 101-000-699.999 $1,499.00

Net Revenues $1,499.00

Expenditures: Salaries Payout PTO 101-191-708.004 $1,392.00

FICA 101-191-715.000 $107.00

Net Expenditures $1,499.00

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 101-000-699.999 $10,400.00

Net Revenues $10,400.00

Expenditures: Contribution Water Hardship 101-272-836.100 $10,400.00

Net Expenditures $10,400.00

Request to increase the budget for water and sewer hardship rebates.  This will be funded by an appropriation of 

prior year fund balance. 

Request to increase budget and add a new general ledger number to pay stipends for various appointed board 

members and commissioners. This will be funded by an appropriation of prior year fund balance .

Request to increase budget for PTO payout of available hours to be paid at 75%.  This will be funded by an 

appropriation of prior year fund balance.

1 of 3



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI

 2023 BUDGET AMENDMENT #4

April 4, 2023 REVISED

101 - GENERAL OPERATIONS FUND

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 101-000-699.999 $587,000.00

Net Revenues $587,000.00

Expenditures: Blight Removal - Gault Village 101-729-806.091 $587,000.00

*Revised 4-4-23 Net Expenditures $587,000.00

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 101-000-699.999 $68,500.00

Net Revenues $68,500.00

Expenditures: Blight Removal - Gault Village 101-729-806.091 $68,500.00

*Revised 4-4-23 Net Expenditures $68,500.00

213 - BIKE, SIDEWALK, REC, ROADS  FUND (BSRII) Total Increase $73,963.00

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 213-000-699.999 $64,000.00

Net Revenues $64,000.00

Expenditures: Prof Serv - Grant Prelim Studies 213-753-801.500 $64,000.00

Net Expenditures $64,000.00

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 213-000-699.999 $9,963.00

Net Revenues $9,963.00

Expenditures: Prof Serv - Grant Prelim Studies 213-753-801.500 $9,963.00

Net Expenditures $9,963.00

Request to increase the budget and add a new general ledger number for blight removal. This request is for the 

demolition of the structure located at Gault Village. Homrich was awarded the base bid of $587,000. The contract 

still needs to be review by legal council and approved by the Board. This will be funded by an appropriation of 

prior year fund balance. 

Request to increase the budget and add a new general ledger number for blight removal. This request is for the 

construction engineering service oversite required for the demolition located at Gault Village at an estimate of 

$68,500. This will be funded by an appropriation of prior year fund balance. 

Request to increase the budget and add a new general ledger number for professional services for preliminary 

studies, surveys and designs needed to apply for grants for the Ford Lake Loop project. This request is for the 

engineering firm of Midwestern Consulting to provide a survey of the Lake area.  This will be funded by an 

appropriation of prior year fund balance. 

Request to increase the budget and add a new general ledger number for professional services for preliminary 

studies, surveys and designs needed to apply for grants for the Ford Lake Loop project. This request is for the 

engineering firm of Midwestern Consulting to subcontract Stantec Architecture engineers to provide an 

accessibility and improvement study for North Bay Park.  This will be funded by an appropriation of prior year fund 

balance. 

2 of 3



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI

 2023 BUDGET AMENDMENT #4

April 4, 2023 REVISED

226 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES FUND Total Increase $80,000.00

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 226-000-699.999 $80,000.00

Net Revenues $80,000.00

Expenditures: Contractual Services 226-528-818.000 $80,000.00

*Revised 4-4-23 Net Expenditures $80,000.00

236- 14B DISTRICT COURT FUND Total Increase $2,125.00

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 236-000-699.999 $2,125.00

Net Revenues $2,125.00

Expenditures: Salaries Payout PTO 236-286-708.004 $1,974.00

FICA 236-286-715.000 $151.00

Net Expenditures $2,125.00

Request to increase budget for PTO payout of available hours to be paid at 75%.  This will be funded by an 

appropriation of prior year fund balance.

Request to increase the budget for contractual chipping service due to sever storms. Additional funds are needed 

as the scope of the clean up services needed for residential curbside tree chipping was more than originally 

expected. This will be funded by an appropriation of prior year fund balance. 

3 of 3



Motion to Amend the 2023 Budget (#4) REVISED  

 
Move to increase the General Fund budget by $672,399 to $13,543,374 and approve 

the department line item changes as outlined. 
 

Move to increase the Bike, Sidewalk, Rec, Roads (BSRII) Fund budget by $73,963 to 

$3,408,460 and approve the department line item changes as outlined. 

 

Move to increase the Environmental Service Fund budget by $80,000 to $3,824,633 

and approve the department line item changes as outlined.  

 

Move to increase the 14B District Court Fund budget by $2,125 to $1,721,709 and 

approve the department line item changes as outlined. 

 

 

 



 

AUTHORIZATIONS AND BIDS 

 

 



 

 

Township Supervisor 
Brenda L. Stumbo 
Township Clerk 
Heather Jarrell Roe 
Township Treasurer 
Stan Eldridge 

Trustees 
John Newman II 
Gloria Peterson 

Debbie Swanson 
Ryan Hunter 

To:   Township Board 
 

From:   Travis McDugald, IS Manager 
 

Re:  Request approval the proposal from Randall Mascharka for Township 
photography services. 

 

Date:   March 27, 2023 
 
 
The Township Website Review Committee has been working hard to update the Township Web 
presence.  There has been input from both staff and members of the community.  One item 
which comes up is having professional photos to help highlight events and areas of the 
Township. 
 
The Website Committee decided to seek qualifications for professional photography services.  
An RFQ was published to all the Township social media platforms looking for a person or 
organization who is familiar with the area and can help bring a welcoming environment to the 
new Website. 
 
The Township received 6 qualified responses and after reviewing the response and online 
portfolios the review committee would like to recommend the service of Randall Mascharka. 
 
The services would be as needed throughout the year to take photo of Township events, nature 
areas, and staff photos for the Website and other Township publications. 
 
The cost of service is $100 per hour for photographic services and $50 per hour for editing 
services.  This will be funded from the department 271 Communications & PR. 
 
Randall Mascharka is a former resident of the Township and currently FAA certified for drone 
operations.  Randell Mascharka has over 35 years of experience with different media types 
including digital photography, video, and film. 
 
I respectfully request approval to accept the proposal from Randell Mascharka for professional 
photography services pending attorney review. 
 
Thank you for your consideration. 
 
Travis McDugald 
IS Manager, Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
 



Randall Mascharka
45455 Muirfield Drive
Canton, MI 48188
734-635-6966

Thank you for reviewing my application for bidding for Photography Contracting with Ypsilanti Township. I have been
a commercial photographer for over 35 years and possess a vast range of experience in film, video and digital
photography. I am located in Canton Michigan but was a resident of Ypsilanti Township for 10 years. I bring
experience working in both a corporate and higher education environment to my work and photograph subjects with a
perspective of marketing and public relations.  I am well versed in Adobe Suite, Photoshop and video editing. I have
FAA certification for drone operations and do photography from light aircraft. I enjoy working in the corporate
environment and look forward to interviewing for this position.

My background is in corporate and educational photography. I was a corporate photographer at Ford Motor Company
for 18 years and University Photographer at Eastern Michigan University for 11 years. I have lived in the Ypsilanti
area for the past 40 years and enjoy the people and activities of the area. Currently I am an adjunct lecturer at
Eastern Michigan University as an adjunct lecturer in the College of Engineering and Technology.

My rate for professional photography is $100. / hour and $50./ hour for post production work.

Personally, I am a very active individual. I sail, iceboat, kayak, bike, backpack and golf. I have built a DN iceboat, am
currently building a Sweet 16 two-man iceboat and have restored several 50-year-old iceboats. I’m a member of
North Cape Yacht Club where I am on the Board of Directors. I’m a past commodore of the Ford Lake Sailing Club
and an emeritus board member of the Eastern Michigan University Alumni Association. Professionally, I’m a member
of the University Photographer Association of America. I volunteer with the Heart Association of Michigan and with
EMU’s ROTC Program.

Portfolio can be viewed at:
https://thecriticalimage.zenfolio.com/portfolio

Spark pages with my photo stories:
https://spark.adobe.com/page/VWyYIy1mMLYT3/
https://spark.adobe.com/page/zy9UW6fFl1qty/
https://spark.adobe.com/page/4Tg5bfPC7Ak9O/
https://vimeo.com/247193785

Sincerely,
Randall Mascharka

RANDALL (Randy) J. MASCHARKA

45455 Muirfield Canton, MI 48188  *  rmaschar@gmail.com  *  734-635-6966
Commercial Photography Portfolio: thecriticalimage.zenfolio.com/portfolio

https://thecriticalimage.zenfolio.com/portfolio
https://spark.adobe.com/page/4Tg5bfPC7Ak9O/




 

 

Township Supervisor 

Brenda L. Stumbo 

Township Clerk 

Heather Jarrell Roe 

Township Treasurer 

Stan Eldridge 

Trustees 

John Newman II 

Gloria Peterson 

Debbie Swanson 

Ryan Hunter 

To:   Township Board 
 

From:   Travis McDugald, IS Manager 
 

Re:  Request approval to accept the proposal from Ooma for Airdial service 
 

Date:   March 27, 2023 
 

 
 
The Township has emergency call boxes for each Fire Station along with an alarm system at the 
Hydro Station.  These systems continue to use copper hard lines to communicate. 
 
Copper phone lines are proving to be less reliable than in the past.  The FCC has strongly 
encourage the migration to new technologies for copper phone service. While the Township 
main customer lines have been migrated, we continue to use older lines for task specific service 
such as emergency dialing. 
 
Township IT has evaluated moving these service lines onto the Township general use phone 
system and recommends moving these services to a separate cellular based system. Township 
IT evaluated several options and found Ooma Airdial service to best fit the requirements of 
these lines. 
 
 Ooma does require a one-year agreement which auto renews annually unless cancelled 90 
days before its renewal.  There will also be a $80 one-tem setup fee. 
 
Estimated Monthly Cost Table 

Location Account Ooma Current 

Hydro Station  252-535-850.000  $63.00 $70.00 

Fire Department 206-336-920.006  $189.00 $270.00  

 
 
I respectfully request approval to accept the proposal from Ooma and allow the signing of 
necessary agreements upon attorney review. 
 
Thank you for your consideration. 
 
Travis McDugald 
IS Manager, Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
 

 













 

 

Township Supervisor 
Brenda L. Stumbo 
Township Clerk 
Heather Jarrell Roe 
Township Treasurer 
Stan Eldridge 

Trustees 
John Newman II 
Gloria Peterson 

Debbie Swanson 
Jimmie Wilson Jr 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
To:   Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board of Trustees 
 
From:   Michael Saranen, Operation Manager 
 
Date:   March 24, 2023 
 
Subject:  Request to go out to Bid for Construction Services for Inspection of Spillway 
Gates and Concrete Repairs at the Hydro Station on Bridge Rd. 
  
As an ongoing effort to for dam safety, the Hydro Station needs to conduct a Sluice Gate 
Inspection and repair concrete on the lake side of the dam.  
 
The FERC is requiring a detailed inspection of the sluice gates as a follow-up to the Part 12 
Inspection Report. This inspection is to evaluate the condition of the gates.  As part of this 
project, address areas of damaged concrete on the lake side of the dam.  
 
This project is planned to start July/August and be completed by December 1. 
 
I am asking the Board to authorize the Project and to go out to Bid with the plan to bring  a 
recommendation to approve at a June Board meeting. 
 
If you have any questions please contact me. 
 



 
 

 
 

3005 Boardwalk Street, Suite 100 
Ann Arbor, MI 48108 
734.922.4400  
www.barr.com 
 
 

Contract Documents 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead Placement 
 
Prepared for 
Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
March 2023 
 

 

 



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Table of Contents 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead Placement  
  00 01 10-1  
 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead Placement 
Contract Documents 

Table of Contents 

 

Section  Title 

Division 00  Procurement and Contracting Requirements 
00 01 10  Table of Contents 
00 11 13  Advertisement for Bids 
00 20 00  Instructions to Bidders 
00 41 00  Bid Form 
  Non-Iran Linked Business Certification 
00 51 00  Notice of Award 
00 52 00  Form of Agreement 
00 55 00  Notice to Proceed 
00 61 13  Performance Bond  
00 61 14  Payment Bond  
00 70 00  General Conditions 
00 73 00  Supplementary Conditions 
 
 
Drawings  

Sheet No.   Sheet Title 
S-00 Cover Sheet, Index, and Location Map 
S-01 Specifications 
S-02 Specifications 
S-03 Overall Plan 
S-04 Intake Plan 
S-05 Spillway Plan & Elevation – Bays 1-3 
S-06 Spillway Plan & Elevation – Bays 4-6 
S-07 Spillway and Intake – Concrete Repair Details 
S-08 Sluice Gate - Upstream Bulkhead 
S-09 Sluice Gate – New Downstream Bulkheads 

Temporary Construction Emergency Action Plan 

Quality Control Inspection Plan 



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Instructions to Bidders 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead 
Placement  
 00 20 00- i (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-200) 

INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 
 Defined Terms .............................................................................................................................................................. 1 

 Copies of Bidding Documents ............................................................................................................................... 1 

 Qualifications of Bidders .......................................................................................................................................... 1 

 Site and Other Areas; Existing Site Conditions; Examination of Site; Owner’s Safety Program; 
Other Work at the Site ....................................................................................................................................................................... 2 

 Bidder’s Representations ......................................................................................................................................... 4 

 Pre-Bid Conference .................................................................................................................................................... 5 

 Interpretations and Addenda ................................................................................................................................. 5 

 Bid Security .................................................................................................................................................................... 5 

 Contract Times ............................................................................................................................................................. 6 

 Liquidated Damages ............................................................................................................................................... 6 

 Substitute and “Or-Equal” Items ........................................................................................................................ 6 

 Subcontractors, Suppliers, and Others............................................................................................................. 6 

 Preparation of Bid .................................................................................................................................................... 6 

 Basis of Bid .................................................................................................................................................................. 7 

 Submittal of Bid ......................................................................................................................................................... 7 

 Modification and Withdrawal of Bid ................................................................................................................. 8 

 Opening of Bids ........................................................................................................................................................ 8 

 Bids to Remain Subject to Acceptance ............................................................................................................ 8 

 Evaluation of Bids and Award of Contract ...................................................................................................... 8 

 Contract Security and Insurance......................................................................................................................... 9 

 Signing of Agreement ............................................................................................................................................ 9 

 Retainage .................................................................................................................................................................. 10 

 Wage Requirements ............................................................................................................................................. 10 

 Non-Iran Linked Business ................................................................................................................................... 10 

 



 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti   Instructions to Bidders 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead Placement 
  00 20 00-
1 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-200) 

DEFINED TERMS 

 Terms used in these Instructions to Bidders have the meanings indicated in the General 
Conditions (2013 Edition) and Supplementary Conditions. Additional terms used in these 
Instructions to Bidders have the meanings indicated below: 

A. Issuing Office – The office from which the Bidding Documents are to be issued and where the 
bidding procedures are to be administered. 

COPIES OF BIDDING DOCUMENTS 

 Complete sets of the Bidding Documents may be obtained as stated in the advertisement or 
invitation to bid. 

 Complete sets of Bidding Documents shall be used in preparing Bids; neither Owner nor Engineer 
assumes any responsibility for errors or misinterpretations resulting from the use of incomplete 
sets of Bidding Documents. 

 Owner and Engineer, in making copies of Bidding Documents available on the above terms, do 
so only for the purpose of obtaining Bids for the Work and do not authorize or confer a license 
for any other use. 

 Owner and Engineer shall have no responsibility with respect to Bidder’s use of digital data files 
obtained from Owner or Engineer.  Because the information set forth in the digital data files can 
be modified unintentionally or otherwise, the use of digital data files provided by Owner or 
Engineer does not in any way negate Bidder’s responsibility for coordination with trades or others 
or for the proper checking and coordination of dimensions, details, member sizes and gauge, and 
quantities of materials as required to facilitate complete and accurate fabrication, erection, and 
construction of the Work. In the event of a conflict between sealed documents and digital data 
files, the sealed documents shall govern. It is the Bidder’s responsibility to determine if any 
conflicts exist.  

QUALIFICATIONS OF BIDDERS 

 To demonstrate Bidder’s qualifications to perform the Work, Bidder shall submit with its Bid (a) 
written evidence establishing its qualifications such as financial data, previous experience, and 
present commitments, and (b) the following additional information: 

A. Evidence of Bidder’s authority to do business in the state where the Project is located. 

B. Bidder’s state or other contractor license number, if applicable. 

C. Subcontractor and Supplier qualification information, including their scope of work or scope 
of supply and contact information. 

D. A description of Bidder’s project experience of at least 3 similar projects completed in the past 
five years.  Information should include the nature of the project, owner’s name and contact 
information, dollar value, and name of bonding company. 

E. List of Project References. 

 A Bidder’s failure to submit required qualification information within the times indicated may 
disqualify Bidder from receiving an award of the Contract. 



 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti   Instructions to Bidders 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead Placement 
  00 20 00-
2 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-200) 

 No requirement in this Article 3 to submit information will prejudice the right of Owner to seek 
additional pertinent information regarding Bidder’s qualifications. 

 Bidder is advised to carefully review those portions of the Bid Form requiring Bidder’s 
representations and certifications. 

SITE AND OTHER AREAS; EXISTING SITE CONDITIONS; EXAMINATION OF SITE; 
OWNER’S SAFETY PROGRAM; OTHER WORK AT THE SITE 

 Site and Other Areas 

A. The Site is identified in the Bidding Documents. By definition, the Site includes rights-of-way, 
easements, and other lands furnished by Owner for the use of the Contractor. Any additional 
lands required for temporary construction facilities, construction equipment, or storage of 
materials and equipment, and any access needed for such additional lands, are to be obtained 
and paid for by Contractor. 

 Existing Site Conditions 

A. Subsurface and Physical Conditions; Hazardous Environmental Conditions 

The Supplementary Conditions identify: 

• Letter report dated March 11, 2002, show boring log in the top of the south embankment of Ford 
Lake Dam, prepare by PSI, Plymouth, MI, re: “Piezometer Installation, Ford Lake Dam Emergency 
Spillway.” 

• Drawings dated January 28, 1992, of the replacement bridge over the top of the Ford Lake Dam, by 
McLravy Engineering Associates, approved by Washtenaw County Road Commission, entitled 
“Bridge on Bridge Road over Huron River”, consisting of 37 sheets. 

• Drawings dated April 4, 1932, of Ford Lake Dam, by Ford Motor Company, entitled “Hydro-Electric 
Development, Huron River”, consisting of 137 sheets. 

• AS-BUILT drawings dated March 18, 2002, of Ford Lake Dam spillway and powerhouse concrete 
repairs, by Barr Engineering Co., entitled “Ford Lake Dam Emergency Spillway”, consisting of 5 
sheets. 

• Report “Ford Lake Dam Spillway Concrete Assessment”, by Barr Engineering Co., June 2021, 
consisting of 57 pages. 

• Letter report dated November 25, 2022 by Solomon Diving regarding underwater inspection of six 
(6) upstream gate openings to determine the condition of the seal area surfaces in preparation for 
bulkhead installations, performed on 10-24-22, consisting of 4 pages and 5 associated files with 
video documentation. 

Copies of reports or drawings referenced in Paragraph 4.02 will be made available by Owner to any Bidder 
to review on request. These reports and drawings are not part of the Contract Documents, but the 
Technical Data contained therein upon whose accuracy Bidder is entitled to rely, if any, as provided in the 
General Conditions, has been identified and established in the Supplementary Conditions. Bidder is 
responsible for any interpretation or conclusion Bidder draws from any Technical Data or any other data, 
interpretations, opinions, or information contained in such reports or shown or indicated in such 
drawings. 

The definition of Technical Data has been modified in the Supplementary Conditions. 



 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti   Instructions to Bidders 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead Placement 
  00 20 00-
3 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-200) 

B. Underground Facilities: Information and data shown or indicated in the Bidding Documents 
with respect to existing Underground Facilities at or contiguous to the Site are set forth in the 
Contract Documents and are based upon information and data furnished to Owner and 
Engineer by owners of such Underground Facilities, including Owner, or others. 

C. Adequacy of Data: Provisions concerning responsibilities for the adequacy of data furnished 
to prospective Bidders with respect to subsurface conditions, other physical conditions, and 
Underground Facilities, and possible changes in the Bidding Documents due to differing or 
unanticipated subsurface or physical conditions appear in Paragraphs 5.03, 5.04, and 5.05 of 
the General Conditions. Provisions concerning responsibilities for the adequacy of data 
furnished to prospective Bidders with respect to a Hazardous Environmental Condition at the 
Site, if any, and possible changes in the Contract Documents due to any Hazardous 
Environmental Condition uncovered or revealed at the Site which was not shown or indicated 
in the Drawings or Specifications or identified in the Contract Documents to be within the 
scope of the Work, appear in Paragraph 5.06 of the General Conditions. 

 Site Visit and Testing by Bidders 

A. Bidder shall conduct Site visits during normal working hours, and shall not disturb any ongoing 
operations at the Site. 

B. Bidder is not required to conduct any subsurface testing, or exhaustive investigations of Site 
conditions. 

C. On request, and to the extent Owner has control over the Site, and schedule permitting, Owner 
will provide Bidder access to the Site to conduct such additional examinations, investigations, 
explorations, tests, and studies as Bidder deems necessary for preparing and submitting a 
successful Bid. Owner will not have any obligation to grant such access if doing so is not 
practical because of existing operations, security or safety concerns, or restraints on Owner’s 
authority regarding the Site. 

D. Bidder shall comply with all applicable Laws and Regulations regarding excavation and location 
of utilities, obtain all permits, and comply with all terms and conditions established by Owner 
or by property owners or other entities controlling the Site with respect to schedule, access, 
existing operations, security, liability insurance, and applicable safety programs. 

E. Bidder shall fill all holes and clean up and restore the Site to its former condition upon 
completion of such explorations, investigations, tests, and studies. 

 Owner’s Safety Program 

A. Site visits and work at the Site may be governed by an Owner safety program. As the General 
Conditions indicate, if an Owner safety program exists, it will be noted in the Supplementary 
Conditions. 

 Other Work at the Site 

A. Reference is made to Article 8 of the Supplementary Conditions for the identification of the 
general nature of other work of which Owner is aware (if any) that is to be performed at the 
Site by Owner or others (such as utilities and other prime contractors) and relates to the Work 
contemplated by these Bidding Documents. If Owner is party to a written contract for such 
other work, then on request, Owner will provide to each Bidder access to examine such 
contracts (other than portions thereof related to price and other confidential matters), if any. 



 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti   Instructions to Bidders 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead Placement 
  00 20 00-
4 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-200) 

BIDDER’S REPRESENTATIONS 

 It is the responsibility of each Bidder before submitting a Bid to: 

A. examine and carefully study the Bidding Documents, and any data and reference items 
identified in the Bidding Documents; 

B. visit the Site, conduct a thorough, alert visual examination of the Site and adjacent areas, and 
become familiar with and satisfy itself as to the general, local, and Site conditions that may 
affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work; 

C. become familiar with and satisfy itself as to all Laws and Regulations that may affect cost, 
progress, and performance of the Work; 

D. carefully study all: (1) reports of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or adjacent 
to the Site and all drawings of physical conditions relating to existing surface or subsurface 
structures at the Site that have been identified in the Supplementary Conditions, especially 
with respect to Technical Data in such reports and drawings, and (2) reports and drawings 
relating to Hazardous Environmental Conditions, if any, at or adjacent to the Site that have 
been identified in the Supplementary Conditions, especially with respect to Technical Data in 
such reports and drawings; 

E. consider the information known to Bidder itself; information commonly known to contractors 
doing business in the locality of the Site; information and observations obtained from visits to 
the Site; the Bidding Documents; and the Site-related reports and drawings, if any, identified 
in the Bidding Documents, with respect to the effect of such information, observations, and 
documents on (1) the cost, progress, and performance of the Work; (2) the means, methods, 
techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction to be employed by Bidder, including 
applying any specific means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction 
expressly required by the Bidding Documents; and (3) Bidder’s safety precautions and 
programs; 

F. agree, based on the information and observations referred to in the preceding paragraph, that 
at the time of submitting its Bid no further examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, 
studies, or data are necessary for the determination of its Bid for performance of the Work at 
the price bid and within the times required, and in accordance with the other terms and 
conditions of the Bidding Documents; 

G. become aware of the general nature of the work to be performed by Owner and others at the 
Site that relates to the Work as indicated in the Bidding Documents; 

H. promptly give Engineer written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or discrepancies that 
Bidder discovers in the Bidding Documents and confirm that the written resolution thereof by 
Engineer is acceptable to Bidder; 

I. determine that the Bidding Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey 
understanding of all terms and conditions for the performance and furnishing of the Work; 
and 

J. agree that the submission of a Bid will constitute an incontrovertible representation by Bidder 
that Bidder has complied with every requirement of this Article, that without exception the Bid 
and all prices in the Bid are premised upon performing and furnishing the Work required by 
the Bidding Documents and applying any specific means, methods, techniques, sequences, 



 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti   Instructions to Bidders 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead Placement 
  00 20 00-
5 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-200) 

and procedures of construction that may be shown or indicated or expressly required by the 
Bidding Documents, that Bidder has given Engineer written notice of all conflicts, errors, 
ambiguities, and discrepancies that Bidder has discovered in the Bidding Documents and the 
written resolutions thereof by Engineer are acceptable to Bidder, and that the Bidding 
Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey understanding of all terms and 
conditions for performing and furnishing the Work. 

PRE-BID CONFERENCE 

 A pre-Bid conference will be held at the time and location stated in the advertisement to bid. 
Representatives of Owner and Engineer will be present to discuss the Project. Bidders are required 
to attend and participate in the conference. Engineer will transmit to all prospective Bidders of 
record such Addenda as Engineer considers necessary in response to questions arising at the 
conference. Oral statements may not be relied upon and will not be binding or legally effective. 
Bids will be considered unresponsive unless Bidder’s authorized representative has attended the 
mandatory pre-bid meeting as evidenced by representative’s signature or handwritten name on 
the attendance roster for the pre-bid meeting 

INTERPRETATIONS AND ADDENDA 

 All questions about the meaning or intent of the Bidding Documents are to be submitted to 
Engineer in writing. Interpretations or clarifications considered necessary by Engineer in response 
to such questions will be issued by Addenda delivered to all parties recorded as having received 
the Bidding Documents. Questions received less than seven days prior to the date for opening of 
Bids may not be answered. Only questions answered by Addenda will be binding. Oral and other 
interpretations or clarifications will be without legal effect. 

 Addenda may be issued to clarify, correct, supplement, or change the Bidding Documents as 
deemed advisable by Owner or Engineer. 

BID SECURITY 

 A Bid must be accompanied by Bid security made payable to Owner in an amount of 5 percent 
of Bidder’s maximum Bid price determined by adding the base bid and all alternates and in the 
form of a certified check, bank money order, or a Bid bond issued by a surety meeting the 
requirements of Paragraphs 6.01 and 6.02 of the General Conditions. 

 The Bid security of the Successful Bidder will be retained until Owner awards the contract to such 
Bidder, and such Bidder has executed the Contract Documents, furnished the required contract 
security, and met the other conditions of the Notice of Award, whereupon the Bid security will be 
returned. If the Successful Bidder fails to execute and deliver the Contract Documents and furnish 
the required contract security within 15 days after the Notice of Award, Owner may consider 
Bidder to be in default, annul the Notice of Award, and the Bid security of that Bidder will be 
forfeited. Such forfeiture shall be Owner’s exclusive remedy if Bidder defaults.   

 The Bid security of other Bidders that Owner believes to have a reasonable chance of receiving 
the award may be retained by Owner until the earlier of seven days after the Effective Date of the 
Contract or 61 days after the Bid opening, whereupon Bid security furnished by such Bidders will 
be returned. 



 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti   Instructions to Bidders 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead Placement 
  00 20 00-
6 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-200) 

 Bid security of other Bidders that Owner believes do not have a reasonable chance of receiving 
the award will be returned within seven days after the Bid opening. 

CONTRACT TIMES 

 The number of days within which, or the dates by which, the Work is to be substantially completed 
and ready for final payment are set forth in the Agreement. 

LIQUIDATED DAMAGES 

 Provisions for liquidated damages, if any, for failure to timely attain a Milestone, Substantial 
Completion, or completion of the Work in readiness for final payment, are set forth in the 
Agreement. 

SUBSTITUTE AND “OR-EQUAL” ITEMS 

 The Contract for the Work, if awarded, will be on the basis of materials and equipment specified 
or described in the Bidding Documents without consideration during the bidding and Contract 
award process of possible substitute or “or-equal” items. In cases in which the Contract allows 
Contractor to request that Engineer authorize the use of a substitute or “or-equal” item of 
material or equipment, application for such acceptance may not be made to and will not be 
considered by Engineer until after the Effective Date of the Contract. 

 All prices that Bidder sets forth in its Bid shall be based on the presumption that Contractor will 
furnish the materials and equipment specified or described in the Bidding Documents, as 
supplemented by Addenda. Any assumptions regarding the possibility of post-Bid approvals of 
“or-equal” or substitution requests are made at Bidder’s sole risk. 

SUBCONTRACTORS, SUPPLIERS, AND OTHERS 

NOT USED 

PREPARATION OF BID 

 The Bid Form is included with the Bidding Documents.  

A. All blanks on the Bid Form shall be completed in ink and the Bid Form signed in ink. Erasures 
or alterations shall be initialed in ink by the person signing the Bid Form. A Bid price shall be 
indicated for each Bid item listed therein. 

B. If the Bid Form expressly indicates that submitting pricing on a specific alternate item is 
optional, and Bidder elects to not furnish pricing for such optional alternate item, then Bidder 
may enter the words “No Bid,” “No Change,” or “Not Applicable.” 

 A Bid by a corporation shall be executed in the corporate name by the president, vice-president, 
or secretary. Other corporate officer (whose title must appear under the signature), may execute 
the Bid if accompanied by evidence of authority to sign. The corporate seal, if any, shall be affixed.  
The registered corporate address, federal EIN, and state of incorporation shall be shown. 



 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti   Instructions to Bidders 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead Placement 
  00 20 00-
7 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-200) 

 A Bid by a partnership shall be executed in the partnership name and signed by a partner (whose 
title must appear under the signature), accompanied by evidence of authority to sign. The federal 
EIN and registered address of the partnership shall be shown. 

 A Bid by a limited liability company shall be executed in the name of the firm by a member or 
other authorized person and accompanied by evidence of authority to sign. The state of 
formation of the firm, federal EIN, and the registered address of the firm shall be shown. 

 A Bid by an individual shall show the Bidder’s name and official address. 

 A Bid by a joint venture shall be executed by an authorized representative of each joint venture 
in the manner indicated on the Bid Form. The official address of the joint venture shall be shown. 

 All names shall be printed in ink below the signatures. 

 The Bid shall contain an acknowledgment of receipt of all Addenda, the numbers of which shall 
be filled in on the Bid Form. 

 Postal and e-mail addresses and telephone number for communications regarding the Bid shall 
be shown. 

 The Bid shall contain evidence of Bidder’s authority and qualification to do business in the state 
where the Project is located, or Bidder shall covenant in writing to obtain such authority and 
qualification prior to award of the Contract and attach such covenant to the Bid. Bidder’s state 
contractor license number, if any, shall also be shown on the Bid Form. 

BASIS OF BID 

 Lump Sum 

A. Bidders shall submit a Bid on a lump sum basis as set forth in the Bid Form. 

 Unit Price 

A. NOT USED 

 Allowances 

A. NOT USED 

SUBMITTAL OF BID 

 With each copy of the Bidding Documents, a Bidder is furnished one separate unbound copy of 
the Bid Form, and, if required, the Bid Bond Form. The unbound copy of the Bid Form is to be 
completed and submitted with the Bid security and the other documents required to be 
submitted under the terms of Article 7 of the Bid Form. 

 A Bid shall be received no later than the date and time prescribed and at the place indicated in 
the advertisement or invitation to bid and shall be enclosed in a plainly marked package with the 
Project title (and, if applicable, the designated portion of the Project for which the Bid is 
submitted), the name and address of Bidder, and shall be accompanied by the Bid security and 
other required documents. If a Bid is sent by mail or other delivery system, the sealed envelope 
containing the Bid shall be enclosed in a separate package plainly marked on the outside with 
the notation “BID ENCLOSED.” A mailed Bid shall be addressed to Heather Jarrell Roe, Township 



 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti   Instructions to Bidders 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead Placement 
  00 20 00-
8 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-200) 

Clerk, Charter Township of Ypsilanti, Tilden R Stumbo Civic Center, 7200 S. Huron River Drive, 
Ypsilanti, MI 48197. 

 Bids received after the date and time prescribed for the opening of bids, or not submitted at the 
correct location or in the designated manner, will not be accepted and will be returned to the 
Bidder unopened. 

MODIFICATION AND WITHDRAWAL OF BID 

 A Bid may be withdrawn without prejudice to the Bidder by an appropriate document duly 
executed in the same manner that a Bid must be executed and delivered to the place where Bids 
are to be submitted prior to the date and time for the opening of Bids. The request must be 
signed in the same manner and by the same person or persons who signed the bid and should 
not reveal the amount of the bid.  Requests shall be clearly marked “Request for Withdrawal of 
Bid” and labeled with the project name. Upon receipt of such notice, the unopened Bid will be 
returned to the Bidder. If such request for withdrawal is not explicit or if it is in any sense subject 
to misinterpretation, the Bid shall be subject to either acceptance or rejection, as may be in the 
best interest of Owner, and in its discretion.   

 If a Bidder wishes to modify its Bid prior to Bid opening, Bidder must withdraw its initial Bid in 
the manner specified in Paragraph 16.01 and submit a new Bid prior to the date and time for the 
opening of Bids. 

 If within 24 hours after Bids are opened any Bidder files a duly signed written notice with Owner 
and promptly thereafter demonstrates to the reasonable satisfaction of Owner that there was a 
material and substantial mistake in the preparation of its Bid, that Bidder may withdraw its Bid, 
and the Bid security will be returned. Thereafter, if the Work is rebid, that Bidder will be 
disqualified from further bidding on the Work. 

OPENING OF BIDS 

 Bids will be opened at the time and place indicated in the advertisement or invitation to bid and, 
unless obviously non-responsive, read aloud publicly. Bidders or their authorized agents are 
invited to be present. An abstract of the amounts of the base Bids and major alternates, if any, 
will be made available to Bidders after the opening of Bids. 

BIDS TO REMAIN SUBJECT TO ACCEPTANCE 

 All Bids will remain subject to acceptance for the period of time stated in the Bid Form, but Owner 
may, in its sole discretion, release any Bid and return the Bid security prior to the end of this 
period. 

EVALUATION OF BIDS AND AWARD OF CONTRACT 

 Owner reserves the right to reject any or all Bids, including without limitation, nonconforming, 
nonresponsive, unbalanced, or conditional Bids. Owner will reject the Bid of any Bidder that 
Owner finds, after reasonable inquiry and evaluation, to not be responsible. If Bidder purports to 
add terms or conditions to its Bid, takes exception to any provision of the Bidding Documents, or 
attempts to alter the contents of the Contract Documents for purposes of the Bid, then Owner 
will reject the Bid as nonresponsive; provided that Owner also reserves the right to waive all minor 



 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti   Instructions to Bidders 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead Placement 
  00 20 00-
9 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-200) 

informalities not involving price, time, or changes in the Work, and to negotiate contract terms 
with the Successful Bidder. 

 If Owner awards the contract for the Work, such award shall be to the responsible Bidder 
submitting the lowest responsive Bid. However, Owner reserves the right to by-pass the low 
bidder and award a Contract in the best interest of the Owner.    

 More than one Bid for the same Work from an individual or entity under the same or different 
names will not be considered. Reasonable grounds for believing that any Bidder has an interest 
in more than one Bid for the Work may be cause for disqualification of that Bidder and the 
rejection of all Bids in which that Bidder has an interest. 

 Evaluation of Bids 

A. In evaluating Bids, Owner will consider whether or not the Bids comply with the prescribed 
requirements, and such alternates, unit prices, and other data, as may be requested in the Bid 
Form or prior to the Notice of Award. 

 In evaluating whether a Bidder is responsible, Owner will consider the qualifications of the Bidder 
and may consider the qualifications and experience of Subcontractors, Suppliers, and other 
individuals or entities proposed for those portions of the Work for which the identity of 
Subcontractors, Suppliers, and other individuals or entities must be submitted as provided in the 
Bidding Documents. 

 Owner may conduct such investigations as Owner deems necessary to establish the responsibility, 
qualifications, and financial ability of Bidders and any proposed Subcontractors, Suppliers, 
individuals, or entities proposed for those portions of the Work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents. 

CONTRACT SECURITY AND INSURANCE 

 Article 6 of the General Conditions, as may be modified by the Supplementary Conditions, sets 
forth Owner’s requirements as to performance and payment bonds and insurance. When the 
Successful Bidder delivers the executed Agreement to Owner, it shall be accompanied by required 
bonds and insurance certificates. 

SIGNING OF AGREEMENT 

 When Owner issues a Notice of Award to the Successful Bidder, it shall be accompanied by the 
required number of unsigned counterparts of the Agreement along with the other Contract 
Documents as identified in the Agreement as attached thereto. Within 15 days thereafter, 
Successful Bidder shall execute and deliver the required number of counterparts of the 
Agreement, attached documents, and any other required submittals to Owner.  

 Owner or Engineer will review required submittals and may require Successful Bidder to make 
revisions. Within ten days after final receipt of all acceptable materials, Owner shall deliver one 
fully executed counterpart of the Agreement to Successful Bidder, together with printed and 
electronic copies of the Contract Documents as stated in Paragraph 2.02 of the General 
Conditions. 



 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti   Instructions to Bidders 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead Placement 
  00 20 00-
10 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-200) 

RETAINAGE 

 Provisions concerning retainage are set forth in the Agreement. 

WAGE REQUIREMENTS 

 LIVING WAGE:  

A. Owner has a Living Wage Ordinance requiring covered vendors who execute a service or 
professional contract with Owner to pay their employees working under that contract, a 
minimum wage. Contractor agrees to comply with applicable provisions of the Living Wage 
Ordinance. 

 PREVAILING WAGE:  

A. Owner has a Prevailing Wage Ordinance. No contract, agreement, understanding or other 
arrangement, whether oral or written for the construction and/or substantial remodeling of 
any building or part thereof, for or on the behalf of or owned by the Township of Ypsilanti 
(Owner), involving craftsmen, mechanics and laborers employed directly upon the site of work 
shall be entered into, approved or executed unless such contract, agreement, understanding 
or arrangement shall provide and require that all craftsmen, mechanics and laborers so 
employed shall receive at least the prevailing wages and fringe benefits of the building trades 
department for corresponding classes of craftsmen, mechanics and laborers as determined 
and published by the Davis-Bacon Division of the United States Department of Labor for the 
Washtenaw County area. 

 See the Supplementary Conditions for additional information. 

NON-IRAN LINKED BUSINESS 

 Responsive Bidders shall submit the attached Non-Iran Linked Business Certification with their bid.  

 



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Bid Form 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead 
Placement  00 41 00-
i (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-410) 

BID FORM 

FORD LAKE DAM CONCRETE REPAIRS AND BULKHEAD PLACEMENT 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

ARTICLE 1 – Bid Recipient ................................................................................................................................................................... 1 

ARTICLE 2 – Bidder’s Acknowledgements .................................................................................................................................... 1 

ARTICLE 3 – Bidder’s Representations ........................................................................................................................................... 1 

ARTICLE 4 – Bidder’s Certification .................................................................................................................................................... 2 

ARTICLE 5 – Basis of Bid ....................................................................................................................................................................... 3 

ARTICLE 6 – Time of Completion ..................................................................................................................................................... 3 

ARTICLE 7 – Attachments to this Bid .............................................................................................................................................. 3 

ARTICLE 8 – Defined Terms ................................................................................................................................................................ 4 

ARTICLE 9 – Bid Submittal ................................................................................................................................................................... 4 



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Bid Form 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead 
Placement  00 41 00-
1 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-410) 

ARTICLE 1 – BID RECIPIENT 

1.01 This Bid is submitted to: 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
7200 S. Huron River Drive 
Ypsilanti, MI 48197 
Attn: Heather Jarrell Roe, Township Clerk 

1.02 The undersigned Bidder proposes and agrees, if this Bid is accepted, to enter into an Agreement 
with Owner in the form included in the Bidding Documents to perform all Work as specified or 
indicated in the Bidding Documents for the prices and within the times indicated in this Bid and in 
accordance with the other terms and conditions of the Bidding Documents. 

ARTICLE 2 – BIDDER’S ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

2.01 Bidder accepts all of the terms and conditions of the Instructions to Bidders, including without 
limitation those dealing with the disposition of Bid security. This Bid will remain subject to 
acceptance for 60 days after the Bid opening, or for such longer period of time that Bidder may 
agree to in writing upon request of Owner. 

ARTICLE 3 – BIDDER’S REPRESENTATIONS 

3.01 In submitting this Bid, Bidder represents that: 

A. Bidder has examined and carefully studied the Bidding Documents, and any data and reference 
items identified in the Bidding Documents, and hereby acknowledges receipt of the following 
Addenda: 

Addendum No.  Addendum, Date 

   

   

   

   

B. Bidder has visited the Site, conducted a thorough, alert visual examination of the Site and 
adjacent areas, and become familiar with and satisfied itself as to the general, local, and Site 
conditions that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work. 

C. Bidder is familiar with and has satisfied itself as to all Laws and Regulations that may affect 
cost, progress, and performance of the Work. 

D. Bidder has carefully studied all: (1) reports of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions 
at or adjacent to the Site and all drawings of physical conditions relating to existing surface or 
subsurface structures at the Site (except Underground Facilities) that have been identified in 
the Supplementary Conditions, especially with respect to Technical Data in such reports and 
drawings, and (2) reports and drawings relating to Hazardous Environmental Conditions, if any, 



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Bid Form 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead 
Placement  00 41 00-
2 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-410) 

at or adjacent to the Site that have been identified in the Supplementary Conditions, especially 
with respect to Technical Data in such reports and drawings. 

E. Bidder has considered the information known to Bidder itself; information commonly known 
to contractors doing business in the locality of the Site; information and observations obtained 
from visits to the Site; the Bidding Documents; and any Site-related reports and drawings 
identified in the Bidding Documents, with respect to the effect of such information, 
observations, and documents on (1) the cost, progress, and performance of the Work; (2) the 
means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction to be employed by 
Bidder, including applying the specific means, methods, techniques, sequences, and 
procedures of construction expressly required by the Bidding Documents; and (3) Bidder’s 
safety precautions and programs. 

F. Bidder agrees, based on the information and observations referred to in the preceding 
paragraph, that no further examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, or data are 
necessary for the determination of this Bid for performance of the Work at the price bid and 
within the times required, and in accordance with the other terms and conditions of the 
Bidding Documents. 

G. Bidder is aware of the general nature of work to be performed by Owner and others at the Site 
that relates to the Work as indicated in the Bidding Documents. 

H. Bidder has given Engineer written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or discrepancies 
that Bidder has discovered in the Bidding Documents, and confirms that the written resolution 
thereof by Engineer is acceptable to Bidder. 

I. The Bidding Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey understanding of all 
terms and conditions for the performance and furnishing of the Work. 

J. The submission of this Bid constitutes an incontrovertible representation by Bidder that Bidder 
has complied with every requirement of this Article, and that without exception the Bid and all 
prices in the Bid are premised upon performing and furnishing the Work required by the 
Bidding Documents. 

ARTICLE 4 – BIDDER’S CERTIFICATION 

4.01 Bidder certifies that: 

A. This Bid is genuine and not made in the interest of or on behalf of any undisclosed individual 
or entity and is not submitted in conformity with any collusive agreement or rules of any group, 
association, organization, or corporation; 

B. Bidder has not directly or indirectly induced or solicited any other Bidder to submit a false or 
sham Bid; 

C. Bidder has not solicited or induced any individual or entity to refrain from bidding; and 

D. Bidder has not engaged in corrupt, fraudulent, collusive, or coercive practices in competing 
for the Contract.  For the purposes of this Paragraph 4.01.D: 

1. “corrupt practice” means the offering, giving, receiving, or soliciting of anything of value 
likely to influence the action of a public official in the bidding process; 



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Bid Form 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead 
Placement  00 41 00-
3 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-410) 

2. “fraudulent practice” means an intentional misrepresentation of facts made (a) to 
influence the bidding process to the detriment of Owner, (b) to establish bid prices at 
artificial non-competitive levels, or (c) to deprive Owner of the benefits of free and open 
competition; 

3. “collusive practice” means a scheme or arrangement between two or more Bidders, with 
or without the knowledge of Owner, a purpose of which is to establish bid prices at 
artificial, non-competitive levels; and 

4. “coercive practice” means harming or threatening to harm, directly or indirectly, persons 
or their property to influence their participation in the bidding process or affect the e 
execution of the Contract. 

ARTICLE 5 – BASIS OF BID 

5.01 Bidder will complete the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents for the following price(s): 

Lump Sum Bid Price $ 

ARTICLE 6 – TIME OF COMPLETION 

6.01 Bidder agrees that the Work will be substantially complete and will be completed and ready for 
final payment in accordance with Paragraph 15.06 of the General Conditions on or before the dates 
or within the number of calendar days indicated in the Agreement. 

6.02 Bidder accepts the provisions of the Agreement as to liquidated damages. 

ARTICLE 7 – ATTACHMENTS TO THIS BID 

7.01 The following documents are submitted with and made a condition of this Bid: 

A. Required Bid security in the form of a bid bond in the amount of 5 percent of the total price; 

B. List of Proposed Subcontractors; 

C. List of Proposed Suppliers; 

D. List of Project References; 

E. A description of Bidder’s project experience of at least 3 similar projects completed in the past 
five years.   

F. Evidence of authority to do business in the state of the Project; or a written covenant to obtain 
such license within the time for acceptance of Bids; 

G. Contractor’s License No.: __________  

H. Required Bidder Qualification Statement with supporting data;  

I. Non-Iran Linked Business Certification; and  

J. High level work plan, as specified on DWG. No. S-02 Note 1.0 General E. Submittals 

 

 



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Bid Form 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead 
Placement  00 41 00-
4 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-410) 

ARTICLE 8 – DEFINED TERMS 

8.01 The terms used in this Bid with initial capital letters have the meanings stated in the Instructions to 
Bidders, the General Conditions, and the Supplementary Conditions. 

ARTICLE 9 – BID SUBMITTAL 

BIDDER: [Indicate correct name of bidding entity] 

 

By: 
[Signature]  

[Printed name]  
(If Bidder is a corporation, a limited liability company, a partnership, or a joint venture, attach evidence 
of authority to sign.) 

Attest: 
[Signature]  

[Printed name]  

Title:  

Submittal Date:  

Address for giving notices: 

 

 

 

Telephone Number:  

Fax Number:  

Contact Name and e-mail address:  

  

Bidder’s License No.:  

 
(where applicable) 

 



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Non-Iran Linked Business 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead 
Placement 
  
 NIL-1  

 

NON-IRAN LINKED BUSINESS CERTIFICATION 

This Proposal is submitted in the name of: 

_________________________________________________________________________ 
(Print Company Name) 
 

The undersigned herby certifies in accordance with Public Act 517 of the Public Acts of 2012 that it is not 
an Iran-linked business. 

 

 

Signed and Sealed this _________day of _________________________, 20___. 

  

 By ____________________________________________ 
  (Signature) 
 
  ____________________________________________ 
  (Printed Name of Signature) 
 
  ____________________________________________ 
  (Title) 
 

 

 



IRAN ECONOMIC SANCTIONS ACT
Act 517 of 2012

AN ACT to prohibit persons who have certain economic relationships with Iran from submitting bids on
requests for proposals with this state, political subdivisions of this state, and other public entities; to require
bidders for certain public contracts to submit certification of eligibility with the bid; to require reports; and to
provide for sanctions for false certification.

History: 2012, Act 517, Eff. Apr. 1, 2013.

The People of the State of Michigan enact:

129.311 Short title.
Sec. 1. This act shall be known and may be cited as the "Iran economic sanctions act".
History: 2012, Act 517, Eff. Apr. 1, 2013.

129.312 Definitions.
Sec. 2. As used in this act:
(a) "Energy sector of Iran" means activities to develop petroleum or natural gas resources or nuclear power

in Iran.
(b) "Investment" means 1 or more of the following:
(i) A commitment or contribution of funds or property.
(ii) A loan or other extension of credit.
(iii) The entry into or renewal of a contract for goods or services.
(c) "Investment activity" means 1 or more of the following:
(i) A person who has an investment of $20,000,000.00 or more in the energy sector of Iran.
(ii) A financial institution that extends $20,000,000.00 or more in credit to another person, for 45 days or

more, if that person will use the credit for investment in the energy sector of Iran.
(d) "Iran" means any agency or instrumentality of Iran.
(e) "Iran linked business" means either of the following:
(i) A person engaging in investment activities in the energy sector of Iran, including a person that provides

oil or liquefied natural gas tankers or products used to construct or maintain pipelines used to transport oil or
liquefied natural gas for the energy sector of Iran.

(ii) A financial institution that extends credit to another person, if that person will use the credit to engage
in investment activities in the energy sector of Iran.

(f) "Person" means any of the following:
(i) An individual, corporation, company, limited liability company, business association, partnership,

society, trust, or any other nongovernmental entity, organization, or group.
(ii) Any governmental entity or instrumentality of a government, including a multilateral development

institution, as defined in section 1701(c)(3) of the international financial institutional act, 22 USC 262r(c)(3).
(iii) Any successor, subunit, parent company, or subsidiary of, or company under common ownership or

control with, any entity described in subparagraph (i) or (ii).
(g) "Public entity" means this state or an agency or authority of this state, school district, community

college district, intermediate school district, city, village, township, county, public authority, or public airport
authority.

History: 2012, Act 517, Eff. Apr. 1, 2013.

129.313 Ineligibility of Iran linked business to submit request for proposal bid; certification.
Sec. 3. (1) Beginning April 1, 2013, an Iran linked business is not eligible to submit a bid on a request for

proposal with a public entity.
(2) Beginning April 1, 2013, a public entity shall require a person that submits a bid on a request for

proposal with the public entity to certify that it is not an Iran linked business.
History: 2012, Act 517, Eff. Apr. 1, 2013.

129.314 Effect of false certification.
Sec. 4. If a public entity determines, using credible information available to the public, that a person has

submitted a false certification under section 3(2), the public entity shall provide the person with written notice
of its determination and of the intent not to enter into or renew a contract with the person. The notice shall
include information on how to contest the determination and specify that the person may become eligible for a

Rendered Friday, May 20, 2022 Page 1 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 76 of 2022

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov



future contract with the public entity if the person ceases the activities that cause it to be an Iran linked
business. The person shall have 90 days following receipt of the notice to respond in writing and to
demonstrate that the determination of false certification was made in error. If a person does not make that
demonstration within 90 days after receipt of the notice, the public entity may terminate any existing contract
and shall report the name of the person to the attorney general together with information supporting the
determination.

History: 2012, Act 517, Eff. Apr. 1, 2013.

129.315 Civil action; penalty.
Sec. 5. The attorney general may bring a civil action against any person reported under section 4. If a civil

action results in a finding that the person submitted a false certification, the person is responsible for a civil
penalty of not more than $250,000.00 or 2 times the amount of the contract or proposed contract for which the
false certification was made, whichever is greater, the cost of the public entity's investigation, and reasonable
attorney fees, in addition to the fine. A person who submitted a false certification shall be ineligible to bid on
a request for proposal for 3 years from the date the public entity determines that the person has submitted the
false certification.

History: 2012, Act 517, Eff. Apr. 1, 2013.

129.316 Conditional effect.
Sec. 6. The provisions of this act are effective only if Iran is a state sponsor of terror as defined under

section 2 of the divestment from terror act, 2008 PA 234, MCL 129.292.
History: 2012, Act 517, Eff. Apr. 1, 2013.

Rendered Friday, May 20, 2022 Page 2 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 76 of 2022

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Notice of Award 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead Placement 

  00 51 00-1 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-510) 

 

NOTICE OF AWARD 

Date of Issuance:    

Owner:  Charter Township of Ypsilanti Owner's Contract No.:  

Engineer: Barr Engineering Co. Engineer's Project No.: 22810058 

Project: Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and 
Bulkhead Placement 

Contract Name:  

Bidder:  

Bidder’s Address:  

TO BIDDER: 

You are notified that Owner has accepted your Bid dated ______________________________[insert date] for the above 
Contract, and that you are the Successful Bidder and are awarded a Contract for: concrete repairs at the hydropower 
intake and at the overflow spillway crest, installing existing upstream sluiceway bulkheads, fabricating and installing 
new downstream sluiceway bulkheads, and dewatering the sluiceways to allow for sluice gate inspections by the 
owner’s engineer.   
 

The Contract Price is stated in the Agreement. Four unexecuted counterparts of the Agreement accompany this Notice 
of Award. 

 

One copy of the Contract Documents accompanies this Notice of Award, or has been transmitted or made available 
to Bidder electronically. 

You must comply with the following conditions precedent within 15 days of the date of receipt of this Notice of 
Award, which is by _____________________________[insert date]: 

 
1. Deliver to Owner four counterparts of the Agreement, fully executed by Bidder. 

2. Deliver Performance and Payment Bond. 

3. Deliver Insurance Certificates.  

 
Failure to comply with these conditions within the time specified will entitle Owner to consider you in default, annul 
this Notice of Award, and declare your Bid security forfeited.   

Owner will return to you one fully executed counterpart of the Agreement, together with any additional copies of 
the Contract Documents as indicated in Paragraph 2.02 of the General Conditions. 

Owner: Charter Township of Ypsilanti 

  
                         Authorized Signature 

By: Brenda Stumbo 

Title: Township Supervisor 
 
Copy: Engineer  



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Form of Agreement 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead 
Placement  
 00 52 00-1 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-520, C-525) 

FORM OF AGREEMENT 
 

THIS AGREEMENT is by and between Charter Township of Ypsilanti (“Owner”) and 

 (“Contractor”). 

Owner and Contractor hereby agree as follows: 

ARTICLE 1 – WORK 

1.01 Contractor shall complete all Work as specified or indicated in the Contract Documents. The Work 
is generally described as follows: constructing concrete repairs at the hydropower intake and at the 
overflow spillway crest, installing existing upstream sluiceway bulkheads, fabricating and installing 
new downstream sluiceway bulkheads, and dewatering the sluiceways to allow for sluice gate 
inspections by the Owner’s engineer. 

ARTICLE 2 – THE PROJECT 

2.01 The Project, of which the Work under the Contract Documents may be the whole or only a part, is 
generally described in Article 1 

ARTICLE 3 – ENGINEER 

3.01 The Project has been designed by Barr Engineering Co. 

3.02 Owner has retained Barr Engineering Co.  (“Engineer”) to act as Owner’s representative, assume all 
duties and responsibilities, and have the rights and authority assigned to Engineer in the Contract 
Documents in connection with the completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents. The duties and responsibilities and rights and authority of Engineer cannot be 
extended without written consent of Owner and Engineer. 

ARTICLE 4 – CONTRACT TIMES 

4.01 Time of the Essence 

A. All time limits for Milestones, if any, Substantial Completion, and completion and readiness for 
final payment as stated in the Contract Documents are of the essence of the Contract. 

4.02 Contract Times: Days 

A. The Work will be substantially completed within 120 days after the date when the Contract 
Times commence to run as provided in Paragraph 4.01 of the General Conditions, and 
completed and ready for final payment in accordance with Paragraph 15.06 of the General 
Conditions within 30 days after the date of Substantial Completion. 

4.03 Liquidated Damages 

A. Contractor and Owner recognize that time is of the essence as stated in Paragraph 4.01 above 
and that Owner will suffer financial and other losses if the Work is not completed within the 
times specified in Paragraph 4.02 above, plus any extensions thereof allowed in accordance 



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Form of Agreement 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead 
Placement  
 00 52 00-2 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-520, C-525) 

with the Contract Documents. The parties also recognize the delays, expense, and difficulties 
involved in proving in a legal or arbitration proceeding the actual loss suffered by Owner if the 
Work is not completed on time. Accordingly, instead of requiring any such proof, Owner and 
Contractor agree that as liquidated damages for delay (but not as a penalty): 

1. Substantial Completion: Contractor shall pay Owner $1,000 for each day that expires after 
the time (as duly adjusted pursuant to the Contract) specified in Paragraph 4.02.A above 
for Substantial Completion until the Work is substantially complete. 

2. Completion of Remaining Work: After Substantial Completion, if Contractor shall neglect, 
refuse, or fail to complete the remaining Work within the Contract Time (as duly adjusted 
pursuant to the Contract) for completion and readiness for final payment, Contractor shall 
pay Owner $500 for each day that expires after such time until the Work is completed 
and ready for final payment. 

3. Liquidated damages for failing to timely attain Substantial Completion and final 
completion are not additive and will not be imposed concurrently. 

ARTICLE 5 – CONTRACT PRICE 

5.01 Owner shall pay Contractor for completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents 
the amounts that follow, subject to adjustment under the Contract: 

A. Contract Price:  $__________. 

All specific cash allowances are included in the above price in accordance with Paragraph 13.02 
of the General Conditions. 

ARTICLE 6 – PAYMENT PROCEDURES 

6.01 Submittal and Processing of Payments 

A. Contractor shall submit Applications for Payment in accordance with Article 15 of the General 
Conditions, as may be modified by the Supplemental Conditions. Applications for Payment will 
be processed by Engineer as provided in the General Conditions. 

6.02 Progress Payments; Retainage 

A. Owner shall make progress payments on account of the Contract Price on the basis of 
Contractor’s Applications for Payment on or about the 1st day of each month during 
performance of the Work as provided in Paragraph 6.02.A.1 below, provided that such 
Applications for Payment meet the requirements of the Contract. All such payments will be 
measured by the Schedule of Values established as provided in the General Conditions (and 
in the case of Unit Price Work based on the number of units completed) or, in the event there 
is no Schedule of Values, as provided elsewhere in the Contract. The retainage withheld shall 
be as follows: 

1. Not more than 10-percent of the dollar value of all work in place.  

2. Except when there are disputes, retainage shall be released to Contractor with the final 
progress payment.  



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Form of Agreement 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead 
Placement  
 00 52 00-3 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-520, C-525) 

6.03 Final Payment 

A. Upon final completion and acceptance of the Work in accordance with Paragraph 15.06 of the 
General Conditions, Owner shall pay the remainder of the Contract Price as recommended by 
Engineer as provided in said Paragraph 15.06. 

ARTICLE 7 – INTEREST 

 NOT USED 

ARTICLE 8 – CONTRACTOR’S REPRESENTATIONS 

8.01 In order to induce Owner to enter into this Contract, Contractor makes the following 
representations: 

A. Contractor has examined and carefully studied the Contract Documents and the other related 
data and reference items identified in the Bidding Documents. 

B. Contractor has visited the Site, conducted a thorough, alert visual examination of the Site and 
adjacent areas, and become familiar with and is satisfied as to the general, local, and Site 
conditions that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work. 

C. Contractor is familiar with and is satisfied as to all Laws and Regulations that may affect cost, 
progress, and performance of the Work. 

D. Contractor has carefully studied all: (1) reports of explorations and tests of subsurface 
conditions at or adjacent to the Site and all drawings of physical conditions relating to existing 
surface or subsurface structures at the Site (except Underground Facilities), if any, that have 
been identified in the Supplementary Conditions, especially with respect to Technical Data in 
such reports and drawings, and (2) reports and drawings relating to Hazardous Environmental 
Conditions, if any, at or adjacent to the Site that have been identified in the Supplementary 
Conditions, especially with respect to Technical Data in such reports and drawings. 

E. Contractor has considered the information known to Contractor itself; information commonly 
known to contractors doing business in the locality of the Site; information and observations 
obtained from visits to the Site; the Contract Documents; and the Site-related reports and 
drawings identified in the Contract Documents, with respect to the effect of such information, 
observations, and documents on (1) the cost, progress, and performance of the Work; (2) the 
means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction to be employed by 
Contractor; and (3) Contractor’s safety precautions and programs. 

F. Based on the information and observations referred to in the preceding paragraph, Contractor 
agrees that no further examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, or data are 
necessary for the performance of the Work at the Contract Price, within the Contract Times, 
and in accordance with the other terms and conditions of the Contract. 

G. Contractor is aware of the general nature of work to be performed by Owner and others at the 
Site that relates to the Work as indicated in the Contract Documents. 

H. Contractor has given Engineer written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or 
discrepancies that Contractor has discovered in the Contract Documents, and the written 
resolution thereof by Engineer is acceptable to Contractor. 



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Form of Agreement 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead 
Placement  
 00 52 00-4 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-520, C-525) 

I. The Contract Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey understanding of all 
terms and conditions for performance and furnishing of the Work. 

J. Contractor’s entry into this Contract constitutes an incontrovertible representation by 
Contractor that without exception all prices in the Agreement are premised upon performing 
and furnishing the Work required by the Contract Documents. 

ARTICLE 9 – CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

9.01 Contents 

A. The Contract Documents consist of the following: 

1. This Agreement (pages 1 to ___, inclusive). 

2. Performance bond (pages 1 to ___, inclusive). 

3. Payment bond (pages 1 to ___, inclusive). 

4. General Conditions (pages 1 to ___, inclusive). 

5. Supplementary Conditions (pages 1 to ___, inclusive). 

6. Specifications as listed in the table of contents of the Project Manual. 

7. Drawings (not attached but incorporated by reference) consisting of 10 sheets with each 
sheet bearing the following general title: Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead 
Placement  

8. Addenda (numbers ___ to ___, inclusive). 

9. Exhibits to this Agreement (enumerated as follows): 

a. Contractor’s Bid (pages ___ to ___, inclusive). 

b. Documentation submitted by Contractor prior to Notice of Award (pages ___ to      
___, inclusive).  

c. Project Temporary Construction Emergency Action Plan 

d. Project Quality Control Inspection Plan 

10. The following which may be delivered or issued on or after the Effective Date of the 
Contract and are not attached hereto: 

a. Notice to Proceed. 

b. Work Change Directives. 

c. Change Orders. 

d. Field Orders. 

B. The documents listed in Paragraph 9.01.A are attached to this Agreement (except as expressly 
noted otherwise above). 

C. There are no Contract Documents other than those listed above in this Article 9. 

D. The Contract Documents may only be amended, modified, or supplemented as provided in 
the General Conditions. 



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Form of Agreement 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead 
Placement  
 00 52 00-5 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-520, C-525) 

ARTICLE 10 – MISCELLANEOUS 

10.01 Terms 

A. Terms used in this Agreement will have the meanings stated in the General Conditions and the 
Supplementary Conditions. 

10.02 Assignment of Contract 

A. Unless expressly agreed to elsewhere in the Contract, no assignment by a party hereto of any 
rights under or interests in the Contract will be binding on another party hereto without the 
written consent of the party sought to be bound; and, specifically but without limitation, 
money that may become due and money that is due may not be assigned without such 
consent (except to the extent that the effect of this restriction may be limited by law), and 
unless specifically stated to the contrary in any written consent to an assignment, no 
assignment will release or discharge the assignor from any duty or responsibility under the 
Contract Documents. 

10.03 Successors and Assigns 

A. Owner and Contractor each binds itself, its successors, assigns, and legal representatives to 
the other party hereto, its successors, assigns, and legal representatives in respect to all 
covenants, agreements, and obligations contained in the Contract Documents. 

10.04 Severability 

A. Any provision or part of the Contract Documents held to be void or unenforceable under any 
Law or Regulation shall be deemed stricken, and all remaining provisions shall continue to be 
valid and binding upon Owner and Contractor, who agree that the Contract Documents shall 
be reformed to replace such stricken provision or part thereof with a valid and enforceable 
provision that comes as close as possible to expressing the intention of the stricken provision. 

10.05 Contractor’s Certifications 

A. Contractor certifies that it has not engaged in corrupt, fraudulent, collusive, or coercive 
practices in competing for or in executing the Contract.  For the purposes of this Paragraph 
10.05: 

1. “corrupt practice” means the offering, giving, receiving, or soliciting of anything of value 
likely to influence the action of a public official in the bidding process or in the Contract 
execution; 

2. “fraudulent practice” means an intentional misrepresentation of facts made (a) to 
influence the bidding process or the execution of the Contract to the detriment of Owner, 
(b) to establish Bid or Contract prices at artificial non-competitive levels, or (c) to deprive 
Owner of the benefits of free and open competition; 

3. “collusive practice” means a scheme or arrangement between two or more Bidders, with 
or without the knowledge of Owner, a purpose of which is to establish Bid prices at 
artificial, non-competitive levels; and 

4. “coercive practice” means harming or threatening to harm, directly or indirectly, persons 
or their property to influence their participation in the bidding process or affect the 
execution of the Contract. 



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Form of Agreement 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead 
Placement  
 00 52 00-6 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-520, C-525) 

10.06 Other Provisions 

A. Owner stipulates that if the General Conditions that are made a part of this Contract are based 
on EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions for the Construction Contract, published by 
the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee®, and if Owner is the party that has 
furnished said General Conditions, then Owner has plainly shown all modifications to the 
standard wording of such published document to the Contractor, through a process such as 
highlighting or “track changes” (redline/strikeout), or in the Supplementary Conditions. 

B. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Michigan. 

C. There are no other provisions. 

 



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Form of Agreement 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead 
Placement  
 00 52 00-7 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-520, C-525) 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Owner and Contractor have signed this Agreement.  

This Agreement will be effective on [__________] (which is the Effective Date of the Contract). 

 
OWNER:  CONTRACTOR: 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti   

By:   By:  

Title:   Title:  

  
(If Contractor is a corporation, a partnership, or a 
joint venture, attach evidence of authority to sign.)   

Attest:   Attest:  

Title:   Title:  

Address for giving notices:  Address for giving notices: 

7200 S. Huron River Drive    

Ypsilanti, MI 48197   

   

  License No.:  

   
(where applicable) 

(If Owner is a corporation, attach evidence of 
authority to sign. If Owner is a public body, attach 
evidence of authority to sign and resolution or 
other documents authorizing execution of this 
Agreement.) 

  

 



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Notice to Proceed 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead Placement  

00 55 00-1 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-550) 

 

 

NOTICE TO PROCEED 
Owner: Charter Township of Ypsilanti Owner's Contract No.:  

Contractor:  Contractor’s Project No.:  

Engineer: Barr Engineering Co. Engineer's Project No.: 22810058 

Project: Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and 
Bulkhead Placement 

Contract Name:   

  Effective Date of Contract:  

 
TO CONTRACTOR: 
 
Owner hereby notifies Contractor that the Contract Times under the above Contract will commence to run on 
___________________________, 20__.  On that date, Contractor shall start performing its obligations under the Contract 
Documents.  In accordance with the Agreement, number of days of Substantial Completion and Final Completion and 
ready for final payment are 120 and 30, respectively. 
 

Before starting any Work at the Site, including delivery or storage of equipment or materials, deliver to Owner, 
unless previously provided:  

1. Contract Security (Bonds) acceptable to Owner and conforming to the requirements of the Contract 
Documents. 

2. Certificated of Insurance acceptable to Owner and conforming to the requirements of the Contract 
Documents 

3. Schedule of Operations 
4. Schedule of Values 

Owner or Owner’s 
Representative:  

 Authorized Signature 
By: Michael Saranen 

Title: Hydro Operations Supervisor 

Date Issued:  
 

Contractor:  

 Authorized Signature 
By:  

Title:  

Date Issued:  



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Notice to Proceed 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead Placement  

00 55 00-2 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-550) 

 

 
 
Copy: Engineer 
 



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Performance Bond 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead 
Placement  
  00 61 13-1 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-610) 

PERFORMANCE BOND 

CONTRACTOR (name and address): 
 
 
 

SURETY (name and address of principal place of 
business): 
 
 
 

OWNER (name and address): Charter Township of Ypsilanti, 7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti, MI 48197 
 
 
CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT 

Effective Date of the Agreement: 
Amount: 
Description (name and location): Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead Placement Project in  
Ypsilanti, MI.  

BOND 
Bond Number: 
Date (not earlier than the Effective Date of the Agreement of the Construction Contract): 
Amount:   
Modifications to this Bond Form:   
 

 

Surety and Contractor, intending to be legally bound hereby, subject to the terms set forth below, do each cause 
this Performance Bond to be duly executed by an authorized officer, agent, or representative. 

CONTRACTOR AS PRINCIPAL  SURETY 

  (seal)    (seal) 
Contractor’s Name and Corporate Seal  Surety’s Name and Corporate Seal 
 
By:     By:   
       Signature   Signature (attach power of attorney) 
 
        
Print Name    Print Name 
 
        
Title    Title 
 
Attest:    Attest:    
 Signature   Signature  
 
        
Title    Title 

 None  See Paragraph 16 



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Performance Bond 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead 
Placement  
  00 61 13-2 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-610) 

 
Notes: (1) Provide supplemental execution by any additional parties, such as joint venturers. (2) Any 
singular reference to Contractor, Surety, Owner, or other party shall be considered plural where applicable. 
 



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Performance Bond 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead Placement  
  00 61 13-3 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-610) 

1.  The Contractor and Surety, jointly and severally, bind 
themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and 
assigns to the Owner for the performance of the Construction 
Contract, which is incorporated herein by reference. 

2.  If the Contractor performs the Construction Contract, the 
Surety and the Contractor shall have no obligation under this 
Bond, except when applicable to participate in a conference as 
provided in Paragraph 3. 

3.  If there is no Owner Default under the Construction Contract, 
the Surety’s obligation under this Bond shall arise after: 

3.1  The Owner first provides notice to the Contractor 
and the Surety that the Owner is considering declaring a 
Contractor Default. Such notice shall indicate whether the 
Owner is requesting a conference among the Owner, 
Contractor, and Surety to discuss the Contractor’s 
performance.  If the Owner does not request a conference, 
the Surety may, within five (5) business days after receipt of 
the Owner’s notice, request such a conference.  If the Surety 
timely requests a conference, the Owner shall attend.  Unless 
the Owner agrees otherwise, any conference requested 
under this Paragraph 3.1 shall be held within ten (10) 
business days of the Surety’s receipt of the Owner’s notice.  
If the Owner, the Contractor, and the Surety agree, the 
Contractor shall be allowed a reasonable time to perform the 
Construction Contract, but such an agreement shall not 
waive the Owner’s right, if any, subsequently to declare a 
Contractor Default;  

3.2  The Owner declares a Contractor Default, 
terminates the Construction Contract and notifies the Surety; 
and 

3.3  The Owner has agreed to pay the Balance of the 
Contract Price in accordance with the terms of the 
Construction Contract to the Surety or to a contractor 
selected to perform the Construction Contract. 

4.  Failure on the part of the Owner to comply with the notice 
requirement in Paragraph 3.1 shall not constitute a failure to 
comply with a condition precedent to the Surety’s obligations, or 
release the Surety from its obligations, except to the extent the 
Surety demonstrates actual prejudice. 

5.  When the Owner has satisfied the conditions of Paragraph 3, 
the Surety shall promptly and at the Surety’s expense take one of 
the following actions: 

5.1  Arrange for the Contractor, with the consent of the 
Owner, to perform and complete the Construction Contract; 

5.2  Undertake to perform and complete the 
Construction Contract itself, through its agents or 
independent contractors; 

5.3  Obtain bids or negotiated proposals from qualified 
contractors acceptable to the Owner for a contract for 
performance and completion of the Construction Contract, 
arrange for a contract to be prepared for execution by the 
Owner and a contractor selected with the Owners 
concurrence, to be secured with performance and payment 
bonds executed by a qualified surety equivalent to the bonds 
issued on the Construction Contract, and pay to the Owner 
the amount of damages as described in Paragraph 7 in 
excess of the Balance of the Contract Price incurred by the 
Owner as a result of the Contractor Default; or 

5.4  Waive its right to perform and complete, arrange 
for completion, or obtain a new contractor, and with 
reasonable promptness under the circumstances: 

5.4.1  After investigation, determine the amount for 
which it may be liable to the Owner and, as soon as 
practicable after the amount is determined, make 
payment to the Owner; or 

5.4.2  Deny liability in whole or in part and notify the 
Owner, citing the reasons for denial. 

6. If the Surety does not proceed as provided in Paragraph 5 
with reasonable promptness, the Surety shall be deemed to be in 
default on this Bond seven days after receipt of an additional 
written notice from the Owner to the Surety demanding that the 
Surety perform its obligations under this Bond, and the Owner 
shall be entitled to enforce any remedy available to the Owner.  If 
the Surety proceeds as provided in Paragraph 5.4, and the Owner 
refuses the payment or the Surety has denied liability, in whole or 
in part, without further notice the Owner shall be entitled to 
enforce any remedy available to the Owner. 

7. If the Surety elects to act under Paragraph 5.1, 5.2, or 5.3, 
then the responsibilities of the Surety to the Owner shall not be 
greater than those of the Contractor under the Construction 
Contract, and the responsibilities of the Owner to the Surety shall 
not be greater than those of the Owner under the Construction 
Contract.  Subject to the commitment by the Owner to pay the 
Balance of the Contract Price, the Surety is obligated, without 
duplication for: 

7.1  the responsibilities of the Contractor for correction 
of defective work and completion of the Construction 
Contract; 



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Performance Bond 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead Placement  
  00 61 13-4 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-610) 

7.2  additional legal, design professional, and delay 
costs resulting from the Contractor’s Default, and resulting 
from the actions or failure to act of the Surety under 
Paragraph 5; and 

7.3 liquidated damages, or if no liquidated damages 
are specified in the Construction Contract, actual damages 
caused by delayed performance or non-performance of the 
Contractor. 

8. If the Surety elects to act under Paragraph 5.1, 5.3, or 5.4, the 
Surety’s liability is limited to the amount of this Bond. 

9. The Surety shall not be liable to the Owner or others for 
obligations of the Contractor that are unrelated to the 
Construction Contract, and the Balance of the Contract Price shall 
not be reduced or set off on account of any such unrelated 
obligations.  No right of action shall accrue on this Bond to any 
person or entity other than the Owner or its heirs, executors, 
administrators, successors, and assigns. 

10. The Surety hereby waives notice of any change, including 
changes of time, to the Construction Contract or to related 
subcontracts, purchase orders, and other obligations.  

11. Any proceeding, legal or equitable, under this Bond may be 
instituted in any court of competent jurisdiction in the location in 
which the work or part of the work is located and shall be 
instituted within two years after a declaration of Contractor 
Default or within two years after the Contractor ceased working 
or within two years after the Surety refuses or fails to perform its 
obligations under this Bond, whichever occurs first.  If the 
provisions of this paragraph are void or prohibited by law, the 
minimum periods of limitations available to sureties as a defense 
in the jurisdiction of the suit shall be applicable. 

12. Notice to the Surety, the Owner, or the Contractor shall be 
mailed or delivered to the address shown on the page on which 
their signature appears. 

13. When this Bond has been furnished to comply with a 
statutory or other legal requirement in the location where the 
construction was to be performed, any provision in this Bond 
conflicting with said statutory or legal requirement shall be 
deemed deleted herefrom and provisions conforming to such 
statutory or other legal requirement shall be deemed 

incorporated herein.  When so furnished, the intent is that this 
Bond shall be construed as a statutory bond and not as a common 
law bond. 

14. Definitions 

14.1  Balance of the Contract Price: The total amount 
payable by the Owner to the Contractor under the 
Construction Contract after all proper adjustments have 
been made including allowance for the Contractor for any 
amounts received or to be received by the Owner in 
settlement of insurance or other claims for damages to which 
the Contractor is entitled, reduced by all valid and proper 
payments made to or on behalf of the Contractor under the 
Construction Contract. 

14.2  Construction Contract: The agreement between the 
Owner and Contractor identified on the cover page, 
including all Contract Documents and changes made to the 
agreement and the Contract Documents. 

14.3  Contractor Default: Failure of the Contractor, which 
has not been remedied or waived, to perform or otherwise 
to comply with a material term of the Construction Contract. 

14.4  Owner Default: Failure of the Owner, which has not 
been remedied or waived, to pay the Contractor as required 
under the Construction Contract or to perform and complete 
or comply with the other material terms of the Construction 
Contract. 

14.5  Contract Documents: All the documents that 
comprise the agreement between the Owner and Contractor. 

15. If this Bond is issued for an agreement between a contractor 
and subcontractor, the term Contractor in this Bond shall be 
deemed to be Subcontractor and the term Owner shall be 
deemed to be Contractor. 

16. Modifications to this Bond are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Payment Bond 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead 
Placement  
  00 61 14-1 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-615) 

PAYMENT BOND 

 

CONTRACTOR (name and address):  

 

 

 

SURETY (name and address of principal place of 
business): 

 

 

 

OWNER (name and address): Charter Township of Ypsilanti, 7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT 
Effective Date of the Agreement: 
Amount: 
Description (name and location): Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repair and Bulkhead Placement Project in Ypsilanti, 
MI.  
 

BOND 
Bond Number: 
Date (not earlier than the Effective Date of the Agreement of the Construction Contract): 
Amount: 
Modifications to this Bond Form:  
 

 
  

Surety and Contractor, intending to be legally bound hereby, subject to the terms set forth below, do each cause 
this Payment Bond to be duly executed by an authorized officer, agent, or representative. 

 

CONTRACTOR AS PRINCIPAL SURETY 

  (seal)    (seal) 
Contractor’s Name and Corporate Seal  Surety’s Name and Corporate Seal 
 
By:     By:           
 Signature  Signature (attach power of attorney) 
 
      
Print Name   Print Name 
  
      
Title   Title 

 None  See Paragraph 18 



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Payment Bond 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead 
Placement  
  00 61 14-2 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-615) 

 
Attest:     Attest:    
 Signature   Signature  
 
      
Title   Title 
 
Notes:  (1) Provide supplemental execution by any additional parties, such as joint venturers. (2) Any 
singular reference to Contractor, Surety, Owner, or other party shall be considered plural where applicable. 
 



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Payment Bond 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead 
Placement  
  00 61 14-3 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-615) 

1. The Contractor and Surety, jointly and severally, bind 
themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, 
successors, and assigns to the Owner to pay for labor, 
materials, and equipment furnished for use in the 
performance of the Construction Contract, which is 
incorporated herein by reference, subject to the 
following terms. 

2. If the Contractor promptly makes payment of all sums 
due to Claimants, and defends, indemnifies, and holds 
harmless the Owner from claims, demands, liens, or 
suits by any person or entity seeking payment for labor, 
materials, or equipment furnished for use in the 
performance of the Construction Contract, then the 
Surety and the Contractor shall have no obligation 
under this Bond. 

3.  If there is no Owner Default under the Construction 
Contract, the Surety’s obligation to the Owner under 
this Bond shall arise after the Owner has promptly 
notified the Contractor and the Surety (at the address 
described in Paragraph 13) of claims, demands, liens, 
or suits against the Owner or the Owner’s property by 
any person or entity seeking payment for labor, 
materials, or equipment furnished for use in the 
performance of the Construction Contract, and 
tendered defense of such claims, demands, liens, or 
suits to the Contractor and the Surety. 

4. When the Owner has satisfied the conditions in 
Paragraph 3, the Surety shall promptly and at the 
Surety’s expense defend, indemnify, and hold harmless 
the Owner against a duly tendered claim, demand, lien, 
or suit. 

5. The Surety’s obligations to a Claimant under this Bond 
shall arise after the following: 

5.1  Claimants who do not have a direct contract 
with the Contractor, 

 
5.1.1 have furnished a written notice of non-

payment to the Contractor, stating with 
substantial accuracy the amount 
claimed and the name of the party to 
whom the materials were, or equipment 
was, furnished or supplied or for whom 
the labor was done or performed, within 
ninety (90) days after having last 
performed labor or last furnished 
materials or equipment included in the 
Claim; and 

 
5.1.2 have sent a Claim to the Surety (at the 

address described in Paragraph 13). 

5.2  Claimants who are employed by or have a direct 
contract with the Contractor have sent a Claim 
to the Surety (at the address described in 
Paragraph 13). 

6. If a notice of non-payment required by Paragraph 5.1.1 
is given by the Owner to the Contractor, that is 
sufficient to satisfy a Claimant’s obligation to furnish a 
written notice of non-payment under Paragraph 5.1.1. 

7. When a Claimant has satisfied the conditions of 
Paragraph 5.1 or 5.2, whichever is applicable, the Surety 
shall promptly and at the Surety’s expense take the 
following actions: 

7.1 Send an answer to the Claimant, with a copy to 
the Owner, within sixty (60) days after receipt of 
the Claim, stating the amounts that are 
undisputed and the basis for challenging any 
amounts that are disputed; and 

7.2 Pay or arrange for payment of any undisputed 
amounts. 

7.3 The Surety’s failure to discharge its obligations 
under Paragraph 7.1 or 7.2 shall not be deemed 
to constitute a waiver of defenses the Surety or 
Contractor may have or acquire as to a Claim, 
except as to undisputed amounts for which the 
Surety and Claimant have reached agreement.  
If, however, the Surety fails to discharge its 
obligations under Paragraph 7.1 or 7.2, the 
Surety shall indemnify the Claimant for the 
reasonable attorney’s fees the Claimant incurs 
thereafter to recover any sums found to be due 
and owing to the Claimant. 

8. The Surety’s total obligation shall not exceed the 
amount of this Bond, plus the amount of reasonable 
attorney’s fees provided under Paragraph 7.3, and the 
amount of this Bond shall be credited for any payments 
made in good faith by the Surety. 

9.  Amounts owed by the Owner to the Contractor under 
the Construction Contract shall be used for the 
performance of the Construction Contract and to 
satisfy claims, if any, under any construction 
performance bond.  By the Contractor furnishing and 



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Payment Bond 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead 
Placement  
  00 61 14-4 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-615) 

the Owner accepting this Bond, they agree that all 
funds earned by the Contractor in the performance of 
the Construction Contract are dedicated to satisfy 
obligations of the Contractor and Surety under this 
Bond, subject to the Owner’s priority to use the funds 
for the completion of the work. 

10. The Surety shall not be liable to the Owner, Claimants, 
or others for obligations of the Contractor that are 
unrelated to the Construction Contract.  The Owner 
shall not be liable for the payment of any costs or 
expenses of any Claimant under this Bond, and shall 
have under this Bond no obligation to make payments 
to or give notice on behalf of Claimants, or otherwise 
have any obligations to Claimants under this Bond. 

11. The Surety hereby waives notice of any change, 
including changes of time, to the Construction Contract 
or to related subcontracts, purchase orders, and other 
obligations. 

12. No suit or action shall be commenced by a Claimant 
under this Bond other than in a court of competent 
jurisdiction in the state in which the project that is the 
subject of the Construction Contract is located or after 
the expiration of one year from the date (1) on which 
the Claimant sent a Claim to the Surety pursuant to 
Paragraph 5.1.2 or 5.2, or (2) on which the last labor or 
service was performed by anyone or the last materials 
or equipment were furnished by anyone under the 
Construction Contract, whichever of (1) or (2) first 
occurs.  If the provisions of this paragraph are void or 
prohibited by law, the minimum period of limitation 
available to sureties as a defense in the jurisdiction of 
the suit shall be applicable. 

13. Notice and Claims to the Surety, the Owner, or the 
Contractor shall be mailed or delivered to the address 
shown on the page on which their signature appears.  
Actual receipt of notice or Claims, however 
accomplished, shall be sufficient compliance as of the 
date received. 

14. When this Bond has been furnished to comply with a 
statutory or other legal requirement in the location 
where the construction was to be performed, any 
provision in this Bond conflicting with said statutory or 
legal requirement shall be deemed deleted herefrom 
and provisions conforming to such statutory or other 
legal requirement shall be deemed incorporated 
herein.  When so furnished, the intent is that this Bond 

shall be construed as a statutory bond and not as a 
common law bond. 

15. Upon requests by any person or entity appearing to be 
a potential beneficiary of this Bond, the Contractor and 
Owner shall promptly furnish a copy of this Bond or 
shall permit a copy to be made. 

16. Definitions 

16.1  Claim: A written statement by the Claimant 
including at a minimum: 

1.  The name of the Claimant; 
2.  The name of the person for whom the labor 

was done, or materials or equipment 
furnished;  

3. A copy of the agreement or purchase order 
pursuant to which labor, materials, or 
equipment was furnished for use in the 
performance of the Construction Contract; 

4.  A brief description of the labor, materials, 
or equipment furnished; 

5.  The date on which the Claimant last 
performed labor or last furnished materials 
or equipment for use in the performance of 
the Construction Contract; 

6. The total amount earned by the Claimant 
for labor, materials, or equipment furnished 
as of the date of the Claim; 

7. The total amount of previous payments 
received by the Claimant; and 

8. The total amount due and unpaid to the 
Claimant for labor, materials, or equipment 
furnished as of the date of the Claim. 

16.2  Claimant: An individual or entity having a direct 
contract with the Contractor or with a 
subcontractor of the Contractor to furnish labor, 
materials, or equipment for use in the 
performance of the Construction Contract. The 
term Claimant also includes any individual or 
entity that has rightfully asserted a claim under 
an applicable mechanic’s lien or similar statute 
against the real property upon which the Project 
is located. The intent of this Bond shall be to 
include without limitation in the terms of “labor, 
materials, or equipment” that part of the water, 
gas, power, light, heat, oil, gasoline, telephone 
service, or rental equipment used in the 
Construction Contract, architectural and 
engineering services required for performance 



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Payment Bond 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead 
Placement  
  00 61 14-5 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-615) 

of the work of the Contractor and the 
Contractor’s subcontractors, and all other items 
for which a mechanic’s lien may be asserted in 
the jurisdiction where the labor, materials, or 
equipment were furnished. 

16.3  Construction Contract: The agreement 
between the Owner and Contractor identified 
on the cover page, including all Contract 
Documents and all changes made to the 
agreement and the Contract Documents. 

16.4  Owner Default: Failure of the Owner, which has 
not been remedied or waived, to pay the 
Contractor as required under the Construction 
Contract or to perform and complete or comply 
with the other material terms of the 
Construction Contract. 

16.5  Contract Documents: All the documents that 
comprise the agreement between the Owner 
and Contractor. 

17.  If this Bond is issued for an agreement between a 
contractor and subcontractor, the term Contractor in 
this Bond shall be deemed to be Subcontractor and the 
term Owner shall be deemed to be Contractor. 

18. Modifications to this Bond are as follows: 



 

 

 
 

License Agreement 
 
Before you use this EJCDC document: 
 
1. Read this License Agreement in its entirety. As 

purchaser, you agree to comply with and are bound by 
the License Agreement’s terms, conditions, and 
instructions when you use the attached EJCDC document. 
Commencement of use of the attached document 
indicates your acceptance of these terms, conditions, 
and instructions. If you do not agree to them, you should 
promptly return the materials to the vendor.  
 

2. This License Agreement applies to the attached 
document only. Other licensing terms and instructions 
may apply to other EJCDC documents. 
 

3. The Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee 
("EJCDC") provides EJCDC Design and Construction 
Related Documents (including but not limited to the 
EJCDC document that is attached, and all other 
documents in the EJCDC Construction Series, 
Engineering Series, Design-Build Series, Remediation 
Series, Procurement Series, and Narrative Series) and 
licenses their use worldwide. You assume sole 
responsibility for the selection of specific documents or 
portions thereof to achieve your intended results, and for 
the installation, use, and results obtained from EJCDC 
Design and Construction Related Documents. 
 

4. You acknowledge that you understand that the text of 
the EJCDC Design and Construction Related Documents 
has important legal consequences and that consultation 
with an attorney is recommended with respect to use or 
modification of the text. You further acknowledge that 
EJCDC documents are protected by the copyright laws of 
the United States. 

 
5. Make sure that you have the correct word processing 

software for the attached EJCDC document, which is 
distributed in Microsoft Word (.doc) format.  
 

6. EJCDC allows the end user wide discretion in using and 
editing the attached document, subject to the provisions 
of the License Agreement.  You are advised, however, 
that EJCDC documents contain numeric and other cross-
references, and that changes to one part of the document 
may affect other parts.  It is solely your responsibility to 
assure the adequacy and consistency of the final 
document for your purposes.  

 
How to Use This Document: 
 

1. Although EJCDC has made reasonable efforts to achieve 
uniformity of formatting, some document controls (e.g., 
bold, underline, font size, indentation, numbering, 
pagination, table of contents) may be affected by 
software versioning and translators, user settings, 
changes during editing, and other factors, and may 
require user intervention to restore intended format and 
appearance.   

 
2.  The term “Standard EJCDC Text” for the attached 

document generally refers to all text prepared by EJCDC 
in the main body of the document, and does not include 
covers, logos, footers, instructions, license agreement, 
copyright notices, Notes to Users, or text options. The 
content of document exhibits (if any) is not Standard 
EJCDC Text for this purpose. 
 

2. If you do not alter the Standard EJCDC Text of the 
attached document, you may use it as published, with all 
EJCDC logos, footers, and copyright notices retained.  
 

3. If you modify the Standard EJCDC Text of the attached 
document, you must follow the following instructions 
that address if, when, and how to show the changes to 
other parties.  
 

4. During the drafting or negotiating process for the 
document, it is important that the two contracting parties 
are both aware of any changes that have been made to 
the Standard EJCDC Text. Thus if a draft of the document 
purports to be or appears to be an EJCDC document, the 
user must plainly show all changes to the Standard EJCDC 
Text, using “Track Changes” (redline/strikeout), 
highlighting, or other means of clearly indicating 
additions and deletions.  
 

5. As between contracting parties, once the document is 
ready to be finalized (and if applicable executed by the 
contracting parties), it is no longer necessary to continue 
to show changes to the Standard EJCDC Text. The parties 
may produce a final version of the document in a format 
in which all changes are accepted, and the document at 
that point does not need to include any “Track Changes,” 
redline/strikeout, highlighting, or other indication of 
additions and deletions to the Standard EJCDC Text. 
 

6. If the attached document is revised or altered and then 
presented to others (such as potential bidders, grant 
agencies, lenders, or sureties) as an EJCDC document, 
then the changes to the Standard EJCDC Text must be 
shown, or the third parties must receive access to a 



 

 

version that shows the changes.  
 

7. The attached EJCDC document may contain “Notes to 
User,” bracketed comments, or prompts that provide 
instructions for filling in project-specific information, 
selecting the appropriate clause from a list of options, or 
making additions or deletions, or that give background 
information regarding a particular provision. The user 
may (and in most cases should) delete these notes, 
comments, and prompts during the drafting process. 
Deletion of such notes, comments, and prompts is not 
subject to the License Agreement requirement that 
additions or deletions to Standard EJCDC Text be shown 
clearly, and therefore does not need to be shown with 
“Track Changes,” redline/strikeout, highlighting, or other 
means of indicating changes, at any point in the drafting 
process. 
 

8. The attached EJCDC document may contain exhibits that 
are to be used to set out project-specific provisions, such 
as scope of services, compensation, and insurance 
requirements. These exhibits are meant to be revised, 
supplemented, and altered by the user, or discarded if 
not applicable to the specific project. The text of the 
various exhibits is not considered Standard EJCDC Text 
and is not subject to the License Agreement requirement 
that additions or deletions to the Standard EJCDC Text be 
shown clearly, and therefore does not need to be shown 
with “Track Changes,” redline/strikeout, highlighting, or 
other means of indicating changes, at any point in the 
drafting process. 
 

9. In a few instances the EJCDC Notes to User will instruct 
the user of a document to choose one of two or more 
text options in the main body of the document. In such 
cases the options that are not selected should be 
discarded or deleted, and not included in the final version 
of the document. Such discarding or deletion of text 
options is not subject to the License Agreement 
requirement that additions or deletions to Standard 
EJCDC Text be shown clearly, and therefore does not 
need to be shown with highlighting, redline/strikeout, or 
other means of tracking changes, at any point in the 
drafting process. Note, however, that the text that is 
selected (which in this scenario is in the main body of the 
document and not in an exhibit) is Standard EJCDC Text, 
and any revision or alteration of the text that is selected 
is subject to the License Agreement requirement that 
additions or deletions to Standard EJCDC Text be shown 
clearly. 
 

10. The License Agreement typically is removed when a 
document is being prepared for use on a specific project. 
Such removal is not subject to the License Agreement 
requirement that additions or deletions to Standard 
EJCDC Text be shown clearly, and therefore does not 
need to be shown with highlighting, redline/strikeout, or 
other means of tracking changes, at any point in the 
drafting process.  The terms of the License Agreement 
remain in effect regardless of whether it has been 
removed or remains attached to the document. 
 

11. When a document is being prepared for use on a specific 
project, some users remove the EJCDC front cover page, 
and the “inside front cover page” containing specific 
information regarding the EJCDC sponsoring 
organizations. Such removal is not subject to the License 
Agreement requirement that additions or deletions to 
Standard EJCDC Text be shown clearly, and therefore 
does not need to be shown with highlighting, 
redline/strikeout, or other means of tracking changes, at 
any point in the drafting process.   
 

12. As purchaser of the attached document, you may choose 
to use it as the basis or platform for creating purchaser’s 
own custom version. In such case you must remove all 
EJCDC logos, footers, and other items that might create 
the false impression that the document remains an EJCDC 
standard document, and the requirements regarding the 
need to show additions and deletions to the Standard 
EJCDC Text no longer apply. Note, however, that the 
copyright requirements of the License Agreement 
continue to apply. 
 

13. A purchaser may choose to select clauses or sections of 
the attached document for inclusion in other non-EJCDC 
documents. When this occurs, do not use any EJCDC 
logos, footers, or other items that would imply that the 
receiving document is an EJCDC document. Note, 
however, that the copyright requirements of the License 
Agreement continue to apply. 

 
Limited License: 
 
As purchaser, you have a limited nonexclusive license to: 
 
1. Use the attached EJCDC document on any number of 

machines owned, leased, or rented by your company or 
organization. 

 
2. Use the attached EJCDC document for bona fide 

contractual and project purposes.  Such purposes 
expressly include controlled distribution to bona fide 
bidders and proposers, either through direct transmittal 
in printed or electronic format or posting on a website or 
other electronic distribution point to which access is 
limited to bona fide bidders and proposers or others 
having direct interest in the contract or project.  
 

3. Copy the attached EJCDC document into any machine-
readable or printed form for backup or modification 
purposes in support of your use of the document. 

 
You further agree:  
 
1. To comply with all terms, conditions, and instructions in 

this License Agreement. 
 

2. That all proprietary and intellectual property rights in the 
attached EJCDC document and all other EJCDC Design 
and Construction Related Documents are and shall 
remain the property of EJCDC and its sponsoring 
organizations.  
 



 

 

3. To include the appropriate EJCDC copyright notice 
(selected from the versions below) on any copy, modified 
or finalized version, or portion of the attached EJCDC 
document. For this document, at a minimum one of the 
following EJCDC copyright notices must appear in a 
prominent location:  
 

If the standard EJCDC text is not altered, then use 
the copyright that is already stated in the published 
document:  

 
 Copyright © [EJCDC document date] National 

Society of Professional Engineers, American 
Council of Engineering Companies, and 
American Society of Civil Engineers. All rights 
reserved. 

 
If the standard EJCDC text has been altered, or if only 
portions of the EJCDC document have been used, then 
use the following copyright notice:  

 
 This document is a MODIFIED version of EJCDC

®
 

Z-xxx, Copyright © 20xx by the National Society 
of Professional Engineers, American Council of 
Engineering Companies, and American Society 
of Civil Engineers, or is based in part on excerpts 
from copyrighted EJCDC documents. Those 
portions of the text that originated in 
copyrighted EJCDC documents remain subject to 
the copyright. 

 
4. To not use, copy, modify, or transfer the attached EJCDC 

document or any other EJCDC Design and Construction 
Related Documents, or any copy, modification or merged 
portion, in whole or in part, except as expressly provided 
for in this license. Reproduction of the attached EJCDC 
document, or any other EJCDC Design and Construction 
Related Document, in printed or machine-readable 
format for resale, and any resale of this document in any 
format, are expressly prohibited. Making the attached 
EJCDC document or any other EJCDC Design and 
Construction Related Document, in whole or in part, 
available or accessible on an uncontrolled, public-access 
website or other uncontrolled electronic distribution 
point—in any format whatever, whether with or 
without watermarks, as a Microsoft Word document or 
in portable document format (PDF)—is expressly 
prohibited. 

 
5. As an EJCDC limited licensee you may seek advance 

written permission from the EJCDC Copyright 
Administrator to use the attached EJCDC document for 
educational purposes, subject to terms and conditions to 
be established by the Copyright Administrator for the 
specific educational use.  

 
Term: 
 
This license is effective for three years after date of purchase, 
or six years after the last day of the year of issuance for the 
attached document (shown in the copyright notice), 
whichever occurs later, and shall terminate at that time, 
unless earlier terminated as provided herein, or unless EJCDC 

extends the term of this license to you, in writing, or publishes 
on the ejcdc.org website or the websites of the National 
Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of 
Engineering Companies, and American Society of Civil 
Engineers, an applicable extension of the term of license for a 
certain period of time for bona fide contractual and project or 
other authorized uses.  You agree upon termination to destroy 
the attached EJCDC Design and Construction Related 
Document along with all copies, modifications and merged 
portions in any form (except those copies already in actual 
project or contract use, or maintained in files or records of 
completed projects). 
 
EJCDC reserves the right during the term of this agreement to 
provide access to the purchased document through 
alternative means, based on improvements or changes in 
technology, or to transition the document to secure 
document platforms or other formats, while maintaining 
user’s access privileges. 
 
EJCDC from time to time publishes new, updated editions of 
the EJCDC Design and Construction Related Documents. 
EJCDC highly recommends the use of the most current editions 
of its documents.  EJCDC may, at its sole discretion, withdraw 
from authorized use any document that has been 
subsequently updated and for which the license has expired.   
 
You may terminate the license at any time by destroying the 
attached EJCDC document together with all copies, 
modifications and merged portions in any form (except those 
copies already in actual project or contract use, or maintained 
in files or records of completed projects). It will also terminate 
upon conditions set forth elsewhere in this License Agreement 
or if you fail to comply with any term or condition of this 
License Agreement.  
 
Limited Warranty: 
 
If EJCDC has distributed this document on a compact disc, then 
EJCDC warrants the CD on which this document is furnished to 
be free from physical defects in materials and workmanship 
under normal use for a period of ninety (90) days from the 
date of delivery to you as evidenced by a copy of your receipt.   
 
There is no other warranty of any kind, either express or 
implied, including, but not limited to the implied warranties 
of merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose. Some 
states do not allow the exclusion of implied warranties, so 
the above exclusion may not apply to you. You may also have 
other rights which vary from state to state. 
 
EJCDC does not warrant that the functions contained in EJCDC 
Design and Construction Related Documents will meet your 
requirements or that the operation of EJCDC Design and 
Construction Related Documents will be uninterrupted or 
error free. 
 
Limitations of Remedies: 
 
EJCDC’s entire liability and your exclusive remedy shall be:  
 
1. the replacement of the CD (if any) distributed by EJCDC, 

containing this document, provided such CD does not 



 

 

meet EJCDC's "Limited Warranty" and is returned to 
EJCDC’s selling agent with a copy of your receipt, or 

 
2. if EJCDC’s selling agent is unable to deliver a replacement 

CD which is free of defects in materials and workmanship, 
you may terminate this Agreement by returning EJCDC 
Document and your money will be refunded. 

 
As purchaser, you assume full responsibility for determining 
the suitability of this document to your purposes, and for the 
application and use of this document for contract or project 
purposes. To the fullest extent permitted by law, in no event 
will EJCDC, its sponsoring organizations, its committee 
members, attorneys, consultants, authorized vendors, or 
advisors, or their respective staff members, employees, 
agents, or contractors, be liable to you or any other party for 
any damages, including any lost profits, lost savings, 
contractual liabilities, disappointed commercial expectations, 
economic loss, or other direct, incidental, or consequential 
damages arising out of the content, unenforceability, 
insufficiency, inadequacy, use or inability to use the attached 
EJCDC document or any other EJCDC Design and Construction 
Related Documents, even if EJCDC has been advised of the 
possibility of such damages, or for any claim by any other 
party.   
 
Some states do not allow the limitation or exclusion of liability 
for incidental or consequential damages, so portions of the 
above limitation or exclusion may not apply to you. 
 
General: 
 
You may not sublicense, assign, or transfer this license except 
as expressly provided in this License Agreement. Any attempt 
otherwise to sublicense, assign, or transfer any of the rights, 
duties, or obligations hereunder is void. If you transfer or 
purport to transfer such rights, duties, or obligations to 
another party, your license is automatically terminated. 
 
This License Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the 
State of Virginia. If you have any questions concerning this 
License Agreement, or any requests or inquiries regarding the 
EJCDC copyright, you may contact EJCDC by writing to: 
   
 EJCDC Copyright Administrator 

c/o National Society of Professional Engineers 
 1420 King Street 
 Alexandria, VA 22314 
 Phone: (703) 684-2845 
 Fax:   (703) 836-4875 
 e-mail: aschwartz@nspe.org  
 
You acknowledge that you have read this License Agreement, 
understand it and agree to be bound by its terms and 
conditions. You further agree that it is the complete and 
exclusive statement of the License Agreement and supersedes 
any proposal or prior agreement, oral or written, and any 
other communications between us relating to the subject 
matter of this License Agreement. 

 
Information regarding the content of the attached EJCDC 
document and other EJCDC Design and Construction Related 
Documents may be obtained at ejcdc.org or from the 
following EJCDC sponsoring organizations:  
 

National Society of Professional Engineers 
1420 King Street, Alexandria, VA  22314-2794 

(703) 684-2882 
www.nspe.org 

 
American Council of Engineering Companies 

1015 15th Street N.W., Washington, D.C.  20005 
(202) 347-7474 
www.acec.org 

 
American Society of Civil Engineers 

1801 Alexander Bell Drive, Reston, VA  20191-4400 
(800) 548-2723 
www.asce.org 

mailto:aschwartz@nspe.org
http://www.nspe.org/
http://www.acec.org/
http://www.asce.org/


 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved. 

This document has important legal consequences; consultation with an attorney is encouraged with 
respect to its use or modification.  This document should be adapted to the particular circumstances of 
the contemplated Project and the controlling Laws and Regulations. 

 

STANDARD GENERAL CONDITIONS 
OF THE CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved. 

These General Conditions have been prepared for use with the Agreement Between Owner and 
Contractor for Construction Contract (EJCDC® C-520, Stipulated Sum, or C-525, Cost-Plus, 2013 Editions). 
Their provisions are interrelated and a change in one may necessitate a change in the other. 

To prepare supplementary conditions that are coordinated with the General Conditions, use EJCDC’s 
Guide to the Preparation of Supplementary Conditions (EJCDC® C-800, 2013 Edition). The full EJCDC 
Construction series of documents is discussed in the Commentary on the 2013 EJCDC Construction 
Documents (EJCDC® C-001, 2013 Edition). 

 

 

Copyright © 2013: 

 

National Society of Professional Engineers 

1420 King Street, Alexandria, VA 22314-2794 

(703) 684-2882 

www.nspe.org 

 

American Council of Engineering Companies 

1015 15th Street N.W., Washington, DC 20005 

(202) 347-7474 

www.acec.org 

 

American Society of Civil Engineers 

1801 Alexander Bell Drive, Reston, VA 20191-4400 

(800) 548-2723 

www.asce.org 

 

 

 

The copyright for this document is owned jointly by the three sponsoring organizations listed above.  
The National Society of Professional Engineers is the Copyright Administrator for the EJCDC documents; 
please direct all inquiries regarding EJCDC copyrights to NSPE. 

 

NOTE: EJCDC publications may be purchased at www.ejcdc.org, or from any of the sponsoring 
organizations above. 

http://www.nspe.org/
http://www.acec.org/
http://www.asce.org/
http://www.ejcdc.org/


 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.     Page i 

 

STANDARD GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE 
CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 
Article 1 – Definitions and Terminology ......................................................................................... 1 

1.01 Defined Terms ........................................................................................................................ 1 

1.02 Terminology ........................................................................................................................... 5 

Article 2 – Preliminary Matters ....................................................................................................... 6 

2.01 Delivery of Bonds and Evidence of Insurance ........................................................................ 6 

2.02 Copies of Documents ............................................................................................................. 6 

2.03 Before Starting Construction ................................................................................................. 6 

2.04 Preconstruction Conference; Designation of Authorized Representatives ........................... 7 

2.05 Initial Acceptance of Schedules ............................................................................................. 7 

2.06 Electronic Transmittals ........................................................................................................... 7 

Article 3 – Documents: Intent, Requirements, Reuse .................................................................... 8 

3.01 Intent ...................................................................................................................................... 8 

3.02 Reference Standards .............................................................................................................. 8 

3.03 Reporting and Resolving Discrepancies ................................................................................. 8 

3.04 Requirements of the Contract Documents ............................................................................ 9 

3.05 Reuse of Documents ............................................................................................................ 10 

Article 4 – Commencement and Progress of the Work ................................................................ 10 

4.01 Commencement of Contract Times; Notice to Proceed ...................................................... 10 

4.02 Starting the Work ................................................................................................................. 10 

4.03 Reference Points .................................................................................................................. 10 

4.04 Progress Schedule ................................................................................................................ 10 

4.05 Delays in Contractor’s Progress ........................................................................................... 11 

Article 5 – Availability of Lands; Subsurface and Physical Conditions; Hazardous Environmental 
Conditions ..................................................................................................................................... 12 

5.01 Availability of Lands ............................................................................................................. 12 

5.02 Use of Site and Other Areas ................................................................................................. 12 

5.03 Subsurface and Physical Conditions ..................................................................................... 13 

5.04 Differing Subsurface or Physical Conditions ........................................................................ 14 

5.05 Underground Facilities ......................................................................................................... 15 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.     Page ii 

 

5.06 Hazardous Environmental Conditions at Site ...................................................................... 17 

Article 6 – Bonds and Insurance ................................................................................................... 19 

6.01 Performance, Payment, and Other Bonds ........................................................................... 19 

6.02 Insurance—General Provisions ............................................................................................ 19 

6.03 Contractor’s Insurance ......................................................................................................... 20 

6.04 Owner’s Liability Insurance .................................................................................................. 23 

6.05 Property Insurance ............................................................................................................... 23 

6.06 Waiver of Rights ................................................................................................................... 25 

6.07 Receipt and Application of Property Insurance Proceeds ................................................... 25 

Article 7 – Contractor’s Responsibilities ....................................................................................... 26 

7.01 Supervision and Superintendence ....................................................................................... 26 

7.02 Labor; Working Hours .......................................................................................................... 26 

7.03 Services, Materials, and Equipment ..................................................................................... 26 

7.04 “Or Equals” ........................................................................................................................... 27 

7.05 Substitutes ........................................................................................................................... 28 

7.06 Concerning Subcontractors, Suppliers, and Others ............................................................. 29 

7.07 Patent Fees and Royalties .................................................................................................... 31 

7.08 Permits ................................................................................................................................. 31 

7.09 Taxes .................................................................................................................................... 32 

7.10 Laws and Regulations ........................................................................................................... 32 

7.11 Record Documents ............................................................................................................... 32 

7.12 Safety and Protection ........................................................................................................... 32 

7.13 Safety Representative .......................................................................................................... 33 

7.14 Hazard Communication Programs ....................................................................................... 33 

7.15 Emergencies ......................................................................................................................... 34 

7.16 Shop Drawings, Samples, and Other Submittals .................................................................. 34 

7.17 Contractor’s General Warranty and Guarantee................................................................... 36 

7.18 Indemnification .................................................................................................................... 37 

7.19 Delegation of Professional Design Services ......................................................................... 37 

Article 8 – Other Work at the Site ................................................................................................ 38 

8.01 Other Work .......................................................................................................................... 38 

8.02 Coordination ........................................................................................................................ 39 

8.03 Legal Relationships ............................................................................................................... 39 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.     Page iii 

 

Article 9 – Owner’s Responsibilities .............................................................................................. 40 

9.01 Communications to Contractor ............................................................................................ 40 

9.02 Replacement of Engineer ..................................................................................................... 40 

9.03 Furnish Data ......................................................................................................................... 40 

9.04 Pay When Due ...................................................................................................................... 40 

9.05 Lands and Easements; Reports, Tests, and Drawings .......................................................... 40 

9.06 Insurance .............................................................................................................................. 40 

9.07 Change Orders ...................................................................................................................... 40 

9.08 Inspections, Tests, and Approvals ........................................................................................ 41 

9.09 Limitations on Owner’s Responsibilities .............................................................................. 41 

9.10 Undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition ............................................................... 41 

9.11 Evidence of Financial Arrangements .................................................................................... 41 

9.12 Safety Programs ................................................................................................................... 41 

Article 10 – Engineer’s Status During Construction ...................................................................... 41 

10.01 Owner’s Representative ....................................................................................................... 41 

10.02 Visits to Site .......................................................................................................................... 41 

10.03 Project Representative ......................................................................................................... 42 

10.04 Rejecting Defective Work ..................................................................................................... 42 

10.05 Shop Drawings, Change Orders and Payments .................................................................... 42 

10.06 Determinations for Unit Price Work .................................................................................... 42 

10.07 Decisions on Requirements of Contract Documents and Acceptability of Work ................ 42 

10.08 Limitations on Engineer’s Authority and Responsibilities .................................................... 42 

10.09 Compliance with Safety Program ......................................................................................... 43 

Article 11 – Amending the Contract Documents; Changes in the Work ...................................... 43 

11.01 Amending and Supplementing Contract Documents .......................................................... 43 

11.02 Owner-Authorized Changes in the Work ............................................................................. 44 

11.03 Unauthorized Changes in the Work ..................................................................................... 44 

11.04 Change of Contract Price ..................................................................................................... 44 

11.05 Change of Contract Times .................................................................................................... 45 

11.06 Change Proposals ................................................................................................................. 45 

11.07 Execution of Change Orders ................................................................................................. 46 

11.08 Notification to Surety ........................................................................................................... 47 

Article 12 – Claims ......................................................................................................................... 47 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.     Page iv 

 

12.01 Claims ................................................................................................................................... 47 

Article 13 – Cost of the Work; Allowances; Unit Price Work ........................................................ 48 

13.01 Cost of the Work .................................................................................................................. 48 

13.02 Allowances ........................................................................................................................... 50 

13.03 Unit Price Work .................................................................................................................... 51 

Article 14 – Tests and Inspections; Correction, Removal or Acceptance of Defective Work ....... 52 

14.01 Access to Work ..................................................................................................................... 52 

14.02 Tests, Inspections, and Approvals ........................................................................................ 52 

14.03 Defective Work..................................................................................................................... 53 

14.04 Acceptance of Defective Work ............................................................................................. 53 

14.05 Uncovering Work ................................................................................................................. 53 

14.06 Owner May Stop the Work .................................................................................................. 54 

14.07 Owner May Correct Defective Work .................................................................................... 54 

Article 15 – Payments to Contractor; Set-Offs; Completion; Correction Period .......................... 55 

15.01 Progress Payments ............................................................................................................... 55 

15.02 Contractor’s Warranty of Title ............................................................................................. 58 

15.03 Substantial Completion ........................................................................................................ 58 

15.04 Partial Use or Occupancy ..................................................................................................... 59 

15.05 Final Inspection .................................................................................................................... 59 

15.06 Final Payment ....................................................................................................................... 59 

15.07 Waiver of Claims .................................................................................................................. 61 

15.08 Correction Period ................................................................................................................. 61 

Article 16 – Suspension of Work and Termination ....................................................................... 62 

16.01 Owner May Suspend Work .................................................................................................. 62 

16.02 Owner May Terminate for Cause ......................................................................................... 62 

16.03 Owner May Terminate For Convenience ............................................................................. 63 

16.04 Contractor May Stop Work or Terminate ............................................................................ 63 

Article 17 – Final Resolution of Disputes ...................................................................................... 64 

17.01 Methods and Procedures ..................................................................................................... 64 

Article 18 – Miscellaneous ............................................................................................................ 64 

18.01 Giving Notice ........................................................................................................................ 64 

18.02 Computation of Times .......................................................................................................... 64 

18.03 Cumulative Remedies .......................................................................................................... 64 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.     Page v 

 

18.04 Limitation of Damages ......................................................................................................... 65 

18.05 No Waiver ............................................................................................................................ 65 

18.06 Survival of Obligations ......................................................................................................... 65 

18.07 Controlling Law .................................................................................................................... 65 

18.08 Headings ............................................................................................................................... 65 

 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 1 of 65 

ARTICLE 1 – DEFINITIONS AND TERMINOLOGY 

1.01 Defined Terms 

A. Wherever used in the Bidding Requirements or Contract Documents, a term printed with 
initial capital letters, including the term’s singular and plural forms, will have the meaning 
indicated in the definitions below. In addition to terms specifically defined, terms with 
initial capital letters in the Contract Documents include references to identified articles and 
paragraphs, and the titles of other documents or forms. 

1. Addenda—Written or graphic instruments issued prior to the opening of Bids which 
clarify, correct, or change the Bidding Requirements or the proposed Contract 
Documents. 

2. Agreement—The written instrument, executed by Owner and Contractor, that sets 
forth the Contract Price and Contract Times, identifies the parties and the Engineer, 
and designates the specific items that are Contract Documents. 

3. Application for Payment—The form acceptable to Engineer which is to be used by 
Contractor during the course of the Work in requesting progress or final payments and 
which is to be accompanied by such supporting documentation as is required by the 
Contract Documents. 

4. Bid—The offer of a Bidder submitted on the prescribed form setting forth the prices 
for the Work to be performed. 

5. Bidder—An individual or entity that submits a Bid to Owner. 

6. Bidding Documents—The Bidding Requirements, the proposed Contract Documents, 
and all Addenda. 

7. Bidding Requirements—The advertisement or invitation to bid, Instructions to Bidders, 
Bid Bond or other Bid security, if any, the Bid Form, and the Bid with any attachments. 

8. Change Order—A document which is signed by Contractor and Owner and authorizes 
an addition, deletion, or revision in the Work or an adjustment in the Contract Price or 
the Contract Times, or other revision to the Contract, issued on or after the Effective 
Date of the Contract. 

9. Change Proposal—A written request by Contractor, duly submitted in compliance with 
the procedural requirements set forth herein, seeking an adjustment in Contract Price 
or Contract Times, or both; contesting an initial decision by Engineer concerning the 
requirements of the Contract Documents or the acceptability of Work under the 
Contract Documents; challenging a set-off against payments due; or seeking other 
relief with respect to the terms of the Contract. 

10. Claim—(a) A demand or assertion by Owner directly to Contractor, duly submitted in 
compliance with the procedural requirements set forth herein: seeking an adjustment 
of Contract Price or Contract Times, or both; contesting an initial decision by Engineer 
concerning the requirements of the Contract Documents or the acceptability of Work 
under the Contract Documents; contesting Engineer’s decision regarding a Change 
Proposal; seeking resolution of a contractual issue that Engineer has declined to 
address; or seeking other relief with respect to the terms of the Contract; or (b) a 
demand or assertion by Contractor directly to Owner, duly submitted in compliance 
with the procedural requirements set forth herein, contesting Engineer’s decision 
regarding a Change Proposal; or seeking resolution of a contractual issue that Engineer 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 2 of 65 

has declined to address. A demand for money or services by a third party is not a 
Claim. 

11. Constituent of Concern—Asbestos, petroleum, radioactive materials, polychlorinated 
biphenyls (PCBs), hazardous waste, and any substance, product, waste, or other 
material of any nature whatsoever that is or becomes listed, regulated, or addressed 
pursuant to (a) the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and 
Liability Act, 42 U.S.C. §§9601 et seq. (“CERCLA”); (b) the Hazardous Materials 
Transportation Act, 49 U.S.C. §§5501 et seq.; (c) the Resource Conservation and 
Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. §§6901 et seq. (“RCRA”); (d) the Toxic Substances Control Act, 
15 U.S.C. §§2601 et seq.; (e) the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. §§1251 et seq.; (f) the 
Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. §§7401 et seq.; or (g) any other federal, state, or local statute, 
law, rule, regulation, ordinance, resolution, code, order, or decree regulating, relating 
to, or imposing liability or standards of conduct concerning, any hazardous, toxic, or 
dangerous waste, substance, or material. 

12. Contract—The entire and integrated written contract between the Owner and 
Contractor concerning the Work. 

13. Contract Documents—Those items so designated in the Agreement, and which 
together comprise the Contract. 

14. Contract Price—The money that Owner has agreed to pay Contractor for completion 
of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. . 

15. Contract Times—The number of days or the dates by which Contractor shall: (a) 
achieve Milestones, if any; (b) achieve Substantial Completion; and (c) complete the 
Work. 

16. Contractor—The individual or entity with which Owner has contracted for 
performance of the Work. 

17. Cost of the Work—See Paragraph 13.01 for definition. 

18. Drawings—The part of the Contract that graphically shows the scope, extent, and 
character of the Work to be performed by Contractor. 

19. Effective Date of the Contract—The date, indicated in the Agreement, on which the 
Contract becomes effective. 

20. Engineer—The individual or entity named as such in the Agreement. 

21. Field Order—A written order issued by Engineer which requires minor changes in the 
Work but does not change the Contract Price or the Contract Times. 

22. Hazardous Environmental Condition—The presence at the Site of Constituents of 
Concern in such quantities or circumstances that may present a danger to persons or 
property exposed thereto.  The presence at the Site of materials that are necessary for 
the execution of the Work, or that are to be incorporated in the Work, and that are 
controlled and contained pursuant to industry practices, Laws and Regulations, and 
the requirements of the Contract, does not establish a Hazardous Environmental 
Condition. 

23. Laws and Regulations; Laws or Regulations—Any and all applicable laws, statutes, 
rules, regulations, ordinances, codes, and orders of any and all governmental bodies, 
agencies, authorities, and courts having jurisdiction. 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 3 of 65 

24. Liens—Charges, security interests, or encumbrances upon Contract-related funds, real 
property, or personal property. 

25. Milestone—A principal event in the performance of the Work that the Contract 
requires Contractor to achieve by an intermediate completion date or by a time prior 
to Substantial Completion of all the Work. 

26. Notice of Award—The written notice by Owner to a Bidder of Owner’s acceptance of 
the Bid. 

27. Notice to Proceed—A written notice by Owner to Contractor fixing the date on which 
the Contract Times will commence to run and on which Contractor shall start to 
perform the Work. 

28. Owner—The individual or entity with which Contractor has contracted regarding the 
Work, and which has agreed to pay Contractor for the performance of the Work, 
pursuant to the terms of the Contract. 

29. Progress Schedule—A schedule, prepared and maintained by Contractor, describing 
the sequence and duration of the activities comprising the Contractor’s plan to 
accomplish the Work within the Contract Times. 

30. Project—The total undertaking to be accomplished for Owner by engineers, 
contractors, and others, including planning, study, design, construction, testing, 
commissioning, and start-up, and of which the Work to be performed under the 
Contract Documents is a part. 

31. Project Manual—The written documents prepared for, or made available for, 
procuring and constructing the Work, including but not limited to the Bidding 
Documents or other construction procurement documents, geotechnical and existing 
conditions information, the Agreement, bond forms, General Conditions, 
Supplementary Conditions, and Specifications. The contents of the Project Manual 
may be bound in one or more volumes. 

32. Resident Project Representative—The authorized representative of Engineer assigned 
to assist Engineer at the Site. As used herein, the term Resident Project Representative 
or “RPR” includes any assistants or field staff of Resident Project Representative. 

33. Samples—Physical examples of materials, equipment, or workmanship that are 
representative of some portion of the Work and that establish the standards by which 
such portion of the Work will be judged. 

34. Schedule of Submittals—A schedule, prepared and maintained by Contractor, of 
required submittals and the time requirements for Engineer’s review of the submittals 
and the performance of related construction activities. 

35. Schedule of Values—A schedule, prepared and maintained by Contractor, allocating 
portions of the Contract Price to various portions of the Work and used as the basis for 
reviewing Contractor’s Applications for Payment. 

36. Shop Drawings—All drawings, diagrams, illustrations, schedules, and other data or 
information that are specifically prepared or assembled by or for Contractor and 
submitted by Contractor to illustrate some portion of the Work.  Shop Drawings, 
whether approved or not, are not Drawings and are not Contract Documents. 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 4 of 65 

37. Site—Lands or areas indicated in the Contract Documents as being furnished by Owner 
upon which the Work is to be performed, including rights-of-way and easements, and 
such other lands furnished by Owner which are designated for the use of Contractor. 

38. Specifications—The part of the Contract that consists of written requirements for 
materials, equipment, systems, standards, and workmanship as applied to the Work, 
and certain administrative requirements and procedural matters applicable to the 
Work. 

39. Subcontractor—An individual or entity having a direct contract with Contractor or with 
any other Subcontractor for the performance of a part of the Work. 

40. Substantial Completion—The time at which the Work (or a specified part thereof) has 
progressed to the point where, in the opinion of Engineer, the Work (or a specified 
part thereof) is sufficiently complete, in accordance with the Contract Documents, so 
that the Work (or a specified part thereof) can be utilized for the purposes for which it 
is intended. The terms “substantially complete” and “substantially completed” as 
applied to all or part of the Work refer to Substantial Completion thereof. 

41. Successful Bidder—The Bidder whose Bid the Owner accepts, and to which the Owner 
makes an award of contract, subject to stated conditions. 

42. Supplementary Conditions—The part of the Contract that amends or supplements 
these General Conditions. 

43. Supplier—A manufacturer, fabricator, supplier, distributor, materialman, or vendor 
having a direct contract with Contractor or with any Subcontractor to furnish materials 
or equipment to be incorporated in the Work by Contractor or a Subcontractor. 

44. Technical Data—Those items expressly identified as Technical Data in the 
Supplementary Conditions, with respect to either (a) subsurface conditions at the Site, 
or physical conditions relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at the Site 
(except Underground Facilities) or (b) Hazardous Environmental Conditions at the Site. 
If no such express identifications of Technical Data have been made with respect to 
conditions at the Site, then the data contained in boring logs, recorded measurements 
of subsurface water levels, laboratory test results, and other factual, objective 
information regarding conditions at the Site that are set forth in any geotechnical or 
environmental report prepared for the Project and made available to Contractor are 
hereby defined as Technical Data with respect to conditions at the Site under 
Paragraphs 5.03, 5.04, and 5.06. 

45. Underground Facilities—All underground pipelines, conduits, ducts, cables, wires, 
manholes, vaults, tanks, tunnels, or other such facilities or attachments, and any 
encasements containing such facilities, including but not limited to those that convey 
electricity, gases, steam, liquid petroleum products, telephone or other 
communications, fiber optic transmissions, cable television, water, wastewater, storm 
water, other liquids or chemicals, or traffic or other control systems. 

46. Unit Price Work—Work to be paid for on the basis of unit prices. 

47. Work—The entire construction or the various separately identifiable parts thereof 
required to be provided under the Contract Documents. Work includes and is the 
result of performing or providing all labor, services, and documentation necessary to 
produce such construction; furnishing, installing, and incorporating all materials and 
equipment into such construction; and may include related services such as testing, 
start-up, and commissioning, all as required by the Contract Documents. 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 5 of 65 

48. Work Change Directive—A written directive to Contractor issued on or after the 
Effective Date of the Contract, signed by Owner and recommended by Engineer, 
ordering an addition, deletion, or revision in the Work. 

1.02 Terminology 

A. The words and terms discussed in the following paragraphs are not defined but, when used 
in the Bidding Requirements or Contract Documents, have the indicated meaning. 

B. Intent of Certain Terms or Adjectives: 

1. The Contract Documents include the terms “as allowed,” “as approved,” “as ordered,” 
“as directed” or terms of like effect or import to authorize an exercise of professional 
judgment by Engineer. In addition, the adjectives “reasonable,” “suitable,” 
“acceptable,” “proper,” “satisfactory,” or adjectives of like effect or import are used to 
describe an action or determination of Engineer as to the Work. It is intended that 
such exercise of professional judgment, action, or determination will be solely to 
evaluate, in general, the Work for compliance with the information in the Contract 
Documents and with the design concept of the Project as a functioning whole as 
shown or indicated in the Contract Documents (unless there is a specific statement 
indicating otherwise). The use of any such term or adjective is not intended to and 
shall not be effective to assign to Engineer any duty or authority to supervise or direct 
the performance of the Work, or any duty or authority to undertake responsibility 
contrary to the provisions of Article 10 or any other provision of the Contract 
Documents. 

C. Day: 

1. The word “day” means a calendar day of 24 hours measured from midnight to the next 
midnight. 

D. Defective: 

1. The word “defective,” when modifying the word “Work,” refers to Work that is 
unsatisfactory, faulty, or deficient in that it: 

a. does not conform to the Contract Documents; or 

b. does not meet the requirements of any applicable inspection, reference standard, 
test, or approval referred to in the Contract Documents; or 

c. has been damaged prior to Engineer’s recommendation of final payment (unless 
responsibility for the protection thereof has been assumed by Owner at 
Substantial Completion in accordance with Paragraph 15.03 or 15.04). 

E. Furnish, Install, Perform, Provide: 

1. The word “furnish,” when used in connection with services, materials, or equipment, 
shall mean to supply and deliver said services, materials, or equipment to the Site (or 
some other specified location) ready for use or installation and in usable or operable 
condition. 

2. The word “install,” when used in connection with services, materials, or equipment, 
shall mean to put into use or place in final position said services, materials, or 
equipment complete and ready for intended use. 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 6 of 65 

3. The words “perform” or “provide,” when used in connection with services, materials, 
or equipment, shall mean to furnish and install said services, materials, or equipment 
complete and ready for intended use. 

4. If the Contract Documents establish an obligation of Contractor with respect to 
specific services, materials, or equipment, but do not expressly use any of the four 
words “furnish,” “install,” “perform,” or “provide,” then Contractor shall furnish and 
install said services, materials, or equipment complete and ready for intended use. 

F. Unless stated otherwise in the Contract Documents, words or phrases that have a well-
known technical or construction industry or trade meaning are used in the Contract 
Documents in accordance with such recognized meaning. 

ARTICLE 2 – PRELIMINARY MATTERS 

2.01 Delivery of Bonds and Evidence of Insurance 

A. Bonds: When Contractor delivers the executed counterparts of the Agreement to Owner, 
Contractor shall also deliver to Owner such bonds as Contractor may be required to furnish. 

B. Evidence of Contractor’s Insurance: When Contractor delivers the executed counterparts of 
the Agreement to Owner, Contractor shall also deliver to Owner, with copies to each 
named insured and additional insured (as identified in the Supplementary Conditions or 
elsewhere in the Contract), the certificates and other evidence of insurance required to be 
provided by Contractor in accordance with Article 6. 

C. Evidence of Owner’s Insurance: After receipt of the executed counterparts of the 
Agreement and all required bonds and insurance documentation, Owner shall promptly 
deliver to Contractor, with copies to each named insured and additional insured (as 
identified in the Supplementary Conditions or otherwise), the certificates and other 
evidence of insurance required to be provided by Owner under Article 6. 

2.02 Copies of Documents 

A. Owner shall furnish to Contractor four printed copies of the Contract (including one fully 
executed counterpart of the Agreement), and one copy in electronic portable document 
format (PDF). Additional printed copies will be furnished upon request at the cost of 
reproduction. 

B. Owner shall maintain and safeguard at least one original printed record version of the 
Contract, including Drawings and Specifications signed and sealed by Engineer and other 
design professionals.  Owner shall make such original printed record version of the Contract 
available to Contractor for review. Owner may delegate the responsibilities under this 
provision to Engineer. 

2.03   Before Starting Construction 

A. Preliminary Schedules: Within 10 days after the Effective Date of the Contract (or as 
otherwise specifically required by the Contract Documents), Contractor shall submit to 
Engineer for timely review: 

1. a preliminary Progress Schedule indicating the times (numbers of days or dates) for 
starting and completing the various stages of the Work, including any Milestones 
specified in the Contract; 

2. a preliminary Schedule of Submittals; and 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 7 of 65 

3. a preliminary Schedule of Values for all of the Work which includes quantities and 
prices of items which when added together equal the Contract Price and subdivides 
the Work into component parts in sufficient detail to serve as the basis for progress 
payments during performance of the Work. Such prices will include an appropriate 
amount of overhead and profit applicable to each item of Work. 

2.04 Preconstruction Conference; Designation of Authorized Representatives 

A. Before any Work at the Site is started, a conference attended by Owner, Contractor, 
Engineer, and others as appropriate will be held to establish a working understanding 
among the parties as to the Work and to discuss the schedules referred to in Paragraph 
2.03.A, procedures for handling Shop Drawings, Samples, and other submittals, processing 
Applications for Payment, electronic or digital transmittals, and maintaining required 
records. 

B. At this conference Owner and Contractor each shall designate, in writing, a specific 
individual to act as its authorized representative with respect to the services and 
responsibilities under the Contract.  Such individuals shall have the authority to transmit 
and receive information, render decisions relative to the Contract, and otherwise act on 
behalf of each respective party. 

2.05 Initial Acceptance of Schedules 

A. At least 10 days before submission of the first Application for Payment a conference, 
attended by Contractor, Engineer, and others as appropriate, will be held to review for 
acceptability to Engineer as provided below the schedules submitted in accordance with 
Paragraph 2.03.A. Contractor shall have an additional 10 days to make corrections and 
adjustments and to complete and resubmit the schedules. No progress payment shall be 
made to Contractor until acceptable schedules are submitted to Engineer. 

1. The Progress Schedule will be acceptable to Engineer if it provides an orderly 
progression of the Work to completion within the Contract Times. Such acceptance 
will not impose on Engineer responsibility for the Progress Schedule, for sequencing, 
scheduling, or progress of the Work, nor interfere with or relieve Contractor from 
Contractor’s full responsibility therefor. 

2. Contractor’s Schedule of Submittals will be acceptable to Engineer if it provides a 
workable arrangement for reviewing and processing the required submittals. 

3. Contractor’s Schedule of Values will be acceptable to Engineer as to form and 
substance if it provides a reasonable allocation of the Contract Price to the component 
parts of the Work. 

2.06 Electronic Transmittals 

A. Except as otherwise stated elsewhere in the Contract, the Owner, Engineer, and Contractor 
may transmit, and shall accept, Project-related correspondence, text, data, documents, 
drawings, information, and graphics, including but not limited to Shop Drawings and other 
submittals, in electronic media or digital format, either directly, or through access to a 
secure Project website. 

B. If the Contract does not establish protocols for electronic or digital transmittals, then 
Owner, Engineer, and Contractor shall jointly develop such protocols. 

C. When transmitting items in electronic media or digital format, the transmitting party makes 
no representations as to long term compatibility, usability, or readability of the items 
resulting from the recipient’s use of software application packages, operating systems, or 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 8 of 65 

computer hardware differing from those used in the drafting or transmittal of the items, or 
from those established in applicable transmittal protocols. 

ARTICLE 3 – DOCUMENTS: INTENT, REQUIREMENTS, REUSE 

3.01 Intent 

A. The Contract Documents are complementary; what is required by one is as binding as if 
required by all. 

B. It is the intent of the Contract Documents to describe a functionally complete project (or 
part thereof) to be constructed in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

C. Unless otherwise stated in the Contract Documents, if there is a discrepancy between the 
electronic or digital versions of the Contract Documents (including any printed copies 
derived from such electronic or digital versions) and the printed record version, the printed 
record version shall govern. 

D. The Contract supersedes prior negotiations, representations, and agreements, whether 
written or oral. 

E. Engineer will issue clarifications and interpretations of the Contract Documents as provided 
herein. 

3.02 Reference Standards 

A. Standards Specifications, Codes, Laws and Regulations 

1. Reference in the Contract Documents to standard specifications, manuals, reference 
standards, or codes of any technical society, organization, or association, or to Laws or 
Regulations, whether such reference be specific or by implication, shall mean the 
standard specification, manual, reference standard, code, or Laws or Regulations in 
effect at the time of opening of Bids (or on the Effective Date of the Contract if there 
were no Bids), except as may be otherwise specifically stated in the Contract 
Documents. 

2. No provision of any such standard specification, manual, reference standard, or code, 
or any instruction of a Supplier, shall be effective to change the duties or 
responsibilities of Owner, Contractor, or Engineer, or any of their subcontractors, 
consultants, agents, or employees, from those set forth in the part of the Contract 
Documents prepared by or for Engineer. No such provision or instruction shall be 
effective to assign to Owner, Engineer, or any of their officers, directors, members, 
partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors, any duty or authority to 
supervise or direct the performance of the Work or any duty or authority to undertake 
responsibility inconsistent with the provisions of the part of the Contract Documents 
prepared by or for Engineer. 

3.03 Reporting and Resolving Discrepancies 

A. Reporting Discrepancies: 

1. Contractor’s Verification of Figures and Field Measurements: Before undertaking each 
part of the Work, Contractor shall carefully study the Contract Documents, and check 
and verify pertinent figures and dimensions therein, particularly with respect to 
applicable field measurements. Contractor shall promptly report in writing to Engineer 
any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy that Contractor discovers, or has actual 
knowledge of, and shall not proceed with any Work affected thereby until the conflict, 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 9 of 65 

error, ambiguity, or discrepancy is resolved, by a clarification or interpretation by 
Engineer, or by an amendment or supplement to the Contract Documents issued 
pursuant to Paragraph 11.01. 

2. Contractor’s Review of Contract Documents: If, before or during the performance of 
the Work, Contractor discovers any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy within 
the Contract Documents, or between the Contract Documents and (a) any applicable 
Law or Regulation, (b) actual field conditions, (c) any standard specification, manual, 
reference standard, or code, or (d) any instruction of any Supplier, then Contractor 
shall promptly report it to Engineer in writing. Contractor shall not proceed with the 
Work affected thereby (except in an emergency as required by Paragraph 7.15) until 
the conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy is resolved, by a clarification or 
interpretation by Engineer, or by an amendment or supplement to the Contract 
Documents issued pursuant to Paragraph 11.01. 

3. Contractor shall not be liable to Owner or Engineer for failure to report any conflict, 
error, ambiguity, or discrepancy in the Contract Documents unless Contractor had 
actual knowledge thereof. 

B. Resolving Discrepancies: 

1. Except as may be otherwise specifically stated in the Contract Documents, the 
provisions of the part of the Contract Documents prepared by or for Engineer shall 
take precedence in resolving any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy between 
such provisions of the Contract Documents and: 

a. the provisions of any standard specification, manual, reference standard, or code, 
or the instruction of any Supplier (whether or not specifically incorporated by 
reference as a Contract Document); or 

b. the provisions of any Laws or Regulations applicable to the performance of the 
Work (unless such an interpretation of the provisions of the Contract Documents 
would result in violation of such Law or Regulation). 

3.04 Requirements of the Contract Documents 

A. During the performance of the Work and until final payment, Contractor and Owner shall 
submit to the Engineer all matters in question concerning the requirements of the Contract 
Documents (sometimes referred to as requests for information or interpretation—RFIs), or 
relating to the acceptability of the Work under the Contract Documents, as soon as possible 
after such matters arise. Engineer will be the initial interpreter of the requirements of the 
Contract Documents, and judge of the acceptability of the Work thereunder. 

B. Engineer will, with reasonable promptness, render a written clarification, interpretation, or 
decision on the issue submitted, or initiate an amendment or supplement to the Contract 
Documents. Engineer’s written clarification, interpretation, or decision will be final and 
binding on Contractor, unless it appeals by submitting a Change Proposal, and on Owner, 
unless it appeals by filing a Claim. 

C. If a submitted matter in question concerns terms and conditions of the Contract 
Documents that do not involve (1) the performance or acceptability of the Work under the 
Contract Documents, (2) the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or 
otherwise), or (3) other engineering or technical matters, then Engineer will promptly give 
written notice to Owner and Contractor that Engineer is unable to provide a decision or 
interpretation. If Owner and Contractor are unable to agree on resolution of such a matter 
in question, either party may pursue resolution as provided in Article 12. 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 10 of 65 

3.05 Reuse of Documents 

A. Contractor and its Subcontractors and Suppliers shall not: 

1. have or acquire any title to or ownership rights in any of the Drawings, Specifications, 
or other documents (or copies of any thereof) prepared by or bearing the seal of 
Engineer or its consultants, including electronic media editions, or reuse any such 
Drawings, Specifications, other documents, or copies thereof on extensions of the 
Project or any other project without written consent of Owner and Engineer and 
specific written verification or adaptation by Engineer; or 

2. have or acquire any title or ownership rights in any other Contract Documents, reuse 
any such Contract Documents for any purpose without Owner’s express written 
consent, or violate any copyrights pertaining to such Contract Documents. 

B. The prohibitions of this Paragraph 3.05 will survive final payment, or termination of the 
Contract. Nothing herein shall preclude Contractor from retaining copies of the Contract 
Documents for record purposes. 

ARTICLE 4 – COMMENCEMENT AND PROGRESS OF THE WORK 

4.01 Commencement of Contract Times; Notice to Proceed 

A. The Contract Times will commence to run on the thirtieth day after the Effective Date of 
the Contract or, if a Notice to Proceed is given, on the day indicated in the Notice to 
Proceed. A Notice to Proceed may be given at any time within 30 days after the Effective 
Date of the Contract. In no event will the Contract Times commence to run later than the 
sixtieth day after the day of Bid opening or the thirtieth day after the Effective Date of the 
Contract, whichever date is earlier. 

4.02 Starting the Work 

A. Contractor shall start to perform the Work on the date when the Contract Times 
commence to run. No Work shall be done at the Site prior to such date. 

4.03 Reference Points 

A. Owner shall provide engineering surveys to establish reference points for construction 
which in Engineer’s judgment are necessary to enable Contractor to proceed with the 
Work. Contractor shall be responsible for laying out the Work, shall protect and preserve 
the established reference points and property monuments, and shall make no changes or 
relocations without the prior written approval of Owner. Contractor shall report to 
Engineer whenever any reference point or property monument is lost or destroyed or 
requires relocation because of necessary changes in grades or locations, and shall be 
responsible for the accurate replacement or relocation of such reference points or property 
monuments by professionally qualified personnel. 

4.04 Progress Schedule 

A. Contractor shall adhere to the Progress Schedule established in accordance with Paragraph 
2.05 as it may be adjusted from time to time as provided below. 

1. Contractor shall submit to Engineer for acceptance (to the extent indicated in 
Paragraph 2.05) proposed adjustments in the Progress Schedule that will not result in 
changing the Contract Times. 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 11 of 65 

2. Proposed adjustments in the Progress Schedule that will change the Contract Times 
shall be submitted in accordance with the requirements of Article 11. 

B. Contractor shall carry on the Work and adhere to the Progress Schedule during all disputes 
or disagreements with Owner. No Work shall be delayed or postponed pending resolution 
of any disputes or disagreements, or during any appeal process, except as permitted by 
Paragraph 16.04, or as Owner and Contractor may otherwise agree in writing. 

4.05 Delays in Contractor’s Progress 

A. If Owner, Engineer, or anyone for whom Owner is responsible, delays, disrupts, or 
interferes with the performance or progress of the Work, then Contractor shall be entitled 
to an equitable adjustment in the Contract Times and Contract Price. Contractor’s 
entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned on such adjustment 
being essential to Contractor’s ability to complete the Work within the Contract Times. 

B. Contractor shall not be entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times for 
delay, disruption, or interference caused by or within the control of Contractor. Delay, 
disruption, and interference attributable to and within the control of a Subcontractor or 
Supplier shall be deemed to be within the control of Contractor. 

C. If Contractor’s performance or progress is delayed, disrupted, or interfered with by 
unanticipated causes not the fault of and beyond the control of Owner, Contractor, and 
those for which they are responsible, then Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable 
adjustment in Contract Times. Contractor’s entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract 
Times is conditioned on such adjustment being essential to Contractor’s ability to complete 
the Work within the Contract Times. Such an adjustment shall be Contractor’s sole and 
exclusive remedy for the delays, disruption, and interference described in this paragraph. 
Causes of delay, disruption, or interference that may give rise to an adjustment in Contract 
Times under this paragraph include but are not limited to the following: 

1. severe and unavoidable natural catastrophes such as fires, floods, epidemics, and 
earthquakes; 

2. abnormal weather conditions; 

3. acts or failures to act of utility owners (other than those performing other work at or 
adjacent to the Site by arrangement with the Owner, as contemplated in Article 8); 
and 

4. acts of war or terrorism. 

D. Delays, disruption, and interference to the performance or progress of the Work resulting 
from the existence of a differing subsurface or physical condition, an Underground Facility 
that was not shown or indicated by the Contract Documents, or not shown or indicated 
with reasonable accuracy, and those resulting from Hazardous Environmental Conditions, 
are governed by Article 5. 

E. Paragraph 8.03 governs delays, disruption, and interference to the performance or 
progress of the Work resulting from the performance of certain other work at or adjacent 
to the Site. 

F. Contractor shall not be entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times for 
any delay, disruption, or interference if such delay is concurrent with a delay, disruption, or 
interference caused by or within the control of Contractor. 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 12 of 65 

G. Contractor must submit any Change Proposal seeking an adjustment in Contract Price or 
Contract Times under this paragraph within 30 days of the commencement of the delaying, 
disrupting, or interfering event. 

ARTICLE 5 – AVAILABILITY OF LANDS; SUBSURFACE AND PHYSICAL CONDITIONS; HAZARDOUS 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS 

5.01 Availability of Lands 

A. Owner shall furnish the Site. Owner shall notify Contractor of any encumbrances or 
restrictions not of general application but specifically related to use of the Site with which 
Contractor must comply in performing the Work. 

B. Upon reasonable written request, Owner shall furnish Contractor with a current statement 
of record legal title and legal description of the lands upon which permanent improvements 
are to be made and Owner’s interest therein as necessary for giving notice of or filing a 
mechanic’s or construction lien against such lands in accordance with applicable Laws and 
Regulations. 

C. Contractor shall provide for all additional lands and access thereto that may be required for 
temporary construction facilities or storage of materials and equipment. 

5.02 Use of Site and Other Areas 

A. Limitation on Use of Site and Other Areas: 

1. Contractor shall confine construction equipment, temporary construction facilities, the 
storage of materials and equipment, and the operations of workers to the Site, 
adjacent areas that Contractor has arranged to use through construction easements or 
otherwise, and other adjacent areas permitted by Laws and Regulations, and shall not 
unreasonably encumber the Site and such other adjacent areas with construction 
equipment or other materials or equipment. Contractor shall assume full responsibility 
for (a) damage to the Site; (b) damage to any such other adjacent areas used for 
Contractor’s operations; (c) damage to any other adjacent land or areas; and (d) for 
injuries and losses sustained by the owners or occupants of any such land or areas; 
provided that such damage or injuries result from the performance of the Work or 
from other actions or conduct of the Contractor or those for which Contractor is 
responsible. 

2. If a damage or injury claim is made by the owner or occupant of any such land or area 
because of the performance of the Work, or because of other actions or conduct of 
the Contractor or those for which Contractor is responsible, Contractor shall (a) take 
immediate corrective or remedial action as required by Paragraph 7.12, or otherwise; 
(b) promptly attempt to settle the claim as to all parties through negotiations with 
such owner or occupant, or otherwise resolve the claim by arbitration or other dispute 
resolution proceeding, or at law; and (c) to the fullest extent permitted by Laws and 
Regulations, indemnify and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, 
directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of 
each and any of them from and against any such claim, and against all costs, losses, 
and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, 
attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute 
resolution costs) arising out of or relating to any claim or action, legal or equitable, 
brought by any such owner or occupant against Owner, Engineer, or any other party 
indemnified hereunder to the extent caused directly or indirectly, in whole or in part 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 13 of 65 

by, or based upon, Contractor’s performance of the Work, or because of other actions 
or conduct of the Contractor or those for which Contractor is responsible. 

B. Removal of Debris During Performance of the Work: During the progress of the Work the 
Contractor shall keep the Site and other adjacent areas free from accumulations of waste 
materials, rubbish, and other debris. Removal and disposal of such waste materials, 
rubbish, and other debris shall conform to applicable Laws and Regulations. 

C. Cleaning: Prior to Substantial Completion of the Work Contractor shall clean the Site and 
the Work and make it ready for utilization by Owner. At the completion of the Work 
Contractor shall remove from the Site and adjacent areas all tools, appliances, construction 
equipment and machinery, and surplus materials and shall restore to original condition all 
property not designated for alteration by the Contract Documents. 

D. Loading of Structures: Contractor shall not load nor permit any part of any structure to be 
loaded in any manner that will endanger the structure, nor shall Contractor subject any 
part of the Work or adjacent structures or land to stresses or pressures that will endanger 
them. 

5.03 Subsurface and Physical Conditions 

A. Reports and Drawings: The Supplementary Conditions identify: 

1. those reports known to Owner of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or 
adjacent to the Site; 

2. those drawings known to Owner of physical conditions relating to existing surface or 
subsurface structures at the Site (except Underground Facilities); and 

3. Technical Data contained in such reports and drawings. 

B. Reliance by Contractor on Technical Data Authorized: Contractor may rely upon the 
accuracy of the Technical Data expressly identified in the Supplementary Conditions with 
respect to such reports and drawings, but such reports and drawings are not Contract 
Documents. If no such express identification has been made, then Contractor may rely 
upon the accuracy of the Technical Data (as defined in Article 1) contained in any 
geotechnical or environmental report prepared for the Project and made available to 
Contractor. Except for such reliance on Technical Data, Contractor may not rely upon or 
make any claim against Owner or Engineer, or any of their officers, directors, members, 
partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors, with respect to: 

1. the completeness of such reports and drawings for Contractor’s purposes, including, 
but not limited to, any aspects of the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and 
procedures of construction to be employed by Contractor, and safety precautions and 
programs incident thereto; or 

2. other data, interpretations, opinions, and information contained in such reports or 
shown or indicated in such drawings; or 

3. any Contractor interpretation of or conclusion drawn from any Technical Data or any 
such other data, interpretations, opinions, or information. 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 14 of 65 

5.04 Differing Subsurface or Physical Conditions 

A. Notice by Contractor: If Contractor believes that any subsurface or physical condition that is 
uncovered or revealed at the Site either: 

1. is of such a nature as to establish that any Technical Data on which Contractor is 
entitled to rely as provided in Paragraph 5.03 is materially inaccurate; or 

2. is of such a nature as to require a change in the Drawings or Specifications; or 

3. differs materially from that shown or indicated in the Contract Documents; or 

4. is of an unusual nature, and differs materially from conditions ordinarily encountered 
and generally recognized as inherent in work of the character provided for in the 
Contract Documents; 

then Contractor shall, promptly after becoming aware thereof and before further 
disturbing the subsurface or physical conditions or performing any Work in connection 
therewith (except in an emergency as required by Paragraph 7.15), notify Owner and 
Engineer in writing about such condition. Contractor shall not further disturb such 
condition or perform any Work in connection therewith (except with respect to an 
emergency) until receipt of a written statement permitting Contractor to do so. 

B. Engineer’s Review: After receipt of written notice as required by the preceding paragraph, 
Engineer will promptly review the subsurface or physical condition in question; determine 
the necessity of Owner’s obtaining additional exploration or tests with respect to the 
condition; conclude whether the condition falls within any one or more of the differing site 
condition categories in Paragraph 5.04.A above; obtain any pertinent cost or schedule 
information from Contractor; prepare recommendations to Owner regarding the 
Contractor’s resumption of Work in connection with the subsurface or physical condition in 
question and the need for any change in the Drawings or Specifications; and advise Owner 
in writing  of Engineer’s findings, conclusions, and recommendations. 

C. Owner’s Statement to Contractor Regarding Site Condition: After receipt of Engineer’s 
written findings, conclusions, and recommendations, Owner shall issue a written statement 
to Contractor (with a copy to Engineer) regarding the subsurface or physical condition in 
question, addressing the resumption of Work in connection with such condition, indicating 
whether any change in the Drawings or Specifications will be made, and adopting or 
rejecting Engineer’s written findings, conclusions, and recommendations, in whole or in 
part. 

D. Possible Price and Times Adjustments: 

1. Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in Contract Price or Contract 
Times, or both, to the extent that the existence of a differing subsurface or physical 
condition, or any related delay, disruption, or interference, causes an increase or 
decrease in Contractor’s cost of, or time required for, performance of the Work; 
subject, however, to the following: 

a. such condition must fall within any one or more of the categories described in 
Paragraph 5.04.A; 

b. with respect to Work that is paid for on a unit price basis, any adjustment in 
Contract Price will be subject to the provisions of Paragraph 13.03; and, 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 15 of 65 

c. Contractor’s entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned 
on such adjustment being essential to Contractor’s ability to complete the Work 
within the Contract Times. 

2. Contractor shall not be entitled to any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract 
Times with respect to a subsurface or physical condition if: 

a. Contractor knew of the existence of such condition at the time Contractor made a 
commitment to Owner with respect to Contract Price and Contract Times by the 
submission of a Bid or becoming bound under a negotiated contract, or 
otherwise; or 

b. the existence of such condition reasonably could have been discovered or 
revealed as a result of any examination, investigation, exploration, test, or study 
of the Site and contiguous areas expressly required by the Bidding Requirements 
or Contract Documents to be conducted by or for Contractor prior to Contractor’s 
making such commitment; or 

c. Contractor failed to give the written notice as required by Paragraph 5.04.A. 

3. If Owner and Contractor agree regarding Contractor’s entitlement to and the amount 
or extent of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, then any 
such adjustment shall be set forth in a Change Order. 

4. Contractor may submit a Change Proposal regarding its entitlement to or the amount 
or extent of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, no later 
than 30 days after Owner’s issuance of the Owner’s written statement to Contractor 
regarding the subsurface or physical condition in question. 

5.05 Underground Facilities 

A. Contractor’s Responsibilities: The information and data shown or indicated in the Contract 
Documents with respect to existing Underground Facilities at or adjacent to the Site is 
based on information and data furnished to Owner or Engineer by the owners of such 
Underground Facilities, including Owner, or by others. Unless it is otherwise expressly 
provided in the Supplementary Conditions: 

1. Owner and Engineer do not warrant or guarantee the accuracy or completeness of any 
such information or data provided by others; and 

2. the cost of all of the following will be included in the Contract Price, and Contractor 
shall have full responsibility for: 

a. reviewing and checking all information and data regarding existing Underground 
Facilities at the Site; 

b. locating all Underground Facilities shown or indicated in the Contract Documents 
as being at the Site; 

c. coordination of the Work with the owners (including Owner) of such 
Underground Facilities, during construction; and 

d. the safety and protection of all existing Underground Facilities at the Site, and 
repairing any damage thereto resulting from the Work. 

B. Notice by Contractor: If Contractor believes that an Underground Facility that is uncovered 
or revealed at the Site was not shown or indicated in the Contract Documents, or was not 
shown or indicated with reasonable accuracy, then Contractor shall, promptly after 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 16 of 65 

becoming aware thereof and before further disturbing conditions affected thereby or 
performing any Work in connection therewith (except in an emergency as required by 
Paragraph 7.15), identify the owner of such Underground Facility and give written notice to 
that owner and to Owner and Engineer. 

C. Engineer’s Review: Engineer will promptly review the Underground Facility and conclude 
whether such Underground Facility was not shown or indicated in the Contract Documents, 
or was not shown or indicated with reasonable accuracy; obtain any pertinent cost or 
schedule information from Contractor; prepare recommendations to Owner regarding the 
Contractor’s resumption of Work in connection with the Underground Facility in question; 
determine the extent, if any, to which a change is required in the Drawings or Specifications 
to reflect and document the consequences of the existence or location of the Underground 
Facility; and advise Owner in writing  of Engineer’s findings, conclusions, and 
recommendations. During such time, Contractor shall be responsible for the safety and 
protection of such Underground Facility. 

D. Owner’s Statement to Contractor Regarding Underground Facility: After receipt of 
Engineer’s written findings, conclusions, and recommendations, Owner shall issue a written 
statement to Contractor (with a copy to Engineer) regarding the Underground Facility in 
question, addressing the resumption of Work in connection with such Underground Facility, 
indicating whether any change in the Drawings or Specifications will be made, and adopting 
or rejecting Engineer’s written findings, conclusions, and recommendations in whole or in 
part. 

E. Possible Price and Times Adjustments: 

1. Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in the Contract Price or 
Contract Times, or both, to the extent that any existing Underground Facility at the 
Site that was not shown or indicated in the Contract Documents, or was not shown or 
indicated with reasonable accuracy, or any related delay, disruption, or interference, 
causes an increase or decrease in Contractor’s cost of, or time required for, 
performance of the Work; subject, however, to the following: 

a. Contractor did not know of and could not reasonably have been expected to be 
aware of or to have anticipated the existence or actual location of the 
Underground Facility in question; 

b. With respect to Work that is paid for on a unit price basis, any adjustment in 
Contract Price will be subject to the provisions of Paragraph 13.03; 

c. Contractor’s entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned 
on such adjustment being essential to Contractor’s ability to complete the Work 
within the Contract Times; and 

d. Contractor gave the notice required in Paragraph 5.05.B. 

2. If Owner and Contractor agree regarding Contractor’s entitlement to and the amount 
or extent of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, then any 
such adjustment shall be set forth in a Change Order. 

3. Contractor may submit a Change Proposal regarding its entitlement to or the amount 
or extent of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, no later 
than 30 days after Owner’s issuance of the Owner’s written statement to Contractor 
regarding the Underground Facility in question. 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 17 of 65 

5.06 Hazardous Environmental Conditions at Site 

A. Reports and Drawings: The Supplementary Conditions identify: 

1. those reports and drawings known to Owner relating to Hazardous Environmental 
Conditions that have been identified at or adjacent to the Site; and 

2. Technical Data contained in such reports and drawings. 

B. Reliance by Contractor on Technical Data Authorized: Contractor may rely upon the 
accuracy of the Technical Data expressly identified in the Supplementary Conditions with 
respect to such reports and drawings, but such reports and drawings are not Contract 
Documents. If no such express identification has been made, then Contractor may rely on 
the accuracy of the Technical Data (as defined in Article 1) contained in any geotechnical or 
environmental report prepared for the Project and made available to Contractor. Except for 
such reliance on Technical Data, Contractor may not rely upon or make any claim against 
Owner or Engineer, or any of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, 
agents, consultants, or subcontractors with respect to: 

1. the completeness of such reports and drawings for Contractor’s purposes, including, 
but not limited to, any aspects of the means, methods, techniques, sequences and 
procedures of construction to be employed by Contractor and safety precautions and 
programs incident thereto; or 

2. other data, interpretations, opinions and information contained in such reports or 
shown or indicated in such drawings; or 

3. any Contractor interpretation of or conclusion drawn from any Technical Data or any 
such other data, interpretations, opinions or information. 

C. Contractor shall not be responsible for removing or remediating any Hazardous 
Environmental Condition encountered, uncovered, or revealed at the Site unless such 
removal or remediation is expressly identified in the Contract Documents to be within the 
scope of the Work. 

D. Contractor shall be responsible for controlling, containing, and duly removing all 
Constituents of Concern brought to the Site by Contractor, Subcontractors, Suppliers, or 
anyone else for whom Contractor is responsible, and for any associated costs; and for the 
costs of removing and remediating any Hazardous Environmental Condition created by the 
presence of any such Constituents of Concern. 

E. If Contractor encounters, uncovers, or reveals a Hazardous Environmental Condition whose 
removal or remediation is not expressly identified in the Contract Documents as being 
within the scope of the Work, or if Contractor or anyone for whom Contractor is 
responsible creates a Hazardous Environmental Condition, then Contractor shall 
immediately: (1) secure or otherwise isolate such condition; (2) stop all Work in connection 
with such condition and in any area affected thereby (except in an emergency as required 
by Paragraph 7.15); and (3) notify Owner and Engineer (and promptly thereafter confirm 
such notice in writing). Owner shall promptly consult with Engineer concerning the 
necessity for Owner to retain a qualified expert to evaluate such condition or take 
corrective action, if any. Promptly after consulting with Engineer, Owner shall take such 
actions as are necessary to permit Owner to timely obtain required permits and provide 
Contractor the written notice required by Paragraph 5.06.F. If Contractor or anyone for 
whom Contractor is responsible created the Hazardous Environmental Condition in 
question, then Owner may remove and remediate the Hazardous Environmental Condition, 
and impose a set-off against payments to account for the associated costs. 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 18 of 65 

F. Contractor shall not resume Work in connection with such Hazardous Environmental 
Condition or in any affected area until after Owner has obtained any required permits 
related thereto, and delivered written notice to Contractor either (1) specifying that such 
condition and any affected area is or has been rendered safe for the resumption of Work, 
or (2) specifying any special conditions under which such Work may be resumed safely. 

G. If Owner and Contractor cannot agree as to entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if 
any, of any adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, as a result of such 
Work stoppage or such special conditions under which Work is agreed to be resumed by 
Contractor, then within 30 days of Owner’s written notice regarding the resumption of 
Work, Contractor may submit a Change Proposal, or Owner may impose a set-off. 

H. If after receipt of such written notice Contractor does not agree to resume such Work 
based on a reasonable belief it is unsafe, or does not agree to resume such Work under 
such special conditions, then Owner may order the portion of the Work that is in the area 
affected by such condition to be deleted from the Work, following the contractual change 
procedures in Article 11. Owner may have such deleted portion of the Work performed by 
Owner’s own forces or others in accordance with Article 8. 

I. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Owner shall indemnify and hold 
harmless Contractor, Subcontractors, and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, 
partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them 
from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees 
and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or 
arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to a Hazardous 
Environmental Condition, provided that such Hazardous Environmental Condition (1) was 
not shown or indicated in the Drawings, Specifications, or other Contract Documents, 
identified as Technical Data entitled to limited reliance pursuant to Paragraph 5.06.B,  or 
identified in the Contract Documents to be included within the scope of the Work, and (2) 
was not created by Contractor or by anyone for whom Contractor is responsible. Nothing in 
this Paragraph 5.06.H shall obligate Owner to indemnify any individual or entity from and 
against the consequences of that individual’s or entity’s own negligence. 

J. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Contractor shall indemnify and 
hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, 
employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them from and 
against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and 
charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or 
arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to the failure to 
control, contain, or remove a Constituent of Concern brought to the Site by Contractor or 
by anyone for whom Contractor is responsible, or to a Hazardous Environmental Condition 
created by Contractor or by anyone for whom Contractor is responsible. Nothing in this 
Paragraph 5.06.J shall obligate Contractor to indemnify any individual or entity from and 
against the consequences of that individual’s or entity’s own negligence. 

K. The provisions of Paragraphs 5.03, 5.04, and 5.05 do not apply to the presence of 
Constituents of Concern or to a Hazardous Environmental Condition uncovered or revealed 
at the Site. 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 19 of 65 

ARTICLE 6 – BONDS AND INSURANCE 

6.01 Performance, Payment, and Other Bonds 

A. Contractor shall furnish a performance bond and a payment bond, each in an amount at 
least equal to the Contract Price, as security for the faithful performance and payment of all 
of Contractor’s obligations under the Contract. These bonds shall remain in effect until one 
year after the date when final payment becomes due or until completion of the correction 
period specified in Paragraph 15.08, whichever is later, except as provided otherwise by 
Laws or Regulations, the Supplementary Conditions, or other specific provisions of the 
Contract. Contractor shall also furnish such other bonds as are required by the 
Supplementary Conditions or other specific provisions of the Contract. 

B. All bonds shall be in the form prescribed by the Contract except as provided otherwise by 
Laws or Regulations, and shall be executed by such sureties as are named in “Companies 
Holding Certificates of Authority as Acceptable Sureties on Federal Bonds and as 
Acceptable Reinsuring Companies” as published in Circular 570 (as amended and 
supplemented) by the Financial Management Service, Surety Bond Branch, U.S. 
Department of the Treasury. A bond signed by an agent or attorney-in-fact must be 
accompanied by a certified copy of that individual’s authority to bind the surety.  The 
evidence of authority shall show that it is effective on the date the agent or attorney-in-fact 
signed the accompanying bond. 

C. Contractor shall obtain the required bonds from surety companies that are duly licensed or 
authorized in the jurisdiction in which the Project is located to issue bonds in the required 
amounts. 

D. If the surety on a bond furnished by Contractor is declared bankrupt or becomes insolvent, 
or its right to do business is terminated in any state or jurisdiction where any part of the 
Project is located, or the surety ceases to meet the requirements above, then Contractor 
shall promptly notify Owner and Engineer and shall, within 20 days after the event giving 
rise to such notification, provide another bond and surety, both of which shall comply with 
the bond and surety requirements above. 

E. If Contractor has failed to obtain a required bond, Owner may exclude the Contractor from 
the Site and exercise Owner’s termination rights under Article 16. 

F. Upon request, Owner shall provide a copy of the payment bond to any Subcontractor, 
Supplier, or other person or entity claiming to have furnished labor or materials used in the 
performance of the Work. 

6.02 Insurance—General Provisions 

A. Owner and Contractor shall obtain and maintain insurance as required in this Article and in 
the Supplementary Conditions. 

B. All insurance required by the Contract to be purchased and maintained by Owner or 
Contractor shall be obtained from insurance companies that are duly licensed or 
authorized, in the state or jurisdiction in which the Project is located, to issue insurance 
policies for the required limits and coverages. Unless a different standard is indicated in the 
Supplementary Conditions, all companies that provide insurance policies required under 
this Contract shall have an A.M. Best rating of A-VII or better. 

C. Contractor shall deliver to Owner, with copies to each named insured and additional 
insured (as identified in this Article, in the Supplementary Conditions, or elsewhere in the 
Contract), certificates of insurance establishing that Contractor has obtained and is 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 20 of 65 

maintaining the policies, coverages, and endorsements required by the Contract.  Upon 
request by Owner or any other insured, Contractor shall also furnish other evidence of such 
required insurance, including but not limited to copies of policies and endorsements, and 
documentation of applicable self-insured retentions and deductibles. Contractor may block 
out (redact) any confidential premium or pricing information contained in any policy or 
endorsement furnished under this provision. 

D. Owner shall deliver to Contractor, with copies to each named insured and additional 
insured (as identified in this Article, the Supplementary Conditions, or elsewhere in the 
Contract), certificates of insurance establishing that Owner has obtained and is maintaining 
the policies, coverages, and endorsements required of Owner by the Contract (if any).  
Upon request by Contractor or any other insured, Owner shall also provide other evidence 
of such required insurance (if any), including but not limited to copies of policies and 
endorsements, and documentation of applicable self-insured retentions and deductibles.  
Owner may block out (redact) any confidential premium or pricing information contained in 
any policy or endorsement furnished under this provision. 

E. Failure of Owner or Contractor to demand such certificates or other evidence of the other 
party’s full compliance with these insurance requirements, or failure of Owner or 
Contractor to identify a deficiency in compliance from the evidence provided, shall not be 
construed as a waiver of the other party’s obligation to obtain and maintain such insurance. 

F. If either party does not purchase or maintain all of the insurance required of such party by 
the Contract, such party shall notify the other party in writing of such failure to purchase 
prior to the start of the Work, or of such failure to maintain prior to any change in the 
required coverage. 

G. If Contractor has failed to obtain and maintain required insurance, Owner may exclude the 
Contractor from the Site, impose an appropriate set-off against payment, and exercise 
Owner’s termination rights under Article 16. 

H. Without prejudice to any other right or remedy, if a party has failed to obtain required 
insurance, the other party may elect to obtain equivalent insurance to protect such other 
party’s interests at the expense of the party who was required to provide such coverage, 
and the Contract Price shall be adjusted accordingly. 

I. Owner does not represent that insurance coverage and limits established in this Contract 
necessarily will be adequate to protect Contractor or Contractor’s interests. 

J. The insurance and insurance limits required herein shall not be deemed as a limitation on 
Contractor’s liability under the indemnities granted to Owner and other individuals and 
entities in the Contract. 

6.03 Contractor’s Insurance 

A. Workers’ Compensation: Contractor shall purchase and maintain workers’ compensation 
and employer’s liability insurance for: 

1. claims under workers’ compensation, disability benefits, and other similar employee 
benefit acts. 

2. United States Longshoreman and Harbor Workers’ Compensation Act and Jones Act 
coverage (if applicable). 

3. claims for damages because of bodily injury, occupational sickness or disease, or death 
of Contractor’s employees (by stop-gap endorsement in monopolist worker’s 
compensation states). 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 21 of 65 

4. Foreign voluntary worker compensation (if applicable). 

B. Commercial General Liability—Claims Covered: Contractor shall purchase and maintain 
commercial general liability insurance, covering all operations by or on behalf of 
Contractor, on an occurrence basis, against: 

1. claims for damages because of bodily injury, sickness or disease, or death of any 
person other than Contractor’s employees. 

2. claims for damages insured by reasonably available personal injury liability coverage. 

3. claims for damages, other than to the Work itself, because of injury to or destruction 
of tangible property wherever located, including loss of use resulting therefrom. 

C. Commercial General Liability—Form and Content: Contractor’s commercial liability policy 
shall be written on a 1996 (or later) ISO commercial general liability form (occurrence form) 
and include the following coverages and endorsements: 

1. Products and completed operations coverage: 

a. Such insurance shall be maintained for three years after final payment. 

b. Contractor shall furnish Owner and each other additional insured (as identified in 
the Supplementary Conditions or elsewhere in the Contract) evidence of 
continuation of such insurance at final payment and three years thereafter. 

2. Blanket contractual liability coverage, to the extent permitted by law, including but not 
limited to coverage of Contractor’s contractual indemnity obligations in Paragraph 
7.18. 

3. Broad form property damage coverage. 

4. Severability of interest. 

5. Underground, explosion, and collapse coverage. 

6.  Personal injury coverage. 

7. Additional insured endorsements that include both ongoing operations and products 
and completed operations coverage through ISO Endorsements CG 20 10 10 01 and CG 
20 37 10 01 (together); or CG 20 10 07 04 and CG 20 37 07 04 (together); or their 
equivalent. 

8. For design professional additional insureds, ISO Endorsement CG 20 32 07 04, 
“Additional Insured—Engineers, Architects or Surveyors Not Engaged by the Named 
Insured” or its equivalent. 

D. Automobile liability: Contractor shall purchase and maintain automobile liability insurance 
against claims for damages because of bodily injury or death of any person or property 
damage arising out of the ownership, maintenance, or use of any motor vehicle. The 
automobile liability policy shall be written on an occurrence basis. 

E. Umbrella or excess liability: Contractor shall purchase and maintain umbrella or excess 
liability insurance written over the underlying employer’s liability, commercial general 
liability, and automobile liability insurance described in the paragraphs above. Subject to 
industry-standard exclusions, the coverage afforded shall follow form as to each and every 
one of the underlying policies. 

F. Contractor’s pollution liability insurance: Contractor shall purchase and maintain a policy 
covering third-party injury and property damage claims, including clean-up costs, as a result 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 22 of 65 

of pollution conditions arising from Contractor’s operations and completed operations. This 
insurance shall be maintained for no less than three years after final completion. 

G. Additional insureds: The Contractor’s commercial general liability, automobile liability, 
umbrella or excess, and pollution liability policies shall include and list as additional 
insureds Owner and Engineer, and any individuals or entities identified in the 
Supplementary Conditions; include coverage for the respective officers, directors, 
members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of 
all such additional insureds; and the insurance afforded to these additional insureds shall 
provide primary coverage for all claims covered thereby (including as applicable those 
arising from both ongoing and completed operations) on a non-contributory basis. 
Contractor shall obtain all necessary endorsements to support these requirements. 

H. Contractor’s professional liability insurance: If Contractor will provide or furnish 
professional services under this Contract, through a delegation of professional design 
services or otherwise, then Contractor shall be responsible for purchasing and maintaining 
applicable professional liability insurance. This insurance shall provide protection against 
claims arising out of performance of professional design or related services, and caused by 
a negligent error, omission, or act for which the insured party is legally liable. It shall be 
maintained throughout the duration of the Contract and for a minimum of two years after 
Substantial Completion. If such professional design services are performed by a 
Subcontractor, and not by Contractor itself, then the requirements of this paragraph may 
be satisfied through the purchasing and maintenance of such insurance by such 
Subcontractor. 

I. General provisions: The policies of insurance required by this Paragraph 6.03 shall: 

1. include at least the specific coverages provided in this Article. 

2. be written for not less than the limits of liability provided in this Article and in the 
Supplementary Conditions, or required by Laws or Regulations, whichever is greater. 

3. contain a provision or endorsement that the coverage afforded will not be canceled, 
materially changed, or renewal refused until at least 10 days prior written notice has 
been given to Contractor.  Within three days of receipt of any such written notice, 
Contractor shall provide a copy of the notice to Owner, Engineer, and each other 
insured under the policy. 

4. remain in effect at least until final payment (and longer if expressly required in this 
Article) and at all times thereafter when Contractor may be correcting, removing, or 
replacing defective Work as a warranty or correction obligation, or otherwise, or 
returning to the Site to conduct other tasks arising from the Contract Documents. 

5. be appropriate for the Work being performed and provide protection from claims that 
may arise out of or result from Contractor’s performance of the Work and Contractor’s 
other obligations under the Contract Documents, whether it is to be performed by 
Contractor, any Subcontractor or Supplier, or by anyone directly or indirectly 
employed by any of them to perform any of the Work, or by anyone for whose acts 
any of them may be liable. 

J. The coverage requirements for specific policies of insurance must be met by such policies, 
and not by reference to excess or umbrella insurance provided in other policies. 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 23 of 65 

6.04 Owner’s Liability Insurance 

A. In addition to the insurance required to be provided by Contractor under Paragraph 6.03, 
Owner, at Owner’s option, may purchase and maintain at Owner’s expense Owner’s own 
liability insurance as will protect Owner against claims which may arise from operations 
under the Contract Documents. 

B. Owner’s liability policies, if any, operate separately and independently from policies 
required to be provided by Contractor, and Contractor cannot rely upon Owner’s liability 
policies for any of Contractor’s obligations to the Owner, Engineer, or third parties. 

6.05 Property Insurance 

A. Builder’s Risk: Unless otherwise provided in the Supplementary Conditions, Contractor shall 
purchase and maintain builder’s risk insurance upon the Work on a completed value basis, 
in the amount of the full insurable replacement cost thereof (subject to such deductible 
amounts as may be provided in the Supplementary Conditions or required by Laws and 
Regulations). This insurance shall: 

1. include the Owner and Contractor as named insureds, and all Subcontractors, and any 
individuals or entities required by the Supplementary Conditions to be insured under 
such builder’s risk policy, as insureds or named insureds. For purposes of the 
remainder of this Paragraph 6.05, Paragraphs 6.06 and 6.07, and any corresponding 
Supplementary Conditions, the parties required to be insured shall collectively be 
referred to as “insureds.” 

2. be written on a builder’s risk “all risk” policy form that shall at least include insurance 
for physical loss or damage to the Work, temporary buildings, falsework, and materials 
and equipment in transit, and shall insure against at least the following perils or causes 
of loss: fire; lightning; windstorm; riot; civil commotion; terrorism; vehicle impact; 
aircraft; smoke; theft; vandalism and malicious mischief; mechanical breakdown, 
boiler explosion, and artificially generated electric current; earthquake; volcanic 
activity, and other earth movement; flood; collapse; explosion; debris removal; 
demolition occasioned by enforcement of Laws and Regulations; water damage (other 
than that caused by flood); and such other perils or causes of loss as may be 
specifically required by the Supplementary Conditions. If insurance against mechanical 
breakdown, boiler explosion, and artificially generated electric current; earthquake; 
volcanic activity, and other earth movement; or flood, are not commercially available 
under builder’s risk policies, by endorsement or otherwise, such insurance may be 
provided through other insurance policies acceptable to Owner and Contractor. 

3. cover, as insured property, at least the following: (a) the Work and all materials, 
supplies, machinery, apparatus, equipment, fixtures, and other property of a similar 
nature that are to be incorporated into or used in the preparation, fabrication, 
construction, erection, or completion of the Work, including Owner-furnished or 
assigned property; (b) spare parts inventory required within the scope of the Contract; 
and (c) temporary works which are not intended to form part of the permanent 
constructed Work but which are intended to provide working access to the Site, or to 
the Work under construction, or which are intended to provide temporary support for 
the Work under construction, including scaffolding, form work, fences, shoring, 
falsework, and temporary structures. 

4. cover expenses incurred in the repair or replacement of any insured property 
(including but not limited to fees and charges of engineers and architects). 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 24 of 65 

5. extend to cover damage or loss to insured property while in temporary storage at the 
Site or in a storage location outside the Site (but not including property stored at the 
premises of a manufacturer or Supplier). 

6. extend to cover damage or loss to insured property while in transit. 

7. allow for partial occupation or use of the Work by Owner, such that those portions of 
the Work that are not yet occupied or used by Owner shall remain covered by the 
builder’s risk insurance. 

8. allow for the waiver of the insurer’s subrogation rights, as set forth below. 

9. provide primary coverage for all losses and damages caused by the perils or causes of 
loss covered. 

10. not include a co-insurance clause. 

11. include an exception for ensuing losses from physical damage or loss with respect to 
any defective workmanship, design, or materials exclusions. 

12. include performance/hot testing and start-up. 

13. be maintained in effect, subject to the provisions herein regarding Substantial 
Completion and partial occupancy or use of the Work by Owner, until the Work is 
complete. 

B. Notice of Cancellation or Change: All the policies of insurance (and the certificates or other 
evidence thereof) required to be purchased and maintained in accordance with this 
Paragraph 6.05 will contain a provision or endorsement that the coverage afforded will not 
be canceled or materially changed or renewal refused until at least 10 days prior written 
notice has been given to the purchasing policyholder. Within three days of receipt of any 
such written notice, the purchasing policyholder shall provide a copy of the notice to each 
other insured. 

C. Deductibles: The purchaser of any required builder’s risk or property insurance shall pay for 
costs not covered because of the application of a policy deductible. 

D. Partial Occupancy or Use by Owner: If Owner will occupy or use a portion or portions of the 
Work prior to Substantial Completion of all the Work as provided in Paragraph 15.04, then 
Owner (directly, if it is the purchaser of the builder’s risk policy, or through Contractor) will 
provide notice of such occupancy or use to the builder’s risk insurer. The builder’s risk 
insurance shall not be canceled or permitted to lapse on account of any such partial use or 
occupancy; rather, those portions of the Work that are occupied or used by Owner may 
come off the builder’s risk policy, while those portions of the Work not yet occupied or 
used by Owner shall remain covered by the builder’s risk insurance. 

E. Additional Insurance: If Contractor elects to obtain other special insurance to be included in 
or supplement the builder’s risk or property insurance policies provided under this 
Paragraph 6.05, it may do so at Contractor’s expense. 

F. Insurance of Other Property: If the express insurance provisions of the Contract do not 
require or address the insurance of a property item or interest, such as tools, construction 
equipment, or other personal property owned by Contractor, a Subcontractor, or an 
employee of Contractor or a Subcontractor, then the entity or individual owning such 
property item will be responsible for deciding whether to insure it, and if so in what 
amount. 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 25 of 65 

6.06 Waiver of Rights 

A. All policies purchased in accordance with Paragraph 6.05, expressly including the builder’s 
risk policy, shall contain provisions to the effect that in the event of payment of any loss or 
damage the insurers will have no rights of recovery against any insureds thereunder, or 
against Engineer or its consultants, or their officers, directors, members, partners, 
employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors. Owner and Contractor waive all rights 
against each other and the respective officers, directors, members, partners, employees, 
agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them, for all losses and 
damages caused by, arising out of, or resulting from any of the perils or causes of loss 
covered by such policies and any other property insurance applicable to the Work; and, in 
addition, waive all such rights against Engineer, its consultants, all Subcontractors, all 
individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary Conditions as insureds, and the 
officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors 
of each and any of them, under such policies for losses and damages so caused. None of 
the above waivers shall extend to the rights that any party making such waiver may have to 
the proceeds of insurance held by Owner or Contractor as trustee or fiduciary, or otherwise 
payable under any policy so issued. 

B. Owner waives all rights against Contractor, Subcontractors, and Engineer, and the officers, 
directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each 
and any of them, for: 

1. loss due to business interruption, loss of use, or other consequential loss extending 
beyond direct physical loss or damage to Owner’s property or the Work caused by, 
arising out of, or resulting from fire or other perils whether or not insured by Owner; 
and 

2. loss or damage to the completed Project or part thereof caused by, arising out of, or 
resulting from fire or other insured peril or cause of loss covered by any property 
insurance maintained on the completed Project or part thereof by Owner during 
partial occupancy or use pursuant to Paragraph 15.04, after Substantial Completion 
pursuant to Paragraph 15.03, or after final payment pursuant to Paragraph 15.06. 

C. Any insurance policy maintained by Owner covering any loss, damage or consequential loss 
referred to in Paragraph 6.06.B shall contain provisions to the effect that in the event of 
payment of any such loss, damage, or consequential loss, the insurers will have no rights of 
recovery against Contractor, Subcontractors, or Engineer, or the officers, directors, 
members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors of each and any of 
them. 

D. Contractor shall be responsible for assuring that the agreement under which a 
Subcontractor performs a portion of the Work contains provisions whereby the 
Subcontractor waives all rights against Owner, Contractor, all individuals or entities 
identified in the Supplementary Conditions as insureds, the Engineer and its consultants, 
and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and 
subcontractors of each and any of them, for all losses and damages caused by, arising out 
of, relating to, or resulting from any of the perils or causes of loss covered by builder’s risk 
insurance and any other property insurance applicable to the Work. 

6.07 Receipt and Application of Property Insurance Proceeds 

A. Any insured loss under the builder’s risk and other policies of insurance required by 
Paragraph 6.05 will be adjusted and settled with the named insured that purchased the 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 26 of 65 

policy. Such named insured shall act as fiduciary for the other insureds, and give notice to 
such other insureds that adjustment and settlement of a claim is in progress. Any other 
insured may state its position regarding a claim for insured loss in writing within 15 days 
after notice of such claim. 

B. Proceeds for such insured losses may be made payable by the insurer either jointly to 
multiple insureds, or to the named insured that purchased the policy in its own right and as 
fiduciary for other insureds, subject to the requirements of any applicable mortgage clause. 
A named insured receiving insurance proceeds under the builder’s risk and other policies of 
insurance required by Paragraph 6.05 shall distribute such proceeds in accordance with 
such agreement as the parties in interest may reach, or as otherwise required under the 
dispute resolution provisions of this Contract or applicable Laws and Regulations. 

C. If no other special agreement is reached, the damaged Work shall be repaired or replaced, 
the money so received applied on account thereof, and the Work and the cost thereof 
covered by Change Order, if needed. 

ARTICLE 7 – CONTRACTOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES 

7.01 Supervision and Superintendence 

A. Contractor shall supervise, inspect, and direct the Work competently and efficiently, 
devoting such attention thereto and applying such skills and expertise as may be necessary 
to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. Contractor shall be solely 
responsible for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of 
construction. 

B. At all times during the progress of the Work, Contractor shall assign a competent resident 
superintendent who shall not be replaced without written notice to Owner and Engineer 
except under extraordinary circumstances. 

7.02 Labor; Working Hours 

A. Contractor shall provide competent, suitably qualified personnel to survey and lay out the 
Work and perform construction as required by the Contract Documents. Contractor shall at 
all times maintain good discipline and order at the Site. 

B. Except as otherwise required for the safety or protection of persons or the Work or 
property at the Site or adjacent thereto, and except as otherwise stated in the Contract 
Documents, all Work at the Site shall be performed during regular working hours, Monday 
through Friday. Contractor will not perform Work on a Saturday, Sunday, or any legal 
holiday. Contractor may perform Work outside regular working hours or on Saturdays, 
Sundays, or legal holidays only with Owner’s written consent, which will not be 
unreasonably withheld. 

7.03 Services, Materials, and Equipment 

A. Unless otherwise specified in the Contract Documents, Contractor shall provide and 
assume full responsibility for all services, materials, equipment, labor, transportation, 
construction equipment and machinery, tools, appliances, fuel, power, light, heat, 
telephone, water, sanitary facilities, temporary facilities, and all other facilities and 
incidentals necessary for the performance, testing, start up, and completion of the Work, 
whether or not such items are specifically called for in the Contract Documents. 

B. All materials and equipment incorporated into the Work shall be of good quality and new, 
except as otherwise provided in the Contract Documents. All special warranties and 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 27 of 65 

guarantees required by the Specifications shall expressly run to the benefit of Owner. If 
required by Engineer, Contractor shall furnish satisfactory evidence (including reports of 
required tests) as to the source, kind, and quality of materials and equipment. 

C. All materials and equipment shall be stored, applied, installed, connected, erected, 
protected, used, cleaned, and conditioned in accordance with instructions of the applicable 
Supplier, except as otherwise may be provided in the Contract Documents. 

7.04 “Or Equals” 

A. Whenever an item of material or equipment is specified or described in the Contract 
Documents by using the name of a proprietary item or the name of a particular Supplier, 
the Contract Price has been based upon Contractor furnishing such item as specified. The 
specification or description of such an item is intended to establish the type, function, 
appearance, and quality required. Unless the specification or description contains or is 
followed by words reading that no like, equivalent, or “or equal” item is permitted, 
Contractor may request that Engineer authorize the use of other items of material or 
equipment, or items from other proposed suppliers under the circumstances described 
below. 

1. If Engineer in its sole discretion determines that an item of material or equipment 
proposed by Contractor is functionally equal to that named and sufficiently similar so 
that no change in related Work will be required, Engineer shall deem it an “or equal” 
item. For the purposes of this paragraph, a proposed item of material or equipment 
will be considered functionally equal to an item so named if: 

a. in the exercise of reasonable judgment Engineer determines that: 

1) it is at least equal in materials of construction, quality, durability, 
appearance, strength, and design characteristics; 

2) it will reliably perform at least equally well the function and achieve the 
results imposed by the design concept of the completed Project as a 
functioning whole; 

3) it has a proven record of performance and availability of responsive service; 
and 

4) it is not objectionable to Owner. 

b. Contractor certifies that, if approved and incorporated into the Work: 

1) there will be no increase in cost to the Owner or increase in Contract Times; 
and 

2) it will conform substantially to the detailed requirements of the item named 
in the Contract Documents. 

B. Contractor’s Expense: Contractor shall provide all data in support of any proposed “or 
equal” item at Contractor’s expense. 

C. Engineer’s Evaluation and Determination: Engineer will be allowed a reasonable time to 
evaluate each “or-equal” request.  Engineer may require Contractor to furnish additional 
data about the proposed “or-equal” item. Engineer will be the sole judge of acceptability. 
No “or-equal” item will be ordered, furnished, installed, or utilized until Engineer’s review is 
complete and Engineer determines that the proposed item is an “or-equal”, which will be 
evidenced by an approved Shop Drawing or other written communication. Engineer will 
advise Contractor in writing of any negative determination. 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 28 of 65 

D. Effect of Engineer’s Determination: Neither approval nor denial of an “or-equal” request 
shall result in any change in Contract Price. The Engineer’s denial of an “or-equal” request 
shall be final and binding, and may not be reversed through an appeal under any provision 
of the Contract Documents. 

E. Treatment as a Substitution Request: If Engineer determines that an item of material or 
equipment proposed by Contractor does not qualify as an “or-equal” item, Contractor may 
request that Engineer considered the proposed item as a substitute pursuant to Paragraph 
7.05. 

7.05 Substitutes 

A. Unless the specification or description of an item of material or equipment required to be 
furnished under the Contract Documents contains or is followed by words reading that no 
substitution is permitted, Contractor may request that Engineer authorize the use of other 
items of material or equipment under the circumstances described below. To the extent 
possible such requests shall be made before commencement of related construction at the 
Site. 

1. Contractor shall submit sufficient information as provided below to allow Engineer to 
determine if the item of material or equipment proposed is functionally equivalent to 
that named and an acceptable substitute therefor. Engineer will not accept requests 
for review of proposed substitute items of material or equipment from anyone other 
than Contractor. 

2. The requirements for review by Engineer will be as set forth in Paragraph 7.05.B, as 
supplemented by the Specifications, and as Engineer may decide is appropriate under 
the circumstances. 

3. Contractor shall make written application to Engineer for review of a proposed 
substitute item of material or equipment that Contractor seeks to furnish or use. The 
application: 

a. shall certify that the proposed substitute item will: 

1) perform adequately the functions and achieve the results called for by the 
general design, 

2) be similar in substance to that specified, and 

3) be suited to the same use as that specified. 

b. will state: 

1) the extent, if any, to which the use of the proposed substitute item will 
necessitate a change in Contract Times, 

2) whether use of the proposed substitute item in the Work will require a 
change in any of the Contract Documents (or in the provisions of any other 
direct contract with Owner for other work on the Project) to adapt the 
design to the proposed substitute item, and 

3) whether incorporation or use of the proposed substitute item in connection 
with the Work is subject to payment of any license fee or royalty. 

c. will identify: 

1) all variations of the proposed substitute item from that specified, and 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 29 of 65 

2) available engineering, sales, maintenance, repair, and replacement services. 

d. shall contain an itemized estimate of all costs or credits that will result directly or 
indirectly from use of such substitute item, including but not limited to changes in 
Contract Price, shared savings, costs of redesign, and claims of other contractors 
affected by any resulting change. 

B. Engineer’s Evaluation and Determination: Engineer will be allowed a reasonable time to 
evaluate each substitute request, and to obtain comments and direction from Owner. 
Engineer may require Contractor to furnish additional data about the proposed substitute 
item. Engineer will be the sole judge of acceptability. No substitute will be ordered, 
furnished, installed, or utilized until Engineer’s review is complete and Engineer determines 
that the proposed item is an acceptable substitute. Engineer’s determination will be 
evidenced by a Field Order or a proposed Change Order accounting for the substitution 
itself and all related impacts, including changes in Contract Price or Contract Times. 
Engineer will advise Contractor in writing of any negative determination. 

C. Special Guarantee: Owner may require Contractor to furnish at Contractor’s expense a 
special performance guarantee or other surety with respect to any substitute. 

D. Reimbursement of Engineer’s Cost: Engineer will record Engineer’s costs in evaluating a 
substitute proposed or submitted by Contractor. Whether or not Engineer approves a 
substitute so proposed or submitted by Contractor, Contractor shall reimburse Owner for 
the reasonable charges of Engineer for evaluating each such proposed substitute. 
Contractor shall also reimburse Owner for the reasonable charges of Engineer for making 
changes in the Contract Documents (or in the provisions of any other direct contract with 
Owner) resulting from the acceptance of each proposed substitute. 

E. Contractor’s Expense: Contractor shall provide all data in support of any proposed 
substitute at Contractor’s expense. 

F. Effect of Engineer’s Determination: If Engineer approves the substitution request, 
Contractor shall execute the proposed Change Order and proceed with the substitution. 
The Engineer’s denial of a substitution request shall be final and binding, and may not be 
reversed through an appeal under any provision of the Contract Documents. Contractor 
may challenge the scope of reimbursement costs imposed under Paragraph 7.05.D, by 
timely submittal of a Change Proposal. 

7.06 Concerning Subcontractors, Suppliers, and Others 

A. Contractor may retain Subcontractors and Suppliers for the performance of parts of the 
Work.  Such Subcontractors and Suppliers must be acceptable to Owner. 

B. Contractor shall retain specific Subcontractors, Suppliers, or other individuals or entities for 
the performance of designated parts of the Work if required by the Contract to do so. 

C. Subsequent to the submittal of Contractor’s Bid or final negotiation of the terms of the 
Contract, Owner may not require Contractor to retain any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other 
individual or entity to furnish or perform any of the Work against which Contractor has 
reasonable objection. 

D. Prior to entry into any binding subcontract or purchase order, Contractor shall submit to 
Owner the identity of the proposed Subcontractor or Supplier (unless Owner has already 
deemed such proposed Subcontractor or Supplier acceptable, during the bidding process or 
otherwise). Such proposed Subcontractor or Supplier shall be deemed acceptable to Owner 
unless Owner raises a substantive, reasonable objection within five days. 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 30 of 65 

E. Owner may require the replacement of any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or 
entity retained by Contractor to perform any part of the Work. Owner also may require 
Contractor to retain specific replacements; provided, however, that Owner may not require 
a replacement to which Contractor has a reasonable objection. If Contractor has submitted 
the identity of certain Subcontractors, Suppliers, or other individuals or entities for 
acceptance by Owner, and Owner has accepted it (either in writing or by failing to make 
written objection thereto), then Owner may subsequently revoke the acceptance of any 
such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity so identified solely on the basis 
of substantive, reasonable objection after due investigation. Contractor shall submit an 
acceptable replacement for the rejected Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or 
entity. 

F. If Owner requires the replacement of any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or 
entity retained by Contractor to perform any part of the Work, then Contractor shall be 
entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, with respect to the 
replacement; and Contractor shall initiate a Change Proposal for such adjustment within 30 
days of Owner’s requirement of replacement. 

G. No acceptance by Owner of any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity, 
whether initially or as a replacement, shall constitute a waiver of the right of Owner to the 
completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

H. On a monthly basis Contractor shall submit to Engineer a complete list of all Subcontractors 
and Suppliers having a direct contract with Contractor, and of all other Subcontractors and 
Suppliers known to Contractor at the time of submittal. 

I. Contractor shall be fully responsible to Owner and Engineer for all acts and omissions of the 
Subcontractors, Suppliers, and other individuals or entities performing or furnishing any of 
the Work just as Contractor is responsible for Contractor’s own acts and omissions. 

J. Contractor shall be solely responsible for scheduling and coordinating the work of 
Subcontractors, Suppliers, and all other individuals or entities performing or furnishing any 
of the Work. 

K. Contractor shall restrict all Subcontractors, Suppliers, and such other individuals or entities 
performing or furnishing any of the Work from communicating with Engineer or Owner, 
except through Contractor or in case of an emergency, or as otherwise expressly allowed 
herein. 

L. The divisions and sections of the Specifications and the identifications of any Drawings shall 
not control Contractor in dividing the Work among Subcontractors or Suppliers or 
delineating the Work to be performed by any specific trade. 

M. All Work performed for Contractor by a Subcontractor or Supplier shall be pursuant to an 
appropriate contractual agreement that specifically binds the Subcontractor or Supplier to 
the applicable terms and conditions of the Contract Documents for the benefit of Owner 
and Engineer. 

N. Owner may furnish to any Subcontractor or Supplier, to the extent practicable, information 
about amounts paid to Contractor on account of Work performed for Contractor by the 
particular Subcontractor or Supplier. 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 31 of 65 

O. Nothing in the Contract Documents: 

1. shall create for the benefit of any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or 
entity any contractual relationship between Owner or Engineer and any such 
Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity; nor 

2. shall create any obligation on the part of Owner or Engineer to pay or to see to the 
payment of any money due any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or 
entity except as may otherwise be required by Laws and Regulations. 

7.07 Patent Fees and Royalties 

A. Contractor shall pay all license fees and royalties and assume all costs incident to the use in 
the performance of the Work or the incorporation in the Work of any invention, design, 
process, product, or device which is the subject of patent rights or copyrights held by 
others. If a particular invention, design, process, product, or device is specified in the 
Contract Documents for use in the performance of the Work and if, to the actual 
knowledge of Owner or Engineer, its use is subject to patent rights or copyrights calling for 
the payment of any license fee or royalty to others, the existence of such rights shall be 
disclosed by Owner in the Contract Documents. 

B. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Owner shall indemnify and hold 
harmless Contractor, and its officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, 
consultants, and subcontractors from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages 
(including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and 
other professionals, and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising 
out of or relating to any infringement of patent rights or copyrights incident to the use in 
the performance of the Work or resulting from the incorporation in the Work of any 
invention, design, process, product, or device specified in the Contract Documents, but not 
identified as being subject to payment of any license fee or royalty to others required by 
patent rights or copyrights. 

C. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Contractor shall indemnify and 
hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, 
employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them from and 
against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and 
charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or 
arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to any infringement 
of patent rights or copyrights incident to the use in the performance of the Work or 
resulting from the incorporation in the Work of any invention, design, process, product, or 
device not specified in the Contract Documents. 

7.08 Permits 

A. Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, Contractor shall obtain and pay for 
all construction permits and licenses. Owner shall assist Contractor, when necessary, in 
obtaining such permits and licenses. Contractor shall pay all governmental charges and 
inspection fees necessary for the prosecution of the Work which are applicable at the time 
of the submission of Contractor’s Bid (or when Contractor became bound under a 
negotiated contract). Owner shall pay all charges of utility owners for connections for 
providing permanent service to the Work 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 32 of 65 

7.09 Taxes 

A.  Contractor shall pay all sales, consumer, use, and other similar taxes required to be paid by 
Contractor in accordance with the Laws and Regulations of the place of the Project which 
are applicable during the performance of the Work. 

7.10 Laws and Regulations 

A. Contractor shall give all notices required by and shall comply with all Laws and Regulations 
applicable to the performance of the Work. Except where otherwise expressly required by 
applicable Laws and Regulations, neither Owner nor Engineer shall be responsible for 
monitoring Contractor’s compliance with any Laws or Regulations. 

B. If Contractor performs any Work or takes any other action knowing or having reason to 
know that it is contrary to Laws or Regulations, Contractor shall bear all resulting costs and 
losses, and shall indemnify and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, 
directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each 
and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not 
limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals 
and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to 
such Work or other action. It shall not be Contractor’s responsibility to make certain that 
the Work described in the Contract Documents is in accordance with Laws and Regulations, 
but this shall not relieve Contractor of Contractor’s obligations under Paragraph 3.03. 

C. Owner or Contractor may give notice to the other party of any changes after the 
submission of Contractor’s Bid (or after the date when Contractor became bound under a 
negotiated contract) in Laws or Regulations having an effect on the cost or time of 
performance of the Work, including but not limited to changes in Laws or Regulations 
having an effect on procuring permits and on sales, use, value-added, consumption, and 
other similar taxes.  If Owner and Contractor are unable to agree on entitlement to or on 
the amount or extent, if any, of any adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times 
resulting from such changes, then within 30 days of such notice Contractor may submit a 
Change Proposal, or Owner may initiate a Claim. 

7.11  Record Documents 

A. Contractor shall maintain in a safe place at the Site one printed record copy of all Drawings, 
Specifications, Addenda, Change Orders, Work Change Directives, Field Orders, written 
interpretations and clarifications, and approved Shop Drawings. Contractor shall keep such 
record documents in good order and annotate them to show changes made during 
construction. These record documents, together with all approved Samples, will be 
available to Engineer for reference. Upon completion of the Work, Contractor shall deliver 
these record documents to Engineer. 

7.12 Safety and Protection 

A. Contractor shall be solely responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety 
precautions and programs in connection with the Work. Such responsibility does not 
relieve Subcontractors of their responsibility for the safety of persons or property in the 
performance of their work, nor for compliance with applicable safety Laws and Regulations.  
Contractor shall take all necessary precautions for the safety of, and shall provide the 
necessary protection to prevent damage, injury, or loss to: 

1. all persons on the Site or who may be affected by the Work; 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 33 of 65 

2. all the Work and materials and equipment to be incorporated therein, whether in 
storage on or off the Site; and 

3. other property at the Site or adjacent thereto, including trees, shrubs, lawns, walks, 
pavements, roadways, structures, other work in progress, utilities, and Underground 
Facilities not designated for removal, relocation, or replacement in the course of 
construction. 

B. Contractor shall comply with all applicable Laws and Regulations relating to the safety of 
persons or property, or to the protection of persons or property from damage, injury, or 
loss; and shall erect and maintain all necessary safeguards for such safety and protection. 
Contractor shall notify Owner; the owners of adjacent property, Underground Facilities, 
and other utilities; and other contractors and utility owners performing work at or adjacent 
to the Site, when prosecution of the Work may affect them, and shall cooperate with them 
in the protection, removal, relocation, and replacement of their property or work in 
progress. 

C. Contractor shall comply with the applicable requirements of Owner’s safety programs, if 
any.  The Supplementary Conditions identify any Owner’s safety programs that are 
applicable to the Work. 

D. Contractor shall inform Owner and Engineer of the specific requirements of Contractor’s 
safety program with which Owner’s and Engineer’s employees and representatives must 
comply while at the Site. 

E. All damage, injury, or loss to any property referred to in Paragraph 7.12.A.2 or 7.12.A.3 
caused, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, by Contractor, any Subcontractor, 
Supplier, or any other individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to 
perform any of the Work, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, shall be 
remedied by Contractor at its expense (except damage or loss attributable to the fault of 
Drawings or Specifications or to the acts or omissions of Owner or Engineer or anyone 
employed by any of them, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, and not 
attributable, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, to the fault or negligence of 
Contractor or any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity directly or indirectly 
employed by any of them). 

F. Contractor’s duties and responsibilities for safety and protection shall continue until such 
time as all the Work is completed and Engineer has issued a notice to Owner and 
Contractor in accordance with Paragraph 15.06.B that the Work is acceptable (except as 
otherwise expressly provided in connection with Substantial Completion). 

G. Contractor’s duties and responsibilities for safety and protection shall resume whenever 
Contractor or any Subcontractor or Supplier returns to the Site to fulfill warranty or 
correction obligations, or to conduct other tasks arising from the Contract Documents. 

7.13 Safety Representative 

A. Contractor shall designate a qualified and experienced safety representative at the Site 
whose duties and responsibilities shall be the prevention of accidents and the maintaining 
and supervising of safety precautions and programs. 

7.14 Hazard Communication Programs 

A. Contractor shall be responsible for coordinating any exchange of material safety data 
sheets or other hazard communication information required to be made available to or 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 34 of 65 

exchanged between or among employers at the Site in accordance with Laws or 
Regulations. 

7.15 Emergencies 

A. In emergencies affecting the safety or protection of persons or the Work or property at the 
Site or adjacent thereto, Contractor is obligated to act to prevent threatened damage, 
injury, or loss. Contractor shall give Engineer prompt written notice if Contractor believes 
that any significant changes in the Work or variations from the Contract Documents have 
been caused thereby or are required as a result thereof. If Engineer determines that a 
change in the Contract Documents is required because of the action taken by Contractor in 
response to such an emergency, a Work Change Directive or Change Order will be issued. 

7.16 Shop Drawings, Samples, and Other Submittals 

A. Shop Drawing and Sample Submittal Requirements: 

1. Before submitting a Shop Drawing or Sample, Contractor shall have: 

a. reviewed and coordinated the Shop Drawing or Sample with other Shop Drawings 
and Samples and with the requirements of the Work and the Contract 
Documents; 

b. determined and verified all field measurements, quantities, dimensions, specified 
performance and design criteria, installation requirements, materials, catalog 
numbers, and similar information with respect thereto; 

c. determined and verified the suitability of all materials and equipment offered 
with respect to the indicated application, fabrication, shipping, handling, storage, 
assembly, and installation pertaining to the performance of the Work; and 

d. determined and verified all information relative to Contractor’s responsibilities 
for means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction, and 
safety precautions and programs incident thereto. 

2. Each submittal shall bear a stamp or specific written certification that Contractor has 
satisfied Contractor’s obligations under the Contract Documents with respect to 
Contractor’s review of that submittal, and that Contractor approves the submittal. 

3. With each submittal, Contractor shall give Engineer specific written notice of any 
variations that the Shop Drawing or Sample may have from the requirements of the 
Contract Documents. This notice shall be set forth in a written communication 
separate from the Shop Drawings or Sample submittal; and, in addition, in the case of 
Shop Drawings by a specific notation made on each Shop Drawing submitted to 
Engineer for review and approval of each such variation. 

B. Submittal Procedures for Shop Drawings and Samples: Contractor shall submit Shop 
Drawings and Samples to Engineer for review and approval in accordance with the 
accepted Schedule of Submittals. Each submittal will be identified as Engineer may require. 

1. Shop Drawings: 

a. Contractor shall submit the number of copies required in the Specifications. 

b. Data shown on the Shop Drawings will be complete with respect to quantities, 
dimensions, specified performance and design criteria, materials, and similar data 
to show Engineer the services, materials, and equipment Contractor proposes to 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 35 of 65 

provide and to enable Engineer to review the information for the limited 
purposes required by Paragraph 7.16.D. 

2. Samples: 

a. Contractor shall submit the number of Samples required in the Specifications. 

b. Contractor shall clearly identify each Sample as to material, Supplier, pertinent 
data such as catalog numbers, the use for which intended and other data as 
Engineer may require to enable Engineer to review the submittal for the limited 
purposes required by Paragraph 7.16.D. 

3. Where a Shop Drawing or Sample is required by the Contract Documents or the 
Schedule of Submittals, any related Work performed prior to Engineer’s review and 
approval of the pertinent submittal will be at the sole expense and responsibility of 
Contractor. 

C. Other Submittals: Contractor shall submit other submittals to Engineer in accordance with 
the accepted Schedule of Submittals, and pursuant to the applicable terms of the 
Specifications. 

D. Engineer’s Review: 

1. Engineer will provide timely review of Shop Drawings and Samples in accordance with 
the Schedule of Submittals acceptable to Engineer. Engineer’s review and approval will 
be only to determine if the items covered by the submittals will, after installation or 
incorporation in the Work, conform to the information given in the Contract 
Documents and be compatible with the design concept of the completed Project as a 
functioning whole as indicated by the Contract Documents. 

2. Engineer’s review and approval will not extend to means, methods, techniques, 
sequences, or procedures of construction or to safety precautions or programs 
incident thereto. 

3. Engineer’s review and approval of a separate item as such will not indicate approval of 
the assembly in which the item functions. 

4. Engineer’s review and approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample shall not relieve 
Contractor from responsibility for any variation from the requirements of the Contract 
Documents unless Contractor has complied with the requirements of Paragraph 
7.16.A.3 and Engineer has given written approval of each such variation by specific 
written notation thereof incorporated in or accompanying the Shop Drawing or 
Sample. Engineer will document any such approved variation from the requirements 
of the Contract Documents in a Field Order. 

5. Engineer’s review and approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample shall not relieve 
Contractor from responsibility for complying with the requirements of Paragraph 
7.16.A and B. 

6. Engineer’s review and approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample, or of a variation from 
the requirements of the Contract Documents, shall not, under any circumstances, 
change the Contract Times or Contract Price, unless such changes are included in a 
Change Order. 

7. Neither Engineer’s receipt, review, acceptance or approval of a Shop Drawing, Sample, 
or other submittal shall result in such item becoming a Contract Document. 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 36 of 65 

8. Contractor shall perform the Work in compliance with the requirements and 
commitments set forth in approved Shop Drawings and Samples, subject to the 
provisions of Paragraph 7.16.D.4. 

E. Resubmittal Procedures: 

1. Contractor shall make corrections required by Engineer and shall return the required 
number of corrected copies of Shop Drawings and submit, as required, new Samples 
for review and approval. Contractor shall direct specific attention in writing to 
revisions other than the corrections called for by Engineer on previous submittals. 

2. Contractor shall furnish required submittals with sufficient information and accuracy 
to obtain required approval of an item with no more than three submittals. Engineer 
will record Engineer’s time for reviewing a fourth or subsequent submittal of a Shop 
Drawings, sample, or other item requiring approval, and Contractor shall be 
responsible for Engineer’s charges to Owner for such time. Owner may impose a set-
off against payments due to Contractor to secure reimbursement for such charges. 

3. If Contractor requests a change of a previously approved submittal item, Contractor 
shall be responsible for Engineer’s charges to Owner for its review time, and Owner 
may impose a set-off against payments due to Contractor to secure reimbursement for 
such charges, unless the need for such change is beyond the control of Contractor. 

7.17 Contractor’s General Warranty and Guarantee 

A. Contractor warrants and guarantees to Owner that all Work will be in accordance with the 
Contract Documents and will not be defective. Engineer and its officers, directors, 
members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors shall be entitled to 
rely on Contractor’s warranty and guarantee. 

B. Contractor’s warranty and guarantee hereunder excludes defects or damage caused by: 

1. abuse, modification, or improper maintenance or operation by persons other than 
Contractor, Subcontractors, Suppliers, or any other individual or entity for whom 
Contractor is responsible; or 

2. normal wear and tear under normal usage. 

C. Contractor’s obligation to perform and complete the Work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents shall be absolute. None of the following will constitute an acceptance of Work 
that is not in accordance with the Contract Documents or a release of Contractor’s 
obligation to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents: 

1. observations by Engineer; 

2. recommendation by Engineer or payment by Owner of any progress or final payment; 

3. the issuance of a certificate of Substantial Completion by Engineer or any payment 
related thereto by Owner; 

4. use or occupancy of the Work or any part thereof by Owner; 

5. any review and approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample submittal; 

6. the issuance of a notice of acceptability by Engineer; 

7. any inspection, test, or approval by others; or 

8. any correction of defective Work by Owner. 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 37 of 65 

D. If the Contract requires the Contractor to accept the assignment of a contract entered into 
by Owner, then the specific warranties, guarantees, and correction obligations contained in 
the assigned contract shall govern with respect to Contractor’s performance obligations to 
Owner for the Work described in the assigned contract. 

7.18 Indemnification 

A. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, and in addition to any other 
obligations of Contractor under the Contract  or otherwise, Contractor shall indemnify and 
hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, 
employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them from and 
against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and 
charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or 
arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to the performance 
of the Work, provided that any such claim, cost, loss, or damage is attributable to bodily 
injury, sickness, disease, or death, or to injury to or destruction of tangible property (other 
than the Work itself), including the loss of use resulting therefrom but only to the extent 
caused by any negligent act or omission of Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, or 
any individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of 
the Work or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable. 

B. In any and all claims against Owner or Engineer or any of their officers, directors, members, 
partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors by any employee (or the 
survivor or personal representative of such employee) of Contractor, any Subcontractor, 
any Supplier, or any individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to 
perform any of the Work, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, the 
indemnification obligation under Paragraph 7.18.A shall not be limited in any way by any 
limitation on the amount or type of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by or for 
Contractor or any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity under workers’ 
compensation acts, disability benefit acts, or other employee benefit acts. 

C. The indemnification obligations of Contractor under Paragraph 7.18.A shall not extend to 
the liability of Engineer and Engineer’s officers, directors, members, partners, employees, 
agents, consultants and subcontractors arising out of: 

1. the preparation or approval of, or the failure to prepare or approve maps, Drawings, 
opinions, reports, surveys, Change Orders, designs, or Specifications; or 

2. giving directions or instructions, or failing to give them, if that is the primary cause of 
the injury or damage. 

7.19 Delegation of Professional Design Services 

A. Contractor will not be required to provide professional design services unless such services 
are specifically required by the Contract Documents for a portion of the Work or unless 
such services are required to carry out Contractor’s responsibilities for construction means, 
methods, techniques, sequences and procedures. Contractor shall not be required to 
provide professional services in violation of applicable Laws and Regulations. 

B. If professional design services or certifications by a design professional related to systems, 
materials, or equipment are specifically required of Contractor by the Contract Documents, 
Owner and Engineer will specify all performance and design criteria that such services must 
satisfy. Contractor shall cause such services or certifications to be provided by a properly 
licensed professional, whose signature and seal shall appear on all drawings, calculations, 
specifications, certifications, and other submittals prepared by such professional. Shop 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 38 of 65 

Drawings and other submittals related to the Work designed or certified by such 
professional, if prepared by others, shall bear such professional’s written approval when 
submitted to Engineer. 

C. Owner and Engineer shall be entitled to rely upon the adequacy, accuracy, and 
completeness of the services, certifications, or approvals performed by such design 
professionals, provided Owner and Engineer have specified to Contractor all performance 
and design criteria that such services must satisfy. 

D. Pursuant to this paragraph, Engineer’s review and approval of design calculations and 
design drawings will be only for the limited purpose of checking for conformance with 
performance and design criteria given and the design concept expressed in the Contract 
Documents. Engineer’s review and approval of Shop Drawings and other submittals (except 
design calculations and design drawings) will be only for the purpose stated in Paragraph 
7.16.D.1. 

E. Contractor shall not be responsible for the adequacy of the performance or design criteria 
specified by Owner or Engineer. 

ARTICLE 8 – OTHER WORK AT THE SITE 

8.01 Other Work 

A. In addition to and apart from the Work under the Contract Documents, the Owner may 
perform other work at or adjacent to the Site. Such other work may be performed by 
Owner’s employees, or through contracts between the Owner and third parties. Owner 
may also arrange to have third-party utility owners perform work on their utilities and 
facilities at or adjacent to the Site. 

B. If Owner performs other work at or adjacent to the Site with Owner’s employees, or 
through contracts for such other work, then Owner shall give Contractor written notice 
thereof prior to starting any such other work. If Owner has advance information regarding 
the start of any utility work at or adjacent to the Site, Owner shall provide such information 
to Contractor. 

C. Contractor shall afford each other contractor that performs such other work, each utility 
owner performing other work, and Owner, if Owner is performing other work with Owner’s 
employees, proper and safe access to the Site, and provide a reasonable opportunity for 
the introduction and storage of materials and equipment and the execution of such other 
work. Contractor shall do all cutting, fitting, and patching of the Work that may be required 
to properly connect or otherwise make its several parts come together and properly 
integrate with such other work. Contractor shall not endanger any work of others by 
cutting, excavating, or otherwise altering such work; provided, however, that Contractor 
may cut or alter others' work with the written consent of Engineer and the others whose 
work will be affected. 

D. If the proper execution or results of any part of Contractor’s Work depends upon work 
performed by others under this Article 8, Contractor shall inspect such other work and 
promptly report to Engineer in writing any delays, defects, or deficiencies in such other 
work that render it unavailable or unsuitable for the proper execution and results of 
Contractor’s Work. Contractor’s failure to so report will constitute an acceptance of such 
other work as fit and proper for integration with Contractor’s Work except for latent 
defects and deficiencies in such other work. 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 39 of 65 

8.02 Coordination 

A. If Owner intends to contract with others for the performance of other work at or adjacent 
to the Site, to perform other work at or adjacent to the Site with Owner’s employees, or to 
arrange to have utility owners perform work at or adjacent to the Site, the following will be 
set forth in the Supplementary Conditions or provided to Contractor prior to the start of 
any such other work: 

1. the identity of the individual or entity that will have authority and responsibility for 
coordination of the activities among the various contractors; 

2. an itemization of the specific matters to be covered by such authority and 
responsibility; and 

3. the extent of such authority and responsibilities. 

B. Unless otherwise provided in the Supplementary Conditions, Owner shall have sole 
authority and responsibility for such coordination. 

8.03 Legal Relationships 

A. If, in the course of performing other work at or adjacent to the Site for Owner, the Owner’s 
employees, any other contractor working for Owner, or any utility owner causes damage to 
the Work or to the property of Contractor or its Subcontractors, or delays, disrupts, 
interferes with, or increases the scope or cost of the performance of the Work, through 
actions or inaction, then Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in the 
Contract Price or the Contract Times, or both. Contractor must submit any Change Proposal 
seeking an equitable adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Times under this 
paragraph within 30 days of the damaging, delaying, disrupting, or interfering event. The 
entitlement to, and extent of, any such equitable adjustment shall take into account 
information (if any) regarding such other work that was provided to Contractor in the 
Contract Documents prior to the submittal of the Bid or the final negotiation of the terms 
of the Contract. When applicable, any such equitable adjustment in Contract Price shall be 
conditioned on Contractor assigning to Owner all Contractor’s rights against such other 
contractor or utility owner with respect to the damage, delay, disruption, or interference 
that is the subject of the adjustment. Contractor’s entitlement to an adjustment of the 
Contract Times is conditioned on such adjustment being essential to Contractor’s ability to 
complete the Work within the Contract Times. 

B. Contractor shall take reasonable and customary measures to avoid damaging, delaying, 
disrupting, or interfering with the work of Owner, any other contractor, or any utility owner 
performing other work at or adjacent to the Site. If Contractor fails to take such measures 
and as a result damages, delays, disrupts, or interferes with the work of any such other 
contractor or utility owner, then Owner may impose a set-off against payments due to 
Contractor, and assign to such other contractor or utility owner the Owner’s contractual 
rights against Contractor with respect to the breach of the obligations set forth in this 
paragraph. 

C. When Owner is performing other work at or adjacent to the Site with Owner’s employees, 
Contractor shall be liable to Owner for damage to such other work, and for the reasonable 
direct delay, disruption, and interference costs incurred by Owner as a result of 
Contractor’s failure to take reasonable and customary measures with respect to Owner’s 
other work. In response to such damage, delay, disruption, or interference, Owner may 
impose a set-off against payments due to Contractor. 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 40 of 65 

D. If Contractor damages, delays, disrupts, or interferes with the work of any other contractor, 
or any utility owner performing other work at or adjacent to the Site, through Contractor’s 
failure to take reasonable and customary measures to avoid such impacts, or if any claim 
arising out of Contractor’s actions, inactions, or negligence in performance of the Work at 
or adjacent to the Site is made by any such other contractor or utility owner against 
Contractor, Owner, or Engineer, then Contractor shall (1) promptly attempt to settle the 
claim as to all parties through negotiations with such other contractor or utility owner, or 
otherwise resolve the claim by arbitration or other dispute resolution proceeding or at law, 
and (2) indemnify and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, 
members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of 
them from and against any such claims, and against all costs, losses, and damages 
(including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and 
other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out 
of or relating to such damage, delay, disruption, or interference. 

ARTICLE 9 – OWNER’S RESPONSIBILITIES 

9.01 Communications to Contractor 

A. Except as otherwise provided in these General Conditions, Owner shall issue all 
communications to Contractor through Engineer. 

9.02 Replacement of Engineer 

A. Owner may at its discretion appoint an engineer to replace Engineer, provided Contractor 
makes no reasonable objection to the replacement engineer. The replacement engineer’s 
status under the Contract Documents shall be that of the former Engineer. 

9.03 Furnish Data 

A. Owner shall promptly furnish the data required of Owner under the Contract Documents. 

9.04 Pay When Due 

A. Owner shall make payments to Contractor when they are due as provided in the 
Agreement. 

9.05 Lands and Easements; Reports, Tests, and Drawings 

A. Owner’s duties with respect to providing lands and easements are set forth in Paragraph 
5.01. 

B. Owner’s duties with respect to providing engineering surveys to establish reference points 
are set forth in Paragraph 4.03. 

C. Article 5 refers to Owner’s identifying and making available to Contractor copies of reports 
of explorations and tests of conditions at the Site, and drawings of physical conditions 
relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at the Site. 

9.06 Insurance 

A. Owner’s responsibilities, if any, with respect to purchasing and maintaining liability and 
property insurance are set forth in Article 6. 

9.07 Change Orders 

A. Owner’s responsibilities with respect to Change Orders are set forth in Article 11. 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 41 of 65 

9.08 Inspections, Tests, and Approvals 

A. Owner’s responsibility with respect to certain inspections, tests, and approvals is set forth 
in Paragraph 14.02.B. 

9.09 Limitations on Owner’s Responsibilities 

A. The Owner shall not supervise, direct, or have control or authority over, nor be responsible 
for, Contractor’s means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, 
or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or for any failure of Contractor to 
comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. Owner will 
not be responsible for Contractor’s failure to perform the Work in accordance with the 
Contract Documents. 

9.10 Undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition 

A. Owner’s responsibility in respect to an undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition is 
set forth in Paragraph 5.06. 

9.11 Evidence of Financial Arrangements 

A. Upon request of Contractor, Owner shall furnish Contractor reasonable evidence that 
financial arrangements have been made to satisfy Owner’s obligations under the Contract 
Documents (including obligations under proposed changes in the Work). 

9.12 Safety Programs 

A. While at the Site, Owner’s employees and representatives shall comply with the specific 
applicable requirements of Contractor’s safety programs of which Owner has been 
informed. 

B. Owner shall furnish copies of any applicable Owner safety programs to Contractor. 

ARTICLE 10 – ENGINEER’S STATUS DURING CONSTRUCTION 

10.01 Owner’s Representative 

A. Engineer will be Owner’s representative during the construction period. The duties and 
responsibilities and the limitations of authority of Engineer as Owner’s representative 
during construction are set forth in the Contract. 

10.02 Visits to Site 

A. Engineer will make visits to the Site at intervals appropriate to the various stages of 
construction as Engineer deems necessary in order to observe as an experienced and 
qualified design professional the progress that has been made and the quality of the 
various aspects of Contractor’s executed Work. Based on information obtained during such 
visits and observations, Engineer, for the benefit of Owner, will determine, in general, if the 
Work is proceeding in accordance with the Contract Documents. Engineer will not be 
required to make exhaustive or continuous inspections on the Site to check the quality or 
quantity of the Work. Engineer’s efforts will be directed toward providing for Owner a 
greater degree of confidence that the completed Work will conform generally to the 
Contract Documents. On the basis of such visits and observations, Engineer will keep 
Owner informed of the progress of the Work and will endeavor to guard Owner against 
defective Work. 

B. Engineer’s visits and observations are subject to all the limitations on Engineer’s authority 
and responsibility set forth in Paragraph 10.08.  Particularly, but without limitation, during 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 42 of 65 

or as a result of Engineer’s visits or observations of Contractor’s Work, Engineer will not 
supervise, direct, control, or have authority over or be responsible for Contractor’s means, 
methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions 
and programs incident thereto, or for any failure of Contractor to comply with Laws and 
Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. 

10.03 Project Representative 

A. If Owner and Engineer have agreed that Engineer will furnish a Resident Project 
Representative to represent Engineer at the Site and assist Engineer in observing the 
progress and quality of the Work, then the authority and responsibilities of any such 
Resident Project Representative will be as provided in the Supplementary Conditions, and 
limitations on the responsibilities thereof will be as provided in Paragraph 10.08. If Owner 
designates another representative or agent to represent Owner at the Site who is not 
Engineer’s consultant, agent, or employee, the responsibilities and authority and 
limitations thereon of such other individual or entity will be as provided in the 
Supplementary Conditions. 

10.04 Rejecting Defective Work 

A. Engineer has the authority to reject Work in accordance with Article 14. 

10.05 Shop Drawings, Change Orders and Payments 

A. Engineer’s authority, and limitations thereof, as to Shop Drawings and Samples, are set 
forth in Paragraph 7.16. 

B. Engineer’s authority, and limitations thereof, as to design calculations and design drawings 
submitted in response to a delegation of professional design services, if any, are set forth in 
Paragraph 7.19. 

C. Engineer’s authority as to Change Orders is set forth in Article 11. 

D. Engineer’s authority as to Applications for Payment is set forth in Article 15. 

10.06 Determinations for Unit Price Work 

A. Engineer will determine the actual quantities and classifications of Unit Price Work 
performed by Contractor as set forth in Paragraph 13.03. 

10.07 Decisions on Requirements of Contract Documents and Acceptability of Work 

A. Engineer will render decisions regarding the requirements of the Contract Documents, and 
judge the acceptability of the Work, pursuant to the specific procedures set forth herein for 
initial interpretations, Change Proposals, and acceptance of the Work. In rendering such 
decisions and judgments, Engineer will not show partiality to Owner or Contractor, and will 
not be liable to Owner, Contractor, or others in connection with any proceedings, 
interpretations, decisions, or judgments conducted or rendered in good faith. 

10.08 Limitations on Engineer’s Authority and Responsibilities 

A. Neither Engineer’s authority or responsibility under this Article 10 or under any other 
provision of the Contract, nor any decision made by Engineer in good faith either to 
exercise or not exercise such authority or responsibility or the undertaking, exercise, or 
performance of any authority or responsibility by Engineer, shall create, impose, or give rise 
to any duty in contract, tort, or otherwise owed by Engineer to Contractor, any 
Subcontractor, any Supplier, any other individual or entity, or to any surety for or employee 
or agent of any of them. 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 43 of 65 

B. Engineer will not supervise, direct, control, or have authority over or be responsible for 
Contractor’s means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the 
safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or for any failure of Contractor to 
comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. Engineer will 
not be responsible for Contractor’s failure to perform the Work in accordance with the 
Contract Documents. 

C. Engineer will not be responsible for the acts or omissions of Contractor or of any 
Subcontractor, any Supplier, or of any other individual or entity performing any of the 
Work. 

D. Engineer’s review of the final Application for Payment and accompanying documentation 
and all maintenance and operating instructions, schedules, guarantees, bonds, certificates 
of inspection, tests and approvals, and other documentation required to be delivered by 
Paragraph 15.06.A will only be to determine generally that their content complies with the 
requirements of, and in the case of certificates of inspections, tests, and approvals, that the 
results certified indicate compliance with the Contract Documents. 

E. The limitations upon authority and responsibility set forth in this Paragraph 10.08 shall also 
apply to the Resident Project Representative, if any. 

10.09 Compliance with Safety Program 

A. While at the Site, Engineer’s employees and representatives will comply with the specific 
applicable requirements of Owner’s and Contractor’s safety programs (if any) of which 
Engineer has been informed. 

ARTICLE 11 – AMENDING THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS; CHANGES IN THE WORK 

11.01 Amending and Supplementing Contract Documents 

A. The Contract Documents may be amended or supplemented by a Change Order, a Work 
Change Directive, or a Field Order. 

1. Change Orders: 

a. If an amendment or supplement to the Contract Documents includes a change in 
the Contract Price or the Contract Times, such amendment or supplement must 
be set forth in a Change Order. A Change Order also may be used to establish 
amendments and supplements of the Contract Documents that do not affect the 
Contract Price or Contract Times. 

b. Owner and Contractor may amend those terms and conditions of the Contract 
Documents that do not involve (1) the performance or acceptability of the Work, 
(2) the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), or (3) 
other engineering or technical matters, without the recommendation of the 
Engineer. Such an amendment shall be set forth in a Change Order. 

2. Work Change Directives: A Work Change Directive will not change the Contract Price 
or the Contract Times but is evidence that the parties expect that the modification 
ordered or documented by a Work Change Directive will be incorporated in a 
subsequently issued Change Order, following negotiations by the parties as to the 
Work Change Directive’s effect, if any, on the Contract Price and Contract Times; or, if 
negotiations are unsuccessful, by a determination under the terms of the Contract 
Documents governing adjustments, expressly including Paragraph 11.04 regarding 
change of Contract Price. Contractor must submit any Change Proposal seeking an 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 44 of 65 

adjustment of the Contract Price or the Contract Times, or both, no later than 30 days 
after the completion of the Work set out in the Work Change Directive.  Owner must 
submit any Claim seeking an adjustment of the Contract Price or the Contract Times, 
or both, no later than 60 days after issuance of the Work Change Directive. 

3. Field Orders: Engineer may authorize minor changes in the Work if the changes do not 
involve an adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Times and are compatible 
with the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole as indicated 
by the Contract Documents. Such changes will be accomplished by a Field Order and 
will be binding on Owner and also on Contractor, which shall perform the Work 
involved promptly. If Contractor believes that a Field Order justifies an adjustment in 
the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, then before proceeding with the Work 
at issue, Contractor shall submit a Change Proposal as provided herein. 

11.02 Owner-Authorized Changes in the Work 

A. Without invalidating the Contract and without notice to any surety, Owner may, at any 
time or from time to time, order additions, deletions, or revisions in the Work. Such 
changes shall be supported by Engineer’s recommendation, to the extent the change 
involves the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), or other 
engineering or technical matters. Such changes may be accomplished by a Change Order, if 
Owner and Contractor have agreed as to the effect, if any, of the changes on Contract 
Times or Contract Price; or by a Work Change Directive. Upon receipt of any such 
document, Contractor shall promptly proceed with the Work involved; or, in the case of a 
deletion in the Work, promptly cease construction activities with respect to such deleted 
Work. Added or revised Work shall be performed under the applicable conditions of the 
Contract Documents. Nothing in this paragraph shall obligate Contractor to undertake work 
that Contractor reasonably concludes cannot be performed in a manner consistent with 
Contractor’s safety obligations under the Contract Documents or Laws and Regulations. 

11.03  Unauthorized Changes in the Work 

A. Contractor shall not be entitled to an increase in the Contract Price or an extension of the 
Contract Times with respect to any work performed that is not required by the Contract 
Documents, as amended, modified, or supplemented, except in the case of an emergency 
as provided in Paragraph 7.15 or in the case of uncovering Work as provided in Paragraph 
14.05. 

11.04 Change of Contract Price 

A. The Contract Price may only be changed by a Change Order. Any Change Proposal for an 
adjustment in the Contract Price shall comply with the provisions of Paragraph 11.06.  Any 
Claim for an adjustment of Contract Price shall comply with the provisions of Article 12. 

B. An adjustment in the Contract Price will be determined as follows: 

1. where the Work involved is covered by unit prices contained in the Contract 
Documents, then by application of such unit prices to the quantities of the items 
involved (subject to the provisions of Paragraph 13.03); or 

2. where the Work involved is not covered by unit prices contained in the Contract 
Documents, then by a mutually agreed lump sum (which may include an allowance for 
overhead and profit not necessarily in accordance with Paragraph 11.04.C.2); or 

3. where the Work involved is not covered by unit prices contained in the Contract 
Documents and the parties do not reach mutual agreement to a lump sum, then on 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 45 of 65 

the basis of the Cost of the Work (determined as provided in Paragraph 13.01) plus a 
Contractor’s fee for overhead and profit (determined as provided in Paragraph 
11.04.C). 

C. Contractor’s Fee: When applicable, the Contractor’s fee for overhead and profit shall be 
determined as follows: 

1. a mutually acceptable fixed fee; or 

2. if a fixed fee is not agreed upon, then a fee based on the following percentages of the 
various portions of the Cost of the Work: 

a. for costs incurred under Paragraphs 13.01.B.1 and 13.01.B.2, the Contractor’s fee 
shall be 15 percent; 

b. for costs incurred under Paragraph 13.01.B.3, the Contractor’s fee shall be five 
percent; 

c. where one or more tiers of subcontracts are on the basis of Cost of the Work plus 
a fee and no fixed fee is agreed upon, the intent of Paragraphs 11.01.C.2.a and 
11.01.C.2.b is that the Contractor’s fee shall be based on: (1) a fee of 15 percent 
of the costs incurred under Paragraphs 13.01.A.1 and 13.01.A.2 by the 
Subcontractor that actually performs the Work, at whatever tier, and (2) with 
respect to Contractor itself and to any Subcontractors of a tier higher than that of 
the Subcontractor that actually performs the Work, a fee of five percent of the 
amount (fee plus underlying costs incurred) attributable to the next lower tier 
Subcontractor; provided, however, that for any such subcontracted work the 
maximum total fee to be paid by Owner shall be no greater than 27 percent of 
the costs incurred by the Subcontractor that actually performs the work; 

d. no fee shall be payable on the basis of costs itemized under Paragraphs 13.01.B.4, 
13.01.B.5, and 13.01.C; 

e. the amount of credit to be allowed by Contractor to Owner for any change which 
results in a net decrease in cost will be the amount of the actual net decrease in 
cost plus a deduction in Contractor’s fee by an amount equal to five percent of 
such net decrease; and 

f. when both additions and credits are involved in any one change, the adjustment 
in Contractor’s fee shall be computed on the basis of the net change in 
accordance with Paragraphs 11.04.C.2.a through 11.04.C.2.e, inclusive. 

11.05 Change of Contract Times 

A. The Contract Times may only be changed by a Change Order. Any Change Proposal for an 
adjustment in the Contract Times shall comply with the provisions of Paragraph 11.06. Any 
Claim for an adjustment in the Contract Times shall comply with the provisions of Article 
12. 

B. An adjustment of the Contract Times shall be subject to the limitations set forth in 
Paragraph 4.05, concerning delays in Contractor’s progress. 

11.06 Change Proposals 

A. Contractor shall submit a Change Proposal to Engineer to request an adjustment in the 
Contract Times or Contract Price; appeal an initial decision by Engineer concerning the 
requirements of the Contract Documents or relating to the acceptability of the Work under 
the Contract Documents; contest a set-off against payment due; or seek other relief under 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 46 of 65 

the Contract. The Change Proposal shall specify any proposed change in Contract Times or 
Contract Price, or both, or other proposed relief, and explain the reason for the proposed 
change, with citations to any governing or applicable provisions of the Contract Documents. 

1. Procedures: Contractor shall submit each Change Proposal to Engineer promptly (but 
in no event later than 30 days) after the start of the event giving rise thereto, or after 
such initial decision. The Contractor shall submit supporting data, including the 
proposed change in Contract Price or Contract Time (if any), to the Engineer and 
Owner within 15 days after the submittal of the Change Proposal. The supporting data 
shall be accompanied by a written statement that the supporting data are accurate 
and complete, and that any requested time or price adjustment is the entire 
adjustment to which Contractor believes it is entitled as a result of said event. 
Engineer will advise Owner regarding the Change Proposal, and consider any 
comments or response from Owner regarding the Change Proposal. 

2. Engineer’s Action: Engineer will review each Change Proposal and, within 30 days after 
receipt of the Contractor’s supporting data, either deny the Change Proposal in whole, 
approve it in whole, or deny it in part and approve it in part. Such actions shall be in 
writing, with a copy provided to Owner and Contractor. If Engineer does not take 
action on the Change Proposal within 30 days, then either Owner or Contractor may at 
any time thereafter submit a letter to the other party indicating that as a result of 
Engineer’s inaction the Change Proposal is deemed denied, thereby commencing the 
time for appeal of the denial under Article 12. 

3. Binding Decision: Engineer’s decision will be final and binding upon Owner and 
Contractor, unless Owner or Contractor appeals the decision by filing a Claim under 
Article 12. 

B. Resolution of Certain Change Proposals: If the Change Proposal does not involve the design 
(as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), the acceptability of the Work, or 
other engineering or technical matters, then Engineer will notify the parties that the 
Engineer is unable to resolve the Change Proposal. For purposes of further resolution of 
such a Change Proposal, such notice shall be deemed a denial, and Contractor may choose 
to seek resolution under the terms of Article 12. 

11.07 Execution of Change Orders 

A. Owner and Contractor shall execute appropriate Change Orders covering: 

1. changes in the Contract Price or Contract Times which are agreed to by the parties, 
including any undisputed sum or amount of time for Work actually performed in 
accordance with a Work Change Directive; 

2. changes in Contract Price resulting from an Owner set-off, unless Contractor has duly 
contested such set-off; 

3. changes in the Work which are: (a) ordered by Owner pursuant to Paragraph 11.02, (b) 
required because of Owner’s acceptance of defective Work under Paragraph 14.04 or 
Owner’s correction of defective Work under Paragraph 14.07, or (c) agreed to by the 
parties, subject to the need for Engineer’s recommendation if the change  in the Work 
involves the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), or other 
engineering or technical matters; and 

4. changes in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or other changes, which embody the 
substance of any final and binding results under Paragraph 11.06, or Article 12. 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 47 of 65 

B. If Owner or Contractor refuses to execute a Change Order that is required to be executed 
under the terms of this Paragraph 11.07, it shall be deemed to be of full force and effect, as 
if fully executed. 

11.08 Notification to Surety 

A. If the provisions of any bond require notice to be given to a surety of any change affecting 
the general scope of the Work or the provisions of the Contract Documents (including, but 
not limited to, Contract Price or Contract Times), the giving of any such notice will be 
Contractor’s responsibility. The amount of each applicable bond will be adjusted to reflect 
the effect of any such change. 

ARTICLE 12 – CLAIMS 

12.01 Claims 

A. Claims Process: The following disputes between Owner and Contractor shall be submitted 
to the Claims process set forth in this Article: 

1. Appeals by Owner or Contractor of Engineer’s decisions regarding Change Proposals; 

2. Owner demands for adjustments in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or other 
relief under the Contract Documents; and 

3. Disputes that Engineer has been unable to address because they do not involve the 
design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), the acceptability of 
the Work, or other engineering or technical matters. 

B. Submittal of Claim: The party submitting a Claim shall deliver it directly to the other party 
to the Contract promptly (but in no event later than 30 days) after the start of the event 
giving rise thereto; in the case of appeals regarding Change Proposals within 30 days of the 
decision under appeal. The party submitting the Claim shall also furnish a copy to the 
Engineer, for its information only. The responsibility to substantiate a Claim shall rest with 
the party making the Claim. In the case of a Claim by Contractor seeking an increase in the 
Contract Times or Contract Price, or both, Contractor shall certify that the Claim is made in 
good faith, that the supporting data are accurate and complete, and that to the best of 
Contractor’s knowledge and belief the amount of time or money requested accurately 
reflects the full amount to which Contractor is entitled. 

C. Review and Resolution: The party receiving a Claim shall review it thoroughly, giving full 
consideration to its merits. The two parties shall seek to resolve the Claim through the 
exchange of information and direct negotiations.  The parties may extend the time for 
resolving the Claim by mutual agreement. All actions taken on a Claim shall be stated in 
writing and submitted to the other party, with a copy to Engineer. 

D. Mediation: 

1. At any time after initiation of a Claim, Owner and Contractor may mutually agree to 
mediation of the underlying dispute. The agreement to mediate shall stay the Claim 
submittal and response process. 

2. If Owner and Contractor agree to mediation, then after 60 days from such agreement, 
either Owner or Contractor may unilaterally terminate the mediation process, and the 
Claim submittal and decision process shall resume as of the date of the termination. If 
the mediation proceeds but is unsuccessful in resolving the dispute, the Claim 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 48 of 65 

submittal and decision process shall resume as of the date of the conclusion of the 
mediation, as determined by the mediator. 

3. Owner and Contractor shall each pay one-half of the mediator’s fees and costs. 

E. Partial Approval: If the party receiving a Claim approves the Claim in part and denies it in 
part, such action shall be final and binding unless within 30 days of such action the other 
party invokes the procedure set forth in Article 17 for final resolution of disputes. 

F. Denial of Claim: If efforts to resolve a Claim are not successful, the party receiving the Claim 
may deny it by giving written notice of denial to the other party. If the receiving party does 
not take action on the Claim within 90 days, then either Owner or Contractor may at any 
time thereafter submit a letter to the other party indicating that as a result of the inaction, 
the Claim is deemed denied, thereby commencing the time for appeal of the denial. A 
denial of the Claim shall be final and binding unless within 30 days of the denial the other 
party invokes the procedure set forth in Article 17 for the final resolution of disputes. 

G. Final and Binding Results: If the parties reach a mutual agreement regarding a Claim, 
whether through approval of the Claim, direct negotiations, mediation, or otherwise; or if a 
Claim is approved in part and denied in part, or denied in full, and such actions become 
final and binding; then the results of the agreement or action on the Claim shall be 
incorporated in a Change Order to the extent they affect the Contract, including the Work, 
the Contract Times, or the Contract Price. 

ARTICLE 13 – COST OF THE WORK; ALLOWANCES; UNIT PRICE WORK 

13.01 Cost of the Work 

A. Purposes for Determination of Cost of the Work: The term Cost of the Work means the sum 
of all costs necessary for the proper performance of the Work at issue, as further defined 
below. The provisions of this Paragraph 13.01 are used for two distinct purposes: 

1. To determine Cost of the Work when Cost of the Work is a component of the Contract 
Price, under cost-plus-fee, time-and-materials, or other cost-based terms; or 

2. To determine the value of a Change Order, Change Proposal, Claim, set-off, or other 
adjustment in Contract Price. When the value of any such adjustment is determined 
on the basis of Cost of the Work, Contractor is entitled only to those additional or 
incremental costs required because of the change in the Work or because of the event 
giving rise to the adjustment. 

B. Costs Included: Except as otherwise may be agreed to in writing by Owner, costs included in 
the Cost of the Work shall be in amounts no higher than those prevailing in the locality of 
the Project, shall not include any of the costs itemized in Paragraph 13.01.C, and shall 
include only the following items: 

1. Payroll costs for employees in the direct employ of Contractor in the performance of 
the Work under schedules of job classifications agreed upon by Owner and Contractor. 
Such employees shall include, without limitation, superintendents, foremen, and other 
personnel employed full time on the Work. Payroll costs for employees not employed 
full time on the Work shall be apportioned on the basis of their time spent on the 
Work. Payroll costs shall include, but not be limited to, salaries and wages plus the 
cost of fringe benefits, which shall include social security contributions, 
unemployment, excise, and payroll taxes, workers’ compensation, health and 
retirement benefits, bonuses, sick leave, and vacation and holiday pay applicable 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 49 of 65 

thereto. The expenses of performing Work outside of regular working hours, on 
Saturday, Sunday, or legal holidays, shall be included in the above to the extent 
authorized by Owner. 

2. Cost of all materials and equipment furnished and incorporated in the Work, including 
costs of transportation and storage thereof, and Suppliers’ field services required in 
connection therewith. All cash discounts shall accrue to Contractor unless Owner 
deposits funds with Contractor with which to make payments, in which case the cash 
discounts shall accrue to Owner. All trade discounts, rebates, and refunds and returns 
from sale of surplus materials and equipment shall accrue to Owner, and Contractor 
shall make provisions so that they may be obtained. 

3. Payments made by Contractor to Subcontractors for Work performed by 
Subcontractors. If required by Owner, Contractor shall obtain competitive bids from 
subcontractors acceptable to Owner and Contractor and shall deliver such bids to 
Owner, who will then determine, with the advice of Engineer, which bids, if any, will 
be acceptable. If any subcontract provides that the Subcontractor is to be paid on the 
basis of Cost of the Work plus a fee, the Subcontractor’s Cost of the Work and fee shall 
be determined in the same manner as Contractor’s Cost of the Work and fee as 
provided in this Paragraph 13.01. 

4. Costs of special consultants (including but not limited to engineers, architects, testing 
laboratories, surveyors, attorneys, and accountants) employed for services specifically 
related to the Work. 

5. Supplemental costs including the following: 

a. The proportion of necessary transportation, travel, and subsistence expenses of 
Contractor’s employees incurred in discharge of duties connected with the Work. 

b. Cost, including transportation and maintenance, of all materials, supplies, 
equipment, machinery, appliances, office, and temporary facilities at the Site, and 
hand tools not owned by the workers, which are consumed in the performance of 
the Work, and cost, less market value, of such items used but not consumed 
which remain the property of Contractor. 

c. Rentals of all construction equipment and machinery, and the parts thereof, 
whether rented from Contractor or others in accordance with rental agreements 
approved by Owner with the advice of Engineer, and the costs of transportation, 
loading, unloading, assembly, dismantling, and removal thereof. All such costs 
shall be in accordance with the terms of said rental agreements. The rental of any 
such equipment, machinery, or parts shall cease when the use thereof is no 
longer necessary for the Work. 

d. Sales, consumer, use, and other similar taxes related to the Work, and for which 
Contractor is liable, as imposed by Laws and Regulations. 

e. Deposits lost for causes other than negligence of Contractor, any Subcontractor, 
or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of 
them may be liable, and royalty payments and fees for permits and licenses. 

f. Losses and damages (and related expenses) caused by damage to the Work, not 
compensated by insurance or otherwise, sustained by Contractor in connection 
with the performance of the Work (except losses and damages within the 
deductible amounts of property insurance established in accordance with 
Paragraph 6.05), provided such losses and damages have resulted from causes 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 50 of 65 

other than the negligence of Contractor, any Subcontractor, or anyone directly or 
indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be liable. 
Such losses shall include settlements made with the written consent and approval 
of Owner. No such losses, damages, and expenses shall be included in the Cost of 
the Work for the purpose of determining Contractor’s fee. 

g. The cost of utilities, fuel, and sanitary facilities at the Site. 

h. Minor expenses such as communication service at the Site, express and courier 
services, and similar petty cash items in connection with the Work. 

i. The costs of premiums for all bonds and insurance that Contractor is required by 
the Contract Documents to purchase and maintain. 

C. Costs Excluded: The term Cost of the Work shall not include any of the following items: 

1. Payroll costs and other compensation of Contractor’s officers, executives, principals 
(of partnerships and sole proprietorships), general managers, safety managers, 
engineers, architects, estimators, attorneys, auditors, accountants, purchasing and 
contracting agents, expediters, timekeepers, clerks, and other personnel employed by 
Contractor, whether at the Site or in Contractor’s principal or branch office for general 
administration of the Work and not specifically included in the agreed upon schedule 
of job classifications referred to in Paragraph 13.01.B.1 or specifically covered by 
Paragraph 13.01.B.4. The payroll costs and other compensation excluded here are to 
be considered administrative costs covered by the Contractor’s fee. 

2. Expenses of Contractor’s principal and branch offices other than Contractor’s office at 
the Site. 

3. Any part of Contractor’s capital expenses, including interest on Contractor’s capital 
employed for the Work and charges against Contractor for delinquent payments. 

4. Costs due to the negligence of Contractor, any Subcontractor, or anyone directly or 
indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be liable, 
including but not limited to, the correction of defective Work, disposal of materials or 
equipment wrongly supplied, and making good any damage to property. 

5. Other overhead or general expense costs of any kind and the costs of any item not 
specifically and expressly included in Paragraph 13.01.B. 

D. Contractor’s Fee: When the Work as a whole is performed on the basis of cost-plus, 
Contractor’s fee shall be determined as set forth in the Agreement. When the value of any 
Work covered by a Change Order, Change Proposal, Claim, set-off, or other adjustment in 
Contract Price is determined on the basis of Cost of the Work, Contractor’s fee shall be 
determined as set forth in Paragraph 11.04.C. 

E. Documentation: Whenever the Cost of the Work for any purpose is to be determined 
pursuant to this Article 13, Contractor will establish and maintain records thereof in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting practices and submit in a form acceptable 
to Engineer an itemized cost breakdown together with supporting data. 

13.02 Allowances 

A. It is understood that Contractor has included in the Contract Price all allowances so named 
in the Contract Documents and shall cause the Work so covered to be performed for such 
sums and by such persons or entities as may be acceptable to Owner and Engineer. 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 51 of 65 

B. Cash Allowances: Contractor agrees that: 

1. the cash allowances include the cost to Contractor (less any applicable trade 
discounts) of materials and equipment required by the allowances to be delivered at 
the Site, and all applicable taxes; and 

2. Contractor’s costs for unloading and handling on the Site, labor, installation, overhead, 
profit, and other expenses contemplated for the cash allowances have been included 
in the Contract Price and not in the allowances, and no demand for additional 
payment on account of any of the foregoing will be valid. 

C. Contingency Allowance: Contractor agrees that a contingency allowance, if any, is for the 
sole use of Owner to cover unanticipated costs. 

D. Prior to final payment, an appropriate Change Order will be issued as recommended by 
Engineer to reflect actual amounts due Contractor on account of Work covered by 
allowances, and the Contract Price shall be correspondingly adjusted. 

13.03 Unit Price Work 

A. Where the Contract Documents provide that all or part of the Work is to be Unit Price 
Work, initially the Contract Price will be deemed to include for all Unit Price Work an 
amount equal to the sum of the unit price for each separately identified item of Unit Price 
Work times the estimated quantity of each item as indicated in the Agreement. 

B. The estimated quantities of items of Unit Price Work are not guaranteed and are solely for 
the purpose of comparison of Bids and determining an initial Contract Price. Payments to 
Contractor for Unit Price Work will be based on actual quantities. 

C. Each unit price will be deemed to include an amount considered by Contractor to be 
adequate to cover Contractor’s overhead and profit for each separately identified item. 

D. Engineer will determine the actual quantities and classifications of Unit Price Work 
performed by Contractor.  Engineer will review with Contractor the Engineer’s preliminary 
determinations on such matters before rendering a written decision thereon (by 
recommendation of an Application for Payment or otherwise). Engineer’s written decision 
thereon will be final and binding (except as modified by Engineer to reflect changed factual 
conditions or more accurate data) upon Owner and Contractor, subject to the provisions of 
the following paragraph. 

E. Within 30 days of Engineer’s written decision under the preceding paragraph, Contractor 
may submit a Change Proposal, or Owner may file a Claim, seeking an adjustment in the 
Contract Price if: 

1. the quantity of any item of Unit Price Work performed by Contractor differs materially 
and significantly from the estimated quantity of such item indicated in the Agreement; 

2. there is no corresponding adjustment with respect to any other item of Work; and 

3. Contractor believes that it is entitled to an increase in Contract Price as a result of 
having incurred additional expense or Owner believes that Owner is entitled to a 
decrease in Contract Price, and the parties are unable to agree as to the amount of any 
such increase or decrease. 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 52 of 65 

ARTICLE 14 – TESTS AND INSPECTIONS; CORRECTION, REMOVAL OR ACCEPTANCE OF DEFECTIVE 
WORK 

14.01 Access to Work 

A. Owner, Engineer, their consultants and other representatives and personnel of Owner, 
independent testing laboratories, and authorities having jurisdiction will have access to the 
Site and the Work at reasonable times for their observation, inspection, and testing. 
Contractor shall provide them proper and safe conditions for such access and advise them 
of Contractor’s safety procedures and programs so that they may comply therewith as 
applicable. 

14.02 Tests, Inspections, and Approvals 

A. Contractor shall give Engineer timely notice of readiness of the Work (or specific parts 
thereof) for all required inspections and tests, and shall cooperate with inspection and 
testing personnel to facilitate required inspections and tests. 

B. Owner shall retain and pay for the services of an independent inspector, testing laboratory, 
or other qualified individual or entity to perform all inspections and tests expressly required 
by the Contract Documents to be furnished and paid for by Owner, except that costs 
incurred in connection with tests or inspections of covered Work shall be governed by the 
provisions of Paragraph 14.05. 

C. If Laws or Regulations of any public body having jurisdiction require any Work (or part 
thereof) specifically to be inspected, tested, or approved by an employee or other 
representative of such public body, Contractor shall assume full responsibility for arranging 
and obtaining such inspections, tests, or approvals, pay all costs in connection therewith, 
and furnish Engineer the required certificates of inspection or approval. 

D. Contractor shall be responsible for arranging, obtaining, and paying for all inspections and 
tests required: 

1. by the Contract Documents, unless the Contract Documents expressly allocate 
responsibility for a specific inspection or test to Owner; 

2. to attain Owner’s and Engineer’s acceptance of materials or equipment to be 
incorporated in the Work; 

3. by manufacturers of equipment furnished under the Contract Documents; 

4. for testing, adjusting, and balancing of mechanical, electrical, and other equipment to 
be incorporated into the Work; and 

5. for acceptance of materials, mix designs, or equipment submitted for approval prior to 
Contractor’s purchase thereof for incorporation in the Work. 

Such inspections and tests shall be performed by independent inspectors, testing 
laboratories, or other qualified individuals or entities acceptable to Owner and Engineer. 

E. If the Contract Documents require the Work (or part thereof) to be approved by Owner, 
Engineer, or another designated individual or entity, then Contractor shall assume full 
responsibility for arranging and obtaining such approvals. 

F. If any Work (or the work of others) that is to be inspected, tested, or approved is covered 
by Contractor without written concurrence of Engineer, Contractor shall, if requested by 
Engineer, uncover such Work for observation. Such uncovering shall be at Contractor’s 
expense unless Contractor had given Engineer timely notice of Contractor’s intention to 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 53 of 65 

cover the same and Engineer had not acted with reasonable promptness in response to 
such notice. 

14.03 Defective Work 

A. Contractor’s Obligation: It is Contractor’s obligation to assure that the Work is not 
defective. 

B. Engineer’s Authority: Engineer has the authority to determine whether Work is defective, 
and to reject defective Work. 

C. Notice of Defects: Prompt notice of all defective Work of which Owner or Engineer has 
actual knowledge will be given to Contractor. 

D. Correction, or Removal and Replacement: Promptly after receipt of written notice of 
defective Work, Contractor shall correct all such defective Work, whether or not fabricated, 
installed, or completed, or, if Engineer has rejected the defective Work, remove it from the 
Project and replace it with Work that is not defective. 

E. Preservation of Warranties: When correcting defective Work, Contractor shall take no 
action that would void or otherwise impair Owner’s special warranty and guarantee, if any, 
on said Work. 

F. Costs and Damages: In addition to its correction, removal, and replacement obligations 
with respect to defective Work, Contractor shall pay all claims, costs, losses, and damages 
arising out of or relating to defective Work, including but not limited to the cost of the 
inspection, testing, correction, removal, replacement, or reconstruction of such defective 
Work, fines levied against Owner by governmental authorities because the Work is 
defective, and the costs of repair or replacement of work of others resulting from defective 
Work. Prior to final payment, if Owner and Contractor are unable to agree as to the 
measure of such claims, costs, losses, and damages resulting from defective Work, then 
Owner may impose a reasonable set-off against payments due under Article 15. 

14.04 Acceptance of Defective Work 

A. If, instead of requiring correction or removal and replacement of defective Work, Owner 
prefers to accept it, Owner may do so (subject, if such acceptance occurs prior to final 
payment, to Engineer’s confirmation that such acceptance is in general accord with the 
design intent and applicable engineering principles, and will not endanger public safety). 
Contractor shall pay all claims, costs, losses, and damages attributable to Owner’s 
evaluation of and determination to accept such defective Work (such costs to be approved 
by Engineer as to reasonableness), and for the diminished value of the Work to the extent 
not otherwise paid by Contractor. If any such acceptance occurs prior to final payment, the 
necessary revisions in the Contract Documents with respect to the Work shall be 
incorporated in a Change Order. If the parties are unable to agree as to the decrease in the 
Contract Price, reflecting the diminished value of Work so accepted, then Owner may 
impose a reasonable set-off against payments due under Article 15. If the acceptance of 
defective Work occurs after final payment, Contractor shall pay an appropriate amount to 
Owner. 

14.05 Uncovering Work 

A. Engineer has the authority to require special inspection or testing of the Work, whether or 
not the Work is fabricated, installed, or completed. 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 54 of 65 

B. If any Work is covered contrary to the written request of Engineer, then Contractor shall, if 
requested by Engineer, uncover such Work for Engineer’s observation, and then replace 
the covering, all at Contractor’s expense. 

C. If Engineer considers it necessary or advisable that covered Work be observed by Engineer 
or inspected or tested by others, then Contractor, at Engineer’s request, shall uncover, 
expose, or otherwise make available for observation, inspection, or testing as Engineer may 
require, that portion of the Work in question, and provide all necessary labor, material, and 
equipment. 

1. If it is found that the uncovered Work is defective, Contractor shall be responsible for 
all claims, costs, losses, and damages arising out of or relating to such uncovering, 
exposure, observation, inspection, and testing, and of satisfactory replacement or 
reconstruction (including but not limited to all costs of repair or replacement of work 
of others); and pending Contractor’s full discharge of this responsibility the Owner 
shall be entitled to impose a reasonable set-off against payments due under Article 15. 

2. If the uncovered Work is not found to be defective, Contractor shall be allowed an 
increase in the Contract Price or an extension of the Contract Times, or both, directly 
attributable to such uncovering, exposure, observation, inspection, testing, 
replacement, and reconstruction. If the parties are unable to agree as to the amount 
or extent thereof, then Contractor may submit a Change Proposal within 30 days of 
the determination that the Work is not defective. 

14.06 Owner May Stop the Work 

A. If the Work is defective, or Contractor fails to supply sufficient skilled workers or suitable 
materials or equipment, or fails to perform the Work in such a way that the completed 
Work will conform to the Contract Documents, then Owner may order Contractor to stop 
the Work, or any portion thereof, until the cause for such order has been eliminated; 
however, this right of Owner to stop the Work shall not give rise to any duty on the part of 
Owner to exercise this right for the benefit of Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, 
any other individual or entity, or any surety for, or employee or agent of any of them. 

14.07 Owner May Correct Defective Work 

A. If Contractor fails within a reasonable time after written notice from Engineer to correct 
defective Work, or to remove and replace rejected Work as required by Engineer, or if 
Contractor fails to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents, or if 
Contractor fails to comply with any other provision of the Contract Documents, then Owner 
may, after seven days written notice to Contractor, correct or remedy any such deficiency. 

B. In exercising the rights and remedies under this Paragraph 14.07, Owner shall proceed 
expeditiously. In connection with such corrective or remedial action, Owner may exclude 
Contractor from all or part of the Site, take possession of all or part of the Work and 
suspend Contractor’s services related thereto, and incorporate in the Work all materials 
and equipment stored at the Site or for which Owner has paid Contractor but which are 
stored elsewhere. Contractor shall allow Owner, Owner’s representatives, agents and 
employees, Owner’s other contractors, and Engineer and Engineer’s consultants access to 
the Site to enable Owner to exercise the rights and remedies under this paragraph. 

C. All claims, costs, losses, and damages incurred or sustained by Owner in exercising the 
rights and remedies under this Paragraph 14.07 will be charged against Contractor as set-
offs against payments due under Article 15. Such claims, costs, losses and damages will 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 55 of 65 

include but not be limited to all costs of repair, or replacement of work of others destroyed 
or damaged by correction, removal, or replacement of Contractor’s defective Work. 

D. Contractor shall not be allowed an extension of the Contract Times because of any delay in 
the performance of the Work attributable to the exercise by Owner of Owner’s rights and 
remedies under this Paragraph 14.07. 

ARTICLE 15 – PAYMENTS TO CONTRACTOR; SET-OFFS; COMPLETION; CORRECTION PERIOD 

15.01 Progress Payments 

A. Basis for Progress Payments: The Schedule of Values established as provided in Article 2 will 
serve as the basis for progress payments and will be incorporated into a form of Application 
for Payment acceptable to Engineer. Progress payments on account of Unit Price Work will 
be based on the number of units completed during the pay period, as determined under 
the provisions of Paragraph 13.03. Progress payments for cost-based Work will be based on 
Cost of the Work completed by Contractor during the pay period. 

B. Applications for Payments: 

1. At least 20 days before the date established in the Agreement for each progress 
payment (but not more often than once a month), Contractor shall submit to Engineer 
for review an Application for Payment filled out and signed by Contractor covering the 
Work completed as of the date of the Application and accompanied by such 
supporting documentation as is required by the Contract Documents. If payment is 
requested on the basis of materials and equipment not incorporated in the Work but 
delivered and suitably stored at the Site or at another location agreed to in writing, the 
Application for Payment shall also be accompanied by a bill of sale, invoice, or other 
documentation warranting that Owner has received the materials and equipment free 
and clear of all Liens, and evidence that the materials and equipment are covered by 
appropriate property insurance, a warehouse bond, or other arrangements to protect 
Owner’s interest therein, all of which must be satisfactory to Owner. 

2. Beginning with the second Application for Payment, each Application shall include an 
affidavit of Contractor stating that all previous progress payments received on account 
of the Work have been applied on account to discharge Contractor’s legitimate 
obligations associated with prior Applications for Payment. 

3. The amount of retainage with respect to progress payments will be as stipulated in the 
Agreement. 

C. Review of Applications: 

1. Engineer will, within 10 days after receipt of each Application for Payment, including 
each resubmittal, either indicate in writing a recommendation of payment and present 
the Application to Owner, or return the Application to Contractor indicating in writing 
Engineer’s reasons for refusing to recommend payment. In the latter case, Contractor 
may make the necessary corrections and resubmit the Application. 

2. Engineer’s recommendation of any payment requested in an Application for Payment 
will constitute a representation by Engineer to Owner, based on Engineer’s 
observations of the executed Work as an experienced and qualified design 
professional, and on Engineer’s review of the Application for Payment and the 
accompanying data and schedules, that to the best of Engineer’s knowledge, 
information and belief: 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 56 of 65 

a. the Work has progressed to the point indicated; 

b. the quality of the Work is generally in accordance with the Contract Documents 
(subject to an evaluation of the Work as a functioning whole prior to or upon 
Substantial Completion, the results of any subsequent tests called for in the 
Contract Documents, a final determination of quantities and classifications for 
Unit Price Work under Paragraph 13.03, and any other qualifications stated in the 
recommendation); and 

c. the conditions precedent to Contractor’s being entitled to such payment appear 
to have been fulfilled in so far as it is Engineer’s responsibility to observe the 
Work. 

3. By recommending any such payment Engineer will not thereby be deemed to have 
represented that: 

a. inspections made to check the quality or the quantity of the Work as it has been 
performed have been exhaustive, extended to every aspect of the Work in 
progress, or involved detailed inspections of the Work beyond the responsibilities 
specifically assigned to Engineer in the Contract; or 

b. there may not be other matters or issues between the parties that might entitle 
Contractor to be paid additionally by Owner or entitle Owner to withhold 
payment to Contractor. 

4. Neither Engineer’s review of Contractor’s Work for the purposes of recommending 
payments nor Engineer’s recommendation of any payment, including final payment, 
will impose responsibility on Engineer: 

a. to supervise, direct, or control the Work, or 

b. for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, 
or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or 

c. for Contractor’s failure to comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to 
Contractor’s performance of the Work, or 

d. to make any examination to ascertain how or for what purposes Contractor has 
used the money paid on account of the Contract Price, or 

e. to determine that title to any of the Work, materials, or equipment has passed to 
Owner free and clear of any Liens. 

5. Engineer may refuse to recommend the whole or any part of any payment if, in 
Engineer’s opinion, it would be incorrect to make the representations to Owner stated 
in Paragraph 15.01.C.2. 

6. Engineer will recommend reductions in payment (set-offs) necessary in Engineer’s 
opinion to protect Owner from loss because: 

a. the Work is defective, requiring correction or replacement; 

b. the Contract Price has been reduced by Change Orders; 

c. Owner has been required to correct defective Work in accordance with Paragraph 
14.07, or has accepted defective Work pursuant to Paragraph 14.04; 

d. Owner has been required to remove or remediate a Hazardous Environmental 
Condition for which Contractor is responsible; or 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 57 of 65 

e. Engineer has actual knowledge of the occurrence of any of the events that would 
constitute a default by Contractor and therefore justify termination for cause 
under the Contract Documents. 

D. Payment Becomes Due: 

1. Ten days after presentation of the Application for Payment to Owner with Engineer’s 
recommendation, the amount recommended (subject to any Owner set-offs) will 
become due, and when due will be paid by Owner to Contractor. 

E. Reductions in Payment by Owner: 

1. In addition to any reductions in payment (set-offs) recommended by Engineer, Owner 
is entitled to impose a set-off against payment based on any of the following: 

a. claims have been made against Owner on account of Contractor’s conduct in the 
performance or furnishing of the Work, or Owner has incurred costs, losses, or 
damages on account of Contractor’s conduct in the performance or furnishing of 
the Work, including but not limited to claims, costs, losses, or damages from 
workplace injuries, adjacent property damage, non-compliance with Laws and 
Regulations, and patent infringement; 

b. Contractor has failed to take reasonable and customary measures to avoid 
damage, delay, disruption, and interference with other work at or adjacent to the 
Site; 

c. Contractor has failed to provide and maintain required bonds or insurance; 

d. Owner has been required to remove or remediate a Hazardous Environmental 
Condition for which Contractor is responsible; 

e. Owner has incurred extra charges or engineering costs related to submittal 
reviews, evaluations of proposed substitutes, tests and inspections, or return 
visits to manufacturing or assembly facilities; 

f. the Work is defective, requiring correction or replacement; 

g. Owner has been required to correct defective Work in accordance with Paragraph 
14.07, or has accepted defective Work pursuant to Paragraph 14.04; 

h. the Contract Price has been reduced by Change Orders; 

i. an event that would constitute a default by Contractor and therefore justify a 
termination for cause has occurred; 

j. liquidated damages have accrued as a result of Contractor’s failure to achieve 
Milestones, Substantial Completion, or final completion of the Work; 

k. Liens have been filed in connection with the Work, except where Contractor has 
delivered a specific bond satisfactory to Owner to secure the satisfaction and 
discharge of such Liens; 

l. there are other items entitling Owner to a set off against the amount 
recommended. 

2. If Owner imposes any set-off against payment, whether based on its own knowledge 
or on the written recommendations of Engineer, Owner will give Contractor 
immediate written notice (with a copy to Engineer) stating the reasons for such action 
and the specific amount of the reduction, and promptly pay Contractor any amount 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 58 of 65 

remaining after deduction of the amount so withheld. Owner shall promptly pay 
Contractor the amount so withheld, or any adjustment thereto agreed to by Owner 
and Contractor, if Contractor remedies the reasons for such action. The reduction 
imposed shall be binding on Contractor unless it duly submits a Change Proposal 
contesting the reduction. 

3. Upon a subsequent determination that Owner’s refusal of payment was not justified, 
the amount wrongfully withheld shall be treated as an amount due as determined by 
Paragraph 15.01.C.1 and subject to interest as provided in the Agreement. 

15.02 Contractor’s Warranty of Title 

A. Contractor warrants and guarantees that title to all Work, materials, and equipment 
furnished under the Contract will pass to Owner free and clear of (1) all Liens and other title 
defects, and (2) all patent, licensing, copyright, or royalty obligations, no later than seven 
days after the time of payment by Owner. 

15.03 Substantial Completion 

A. When Contractor considers the entire Work ready for its intended use Contractor shall 
notify Owner and Engineer in writing that the entire Work is substantially complete and 
request that Engineer issue a certificate of Substantial Completion. Contractor shall at the 
same time submit to Owner and Engineer an initial draft of punch list items to be 
completed or corrected before final payment. 

B. Promptly after Contractor’s notification, Owner, Contractor, and Engineer shall make an 
inspection of the Work to determine the status of completion. If Engineer does not 
consider the Work substantially complete, Engineer will notify Contractor in writing giving 
the reasons therefor. 

C. If Engineer considers the Work substantially complete, Engineer will deliver to Owner a 
preliminary certificate of Substantial Completion which shall fix the date of Substantial 
Completion. Engineer shall attach to the certificate a punch list of items to be completed or 
corrected before final payment. Owner shall have seven days after receipt of the 
preliminary certificate during which to make written objection to Engineer as to any 
provisions of the certificate or attached punch list. If, after considering the objections to the 
provisions of the preliminary certificate, Engineer concludes that the Work is not 
substantially complete, Engineer will, within 14 days after submission of the preliminary 
certificate to Owner, notify Contractor in writing that the Work is not substantially 
complete, stating the reasons therefor. If Owner does not object to the provisions of the 
certificate, or if despite consideration of Owner’s objections Engineer concludes that the 
Work is substantially complete, then Engineer will, within said 14 days, execute and deliver 
to Owner and Contractor a final certificate of Substantial Completion (with a revised punch 
list of items to be completed or corrected) reflecting such changes from the preliminary 
certificate as Engineer believes justified after consideration of any objections from Owner. 

D. At the time of receipt of the preliminary certificate of Substantial Completion, Owner and 
Contractor will confer regarding Owner’s use or occupancy of the Work following 
Substantial Completion, review the builder’s risk insurance policy with respect to the end of 
the builder’s risk coverage, and confirm the transition to coverage of the Work under a 
permanent property insurance policy held by Owner.  Unless Owner and Contractor agree 
otherwise in writing, Owner shall bear responsibility for security, operation, protection of 
the Work, property insurance, maintenance, heat, and utilities upon Owner’s use or 
occupancy of the Work. 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 59 of 65 

E. After Substantial Completion the Contractor shall promptly begin work on the punch list of 
items to be completed or corrected prior to final payment. In appropriate cases Contractor 
may submit monthly Applications for Payment for completed punch list items, following the 
progress payment procedures set forth above. 

F. Owner shall have the right to exclude Contractor from the Site after the date of Substantial 
Completion subject to allowing Contractor reasonable access to remove its property and 
complete or correct items on the punch list. 

15.04 Partial Use or Occupancy 

A. Prior to Substantial Completion of all the Work, Owner may use or occupy any substantially 
completed part of the Work which has specifically been identified in the Contract 
Documents, or which Owner, Engineer, and Contractor agree constitutes a separately 
functioning and usable part of the Work that can be used by Owner for its intended 
purpose without significant interference with Contractor’s performance of the remainder 
of the Work, subject to the following conditions: 

1. At any time Owner may request in writing that Contractor permit Owner to use or 
occupy any such part of the Work that Owner believes to be substantially complete. If 
and when Contractor agrees that such part of the Work is substantially complete, 
Contractor, Owner, and Engineer will follow the procedures of Paragraph 15.03.A 
through E for that part of the Work. 

2. At any time Contractor may notify Owner and Engineer in writing that Contractor 
considers any such part of the Work substantially complete and request Engineer to 
issue a certificate of Substantial Completion for that part of the Work. 

3. Within a reasonable time after either such request, Owner, Contractor, and Engineer 
shall make an inspection of that part of the Work to determine its status of 
completion. If Engineer does not consider that part of the Work to be substantially 
complete, Engineer will notify Owner and Contractor in writing giving the reasons 
therefor. If Engineer considers that part of the Work to be substantially complete, the 
provisions of Paragraph 15.03 will apply with respect to certification of Substantial 
Completion of that part of the Work and the division of responsibility in respect 
thereof and access thereto. 

4. No use or occupancy or separate operation of part of the Work may occur prior to 
compliance with the requirements of Paragraph 6.05 regarding builder’s risk or other 
property insurance. 

15.05 Final Inspection 

A. Upon written notice from Contractor that the entire Work or an agreed portion thereof is 
complete, Engineer will promptly make a final inspection with Owner and Contractor and 
will notify Contractor in writing of all particulars in which this inspection reveals that the 
Work, or agreed portion thereof, is incomplete or defective. Contractor shall immediately 
take such measures as are necessary to complete such Work or remedy such deficiencies. 

15.06 Final Payment 

A. Application for Payment: 

1. After Contractor has, in the opinion of Engineer, satisfactorily completed all 
corrections identified during the final inspection and has delivered, in accordance with 
the Contract Documents, all maintenance and operating instructions, schedules, 
guarantees, bonds, certificates or other evidence of insurance, certificates of 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 60 of 65 

inspection, annotated record documents (as provided in Paragraph 7.11), and other 
documents, Contractor may make application for final payment. 

2. The final Application for Payment shall be accompanied (except as previously 
delivered) by: 

a. all documentation called for in the Contract Documents; 

b. consent of the surety, if any, to final payment; 

c. satisfactory evidence that all title issues have been resolved such that title to all 
Work, materials, and equipment has passed to Owner free and clear of any Liens 
or other title defects, or will so pass upon final payment. 

d. a list of all disputes that Contractor believes are unsettled; and 

e. complete and legally effective releases or waivers (satisfactory to Owner) of all 
Lien rights arising out of the Work, and of Liens filed in connection with the Work. 

3. In lieu of the releases or waivers of Liens specified in Paragraph 15.06.A.2 and as 
approved by Owner, Contractor may furnish receipts or releases in full and an affidavit 
of Contractor that: (a) the releases and receipts include all labor, services, material, 
and equipment for which a Lien could be filed; and (b) all payrolls, material and 
equipment bills, and other indebtedness connected with the Work for which Owner 
might in any way be responsible, or which might in any way result in liens or other 
burdens on Owner's property, have been paid or otherwise satisfied. If any 
Subcontractor or Supplier fails to furnish such a release or receipt in full, Contractor 
may furnish a bond or other collateral satisfactory to Owner to indemnify Owner 
against any Lien, or Owner at its option may issue joint checks payable to Contractor 
and specified Subcontractors and Suppliers. 

B. Engineer’s Review of Application and Acceptance: 

1. If, on the basis of Engineer’s observation of the Work during construction and final 
inspection, and Engineer’s review of the final Application for Payment and 
accompanying documentation as required by the Contract Documents, Engineer is 
satisfied that the Work has been completed and Contractor’s other obligations under 
the Contract have been fulfilled, Engineer will, within ten days after receipt of the final 
Application for Payment, indicate in writing Engineer’s recommendation of final 
payment and present the Application for Payment to Owner for payment. Such 
recommendation shall account for any set-offs against payment that are necessary in 
Engineer’s opinion to protect Owner from loss for the reasons stated above with 
respect to progress payments. At the same time Engineer will also give written notice 
to Owner and Contractor that the Work is acceptable, subject to the provisions of 
Paragraph 15.07. Otherwise, Engineer will return the Application for Payment to 
Contractor, indicating in writing the reasons for refusing to recommend final payment, 
in which case Contractor shall make the necessary corrections and resubmit the 
Application for Payment. 

C. Completion of Work: The Work is complete (subject to surviving obligations) when it is 
ready for final payment as established by the Engineer’s written recommendation of final 
payment. 

D. Payment Becomes Due: Thirty days after the presentation to Owner of the final Application 
for Payment and accompanying documentation, the amount recommended by Engineer 
(less any further sum Owner is entitled to set off against Engineer’s recommendation, 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 61 of 65 

including but not limited to set-offs for liquidated damages and set-offs allowed under the 
provisions above with respect to progress payments) will become due and shall be paid by 
Owner to Contractor. 

15.07 Waiver of Claims 

A. The making of final payment will not constitute a waiver by Owner of claims or rights 
against Contractor. Owner expressly reserves claims and rights arising from unsettled Liens, 
from defective Work appearing after final inspection pursuant to Paragraph 15.05, from 
Contractor’s failure to comply with the Contract Documents or the terms of any special 
guarantees specified therein, from outstanding Claims by Owner, or from Contractor’s 
continuing obligations under the Contract Documents. 

B. The acceptance of final payment by Contractor will constitute a waiver by Contractor of all 
claims and rights against Owner other than those pending matters that have been duly 
submitted or appealed under the provisions of Article 17. 

15.08 Correction Period 

A. If within one year after the date of Substantial Completion (or such longer period of time as 
may be prescribed by the terms of any applicable special guarantee required by the 
Contract Documents, or by any specific provision of the Contract Documents), any Work is 
found to be defective, or if the repair of any damages to the Site, adjacent areas that 
Contractor has arranged to use through construction easements or otherwise, and other 
adjacent areas used by Contractor as permitted by Laws and Regulations, is found to be 
defective, then Contractor shall promptly, without cost to Owner and in accordance with 
Owner’s written instructions: 

1. correct the defective repairs to the Site or such other adjacent areas; 

2. correct such defective Work; 

3. if the defective Work has been rejected by Owner, remove it from the Project and 
replace it with Work that is not defective, and 

4. satisfactorily correct or repair or remove and replace any damage to other Work, to 
the work of others, or to other land or areas resulting therefrom. 

B. If Contractor does not promptly comply with the terms of Owner’s written instructions, or 
in an emergency where delay would cause serious risk of loss or damage, Owner may have 
the defective Work corrected or repaired or may have the rejected Work removed and 
replaced. Contractor shall pay all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not 
limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals 
and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to 
such correction or repair or such removal and replacement (including but not limited to all 
costs of repair or replacement of work of others). 

C. In special circumstances where a particular item of equipment is placed in continuous 
service before Substantial Completion of all the Work, the correction period for that item 
may start to run from an earlier date if so provided in the Specifications. 
 

D. Where defective Work (and damage to other Work resulting therefrom) has been corrected 
or removed and replaced under this paragraph, the correction period hereunder with 
respect to such Work will be extended for an additional period of one year after such 
correction or removal and replacement has been satisfactorily completed. 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 62 of 65 

E. Contractor’s obligations under this paragraph are in addition to all other obligations and 
warranties. The provisions of this paragraph shall not be construed as a substitute for, or a 
waiver of, the provisions of any applicable statute of limitation or repose. 

ARTICLE 16 – SUSPENSION OF WORK AND TERMINATION 

16.01 Owner May Suspend Work 

A. At any time and without cause, Owner may suspend the Work or any portion thereof for a 
period of not more than 90 consecutive days by written notice to Contractor and Engineer. 
Such notice will fix the date on which Work will be resumed. Contractor shall resume the 
Work on the date so fixed. Contractor shall be entitled to an adjustment in the Contract 
Price or an extension of the Contract Times, or both, directly attributable to any such 
suspension. Any Change Proposal seeking such adjustments shall be submitted no later 
than 30 days after the date fixed for resumption of Work. 

16.02 Owner May Terminate for Cause 

A. The occurrence of any one or more of the following events will constitute a default by 
Contractor and justify termination for cause: 

1. Contractor’s persistent failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents (including, but not limited to, failure to supply sufficient skilled workers or 
suitable materials or equipment or failure to adhere to the Progress Schedule); 

2. Failure of Contractor to perform or otherwise to comply with a material term of the 
Contract Documents; 

3. Contractor’s disregard of Laws or Regulations of any public body having jurisdiction; or 

4. Contractor’s repeated disregard of the authority of Owner or Engineer. 

B. If one or more of the events identified in Paragraph 16.02.A occurs, then after giving 
Contractor (and any surety) ten days written notice that Owner is considering a declaration 
that Contractor is in default and termination of the contract, Owner may proceed to: 

1. declare Contractor to be in default, and give Contractor (and any surety) notice that 
the Contract is terminated; and 

2. enforce the rights available to Owner under any applicable performance bond. 

C. Subject to the terms and operation of any applicable performance bond, if Owner has 
terminated the Contract for cause, Owner may exclude Contractor from the Site, take 
possession of the Work, incorporate in the Work all materials and equipment stored at the 
Site or for which Owner has paid Contractor but which are stored elsewhere, and complete 
the Work as Owner may deem expedient. 

D. Owner may not proceed with termination of the Contract under Paragraph 16.02.B if 
Contractor within seven days of receipt of notice of intent to terminate begins to correct its 
failure to perform and proceeds diligently to cure such failure. 

E. If Owner proceeds as provided in Paragraph 16.02.B, Contractor shall not be entitled to 
receive any further payment until the Work is completed. If the unpaid balance of the 
Contract Price exceeds the cost to complete the Work, including all related claims, costs, 
losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, 
architects, attorneys, and other professionals) sustained by Owner, such excess will be paid 
to Contractor. If the cost to complete the Work including such related claims, costs, losses, 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 63 of 65 

and damages exceeds such unpaid balance, Contractor shall pay the difference to Owner. 
Such claims, costs, losses, and damages incurred by Owner will be reviewed by Engineer as 
to their reasonableness and, when so approved by Engineer, incorporated in a Change 
Order. When exercising any rights or remedies under this paragraph, Owner shall not be 
required to obtain the lowest price for the Work performed. 

F. Where Contractor’s services have been so terminated by Owner, the termination will not 
affect any rights or remedies of Owner against Contractor then existing or which may 
thereafter accrue, or any rights or remedies of Owner against Contractor or any surety 
under any payment bond or performance bond. Any retention or payment of money due 
Contractor by Owner will not release Contractor from liability. 

G. If and to the extent that Contractor has provided a performance bond under the provisions 
of Paragraph 6.01.A, the provisions of that bond shall govern over any inconsistent 
provisions of Paragraphs 16.02.B and 16.02.D. 

16.03 Owner May Terminate For Convenience 

A. Upon seven days written notice to Contractor and Engineer, Owner may, without cause and 
without prejudice to any other right or remedy of Owner, terminate the Contract. In such 
case, Contractor shall be paid for (without duplication of any items): 

1. completed and acceptable Work executed in accordance with the Contract Documents 
prior to the effective date of termination, including fair and reasonable sums for 
overhead and profit on such Work; 

2. expenses sustained prior to the effective date of termination in performing services 
and furnishing labor, materials, or equipment as required by the Contract Documents 
in connection with uncompleted Work, plus fair and reasonable sums for overhead 
and profit on such expenses; and 

3. other reasonable expenses directly attributable to termination, including costs 
incurred to prepare a termination for convenience cost proposal. 

B. Contractor shall not be paid on account of loss of anticipated overhead, profits, or revenue, 
or other economic loss arising out of or resulting from such termination. 

16.04 Contractor May Stop Work or Terminate 

A. If, through no act or fault of Contractor, (1) the Work is suspended for more than 90 
consecutive days by Owner or under an order of court or other public authority, or (2) 
Engineer fails to act on any Application for Payment within 30 days after it is submitted, or 
(3) Owner fails for 30 days to pay Contractor any sum finally determined to be due, then 
Contractor may, upon seven days written notice to Owner and Engineer, and provided 
Owner or Engineer do not remedy such suspension or failure within that time, terminate 
the contract and recover from Owner payment on the same terms as provided in Paragraph 
16.03. 

B. In lieu of terminating the Contract and without prejudice to any other right or remedy, if 
Engineer has failed to act on an Application for Payment within 30 days after it is 
submitted, or Owner has failed for 30 days to pay Contractor any sum finally determined to 
be due, Contractor may, seven days after written notice to Owner and Engineer, stop the 
Work until payment is made of all such amounts due Contractor, including interest thereon. 
The provisions of this paragraph are not intended to preclude Contractor from submitting a 
Change Proposal for an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times or otherwise for 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 64 of 65 

expenses or damage directly attributable to Contractor’s stopping the Work as permitted 
by this paragraph. 

ARTICLE 17 – FINAL RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES 

17.01 Methods and Procedures 

A. Disputes Subject to Final Resolution: The following disputed matters are subject to final 
resolution under the provisions of this Article: 

1. A timely appeal of an approval in part and denial in part of a Claim, or of a denial in 
full; and 

2. Disputes between Owner and Contractor concerning the Work or obligations under 
the Contract Documents, and arising after final payment has been made. 

B. Final Resolution of Disputes: For any dispute subject to resolution under this Article, Owner 
or Contractor may: 

1. elect in writing to invoke the dispute resolution process provided for in the 
Supplementary Conditions; or 

2. agree with the other party to submit the dispute to another dispute resolution 
process; or 

3. if no dispute resolution process is provided for in the Supplementary Conditions or 
mutually agreed to, give written notice to the other party of the intent to submit the 
dispute to a court of competent jurisdiction. 

ARTICLE 18 – MISCELLANEOUS 

18.01 Giving Notice 

A. Whenever any provision of the Contract Documents requires the giving of written notice, it 
will be deemed to have been validly given if: 

1. delivered in person, by a commercial courier service or otherwise, to the individual or 
to a member of the firm or to an officer of the corporation for which it is intended; or 

2. delivered at or sent by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, to the last 
business address known to the sender of the notice. 

18.02 Computation of Times 

A. When any period of time is referred to in the Contract by days, it will be computed to 
exclude the first and include the last day of such period. If the last day of any such period 
falls on a Saturday or Sunday or on a day made a legal holiday by the law of the applicable 
jurisdiction, such day will be omitted from the computation. 

18.03 Cumulative Remedies 

A. The duties and obligations imposed by these General Conditions and the rights and 
remedies available hereunder to the parties hereto are in addition to, and are not to be 
construed in any way as a limitation of, any rights and remedies available to any or all of 
them which are otherwise imposed or available by Laws or Regulations, by special warranty 
or guarantee, or by other provisions of the Contract. The provisions of this paragraph will 
be as effective as if repeated specifically in the Contract Documents in connection with 
each particular duty, obligation, right, and remedy to which they apply. 



 

EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 65 of 65 

18.04 Limitation of Damages 

A. With respect to any and all Change Proposals, Claims, disputes subject to final resolution, 
and other matters at issue, neither Owner nor Engineer, nor any of their officers, directors, 
members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors, shall be liable to 
Contractor for any claims, costs, losses, or damages sustained by Contractor on or in 
connection with any other project or anticipated project. 

18.05 No Waiver 

A. A party’s non-enforcement of any provision shall not constitute a waiver of that provision, 
nor shall it affect the enforceability of that provision or of the remainder of this Contract. 

18.06 Survival of Obligations 

A. All representations, indemnifications, warranties, and guarantees made in, required by, or 
given in accordance with the Contract, as well as all continuing obligations indicated in the 
Contract, will survive final payment, completion, and acceptance of the Work or 
termination or completion of the Contract or termination of the services of Contractor. 

18.07 Controlling Law 

A. This Contract is to be governed by the law of the state in which the Project is located. 

18.08 Headings 

A. Article and paragraph headings are inserted for convenience only and do not constitute 
parts of these General Conditions. 



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Supplementary Conditions 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead 
Placement  
 00 73 00-1 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-700) 

 

SUPPLEMENTARY CONDITIONS 

These Supplementary Conditions amend or supplement the Standard General Conditions of the 
Construction Contract, EJCDC® C-700 (2013 Edition) hereinafter referred to as the “General Conditions,” 
and other provisions of the Contract Documents as indicated below. All provisions that are not so amended 
or supplemented remain in full force and effect. 

The terms used in these Supplementary Conditions have the meanings stated in the General Conditions. 
Additional terms used in these Supplementary Conditions have the meanings stated below or elsewhere in 
the Contract Documents, which are applicable to both the singular and plural thereof. 

The address system used in these Supplementary Conditions is the same as the address system used in the 
General Conditions, with the prefix "SC" added thereto. 

 

ARTICLE 1 – DEFINITIONS AND TERMINOLOGY 

SC-1.01 Defined Terms 

SC-1.01  Add to the list of definitions in Paragraph 1.01.A by inserting the following as numbered 
items in their proper alphabetical positions: 

Bid Proposal; Bid Form; Bid Proposal Form - The prescribed form on which bidder submits 
bidder’s offer or proposal setting forth the bidder’s prices for the Work to be performed. 

General Conditions – Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract (EJCDC C-
700, 2013 Edition). Any reference to the General Conditions shall also be a reference to 
the Supplementary Conditions. 

Technical Specifications – The Specifications. 

SC-1.01 Delete Paragraph 1.01.A.20 in its entirety and insert the following in its place: 

Engineer – Barr Engineering Company, 3005 Boardwalk Drive, Suite 100, Ann Arbor, 
Michigan 48108 (Phone: 734-922-4400; Fax: 734-922-4401). 

SC-1.01 Delete Paragraph 1.01.A.28 in its entirety and insert the following in its place: 

Owner – Charter Township of Ypsilanti with whom Contractor has entered into the 
Agreement and for whom the Work is to be provided. 

SC-1.01 Delete Paragraph 1.01.A.44 in its entirety and insert the following in its place: 

Technical Data—Those items identified in the Supplementary Conditions, with respect to 
either (a) subsurface conditions at the Site, or physical conditions relating to existing 
surface or subsurface structures at the Site (except Underground Facilities) or (b) 
Hazardous Environmental Conditions at the Site including without limitation the data 
contained in boring logs, recorded measurements of subsurface water levels, laboratory 
test results, and other factual, objective information regarding conditions at the Site that 
are set forth in any geotechnical or environmental report prepared for the Project and 



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Supplementary Conditions 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead 
Placement  
 00 73 00-2 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-700) 

 

made available to Contractor.  Any use of the Technical Data made available to 
Contractor is entirely at Contractor’s own risk and at its own discretion.  

ARTICLE 2 – PRELIMINARY MATTERS 

SC-2 .02 Copies of Documents  

SC-2.02  Delete the first sentence of Paragraph 2.02.B and insert the following in its place: 

B. Owner shall maintain and safeguard at least one original printed record version of 
the Contract, including Drawings and Specifications bearing the certification or seal 
of Engineer and other design professionals.  

SC-2 .06 Electronic Transmittals. 

SC-2.06  Add the following new paragraph immediately after Paragraph 2.06.C: 

Because data stored in electronic media format can deteriorate or be modified 
inadvertently or otherwise without authorization of the data’s creator, the party receiving 
electronic files agrees that it will perform acceptance test or procedures within 60 days, 
after which the receiving party shall be deemed to have accepted the data thus transferred. 
Any errors detected within the 60-day acceptance period will be corrected by the 
transferring party, except those errors resulting from the use of software application 
package, operating systems, or computer hardware differing from those used by the data’s 
creator. 

ARTICLE 3 – DOCUMENTS: INTENT, REQUIREMENTS, REUSE 

SC-3.01 Intent 

SC-3.01 Add the following language at the end of the second sentence of Paragraph 3.01.B: 

Any item or items shown on the Drawings or described in the Specifications, but not 
specifically included in any of the unit prices, shall be considered incidental to the other 
work. 

SC-3.05 Reuse of Documents 

SC-3.05 Delete Paragraph 3.05.A.1 in its entirety and insert the following in its place: 

“have or acquire any title to or ownership rights in any of the Drawings, Specifications, or 
other documents (or copies of any thereof) prepared by or bearing the certification or seal 
of Engineer or its consultants, including electronic media editions, or reuse any such 
Drawings, Specifications, other documents, or copies thereof on extensions of the Project 
or any other project without written consent of Owner and Engineer and specific written 
verification or adaption by Engineer; or” 



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Supplementary Conditions 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead 
Placement  
 00 73 00-3 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-700) 

 

ARTICLE 5 – AVAILABILITY OF LANDS; SUBSURFACE AND PHYSICAL CONDITIONS; HAZARDOUS 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS 

SC-5.01 Availability of Lands 

SC-5.01 Delete Paragraph 5.01C in its entirety and insert the following in its place: 

Contractor shall provide for all additional lands and access thereto that Contractor may 
require for performance of the Work. 

5.03  Subsurface and Physical Conditions 

SC-5.03 Delete Paragraph 5.03B in its entirety and insert the following in its place: 

B. Reliance by Contractor on Technical Data Not Authorized: Contractor may not rely 
upon the accuracy of the Technical Data identified in the Supplementary Conditions 
with respect to such reports and drawings, and such reports and drawings are not 
Contract Documents. Contractor may not rely upon or make any claim against Owner 
or Engineer, or any of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, 
consultants, or subcontractors, with respect to:  

1. the completeness of such reports and drawings for Contractor’s purposes, 
including, but not limited to, any aspects of the means, methods, techniques, 
sequences, and procedures of construction to be employed by Contractor, and 
safety precautions and programs incident thereto; or  

2. other data, interpretations, opinions, and information contained in such reports 
or shown or indicated in such drawings; or  

3. any Contractor interpretation of or conclusion drawn from any Technical Data 
or any such other data, interpretations, opinions, or information. 

4. the accuracy of the Technical Data (as defined in Article 1) contained in any 
reports and drawings prepared for the Project and made available to Contractor. 

Add the following new paragraphs immediately after Paragraph 5.03.B: 

C. The following reports of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or 
adjacent to the Site are known to Owner: 

1. Letter report dated March 11, 2002, show boring log in the top of the south 
embankment of Ford Lake Dam, prepare by PSI, Plymouth, MI, re: “Piezometer 
Installation, Ford Lake Dam Emergency Spillway”. 

2. Drawings dated January 28, 1992, show boring logs in the north and south 
embankments of the Ford Lake Dam, by McLravy Engineering Associates, 
approved by Washtenaw County Road Commission, entitled “Bridge on Bridge 
Road over Huron River”, consisting of 36 sheets. PDF sheet 26 of 37.   

3.  Drawings dated April 4, 1932, show boring logs in the vicinity of Ford Lake Dam, 
by Ford Motor Company, entitled “Hydro-Electric Development, Huron River”, 
consisting of 137 sheets. 



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Supplementary Conditions 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead 
Placement  
 00 73 00-4 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-700) 

 

D. The following drawings of physical conditions relating to existing surface or 
subsurface structures at or adjacent to the Site (except Underground Facilities) are 
known to Owner: 

1. Drawings dated January 28, 1992, of the replacement bridge over the top of the 
Ford Lake Dam, by McLravy Engineering Associates, approved by Washtenaw 
County Road Commission, entitled “Bridge on Bridge Road over Huron River”, 
consisting of 37 sheets.  

2.  Drawings dated April 4, 1932, of Ford Lake Dam, by Ford Motor Company, 
entitled “Hydro-Electric Development, Huron River”, consisting of 137 sheets.  

3. AS-BUILT drawings dated March 18, 2002, of Ford Lake Dam spillway and 
powerhouse concrete repairs, by Barr Engineering Co., entitled “Ford Lake Dam 
Emergency Spillway”, consisting of 5 sheets.  

4. Report “Ford Lake Dam Spillway Concrete Assessment”, by Barr Engineering Co., 
June 2021, consisting of 57 pages. 

5.  Letter report dated November 25, 2022, by Solomon Diving regarding 
underwater inspection of six (6) upstream gate openings to determine the 
condition of the seal area surfaces in preparation for bulkhead installations, 
performed on 10-24-22, consisting of 4 pages and 5 associated files with video 
documentation.  

E. Contractor may examine copies of reports and drawings identified in SC 5.03.C and 
SC 5.03.D that were not included with the Bidding Documents at Barr Engineering 
Co., 3005 Boardwalk Drive, Suite 100, Ann Arbor, MI 48108 during regular business 
hours, or may request copies from Engineer. 

SC-5.06   Hazardous Environmental Conditions 

SC 5.06 Delete Paragraphs 5.06.A and 5.06.B in their entirety and insert the following: 

A. No reports or drawings related to Hazardous Environmental Conditions at the Site 
are known to Owner. 

B. Reliance by Contractor on Technical Data Not Authorized: Contractor may not rely 
upon the accuracy of the Technical Data expressly identified in the Supplementary 
Conditions with respect to such reports and drawings, and such reports and drawings 
are not Contract Documents. Contractor may not rely upon or make any claim against 
Owner or Engineer, or any of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, 
agents, consultants, or subcontractors, with respect to:  

1.  the completeness of such reports and drawings for Contractor’s purposes, 
including, but not limited to, any aspects of the means, methods, techniques, 
sequences and procedures of construction to be employed by Contractor and 
safety precautions and programs incident thereto; or 

2.  other data, interpretations, opinions and information contained in such reports 
or shown or indicated in such drawings; or  



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Supplementary Conditions 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead 
Placement  
 00 73 00-5 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-700) 

 

3.  any Contractor interpretation of or conclusion drawn from any Technical Data 
or any such other data, interpretations, opinions or information;  

4.  the accuracy of the Technical Data (as defined in Article 1) contained in any 
reports and drawings prepared for the Project and made available to Contractor. 

ARTICLE 6 – BONDS AND INSURANCE 

SC-6.01 Performance, Payment, and Other Bonds 

SC-6.01 Add the following sentence to the end of Paragraph 6.01.A of the General Conditions: 

Contractor shall furnish such additional Bonds as may be required by any permitting 
authority as a condition of any such permit. 

SC-6.02   Insurance—General Provisions 

SC-6.02 Add the following paragraph immediately after Paragraph 6.02.B: 

1. Contractor may obtain worker’s compensation insurance from an insurance company 
that has not been rated by A.M. Best, provided that such company (a) is domiciled in 
the state in which the project is located, (b) is certified or authorized as a worker’s 
compensation insurance provider by the appropriate state agency, and (c) has been 
accepted to provide worker’s compensation insurance for similar projects by the state 
within the last 12 months. 

SC-6.03 Contractor’s Liability Insurance 

SC-6.03 Amend the first sentence of Paragraph 6.03.C.2 to read as follows: 

2. Blanket contractual liability coverage, to the extent permitted by law, covering all of 
Contractor’s contractual indemnity obligations. 

SC-6.03 Add the following new Paragraphs immediately after Paragraph 6.03.C: 

9. Where applicable, claims arising out of blasting, elevators, aviation, and marine 
exposures. 

SC-6.03 Add the following sentence to the end of Paragraph 6.03.G: 

Such additional insured coverage shall be provided by Additional Insured – Engineers, 
Architects or Surveyors Not Engaged by the Named Insured endorsement CG 2032 04 13, 
or other comparable endorsement. 

SC-6.03 Amend the first sentence of Paragraph 6.03.I.3 to read as follows: 

contain a provision or endorsement that the coverage afforded will not be canceled, or 
coverages or limits reduced, or renewal refused until at least 10 days prior written notice 
has been given to Contractor. Within three days of receipt of any such written notice, 
Contractor shall provide a copy of the notice to Owner, Engineer, and each other insured 
under the policy.  

SC-6.03 Add the following subparagraph to the end of Paragraph 6.03.I: 



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Supplementary Conditions 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead 
Placement  
 00 73 00-6 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-700) 

 

6. The coverage shall include all property under the care, custody, or control of 
Contractor. 

SC 6.03 Add the following new paragraph immediately after Paragraph 6.03.J: 

K. The limits of liability for the insurance required by Paragraph 6.03 of the General 
Conditions shall provide coverage for not less than the following amounts or greater 
where required by Laws and Regulations: 

1. Workers’ Compensation, and related coverages under Paragraphs 6.03.A.1 and 
A.2 of the General Conditions: 

State: Statutory 

Federal, if applicable (e.g., Longshoreman’s): Statutory 

Jones Act coverage, if applicable:  

   Bodily injury by accident, each accident $ N/A 

   Bodily injury by disease, aggregate $ N/A 
 

Employer’s Liability: 

   Bodily injury, each accident $ 1,000,000 

   Bodily injury by disease, each employee $ 1,000,000 

   Bodily injury/disease aggregate $ 1,000,000 
 
For work performed in monopolistic states, stop-
gap liability coverage shall be endorsed to either 
the worker’s compensation or commercial general 
liability policy with a minimum limit of: $ N/A 
 

Foreign voluntary worker compensation Statutory 
 

2. Contractor’s Commercial General Liability under Paragraphs 6.03.B and 6.03.C of 
the General Conditions: 

General Aggregate $ 1,000,000 
 

Products - Completed Operations Aggregate $ 1,000,000 
 

Personal and Advertising Injury  $ 1,000,000 
 
Each Occurrence (Bodily Injury and Property 
Damage) $ 1,000,000 
 



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Supplementary Conditions 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead 
Placement  
 00 73 00-7 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-700) 

 

3. Automobile Liability under Paragraph 6.03.D. of the General Conditions: 

Combined Single Limit of $ 1,000,000 
 

4. Excess or Umbrella Liability: 

Per Occurrence $ 2,000,000 

General Aggregate $ 2,000,000 
 

5. Contractor’s Pollution Liability: 

Each Occurrence $ N/A 

General Aggregate $ N/A 

   

 
If box is checked, Contractor is not required to provide Contractor’s 
Pollution Liability insurance under this Contract 

 

6. Additional Insureds: In addition to Owner and Engineer, include as additional 
insureds the following:  

• The Charter Township of Ypsilanti and its past, present, and future elected 
Officials.  

• Barr Engineering Co. 

7. Each of the Commercial General Liability, Automobile Liability and Umbrella 
policies shall include cross liability coverage so that the insurance applies 
separately to each insured against whom claim is made or suit is brought, even 
in instances where one insured claims against or sues another insured  and 
provide that its insurance provider shall waive all rights of subrogation against 
Owner and Engineer and their agents and employees, and shall waive any setoff 
or counterclaim or any other deduction whether by attachment or otherwise as 
applicable. 

8. Contractor’s Professional Liability: 

Each Claim $ N/A 

Annual Aggregate $ N/A 
   

SC-6.05   Property Insurance 

SC 6.05 Delete the first sentence of Paragraph 6.05.A and insert the following sentence in its place: 

Owner shall purchase and maintain builder’s risk insurance upon the Work on a completed 
value basis, in the amount of the full insurable replacement cost thereof (subject to such 



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Supplementary Conditions 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead 
Placement  
 00 73 00-8 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-700) 

 

deductible amounts as may be provided in the Supplementary Conditions or required by 
Laws and Regulations). 

ARTICLE 7 – CONTRACTOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES 

SC-7.02  Labor; Working Hours 

SC-7.02 Add the following new subparagraphs immediately after Paragraph 7.02.B: 

1. Regular working hours will be 7am to 5pm 

2. Owner's observed holidays are: 

• Martin Luther King Day  

• President’s Day  

• Good Friday  

• Memorial Day  

• Independence Day  

• Labor Day  

• Veterans Day  

• Thanksgiving  

• Christmas 

• New Year  

SC-7.02 Amend the first and second sentences of Paragraph 7.02.B to state “…all Work at the Site 
shall be performed during regular working hours, Monday through Saturday. Contractor 
will not perform Work on a Sunday or any observed holiday.” 

SC-7.02 Add the following new paragraph immediately after Paragraph 7.02.B: 

Owner shall be responsible for the cost of any overtime pay or other expense incurred by 
the Owner for Engineer’s services (including those of the Resident Project Representative, 
if any), Owner's representative, and construction observation services, occasioned by the 
performance of Work on Saturday, Sunday, any legal holiday, or as overtime on any regular 
work day. If Contractor is responsible but does not pay, or if the parties are unable to agree 
as to the amount owed, then Owner may impose a reasonable set-off against payments 
due under Article 15. 

SC-7.12 Safety and Protection 

SC-7.12 Insert the following after the second sentence of Paragraph 7.12.C: 

The following Owner safety programs are applicable to the Work:  Charter Township of 
Ypsilanti, General Safety Program, January 2020. 



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Supplementary Conditions 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead 
Placement  
 00 73 00-9 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-700) 

 

SC-7.12 Add the following Paragraphs after Paragraph 7.12.H: 

H. The requirements of Paragraph 7.12 shall apply continuously and not be limited to 
normal work hours. 

I. Observation of Contractor’s performance by Engineer is not intended to include 
review of the adequacy of Contractor’s safety measures on or near the Site. 

J. Contractor shall be responsible for any safety violation and/or fine that may occur 
because of any neglect by Contractor or any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other 
individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them, or any third 
party. 

K. Unless otherwise specified, Contractor has responsibility for the design and safety 
of excavations. Engineer and Owner will not provide any excavation design, nor 
should excavation design be presumed to be contained in the Contract 
Documents. Engineer and Owner will not assist Contractor in classifying soils or 
interpreting applicable regulations. 

L. Additional provisions regarding Contractor’s responsibilities for health, safety, and 
protection may be included in Division 01 (General Requirements) of the Technical 
Specifications. 

M. Contractor shall require its Subcontractors and all lower-tier subcontractors to 
comply with all applicable safety Laws and Regulations and safety programs 
applicable to the work.  

ARTICLE 10 – ENGINEER’S STATUS DURING CONSTRUCTION 

SC-10.03 Project Representative 

SC-10.03 Add the following new paragraphs immediately after Paragraph 10.03.A: 

B. The Resident Project Representative (RPR) will be Engineer's representative at the 
Site, will act as directed by and under the supervision of Engineer, and will confer with 
Engineer regarding RPR's actions. 

 Contractor shall observe the following additional instructions as to reporting and 
authority over the Work: 

1. General: RPR's dealings in matters pertaining to the Work in general shall be 
with Engineer and Contractor. RPR's dealings with Subcontractors shall only be 
through or with the full knowledge and approval of Contractor. RPR shall 
generally communicate with Owner only with the knowledge of and under the 
direction of Engineer. 

2. Schedules:  Review the progress schedule, schedule of Shop Drawing and 
Sample submittals, and Schedule of Values prepared by Contractor and consult 
with Engineer concerning acceptability. 

3. Conferences and Meetings:  Attend meetings with Contractor, such as 
preconstruction conferences, progress meetings, job conferences, and other 
Project-related meetings, and prepare and circulate copies of minutes thereof. 



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Supplementary Conditions 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead 
Placement  
 00 73 00-10 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-700) 

 

4. Liaison: 

a. Serve as Engineer’s liaison with Contractor. Working principally through 
Contractor’s authorized representative or designee, assist in providing 
information regarding the provisions and intent of the Contract 
Documents. 

b. Assist Engineer in serving as Owner’s liaison with Contractor when 
Contractor’s operations affect Owner’s on-Site operations. 

c. Assist in obtaining from Owner additional details or information, when 
required for proper execution of the Work. 

5. Interpretation of Contract Documents:  Report to Engineer when clarifications 
and interpretations of the Contract Documents are needed and transmit to 
Contractor clarifications and interpretations as issued by Engineer. 

6. Shop Drawings and Samples: 

a. Record date of receipt of Samples and Contractor-approved Shop 
Drawings. 

b. Receive Samples which are furnished at the Site by Contractor, and notify 
Engineer of availability of Samples for examination. 

c. Advise Engineer and Contractor of the commencement of any portion of 
the Work requiring a Shop Drawing or Sample submittal for which RPR 
believes that the submittal has not been approved by Engineer. 

7. Modifications: Consider and evaluate Contractor’s suggestions for modifications 
in Drawings or Specifications and report such suggestions, together with RPR’s 
recommendations, if any, to Engineer. Transmit to Contractor in writing 
decisions as issued by Engineer. 

8. Review of Work and Rejection of Defective Work: 

a. Conduct on-Site observations of Contractor’s work in progress to assist 
Engineer in determining if the Work is in general proceeding in accordance 
with the Contract Documents. 

b. Report to Engineer whenever RPR believes that any part of Contractor’s 
work in progress is defective, will not produce a completed Project that 
conforms generally to the Contract Documents, or will imperil the integrity 
of the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole as 
indicated in the Contract Documents, or has been damaged, or does not 
meet the requirements of any inspection, test or approval required to be 
made; and advise Engineer of that part of work in progress that RPR 
believes should be corrected or rejected or should be uncovered for 
observation, or requires special testing, inspection or approval. 

9. Inspections, Tests, and System Start-ups: 

a. Verify that tests, equipment, and systems start-ups and operating and 
maintenance training are conducted in the presence of appropriate 



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Supplementary Conditions 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead 
Placement  
 00 73 00-11 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-700) 

 

Owner’s personnel, and that Contractor maintains adequate records 
thereof. 

b. Observe, record, and report to Engineer appropriate details relative to the 
test procedures and systems start-ups. 

10. Records: 

a. Prepare a daily report or keep a diary or log book, recording Contractor’s 
hours on the Site, Subcontractors present at the Site, weather conditions, 
data relative to questions of Change Orders, Field Orders, Work Change 
Directives, or changed conditions, Site visitors, deliveries of equipment or 
materials, daily activities, decisions, observations in general, and specific 
observations in more detail as in the case of observing test procedures; and 
send copies to Engineer. 

b. Record names, addresses, fax numbers, e-mail addresses, web site 
locations, and telephone numbers of all Contractors, Subcontractors, and 
major Suppliers of materials and equipment. 

c. Maintain records for use in preparing Project documentation. 

11. Reports: 

a. Furnish to Engineer periodic reports as required of progress of the Work 
and of Contractor’s compliance with the Progress Schedule and schedule 
of Shop Drawing and Sample submittals. 

b. Draft and recommend to Engineer proposed Change Orders, Work Change 
Directives, and Field Orders. Obtain backup material from Contractor. 

c. Immediately notify Engineer of the occurrence of any Site accidents, 
emergencies, acts of God endangering the Work, force majeure or delay 
events, damage to property by fire or other causes, or the discovery of any 
Constituent of Concern or Hazardous Environmental Condition. 

12. Payment Requests:  Review applications for payment with Contractor for 
compliance with the established procedure for their submission and forward 
with recommendations to Engineer, noting particularly the relationship of the 
payment requested to the Schedule of Values, Work completed, and materials 
and equipment delivered at the Site but not incorporated in the Work. 

13. Certificates, Operation and Maintenance Manuals:  During the course of the 
Work, verify that materials and equipment certificates, operation and 
maintenance manuals and other data required by the Contract Documents to be 
assembled and furnished by Contractor are applicable to the items actually 
installed and in accordance with the Contract Documents, and have these 
documents delivered to Engineer for review and forwarding to Owner prior to 
payment for that part of the Work. 



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Supplementary Conditions 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead 
Placement  
 00 73 00-12 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-700) 

 

14. Completion: 

a. Participate in Engineer’s visits to the Site to determine Substantial 
Completion, assist in the determination of Substantial Completion and the 
preparation of a punch list of items to be completed or corrected. 

b. Participate in Engineer’s final visit to the Site to determine completion of 
the Work, in the company of Owner and Contractor, and prepare a final 
punch list of items to be completed and deficiencies to be remedied. 

c. Observe whether all items on the final list have been completed or 
corrected and make recommendations to Engineer concerning acceptance 
and issuance of the notice of acceptability of the work. 

C. The RPR shall not: 

1. Authorize any deviation from the Contract Documents or substitution of 
materials or equipment (including “or-equal” items). 

2. Exceed limitations of Engineer’s authority as set forth in the Contract 
Documents, including, but not limited to, issuing clarification or interpretation 
of the requirements of the Contract Documents. 

3. Undertake any of the responsibilities of Contractor, Subcontractors, or Suppliers. 

4. Advise on, issue directions relative to, or assume control over any aspect of the 
means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures of Contractor’s work. 

5. Advise on, issue directions regarding, or assume control over security or safety 
practices, precautions, and programs in connection with the activities or 
operations of Owner or Contractor. 

6. Participate in specialized field or laboratory tests or inspections conducted off-
site by others except as specifically authorized by Engineer. 

7. Accept Shop Drawing or Sample submittals from anyone other than Contractor. 

8. Authorize Owner to occupy the Project in whole or in part. 

ARTICLE 13 – COST OF THE WORK; ALLOWANCES; UNIT PRICE WORK 

SC-13.01 Cost of the Work 

SC-13.01 Add the following new sub-Paragraph a. immediately after Paragraph 13.01.B.1: 

a. In addition to Living Wage and Prevailing Wage Ordinances, Owner has 
specific wage requirements as follows: 

1) Davis-Bacon Act, July 2, 1964 (Title 40, USC, 276A) 

2) Anti-Kickback Act (Title 18, USC 874) 

3) U.S. Department of Labor Regulations and Standards (Title 29, 1, 3 and 
5) 



Charter Township of Ypsilanti  Supplementary Conditions 

Ford Lake Dam Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead 
Placement  
 00 73 00-13 (adapted from 2013 EJCDC Form C-700) 

 

4) Equal Employment Opportunity Act, September 18, 1965 (Executive 
Order No. 11246) 

5) Federal Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970 

6) Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968, Section 3, as amended, 
12 USC, 1701u. 

ARTICLE 14 – TESTS AND INSPECTIONS; CORRECTION, REMOVAL OR ACCEPTANCE OF DEFECTIVE 
WORK 

SC-14.01 Access to Work 

SC -14.01 Add the following new Paragraph immediately after Paragraph 14.01.A. 

B. Said access shall conform to all requirements of the regulatory agency or agencies 
who claim jurisdiction over the safety of the project site. Contractor shall provide, at 
its non-reimbursed cost, all scaffolding, fall protection, ventilation, and similar items 
needed for required third-party observation and testing, not including personal 
protective gear of others. Failure by Contractor to provide safe access for the above 
parties will be a default of the provisions of the Contract Documents as provided for 
in Paragraph 16.02.A.4. 

ARTICLE 15 – PAYMENTS TO CONTRACTOR; SET-OFFS; COMPLETION; CORRECTION PERIOD 

SC-15.03 Substantial Completion 

SC 15.03 Add the following new subparagraph immediately after Paragraph 15.03.B: 

If some or all of the Work has been determined not to be at a point of Substantial 
Completion and will require re-inspection or re-testing by Engineer, the cost of such re-
inspection or re-testing, including the cost of time, travel and living expenses, shall be 
paid by Contractor to Owner. If Contractor does not pay, or the parties are unable to agree 
as to the amount owed, then Owner may impose a reasonable set-off against payments 
due under Article 15. 

SC-15.07 Waiver of Claims 

SC-15.07 Delete the word “Owner” from Paragraph 15.07.B and replace with the following: 

“Owner and Engineer and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, 
consultants, and subcontractors of each”   

 



CUI//CEII



CUI//CEII



CUI//CEII



CUI//CEII



CUI//CEII



CUI//CEII



CUI//CEII



CUI//CEII



CUI//CEII



CUI//CEII



Construction Quality Control Inspection Program 
(QCIP)  

Ford Lake Dam Hydroelectric Project  
FERC Project No. 5334 
Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead Placement 

Prepared for 
The Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
 

 
February 2023 

 

CUI//CEII



Construction Quality Control Inspection Program 
Ford Lake Dam Hydroelectric Project 

Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead Placement 

February 2023 

Contents 
1.0 Introduction ........................................................................................................................................................................... 1 

1.1 Background ....................................................................................................................................................................... 1 
1.2 Purpose ............................................................................................................................................................................... 1 
1.3 Description of Project Works ..................................................................................................................................... 1 
1.4 Scope of Work ................................................................................................................................................................. 3 
1.5 Schedule ............................................................................................................................................................................. 3 
1.6 QCIP Category .................................................................................................................................................................. 3 

2.0 Project Organization ........................................................................................................................................................... 4 

2.1 Organization Structure ................................................................................................................................................. 4 
2.2 Description of Responsibilities .................................................................................................................................. 4 
2.3 DSE/PM Resumes............................................................................................................................................................ 5 
2.4 CE/RE/PCS Resumes ...................................................................................................................................................... 5 

3.0 Inspection Practices ............................................................................................................................................................ 1 

3.1 Inspection Criteria .......................................................................................................................................................... 1 
3.2 Performance of Inspections ........................................................................................................................................ 1 

4.0 Material Testing .................................................................................................................................................................... 3 

4.1 Testing Agency ................................................................................................................................................................ 3 
4.2 Concrete Testing ............................................................................................................................................................. 3 

5.0 Documentation ..................................................................................................................................................................... 4 

5.1 Certificates ......................................................................................................................................................................... 4 
5.2 Inspection Reports ......................................................................................................................................................... 4 
5.3 Testing Reports ................................................................................................................................................................ 4 
5.4 Photographs ..................................................................................................................................................................... 4 
5.5 Periodic Reports .............................................................................................................................................................. 4 

6.0 Design Control During Construction ........................................................................................................................... 5 

6.1 Design Changes ............................................................................................................................................................... 5 

CUI//CEII



6.2 Construction Deviations ............................................................................................................................................... 5 
6.3 Record Drawings ............................................................................................................................................................. 5 
6.4 Field Memoranda ............................................................................................................................................................ 5 
6.5 Design Control Log ........................................................................................................................................................ 5 

7.0 Erosion Control and Environmental Compliance (as applicable) ...................................................................... 6 

7.1 Compliance ....................................................................................................................................................................... 6 
7.2 Control of Water ............................................................................................................................................................. 6 

 

 

List of Attachments 

Attachment 1 Organization Chart 

 

CUI//CEII



1.0 Introduction 
1.1 Background 
In 2021, the Charter Township of Ypsilanti (Township) retained Barr Engineering Co. (Barr) to perform a 
visual assessment of the upstream side of the powerhouse intake and concrete structures. Barr completed 
the visual inspection along with hammer soundings of the intake and spillway concrete areas to identify 
potential areas of deterioration and provided the results to the Township. The Township plans to repair 
the identified defects and retained Barr to perform the repair design engineering. This project identifies 
and provides standard repair details for concrete defects in the intake and spillway area. 

In addition to the concrete repairs noted above, the six spillway sluice gates will also be visually inspected. 
Per the August 30, 2021, correspondence between the Township and the Federal Energy Regulatory 
Commission (FERC), item number 6, the township concurred with the IC’s response to conduct a visual 
inspection of the sluice gates within the next 3 years. The Contractor will support dewatering activities by 
installing steel bulkheads (as shown on drawings), concurrently with the above listed repairs, to allow for 
control of water and visual inspection of the sluice gates with the sluiceway dewatered and the gates 
raised in the full open position.  

1.2 Purpose 
The purpose of this Quality Control Inspection Program (QCIP) is to provide the requirements for quality 
control during the construction phase of the project. Contained herein are the inspection requirements, 
responsibilities of the project team members, qualifications of key project personnel, documentation 
requirements, and design controls to be used during construction. 

1.3 Description of Project Works 
The Ford Lake Dam Hydroelectric Project is located on the Huron River, Section #22, Township T3S, 
Range R7E, within the Charter Township of Ypsilanti in Washtenaw County, Michigan. Ford Lake Dam is 
located approximately 4 miles downstream of the City of Ypsilanti, Michigan, and approximately 3 miles 
upstream of the City of Belleville, Michigan. Ford Lake Dam has a high hazard potential classification. 

The dam is oriented in a north-south direction (left to right looking downstream) and Project structures 
are referred to from left (north) to right (south) throughout this QCIP. The dam consists of four major 
components: a left earth embankment extending from the natural high ground abutment to the left side 
of the powerhouse, a powerhouse/intake structure, a barrel-arch fixed-crest spillway structure with six 
primary spillway sluice-gate outlets, and a right earth embankment with 175-foot-long fuse-plug auxiliary 
spillway extending from the right side of the spillway structure to the natural high ground abutment. 

Elevations presented herein are referenced to local Plant Datum, which is used in the original 1931 
construction drawings and the powerhouse computer monitoring system. The conversions between Plant 
Datum and North American Vertical Datum of 1988 (NAVD 88) datum is: 

Plant Datum = Feet NAVD 88 + 0.8 feet. 

CUI//CEII



Figure 1-1 Plan View of Site

Key project elevations and hydraulic data are summarized below (all elevations given in feet, local plant 
datum unless noted otherwise): 

CUI//CEII



Table 1-1 Key Project Elevations & Hydraulic Data 

Feature 
Elevation [feet] / Flow [cfs] 

Plant Datum 
Normal Pool Headwater  684.6 ± 0.25 

Normal Tailwater  652.0 

Nominal Embankment Crest Elevation  695.7 (min) 

Top of Clay Core in Embankment 693.5 

Top of Clay Core in Fuse-Plug Spillway 694.0 

Crest of Overflow Spillway 685.0 

Spillway Sluiceway Sill Elevation 641.0 

Probable Maximum Flood Headwater  694.1 

Probable Maximum Flood Tailwater 663.6 

PMF Peak Outflow 27,980 

100-Year Flood 9,800 

Flood of Record (May 25, 2011) Peak HW EL. 684.93 ft / Flow 6,815 cfs 

Zero Freeboard Elevation 695.7 

Zero Freeboard Discharge Capacity 32,000 

Notes/references: 
(1) Information listed above is from 2022 STID 

 

1.4 Scope of Work 
Construction will consist of concrete repairs for the areas of the powerhouse intake and spillway identified 
in the drawings, including the left abutment upstream wall, intake piers, trash chute, and overflow spillway 
crests. Construction will also include installing bulkheads at the upstream and downstream sides of the 
sluiceway and dewatering to support visual inspection of the sluiceway gates. 

1.5 Schedule 
Construction is scheduled to be performed in 2023. Engineering for the project was completed in 2022.  

1.6 QCIP Category 
Based on the "FERC Engineering Guidelines for the Evaluation of Hydropower Projects," this QCIP is 
classified as Category 3A. 

  

CUI//CEII



2.0 Project Organization 
2.1 Organization Structure 
Attachment 1 is the organizational chart of team members in performance of this contract. The 
description of team member responsibilities is as follows. 

2.2 Description of Responsibilities 
1. Project Manager (PM): Overall responsibility for execution of the project. The Project Manager is 

responsible for construction management, contract administration, and construction scope 
control for the project. The PM will serve as the liaison and help coordinate technical and dam 
safety aspects relating to the facility during construction between the Consulting Engineer, Dam 
Safety Engineer, and Hydro Operations staff and has the authority to stop work. The PM is 
employed by the Township. 

2. Consulting Engineer (CE): Responsible for design of the project, reviewing issues identified during 
construction, approval of design changes and construction deviations, and reviewing shop 
drawings or other construction documents for compliance with design requirements.  

The Consulting Engineer/Design Engineer is employed by Barr Engineering Co. The CE may also 
provide a Resident Engineer (RE) to perform the same responsibilities for work in the field.  

3. Resident Engineer (RE): Responsible for observation of Contractor activities during construction to 
ensure the project is being constructed in general accordance with the plans and specifications. 
The RE is employed by Barr Engineering Co. and will be on-site during critical construction 
activities or as requested by the Township to review completed work is in accordance with the 
plans and specifications.  

4. Project Construction Supervisor (PCS): Responsible for construction oversight to help ensure that 
the Contractor complies with the general intent of the plans and specifications. The PCS is 
responsible to ensure compliance to the QCIP and has the authority to stop Contractor activities 
when the work is not being performed in compliance with project plans and specifications or 
would cause potential dam safety issues. The PCS will prepare monthly construction progress 
reports, as required. . The RE will also function as the PCS for this project and will be employed by 
Barr Engineering Co. 

5. Dam Safety Engineer (DSE): The Dam Safety Engineer will be the liaison between the Township, 
the CE, and the FERC. The Dam Safety Engineer is employed by Barr Engineering Co. 

6. Hydro Operations Supervisor: Responsible for ensuring proper operation of the facility during the 
project, including overview and implementation of the Emergency Action Plan, if required. The 
Hydro Operations Supervisor is employed by the Township. 

CUI//CEII



7. Hydro Operator: Responsible for monitoring plant instrumentation prior to, during, and after 
construction and for controlling water discharge activities through the dam, including the 
powerhouse and spillway. The Hydro Operator will also perform their regular daily inspections of 
the facility during construction. They report to the Hydro Operations Supervisor.  

8. Testing Service: Responsible for conducting tests and inspections necessary to ensure quality 
related to construction, and other items as required. This may be one company or separate 
companies. 

9. Contractor: An independent company providing the labor, materials, and equipment to construct 
the work in accordance with the project plans and specifications, under contract to the Township. 
Contractors are qualified by submittals made during the bidding process.  

2.3 DSE/PM Resumes 
1. The Dam Safety Engineer is David Hibbs of Barr Engineering Co. 

David Hibbs, PhD, PE 
Dam Safety Engineer 

David has over 24 years of dam related engineering experience, specializing in hydraulics and 
hydrology and is a Registered Professional Engineer in the State of Michigan. Mr. Hibbs has 
been the Dam Safety Engineer for Ford Lake Dam since 2013.   

2. The PM and Hydro Operations Supervisor for the project is Michael Saranen of the Township of 
Ypsilanti. 

Michael Saranen 
Project Manager 

Michael has 25 years of experience with the Ford Lake Dam's operations as operator and 
manager. He has also performed the role of PM on previous projects at the Ford Lake Dam. 
Michael has been with the Township for 24 years and currently hold title as Operations 
Manager/Safety Coordinator. 

2.4 CE/RE/PCS Resumes 
1. The Consulting Engineer (CE/RE) for the project is Barr Engineering Co. and their primary 

representative is Christopher Toulouse. 

Christopher Toulouse, PE 
Structural Engineer (CE/RE) – Barr Engineering Co. 
M. Eng. Structural Engineering (University of Michigan, Ann Arbor) 
B.S. Civil and Environmental Engineering (University of Michigan, Ann Arbor) 

Chris has 13 years of experience in inspection, evaluation, analysis, design, and construction 
observation of civil projects. Experience includes construction inspection, tactical climbing 

CUI//CEII



inspection, and analysis and design of reinforced concrete, structural steel, and timber 
structures. He has designed and provided construction support as the RE for numerous repair 
projects at high hazard dams throughout Michigan.   

Mr. Toulouse is the Engineer-of-Record for this project. 

2. The Resident Engineer (RE) will be employed by Barr Engineering Co. and be either a Professional 
Engineer or Engineer-in-Training (EIT) out of their Ann Arbor, Michigan office. The RE will also 
function as the PCS for this project. Kate Kelley will be the primary RE/PCS. Christopher Toulouse, 
Mark Remell and Tor Hansen will be the alternate RE/PCS. 

Kate Kelley, EIT 
Structural Engineer – Barr Engineering Co. 
B.S. Civil Engineering (Wayne State University) 
M. Eng. Structural Engineering (University of Michigan)  

Kate has 3 years of experience in design and inspection of steel, reinforced concrete, and 
timber structures, including design and inspection of structures at hydroelectric dams. 

Mark Remell, EIT 
Structural Engineer – Barr Engineering Co. 
B.S. Civil Engineering (Lawrence Technological University) 
 
Mark is a new structural engineer with Barr and has 4 summers of internship experience with 
material testing and construction observation. 

Tor Hansen, PE 
Principal Engineer  - Barr Engineering Co. 

Tor has 29 years of experience in the evaluation, analysis, design, and construction 
observation of civil, hydropower, and mechanical projects. Experience includes the design of 
reinforced concrete, structural steel, timber, and masonry structures. He has provided on-site 
construction observation and engineering support during construction for dams in 
Minnesota, Michigan, Iowa, North Dakota, and Wisconsin. He is a registered engineer in 
Michigan and 10 other states. 

CUI//CEII



3.0 Inspection Practices 
3.1 Inspection Criteria 
The following documents establish the basis in which inspections will be conducted during construction. 

1. Plans and Specifications: 

The plans and specifications have been prepared by the Consulting Engineer and reviewed by the 
Township and the FERC, prior to release for construction. American Society for Testing and 
Materials (ASTM) and American Concrete Institute (ACI) standards are also provided in the 
technical specifications and will govern those aspects of the work. 

2. Applicable National Standards: 

The primary national standards for this work are the American Society for Testing and Materials 
(ASTM) as provided in the technical specifications and shall govern those aspects of the work. 

3. Shop Drawings: 

As part of the scope of work under this contract, the Contractor is required to prepare, and 
submit for approval, drawings of any part or material which is fabricated prior to incorporation 
into the project. These include shop drawings for the concrete reinforcement, replacement 
fiberglass grating and embedded angles and the downstream bulkhead. The drawings which are 
reviewed and accepted by the Consulting Engineer and the Township will serve as criteria for 
acceptance in the field. 

4. State Standards: 

Portions of work related to turf restoration materials will be governed by the 2020 Michigan 
Department of Transportation (MDOT) Standard Specifications for Construction. 

3.2 Performance of Inspections 
1. The PCS/RE is responsible to ensure that work performed by the Contractor is accomplished in 

accordance with the plans, specifications, and QCIP. The PCS/RE will perform weekly inspections 
at a minimum, with additional inspections at critical stages of construction to monitor the quality 
of the Contractor's activities. In addition to the  inspection activity, they will conduct inspections 
of certain work efforts at various stages. The Contractor will be required to notify the PCS/RE 
when the work is ready for a required inspection. 

2. Repair of the spillway concrete structures will require partial demolition of existing concrete 
structures. The PCS/RE will be onsite frequently to monitor demolition and repair activities, and 
the condition of the existing structures. The PCS/RE will observe the structures for indications of 
deleterious impacts as a result of the construction work which may include but not limited to: 

CUI//CEII



 Settlement or movement of spillway structures 
 New cracking of existing concrete spillway structures 
 Embankment sloughing or settlement around potential staging areas  
 Excessive surface erosion at disturbed areas of embankments at potential staging areas 

If the PCS/RE observes any of the above conditions which are believed to be having a detrimental 
impact on embankment stability, existing structure integrity or stability, or dam safety, associated 
construction activities will be stopped immediately and the PCS/RE will notify the PM, DSE and CE. 
The project team will re-evaluate the path forward.  

3. On-site staff and construction staff should review the temporary surveillance and monitoring 
requirements of the specifications for the Project. If necessary, the DSE, PM, PCS/RE or CE will 
direct the Contractor to take remedial measures to correct any observed situation until a detailed 
evaluation can be completed.  

4. The PM and a representative from the FERC may visit the site on a periodic basis for the purpose 
of inspections and consultation with the RE or CE (as requested by PM) and the Contractor. 

5. The CE/RE/PCS will perform periodic inspections as requested by the PM and at critical stages of 
construction. 

6. The CE/RE will perform inspections of the existing sluice gates. 

  

CUI//CEII



4.0 Material Testing 
4.1 Testing Agency 
Materials testing will be conducted in accordance with the plans and specifications. The Contractor will 
direct the activities of the materials testing company and remain in communication with the PM and 
PCS/RE and CE. The materials testing company will be hired by the Contractor. The Contractor will 
coordinate the activities of the testing companies as applicable, with consultation of the PM and PCS/RE. 

4.2 Concrete Testing 
Concrete testing will be as follows: 

 A minimum of one air entrainment test per truck load per ASTM C233. 
 A minimum of one slump test per truck load per ASTM C143. 
 A minimum of one temperature test per truck load per ASTM C1046. 
 Cast a minimum of one set of six, 6-inch-diameter by 12-inch-long cylinders, or nine, 4-inch-

diameter by 8-inch-long cylinders for each 20 cubic yards or fraction of each day’s pour for 
compressive strength testing per ASTM C39. Two 6x12 or three 4x8 cylinders will be tested at 
7 days, two 6x12 or three 4x8 cylinders at 28 days, and two 6x12 or three 4x8 cylinders will be 
held for additional testing as required. 

  

CUI//CEII



5.0 Documentation 
5.1 Certificates 
The Contractor or other direct supplier of materials or fabrications is responsible for furnishing material 
test certificates or certificates of conformance to the PCS/RE at the time of delivery to the site. These 
documents will certify that the delivered item meets or exceeds the material requirements and complies 
with all applicable requirements in the contract. 

5.2 Inspection Reports 
The PCS/RE, and CE will prepare appropriate inspection reports upon the completion of inspections which 
require preparation of such a report. Weekly inspections of Contractor activities will be performed by 
PCS/RE and notable changes or issues will be documented accordingly and maintained at the site by the 
PCS/RE and reviewed with the CE. 

5.3 Testing Reports 
Each testing agency, as applicable, will provide a report for their material testing requirements. Test 
reports for concrete will contain test results of concrete field air, temperature, and slump results as well as 
results of cylinder breaks for concrete compressive strength. 

5.4 Photographs 
The PCS/RE will collect photographs throughout the project to document events and conditions. Prior to 
the start of any work, photographs are used to establish the site conditions at project inception. Photos 
are taken at the end of each month to document progress for inclusion with the monthly report, if 
necessary. In addition, photos will be utilized on a per inspection basis to provide a record of site 
conditions, work progress, problems identified, and Contractor methods and activities. 

5.5 Periodic Reports 
Periodic reports will include monthly construction updates to the FERC, as necessary. These reports will be 
prepared by the PCS/RE and submitted to the Hydro Operations Supervisor, who will then submit to the 
FERC. Monthly reports will generally provide a summary of work completed for the month as well as a 
summary of upcoming work for the next month. The report will provide progress photographs as well as 
document any significant design changes or field memoranda. 

The PCS/RE will provide periodic reports for the days they are on-site. 

A final construction report and letter of certification, certifying that the project was completed in 
accordance with the design plans and specifications, will be submitted to the FERC upon completion of 
the project, as required. 

 

CUI//CEII



6.0 Design Control During Construction 
6.1 Design Changes 
Changes to the project plans and specifications will be properly identified and documented to ensure all 
parties involved with this effort are informed of design changes. The CE may verbally authorize minor 
changes in the design drawings and specifications which are consistent with the overall design intent of 
the project and document such changes on red-line drawings. Other design changes will be approved by 
the PM and CE/RE and documented with a formal written letter. 

The PCS/RE will be responsible for ensuring that the Contractor maintains current on-site versions of the 
plans and specifications. The PM will ensure that Dam Safety Engineer/Township is advised of 
modifications or changes to the project which in any way impact dam safety, and the Township will notify 
the FERC. 

6.2 Construction Deviations 
Unauthorized deviations by the Contractor from the design drawings and specifications will be 
documented with a formal written letter by the PCS/CE/RE. All corrective actions to rectify construction 
deviations will be approved by the CE and accepted by the Township and the FERC prior to 
commencement of the remedial action to be taken. 

6.3 Record Drawings 
The Contractor will be responsible for developing a complete set of red-line drawings on site during 
construction. These drawings will be maintained to ensure that a master set of documents is available to 
verify all design changes. A complete set of Record Drawings will be prepared at the completion of the 
work. Record Drawings will remain on file with the Township and the CE. 

6.4 Field Memoranda 
The CE/RE may issue field memoranda for the purposes of clarifying or interpreting the requirements of 
design drawings and specifications. A field memorandum may be used, at the discretion of the CE/RE, to 
communicate with the Contractor when a design change notice is not necessary. Field memoranda will 
not be used to change design requirements or disposition construction deviations. 

6.5 Design Control Log 
The PCS/RE will maintain a design control log to record the design changes, construction deviations, and 
field memoranda. 

  

CUI//CEII



7.0 Erosion Control and Environmental Compliance 
(as applicable) 

7.1 Compliance 
The PCS/RE will monitor construction methods and site conditions to ensure compliance with the 
requirements of any permits issued for the work. The PCS/RE will verify soil erosion and sediment control 
measures, such as silt fencing and the turbidity curtain, as applicable, are installed and maintained in 
accordance with all permits. In addition, the PCS/RE will verify the oil boom is installed and maintained, as 
required, in case of an oil leak from equipment. 

7.2 Control of Water 
The Hydro Operator and/or the Hydro Operations Supervisor in consult with PCS/RE will monitor the 
activities of contractors and personnel on-site, while on site, to ensure that activities, which impact the 
plant headwater and tailwater, are conducted in a manner designed to ensure stability of the dam 
structures and a safe working environment for workers on the site. In addition, the Contractor, the PCS/RE, 
and the Hydro Operations Staff will coordinate all spilling related activities, including any changes to any 
spilling related activities. 

Primary areas requiring control of water include the spillway sluiceways for sluice gate inspections and 
localized cofferdams along the upstream face of the dam to construct the work.  

 

 

 

CUI//CEII



Attachment 1
Organization Chart

Project Owner
Charter Township of 

Ypsilanti

Project Manager (PM)
Michael Saranen

Charter Township of Ypsilanti

Consulting Engineer (CE)
Christopher Toulouse, PE

Barr Engineering Co.

Project Construction Supervisor 
(PCS) / Resident Engineer (RE)

Chris Toulouse, PE or Kate Kelley, EIT 
Alternate - Barr Eng. Co. employee 

(EIT or PE)

Contractor
(To be determined)

Testing Companies
(To be determined)

Legend:

 Communication Line

   Contractual Line

   Interchangeable

CUI//CEII



Temporary Construction Emergency Action Plan 
(TCEAP) 

Ford Lake Hydroelectric Project  
FERC Project No. 5334 
Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead Placement 

Prepared for 
The Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
 

 
February 2023 

 

CUI//CEII



Temporary Construction Emergency Action Plan 
Ford Lake Hydroelectric Project 

Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead Placement 

February 2023 

Contents 
1.0 Statement of Purpose ........................................................................................................................................................ 1 

2.0 Critical Site-Specific Concerns ........................................................................................................................................ 2 

2.1 Demolition and Repair of Concrete on Existing Spillway and Intake Structures ................................... 2 
2.2 Cofferdam Installation and Use................................................................................................................................. 2 
2.3 Headwater and Inflow Monitoring .......................................................................................................................... 3 
2.4 Sluiceway Dewatering and Sluice Gate Inspection ............................................................................................ 4 

3.0 Responsibilities ..................................................................................................................................................................... 5 

4.0 Safety Procedures ................................................................................................................................................................ 6 

 

 

List of Attachments 

Attachment 1 TCEAP Emergency Contact Phone List 
Attachment 2 Site Plan Potential Location of Safety Measures 
  
 

 

CUI//CEII



1.0 Statement of Purpose 
This Temporary Construction Emergency Action Plan (TCEAP) has been created for those directly involved 
with the Ford Lake Hydroelectric Project Concrete Repairs and Bulkhead Placement Project (Project). 
Involved parties include the Owner, The Charter Township of Ypsilanti (Township), Barr Engineering Co. 
(Barr), and the Contractor, who is yet to be selected. The Ford Lake Dam is a high-hazard dam with an 
existing Emergency Action Plan (EAP). For the purposes of this TCEAP, the full EAP for the Ford Lake Dam 
will serve as the general guide for the Project TCEAP. The TCEAP provides a procedure for worker safety 
and notification in the event of an actual or impending emergency during the Project. It is a temporary 
document and is only relevant to the parties directly involved in the Project.  

All responsibilities, flow chart, definitions, and procedures outlined in the Ford Lake Dam EAP are 
incorporated as the general procedures for this TCEAP. A copy of the Ford Lake Dam EAP along with this 
TCEAP will be made available to the Contracted Construction Personnel and they will be directed to follow 
the procedures outlined therein.  

A copy of the notification phone numbers for this TCEAP are provided in Attachment 1. 

 

  

CUI//CEII



2.0 Critical Site-Specific Concerns 
There are project-specific critical concerns related to dam safety to be considered during construction of 
the project. This includes demolition and repair of concrete on existing spillway and intake structures, 
localized cofferdam construction, headwater elevation and inflow monitoring, and sluiceway dewatering 
and sluice gate inspection.   

2.1 Demolition and Repair of Concrete on Existing Spillway and 
Intake Structures 

Existing overflow spillway and powerhouse intake structures exhibit signs of deterioration that will be 
repaired. As part of the repair process, existing deteriorated concrete will be removed via means of saw 
cutting and manual/power tools and repaired by drilling and installing new reinforcement dowels and 
concrete. Depth of existing concrete removal varies based on location and structure, however, 
surrounding areas of concrete should be continuously monitored and observed during demolition and 
repair activities for detrimental signs such as cracking, settling or movement.  

Concrete demolition and repair activities will take place at support locations for an existing elevated 
overhead gas line over the powerhouse intake piers. The overhead gas line will be temporary supported 
by the Contractor to allow for concrete repair at the support locations on the intake piers. 

Throughout construction, the Contractor, the Quality Control and Inspection Program (QCIP) Project 
Construction Supervisor (PCS), and the Resident Engineer (RE) will perform visual inspections of the repair 
areas to look for signs of detrimental impacts. If adverse conditions are observed, the Contractor/PCS/RE 
will notify the Owner who will notify the Consulting Engineer (CE) and the Federal Energy Regulatory 
Commission (FERC) to develop remedial measures as necessary. 

2.2 Cofferdam Installation and Use 
To construct the powerhouse intake and spillway repairs, it is anticipated that a localized basket 
cofferdam (or similar style) will be required. The cofferdam is anticipated to extend approximately 1 to 2 
feet above the normal max headwater elevation of 684.85 feet (Plant Datum) for splash protection and to 
extend approximately 1-foot below the repair extents to allow room for formwork installation, however, 
final dimensions will be determined by the Contractor. The top of cofferdam elevation is anticipated to 
extend above the overflow spillway crest elevation of 685.0 feet, which would require a higher headwater 
elevation before activation of the overflow spillway, however, at a headwater elevation of 686.0 feet, the 
sluice gates can provide 96% of the total project spillway capacity (9,634 cfs of total capacity of 10,000 
cfs), and at a headwater elevation of 687.1 feet, the sluice gates provide 88% of the spillway capacity 
(9,729 cfs of total capacity of 11,000 cfs). The impact of the cofferdam on the spill capacity is anticipated 
to be minimal, and the flood of record (6,815 cfs) is less than the sluice gate only capacity at normal pool 
(9,428 cfs), and the estimated 100-year flood (9,800 cfs) is approximately equivalent to the sluice gate only 
capacity. Spillway capacities noted above are taken from the 2022 STID.  

CUI//CEII



If high flows in excess of 9,000 cfs, or flows that may cause overtopping of the cofferdam are anticipated, 
construction work at the cofferdam area will be stopped, the cofferdam will be evacuated, and the top of 
cofferdam cut down to the spillway crest elevation, or section(s) removed to allow for flooding of the 
cofferdam. Even if the top of the cofferdam was not cut down, or sections removed, the headwater would 
eventually overtop the cofferdam and allow flow over the spillway crest.      

Prior to entering the cofferdam area, an initial inspection of the cofferdam by the Contractor will be 
performed to verify cofferdam integrity. A minimum of two exits will be maintained at all times. 
Throughout construction, the cofferdam will be observed by the Contractor for signs of adverse 
conditions, including excessive deflection, movement, or rotation of cofferdam members, and excessive 
leakage. If adverse conditions are observed, the Contractor will notify the Owner and develop remedial 
measures as required. The Owner will notify the Engineer and the FERC, as necessary. 

Construction activities, including concrete demolition and repair at the powerhouse intake piers, or 
underwater dive activities, may require a temporary shutdown of flow through the powerhouse units or 
spilling operations. Reservoir headwater elevation will be maintained by the utilizing portions of the 
available structure not involved with construction activities for passing flow (powerhouse or spillway) and 
by phasing the work activities so that there are minimal disruptions to spill capacities. It will be critical to 
monitor the headwater elevation and inflow forecasting such that it does not overtop the cofferdam. 
Spilling activities and changes in flow through the powerhouse will be coordinated between the Hydro 
Operations Supervisor, and the Contractor. Work will cease if headwater elevations approach or overtop 
the top of the cofferdam. An inspection will be performed by the Contractor after the overtopping event 
prior to resuming work within the cofferdam.  

2.3 Headwater and Inflow Monitoring 
The headwater elevations and inflow extents will be monitored by the Hydro Operator and/or Hydro 
Operations Supervisor. River flows will be primarily passed through the powerhouse to the extent feasible, 
however, excess flows will be passed through the sluice gate spillway as necessary. Up to two spillway 
sluice gates may be temporarily unavailable during dewatering of the sluiceways for inspection of the 
gates, and all sluice gates may be unavailable during times when divers are in the water upstream of the 
spillway. These periods will be coordinated between the Hydro Operations Supervisor and Contractor so 
that discharge capacity will be maintained during anticipated periods of high flows. 

Spillway sluice gates may also be intermittently tagged out during construction when personnel are 
working downstream of the sluice ways. If additional discharge capacity is required to pass inflow, 
construction personnel and equipment will be removed from the potentially impacted area, sluice gate 
tagging will be removed and sluice gates will be operated as necessary to pass the inflow. The Hydro 
Operator and/or the Hydro Operations Supervisor will monitor and coordinate with the Contractor for 
discharge activities.   

CUI//CEII



2.4 Sluiceway Dewatering and Sluice Gate Inspection 
As part of the project, the sluice gates will be visually inspected from outside of the sluiceways, in their 
fully raised position. To accomplish this, a bulkhead will be installed at the upstream and downstream 
locations and the sluiceway will be dewatered to below the elevation of the bottom of the sluice gate in 
the full open position. The Contractor will be responsible for installing and sealing the bulkheads, 
dewatering the sluiceway, and for cleaning the sluice gates to allow for visual inspection by the Owner 
and Engineer. Up to two sluiceways can be dewatered at once, and the anticipated timeframe for 
dewatering and inspection for each set of gates is three to four days, assuming one day to install the 
bulkheads, dewatering overnight, one day for cleaning the sluice gate, one day for Owner/Engineer 
inspection of the sluice gate, and one day to remove or re-locate bulkheads to next sluiceway. During this 
period of dewatering and inspection, the two sluiceways will be unavailable for use, and each sluiceway 
can pass approximately 1,571 cfs at normal pool headwater elevation of 648.6 feet, so the remaining 
capacity of the four sluiceways only at normal headwater elevation would be approximately 6,285 cfs.  

Since the spillway will have a reduced capacity, sluiceway bulkheading and inspection activities will be 
closely coordinated between the Hydro Operations Supervisor and Contractor. The Hydro Operations 
Supervisor will monitor headwater elevations and inflow forecasting, and if high inflows are anticipated, 
sluiceway dewatering activities will be stopped, and any bulkheads removed, as necessary, until the high 
flows subside, and dewatering activities can be safely resumed. 

The sluice gates are assumed to be visually inspected while in the full open position, with the sluiceway 
dewatered to below the bottom of gate elevation. Project team personnel, including inspection personnel, 
are not assumed to enter within the sluiceway extents. The sluice gates will be visually inspected from the 
area at the top of the piers, near the downstream extents of the sluiceway, and from the existing walkway, 
as necessary. Project team members will remain visible and in constant communication throughout the 
inspection.      

CUI//CEII



3.0 Responsibilities 
The Owner (PCS/Hydro Operations Supervisor) in consultation (if possible) with the Engineer and/or 
Contractor Construction Manager will determine if and when the TCEAP is initiated. The Owner may also 
initiate the TCEAP as it would its permanent EAP for the Ford Lake Dam. 

If the TCEAP is initiated, the Owner will notify individuals as outlined in Attachment 1 that the TCEAP has 
been initiated. 

The Owner will instruct Contracted Construction Personnel as to their roles and responsibilities in carrying 
out the TCEAP. 

 

  

CUI//CEII



4.0 Safety Procedures 
Emergency Action Plan (EAP) Conditions. The EAP conditions are as follows: Imminent Failure, Potential 
Failure, High Flow, and Non-Failure. Additional information about the EAP conditions is located in the full 
Emergency Action Plan. No work will be performed under EAP Conditions Imminent Failure, Potential 
Failure, and High Flow and EAP Condition Non-Failure will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis to 
determine if it is safe for work to continue. 

Water Safety. The Construction Contractor will be responsible for developing a water rescue plan for  
work on or directly adjacent to the water, as warranted. Operations around water will be completed in 
accordance with all Local, State, and Federal safety guidelines including, but not limited to, Federal OSHA 
Standard 29 CFR 1926.107 Working over or near water. 

General Construction Safety. Each organization on site during construction will be responsible for 
ensuring that all on-site staff have appropriate training and Personal Protective Equipment (PPE), in 
accordance with all appropriate OSHA and MI-OSHA Regulations, Township policies, and individual 
organizational policies. Each individual is responsible for their own protection and adherence to the 
established safety plans and policies of their respective organizations and the established project-specific 
safety plans and policies.  

Attachment 2 shows potential locations of project safety measures. It will be up to the contractor to create 
their own safety plan and provide their own safety equipment. 

Spilling Operations. Flow will primarily be passed through the powerhouse to the extent feasible, with 
flow in excess of the powerhouse capacity (approximately 1,000 cfs) passed through the spillway sluice 
gates that remain operational. Construction activities may necessitate for a short duration for flow 
through the powerhouse to be stopped and all flow passed through the spillway. These periods will be 
coordinated between the Hydro Operator and/or the Hydro Operations Supervisor, the RE/PCS (when on 
site), and the Contractor.  

The gate inspection portion of the construction work will also require up to two of the sluiceways at a 
time to be bulkheaded and dewatered, and unavailable for spill capacity. These periods will be 
coordinated between the Hydro Operator and/or the Hydro Operations Supervisor, the PCS/RE, and the 
Contractor and will not be performed when high flows are anticipated. If discharge through the sluiceways 
is required when two sluiceways are dewatered, discharge will be shifted to the sluiceways that are 
furthest away from the bulkheaded sluiceways and all discharge activities will be coordinated between the 
Hydro Operator, and/or the Hydro Operations Supervisor, the PCS/RE, and the Contractor. If high flows 
are anticipated after the bulkheads are installed, the bulkheads will be removed and the sluiceways made 
available for additional discharge capacity, as required. 

Sluice gates are operated from within the powerhouse using a hydraulic system. Electricity is needed to 
run the hydraulic pump. A standby generator is on-site and will start automatically in the event of loss of 
utility power or if a high voltage house transformer fails. In the event of loss of electrical control of valves, 

CUI//CEII



a manual directional valve and changing valves at the cylinders can be used to open the sluice gates. The 
gates can be operated by local manual and local automatic controls but cannot be operated remotely 
outside of the powerhouse. The gates are currently equipped with an auto spill function, however, the 
auto spill function will be disabled when equipment or personnel are in an area that may be impacted by 
sluiceway discharge. There is no formal procedure for sequencing the opening of the sluice gates. 

As stated in the full EAP, if run-of-river flow exceeds 10,000 cfs, the Township will prepare for mobilization 
and activation of the fuse-plug emergency spillway located within the right embankment and all 
construction activities will be ceased. Construction activities are not expected to interfere with 
mobilization and activation of fuse-plug spillway, should it be needed. As stated above, cofferdams will be 
cut down or partially removed in anticipation of flows that may cause overtopping of the cofferdam, and 
any sluiceway bulkheads will be removed in anticipation of flows that may exceed available sluiceway 
spillway capacity. 

The full EAP for Ford Lake Dam is regularly tested in accordance with the FERC requirements. The 
emergency contact phone list, provided in Attachment 1, will be tested prior to the beginning of 
construction.  

Key project elevations and hydraulic information, obtained from the 2022 STID is also provided below for 
reference.  

Table 1 Key Project Elevations and Information 

Feature 
Elevation [feet] / Flow [cfs] 

Plant Datum 
Normal Pool Headwater  684.6 ± 0.25 

Normal Tailwater  652.0 

Nominal Embankment Crest Elevation  695.7 (min) 

Top of Clay Core in Embankment 693.5 

Top of Clay Core in Fuse-Plug Spillway 694.0 

Crest of Overflow Spillway 685.0 

Spillway Sluiceway Sill Elevation 641.0 

Probable Maximum Flood Headwater  694.1 

Probable Maximum Flood Tailwater 663.6 

PMF Peak Outflow 27,980 

100-Year Flood 9,800 

Flood of Record 6,815 

Zero Freeboard Elevation 695.7 

Zero Freeboard Discharge Capacity 32,000 

 

 

CUI//CEII



Table 2 Hydraulic Capacity of Each Spillway

Spillway
Normal Pool = 684.6 (feet, 

Plant Datum)
Max. PMF Pool = 694.1 (feet, 

Plant Datum)
Sluice-gated spillway 9,428 cfs 9,703 cfs
Fixed-crest overflow spillway 0 11,107 cfs
Emergency Fuse-plug spillway 0 7,639 cfs

Figure 1 Project Discharge Rating Curve

CUI//CEII



Table 3 Project Discharge Rating Curve

Headwater 
Elevation

(feet, Plant 
Datum)

Fixed-Crest Overflow 
Spillway Discharge

Sluice Gate Spillway 
Discharge

Emergency Fuse-Plug 
Spillway Discharge Total 

Discharge 
(cfs) (cfs) (%) (cfs) (%) (cfs) (%)

686.0 366 4 9,634 96 0 0 10,000
687.1 1,271 12 9,729 88 0 0 11,000
688.0 2,223 19 9,777 81 0 0 12,000
688.7 3,229 24 9,771 73 400 3 13,400
689.4 4,233 29 9,767 66 800 5 14,800
690.1 5,294 33 9,706 60 1,200 7 16,200
690.6 6,317 35 9,683 54 1,867 11 17,867
691.2 7,362 37 9,638 49 2,667 14 19,667
691.7 8,362 39 9,638 45 3,333 16 21,333
692.2 9,431 41 9,569 42 4,000 17 23,000
692.9 11,046 42 9,557 37 5,500 21 26,104
695.2 11,163 36 9,837 32 9,600 31 30,600
696.0 12,108 37 9,892 30 10,800 33 32,800

Figure 2 Tailwater Rating Curve

CUI//CEII



Table 4 Tailwater Rating Curve 

Total Discharge 
(cfs) 

Tailwater Elevation 
(feet, Plant Datum) 

500 650.94 
1000 651.18 
1500 651.51 
2000 651.90 
2500 652.29 
3000 652.69 
3500 653.08 
4000 653.46 
5000 654.15 
6000 654.77 
7000 655.33 
8000 655.94 
10000 657.04 
12000 657.88 
14000 658.72 
16000 659.67 
19000 661.24 
22000 662.71 
25000 663.47 
27980 663.85 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CUI//CEII



Attachment 1 

TCEAP Emergency Contact Phone List 

CUI//CEII



Emergency Contact Phone List 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI & ASSOCIATED PERSONNEL 
NAME/TITLE OFFICE CELL HOME 

Michael Saranen, Hydro Operations Supervisor 
Matt Carney, Hydro Operator 
Dispatch Supervisor, HVA 
Eric Copeland, Ypsilanti Township 
Ford Lake Dam Office (734) 740-2675
 French Landing Dam Operator 

French Landing Dam (734) 699-8929

CONSTRUCTION COMPANY PERSONNEL (TBD) 
NAME/TITLE OFFICE CELL HOME

Project Manager 
General Superintendent/Safety Dir 
Project Superintendent 

CONSULTING ENGINEER PERSONNEL (BARR ENGINEERING) 
NAME/TITLE OFFICE CELL HOME 

David Hibbs, Dam Safety Engineer (DSE) (734) 922-4437 (734) 205-8993
Chris Toulouse Consulting Engineer (CE/RE) (734) 922-4426 (314) 258-7199
Kate Kelley (alternate RE) (734) 922-4464 (248) 761-0773
Mark Remell (alternate RE) (734) 922-4404 (586) 764-1004
Tor Hansen (alternate RE) (952) 832-2758 (952) 994-2656

CUI//CEII

(734) 544-3691



Attachment 2 

Site Plan Potential Location of Safety Measures 

CUI//CEII



CUI//CEII



 

OTHER BUSINESS 
 

 



BOARD MEMBER UPDATES 


	April 4, 2023
	Work Session Agenda
	EEBG Grant
	Building Use Policy Discussion
	Review Agenda
	Other Discussion

	Regular Meeting Agenda
	Public Comments
	Consent Agenda
	Minutes of the March 21, 2023 Work Session
	Minutes of the March 21, 2023 Regular Meeting
	Statements and Checks April 4, 2023
	Attorney Report
	New Business
	Res. 2023-03 Division of Platted Lot
	Maintenance Superintnedent Position
	Stop Funding for OBRA
	Res. 2023-04 Water and Sewer Subsidies
	Stipend for Boards and Commissions
	Midwestern Consulting Drone Survey
	Midwestern Consulting and Stantec for North Bay Park
	Budget Amendment #4

	Authorizations and Bids
	Accept Proposal for Photography Services
	Accept Proposal for Airdial Service
	Request to Seek Bids for Spillway Gates and Concrete at Hydro Station

	Other Business
	Board Member Updates



